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1. Letters from
Senior Management
2021 saw the continuing effects of the Covid-19 pandemic and its public health, social and eco-
nomic impacts. Fortunately, the rapid vaccine rollout reduced mortality and allowed us to get to 
the end of the year with nearly 90% of the population vaccinated and a drive towards the reco-
very of economies across the globe.

In spite of this good news, the supply chain cri-
sis and geopolitical tensions following the Rus-
sian invasion of Ukraine in February 2022 have 
led to rising inflation throughout the Eurozone, 
the main result of which has been an increase 
in energy and fuel prices. In response, the main 
central banks, such as the FED and the ECB, 
have announced their commitment to comba-
ting inflation through interest rate rises.

In this context, GDP in the Eurozone increased 
by 4.6% in 2021 despite the deceleration seen 
in the fourth quarter, while it went up by 5.6% in 
the US and 0.7% in Japan.

Going back to our markets, the Spanish eco-
nomy grew by 5.2%, which represents a strong 
recovery but is still not enough to compensate 
for the historic fall recorded in 2020 (–8.8%). 
The job market staged a clear recovery in 2021 
compared to the previous two years. In fact, the 
year saw the highest number of jobs created 
since 2005, with 840,700 more workers.

The Portuguese economy was once again a mo-
del of resilience, returning to pre-pandemic GDP 
levels and achieving growth of 5.8%. In fact, Por-
tugal is one of the few countries to have seen its 
forecasts improve following the outbreak of war 
in Ukraine.

Real estate achieves its best figures in four-
teen years

Real estate, a market in which we carry out a 
large part of our financing business, has been 
one of the sectors least affected by the pande-
mic. With demand on the rise, Spanish real es-
tate has become a safe haven in these times of 
crisis and achieved its best figures for fourteen 
years, with 564,569 property sales and an in-
crease of 34.5% compared to the previous year, 
according to the Property Registrars Associa-
tion. In Portugal 165,682 sales were recorded, 
20.5% more than in 2020.

The positive performance of the sector has 
enabled us to formalise new mortgages for an 
amount of 892 million euros, 706.9 million in 
Spain and 185 million in Portugal. 

"In 2021 our mortgage production increased by 
13.7% to €892 million."

We also offer an excellent level of service qua-
lity, with a 9.7 rating on Ekomi and 4.7 out of 5 
on Google.

The overall credit investment managed by the 
Group stood at 10.669 billion (-0.7%).
Impulsando proyectos de vida 

Promoting life projects

Through the year our teams once again de-
monstrated great resilience and commitment. 
This enabled us to achieve important major 
milestones such as the renewal of our Great 
Place to Work certification for HR management 
in Spain and Portugal. Our training programme, 
“Aprendizándome”, also won several awards, 
including second prize at the 19th Human Re-
sources Innovation Prizes organised by Expan-
sión, as well as being honoured at the Cegos HR 
Best Practice Awards.

2021 was also a year of consolidation of our bu-
siness model, which focuses on offering quality 
products and services which are adapted to our 
customers’ needs and are both competitive and 
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sustainable. Our goal is to promote the life pro-
jects of our customers and, of course, those of 
the human team behind the UCI Group.  

As you would expect, we have kept our pro-
mise to stay by our customers’ side, helping 
those most affected by the economic difficul-
ties associated with the pandemic, particularly 
through public and private moratoriums, and 
personalised payment solutions for customers 
whose circumstances did not meet the criteria 
established by moratorium regulations.

Raising capital and liquidity

In March 2021, RMBS Green Belem I, the first 
green securitisation bond in Portugal, which 
was issued in April 2020, won the Sustainable 
Finance Award at Euronext Lisbon.

In April, less than six months after the last Prado 
transaction was placed in Spain, we contributed 
to the launch of FT RMBS Prado VIII through the 
mortgage loans behind the fund. We thus trans-
ferred almost 3,700 loans to a Special Purpose 
Vehicle (SPV) managed by Santander de Titu-
lización, S.G.F.T., S.A. for a total amount of 480 
million euros of prime owner-occupied residen-
tial mortgages. 

Moreover, in November 2021 we raised liquidity 
in the capital markets through Prado IX, the UCI 
Group’s fourth prime RMBS fund in the Iberian 

Peninsula since the start of the pandemic, to 
which UCI EFC contributed the mortgage loans 
behind it. The amount of liquidity raised in this 
transaction came to 488 million euros.

"Our shareholders have increased UCI’s capital 
to continue to drive our growth in 2022."

Lastly, in December our shareholders, Banco 
Santander and BNP Paribas, increased UCI’s 
share capital to 60 million euros after making a 
capital injection. This capital increase had a two-
fold objective: continuing to drive significant 
growth in 2022 and adapting to the increased 
equity requirements established by the regula-
tions governing credit finance establishments.

Incorporating ESG criteria into our strategy

As a company committed to our environment, 
we have incorporated ESG criteria into our stra-
tegy, our business model and our activities. We 
have tackled this challenge by maintaining our 
firm commitment to decarbonisation in the 
countries where we carry out our activities. We 
therefore renewed the ISO 14001 Environmen-
tal Management System certification from AE-
NOR.

In addition, in February we became the first fi-
nancial institution in the Iberian Peninsula to be 
awarded the Energy Efficient Mortgage Label 
(EEML) by the European Mortgage Federation, 

which certifies the compliance of our sustaina-
ble financing solutions with the strictest envi-
ronmental protection criteria.

During the year we also signed a number of im-
portant agreements, such as the one reached 
with the European Investment Bank (EIB) to 
promote the renovation of existing buildings 
in Spain and Portugal. This collaboration takes 
the form of a 50 million euro investment in the 
aforementioned FT RMBS Prado VIII fund, in a 
similar manner to the investment made by the 
EIB in the RMBS Green Belem I fund in 2020.
We have also entered into an alliance with the 
Spanish Institute for Energy Diversification and 
Saving (IDAE) with the aim of promoting the Aid 
Programme for Energy Refurbishment Actions 
in Existing Buildings (PREE).

"We have incorporated ESG criteria into our 
strategy, our business model and our activities."

Lastly, in November we became the first finan-
cial institution to join the Refurbishment Office 
promoted by the official Architects Associa-
tion of Madrid (COAM), a collaboration through 
which we aim to promote the financing of resi-
dential refurbishments in the Madrid Region.
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Committed to SDGs

UCI’s social actions in 2021 focused on the four 
key areas of our “We’ll be with you” program-
me: youth education (especially financial edu-
cation), inclusion of people with intellectual 
disabilities, residential inclusion of vulnerable 
groups and donations for global or public health 
emergencies, with a focus on charitable actions 
aligned with our commitment to the Sustaina-
ble Development Goals, in particular SDGs 4, 8, 
10 and 17.

At UCI we support the ten principles of the Glo-
bal Compact on Human Rights, Labour Rights, 
the Environment and Anti-Corruption. We are 
committed to making the Global Compact and 
its principles part of the strategy, culture and 
everyday activities of our company, as well as 
getting involved in projects that contribute to 
the UN’s Sustainable Development Goals.
 

Committed to information and data security

Mention should be made of the fact that infor-
mation and data security has become one of 
the organisation’s main priorities, in order to 
guarantee the proper development of the bu-
siness and instil complete confidence in our 
customers, investors and other stakeholders. In 
this regard, in 2022 UCI was awarded the ISO 
27001 Information Security certification by AE-
NOR, which certifies our Information Security 
Management System in accordance with the 
UNE-ISO/IEC 27001:2017 standard.

Lastly, I should mention a project developed 
throughout 2021 which in 2022 has led to the 
European Commission and the European In-
vestment Bank (EIB) providing UCI with an 
amount of €2.6 million euros to facilitate deve-
lopment of the Residential Energy Rehabilita-
tion (RER) projects, making us the first Spanish 
financial institution to benefit from the Euro-
pean Local Energy Assistance (ELENA) funds.
I hope you’ll find our Annual Report interesting.

Best wishes,

 

Roberto Colomer
CEO

Philippe Laporte
COO Finance,
Technology and Clients

Scan me to watch
the CEO's message.



CARTA 2. UCI in 
numbers

Scan me to watch
the CEO's message.



8 Annual Report 2021

Main significant Magnitudes:

Outstanding Balance

10,669 M€ -0.7%
vs. 2020

117,500 files under management

Consolidated Production

Market Share

1.20% 1.67%
in 2020 1.23 %

       

Real estate 
professionals channel
583 M€ +18%

vs. 2020

119 M€ +2%
vs. 2020

Portugal
185 M€ +7%

vs. 2020

...of which
Non-Residents

113 M€ +66%
vs. 2020

Rehabilitations

10 M€ A big adventure

101% R/O 93% R/OTotal

892 M€ +16%
vs. 2020

R/O Financial Margin

99% 163 pb +13%
vs. 2020

Pricing stability despite strong volatility and 
rising long-term rates

ROE

12.9% +150pb
vs. 2020

Product Mix

70% Mixed/fixed type
Our most profitable product
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Production Quality

The risk of our new production well controlled and responsible

Medium LTV* Average amount* personal contribution* Mean C/I*

62% -150 pb
vs. 2020 180,000€ +5%

vs. 2020 32% +300pb
vs. 2020 29% +60 pb

vs. 2020

% REO financing* Default rate + 90d production post 2011

6.5% -200 pb
vs. 2020 0.21% 0.13%

Less than 60 clients out of 23,500 signed in force since 2012     

* These data take into account both Spain and Portugal 

Green production
Taxonomy, Sustainability, Regulation, 
Visibility, Investors and very committed 
to our stakeholders

Total

64 M€ 80%
R/O

    

Green Production distribution
    

111% R/O 113% R/O 1.273,10

9.402,30

6.024,40

5.589,50

11,65

16.586,08 New Building EPC A
New Building EPC B
Purchase & green Refurbishment
Green Refurbishment
Green Rehab
Construction - News nZEP EPC A
Construction - News nZEP EPC B25.184,99

5,589.50

6,024.40

9,402.30

11.65
1,273.10

16,586.08

25,184.99
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Empleados

611
in total

57% of employees are women

3% of employees are members of the 
Executive CommitteeEmployees

Clientes

393,950
in total

140,574
clients in portfolio

7,666 number of clients in 2021

+7% vs. 2020Customers

Consultores
 Financieros

218,932
homes financed 
throughout the life 
of the ICU

4.831 number of homes
in 2021

+7% vs.2020financed 
homes

Consultores
 Financieros

189
in total

176 CF in 2020

+7% vs. 2020Financial 
consultants

Inmobiliarios
2.237
in total

471MM€ real estate business 2021

1.914 number of real estate agencies 
in 2020

450 MM€ real estate business 2020Real estate  
agencies

Reformistas

102
in total

10MM€ reforms and rehabilitation business

68 total number of reformists 2020
Reformists

1.32M€
paid in 2021

1.68M€
paid in 2020tax 

contribution

31%
of growth 21/20 
Green ProductionGreen 

Production

7%
in 2021

4%
in 2021

8%
in 2021

7%
in 2020
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We have:  

24 offices in Spain

8 in Portugal, 

presence in Greece and Brazil 

We collaborate with more 
than 2,000 real estate 
agencies with a objective: 
to anticipate the needs of 
our customers.

Geographical presence



CARTA 3. Highlights 
2021
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Main 
Achievements 
2021
January

>  We received the Hipotecas 2021 Award of 
CESINE and Metros2 for UCI’s commitment 
to the real estate sustainability with the Green 
Mortgage. 

>  We signed a protocol with IDAE to boost the 
new Programme of Aid for Energy Rehabilitation 
Actions in Existing Buildings (PREE). 

> The 6th Real Estate Barometer ‘El 
sentimiento de mercado de los Profesionales 
Inmobiliarios’, made together with SIRA, reflects 
a positive trend, with a grade of 7 out of 10, for 
the first months of the year. 

February 

>  Cátia Alves becomes director of the recently 
created Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility 
Management and member of the Executive 
Committee to develop UCI’s sustainable 
transformation, directly reporting to the CEO. 

> Green Belem I, our first issuance of green 
bonds in Portugal, receives the Sustainable 
Finance Award in the Euronext Lisbon Awards. 

>  We are the first credit institution of the Iberian 
Peninsula to adhere to the Energy Efficient Label 
(EEML) of the European Mortgage Federation, 
which certifies the compliance with the strictest 
environmental care criteria. 

> Hipotecas.com launches the first website 
in the financial sector that is able to offer 
bespoke experiences to the client thanks to the 
technology Sitecore. 

>  Through créditos.com, we signed a collaboration 
agreement with the Organisation of Property 
Administrators of Barcelona-Lleida. 

>  We opened new offices in Seville and Vigo. 

March

>  We called the 1st edition of Stories for the Planet, 
a children’s contest for the awareness on respect 
for the environment. 

>  We participated, for the sixth year in a row, 
in the programme “Tus finanzas, tu futuro”, 
promoted by the Spanish Banking Association 
(AEB) and Foundation Junior Achievement, 
providing financial knowledge to 173 students 
from 6 provinces. 

April

>  Cuídate Corazón becomes finalist of the 1st 
Edition of the Labour Compensation Awards 
organised by RRHH Digital. 

>    The results from the 6th Real Estate Barometer 
evidence a change of trend in the housing 
demand, after the lockdown: rise of demand 
of detached houses, external apartments, 
connectiveness and proximity to green spaces. 

May

>    We launched Prado VIII, our third prime RMBS 
of the Iberian peninsula since the beginning of 
the pandemic. 

>    We renewed our agreement with the European 
Investment Bank (EIB) to boost the renovation 
of existing buildings in Spain and Portugal, and 
reduce CO2 to 10,269 tons per year. 

> Créditos.com receives the Award “100 
Mejores Ideas del año” of the group Unidad 
Editorial, which annually recognises the best 
ideas, services and products launched to the 
Spanish market. 
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> We committed to the European Month of 
Diversity with the project “Te acompañamos” 
and, in collaboration with the Foundation Prodis, 
we launched “Desayunos Molones” for the 
purpose of raising awareness within our staff 
concerning diversity. 

June

> We integrated the ESG criteria as one of the 
pillars that guide our sustainability strategy: We 
greenimise, We accompany, We comply. 

> We held the Certification Nation Day, together 
with the Community of organisations certified 
by Great Place to Work. ® 

July

>  For the second year in a row, the consultant Great 
Place to Work ® has recognised us as a great company 
to work. 

> European DataWarehouse approved the 
remittance of data under the new standard 
ESMA-STS of the RMBS Green Belem Fund. 

>  Our channel of reforms and rehabilitation, 
créditos.com, signed an agreement with Melom 
to professionalise the sector of housing reforms 
in the country. 

> The results from the 6th Real 
Estate Barometer reflect that only 16% of the 
new owners are interested in the energetic 
efficiency in the process of buying a home. 

August

>  According to the 6th Real Estate Barometer, 
60% of the realtors point to the growth of 
purchases and sales by foreigners until the end 
of the year. 

September

> We commit to the programme Empowering 
Women’s Talent to boost the women’s 
empowerment and leadership at UCI. 

> In collaboration with the COAM (Official 
Association of Architects of Madrid), we held the 
session Next Generation housing day to analyse 
the current situation of the rehabilitation and 
sustainable financing in view of the arrival of 
European funds.

> We presented the II Report ‘El camino a la 
sostenibilidad en el hogar. 

October

> We launched Prado IX, the most efficient 
operation of the saga Prado, with an all-in price 

below Eur3m +50bp, thanks to a good over-
subscription of the new risk. This transaction 
is ECB eligible, complies with regulatory 
requirements STS, CRR, LCR and ESMA, as 
well as with the credit rating AAA by DBRS 
Morningstar, Fitch Ratings and Scope Ratings. 

> The project ‘Aprendizándome’ received an 
award in the category ‘Learning Ecosystems’ in 
the Cegos & Teams and Talent Awards. 

> We presented the report ‘La Educación 
Financiera en los adolescentes españoles’, 
coinciding with the Financial Education Day. 

>  As prelude to Inmotionate 2021, we held the 
1st Residential Real Estate Forum, gathering 27 
presidents and main directors or large real estate 
networks in Spain. 

>   The 9th edition of Inmotionate gathered more 
than 600 Spanish real estate professionals in 
Madrid. 

> Within the framework of  Inmotionate we 
collaborated with an economic endowment of 
15,000 Euros as recognition for charity projects 
promoted by five real estate agencies. 

> SIRA teamed up with the chamber of real estate 
brokers of Costa Rica to attract investments 
between both countries. 
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>   We collaborate with an endowment of 10,365 
Euros to the Spanish Red Cross its initiative to 
contribute to caring for all people affected by 
the eruption of the Cumbre Vieja volcano of La 
Palma. 

November

>   Aprendizándome receives a runner-up award 
in the 19th Awards to Innovation in Human Re-
sources, organised by Expansión and the IE 
University.  

>  The 9th wave of the Real Estate Barometer 
reveals that 87% of the professionals have 
significantly increased digitalisation as a 
consequence of the pandemic, reaching a share 
of 64% in the second hand market. 

> We collaborate with Foundation Dádoris, 
donating 3,000€ to boost the access to 
university training or a young woman with an 
extraordinary talent. 

>  We signed an agreement with Official Asso-
ciation of Property Administrators (COAFA Ali-
cante) to promote the rehabilitation of houses 
and communities in the Alicante province. 

December

>   Santander and BNP Paribas injected €60 
million, thus raising our capital to €370 million, 
not including the 2021 result.

>  SIRA launched Luxury Real Estate, a training 
and specialisation programme in high standing 
housing for property agents. 

>  We completed our social action plan 2021 
with an investment of almost 50,000€ and 
more than 400 beneficiaries. 

> We implemented Greemko, a software to 
measure of environmental footprint that auto-
matically captures all necessary data with the 
standards of reference: GRI, GHG Protocol, ISO 
14001, ISO 14064, CDP. 

>  We measure the exposure of the guarantees 
of our portfolio originated since 2010 to the 
climate change risks.

During the first months of 2022, Santander and BNP Paribas have strengthened the solvency of the UCI 
Group by €167 million: subscribing to a new capital increase for €100 million, an issue of contingently con-
vertible bonds of shares for €22 million, and a subordinated debt issue for €45 million



CARTA 4. Key Data
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Highlights
2021 2020 Variation

Consolidated Production (M€) 892.1 784.6 13,7%

Loan Production Spain (M) 706.9 611.6 15,6%

Loan Production Portugal (M) 185.2 173.0 7,1%

Total Consolidated Loans Managed (M) 10,669.20 10,745.60 -0,7%

Balance Spain 5,000.40 4,720.30 5,9%

Balance Portugal 897.3 825.8 8,7%

Balance Greece 190.2 203.2 -6,4%

Spanish on Balance Consolidated Placed RMBS (UCI 11-17 + Prado IV-IX) 4,282.8 4,544.6 -5,8%

Portugal on Balance Consolidated Placed RMBS (Green Belem 1) 298.4 350 -14,7%

Spanish off Balance Placed RMBS (UCI 9) 0 101,8 NR

Nº of Files Under Management (Spain, Portugal and Greece) 117,464 118,618 -1,0%

Nº of Solutions (Sales + rentals) Repossessed Homes (*) 1,487 1,234 253

Nº of Branch Offices (*) 31 32 -100%

External Agents (*) 198 181 1700%

Nº of Employees (**) 661 681 -2000%

(*): Spain+Portugal+Greece   
(**): with temporary employees and Comprarcasa (Spain and Portugal)   
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Consolidated Financials 
(IFRS 9 in 2020)

2021 2020 Variation
Before restatement of 

2020 accounts (***)

Gross Margin (M) 139.4 148.0 -5.8% 147.0

Financial Margin (**) 139.6 145.7 -4.2% 143.4

Comissions Fees and Other Incomes (*) -0.2 2.3 2.3

General Expenses (M) 49.6 47.8 3.8% 47.8

Net Operating Income (M) 89.8 100.2 -10.4% 97.9

Cost of Risk (M) 38.1 143.5 -73.5% 134.2

Ordinary Profit Before Taxes (M) 51.7 -43.3 -219.6% -36.3

Taxes (M) 22.4 -12.7 -10.6

Consolidated Profit (M) 29.5 -30.5 -196.6% -25.7

 
(*): Deducted Origination Fees (opening- real estate agent- agent)
(**) including capital gain BuyBack 0 M€ en 12m-21 vs 9,4 M€ en 12m-20 
(***)The process of restatement of the 2020 accounts is disclosed, in terms of its motivation and nature, on pages 224 and following of this document.
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Consolidated Financials 
(IFRS 9 and CRD IV in 
2020)

2021 2020 Variation
Before restatement of 

2020 accounts (*)

Suscribed Capital (M) 158.0 98.0 60.0 98.0

Reserves (Tier 1 + annual balance N) (1) (M) 212.0 239.0 -27.0 239.0

Total Tier 1 (1) + Tier 2 (M) 477.4 456.9 20.5 453.5

Subordinated Debt + Excess provisions (M) 105.0 105.0 0.0 104.7

Total Equity Tier 1(1)+Tier 2 (M) 585.4 561.9 20.5 558.2

%Equity Ratio (Tier 1) (1) (2) 8.7% 8.7% 0.0% 8.7%

%Equity Ratio (Total) (2) 10.6% 10.7% -0.1% 10.7%

%ROE 6.4% -9.1% 15.5% -7.6%

NPL Loans + 90 D without subjective loans (M) 826.2 885.2 -59.0 885.2

NPL subjective loans (M) 879.9 513.3 366.6 513.3

Repossessed Homes Under Management (Spain, Portugal and Greece) (N) 4,630 5,008 -378 5,008

Total Provisions on Loans (M) 362.1 388.1 -26.1 388.1

Total Generic Provisions Stage 1 (M) 8.2 21.3 -13.1 21.3

Total Substandar Provisions Stage 2 (M) 36.2 23.0 13.2 23.0

Total Specific provisions not including subjective NPL. Stage 3 (M) 242.2 296.7 -54.5 296.7

Total provisions specific subjective. Stage 3 (M) 75.5 47.1 28.4 47.1

(1):  Non incorporation of the FY-21 in Tier 1 
(2): RWA Standard version + standard operational risk
(*): The process of restatement of the 2020 accounts is exposed, in terms of its motivation and nature, on pages 224 and following of this document.     
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2021 2022 Variation
Before restatement of 

2020 accounts (***)

Total provisions on repossessed homes (M) 115.9 122.8 -6.8 122.8

Total Provisions (M) 478.0 510.9 -32.9 510.9

 % NPL’s on Loans Managed (Balance Sheet + Securitized) > 90 days Not Including 
Subjective Non-performing Loans * 7.74% 8.24% -49.4 8.24%

%NPL´s Subjective Non-Performing Loans - incl. Ptg+Gre since 2020 (reclasification in
2021)* 8.25% 4.78% 347.0 4.79%

%Global NPL 15.99% 13.01% 297.6 13.02%

NPL > 90D+Repossessed Homes Coverage (N) 27.8% 30.2% -2.4% 30.2%

%Consolidated Efficiency Ratio 34.5% 34.9% -0.4% 33.7%

(1):  Non incorporation of the FY-21 in Tier 1 
(2): RWA Standard version + standard operational risk
(*): The process of restatement of the 2020 accounts is exposed, in terms of its motivation and nature, on pages 224 and following of this document.     
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Consolidated 
Production (M€)   
 Loan Production Spain

Loan Production Portugal



22 Annual Report 2021

Managed Loans
Evolution (M€)

Retained Sevuritized Loans (Spain)

Placed Securitized Loans (Spain+Portugal)

Balance (SP+PTG+Gre)
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Total Managed 
Loans (M€)    
 Portugal on Balance Placed RMBS

Spanish off Balance Placed RMBS

Spain on Balance Placed RMBS

Balance (Sp+Pt+Gre)
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New Loan Production 
Evolution (M€)

Loan Production Portugal

Loan Production Spain
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Training hours 
(hours/year)
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Employees UCI   

No.



CARTA 5. Sustainability 
Report
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Letter from 
Management

At UCI one of our priorities is to drive the tran-
sition towards a more equitable, inclusive and 
sustainable future for all. At a time of techno-
logical and social transformation, diversity and 
inclusion are crucial for companies to be able to 
create value for their stakeholders and society 
as a whole. 

n 2021 we therefore strengthened our strategy 
by setting up the Sustainability and Corporate 
Responsibility Department, which forms part of 
the Executive Committee and reports directly 
to the Group’s CEO.  

As a financial institution we play a fundamen-
tal role in the development of sustainable eco-
nomic models - the only viable models accor-
ding to the essential principles of the UN Global 
Compact, which we have joined.

Moreover, in an environment where consumer 
models have adapted to new social and envi-
ronmental risks, we have incorporated ESG cri-
teria into our strategy, our business model and 
our activities. 

Our ESG efforts are focused on the creation of 
a robust and dynamic agenda with the following 
pillars: supporting our customers’ transition 
towards a resilient and low-carbon economy (E), 
enabling inclusive, diverse and egalitarian grow-
th (S), and basing our business on ethical, res-
ponsible and transparent criteria (G). 

"We promote transparency and dialogue with 
the stakeholders thanks as a consequence of a 
stronger governance"

During the year we also carried out an analysis 
of UCI’s contribution to the 2030 agenda in or-
der to align and incorporate it into our ESG fra-
mework, as well as the projects and initiatives 
developed by the company. This has resulted in 
the identification of 5 priority SDGs, 4 interrela-
ted SDGs, 1 cross-cutting SDG and 21 targets to 
which we contribute through our activities.

With regard to the E, which concerns the direct 
and indirect effects our activity has on the envi-
ronment, on the one hand, we have focused our 
efforts on reinforcing our Environmental Mana-
gement System and, on the other, on creating 
a positive impact on the environment through 
our business, helping people to decarbonise 
the economy by promoting new financing so-
lutions, and reaching collaboration agreements 
with supranational (EIB), state (IDAE) and local 
(COAM) organisations.

In February we became the first financial ins-
titution in the Iberian Peninsula to be awarded 
the Energy Efficient Mortgage Label (EEML) by 
the European Mortgage Federation, which certi-
fies that our sustainable financing solutions and 
green mortgages comply with the strictest envi-
ronmental protection criteria.

In this regard, in 2021 our Green production in-
creased by 31% compared to 2020, represen-
ting 7% of total production in Spain and 8% in 
Portugal.

As I mentioned, we are also continuing to move 
forward with our Environmental Management 
System and the reduction of our CO2 emis-
sions. Moreover, we have incorporated Green 
technology into the evaluation of our environ-
mental performance and calculation of CO2 
emissions in order to make our management 
processes more efficient. This has allowed us to 
renew our ISO 14001 certification from AENOR.
In line with the recommendations and expecta-
tions of the European Banking Authority (EBA) 
and the European Central Bank (ECB), we have 
incorporated ESG factors into our risk manage-
ment, in particular measurement and analysis 
of the physical risks in our portfolio in Spain sin-
ce 2010 in order to have a comprehensive and 
well-documented overview. 
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With regard to our impact on the social envi-
ronment, S, in 2021 we placed the focus on 
the four key areas of our “We’ll be with you” 
programme: People First, Social Commitment, 
Customer Centric, and Training of Real Estate 
Professionals. With the help of 199 staff vo-
lunteers, we’ve enabled 429 people to benefit 
from actions to which a total of 48,715 euros 
has been allocated. 

For the second year running, we’ve also re-
newed our Great Place to Work® certification, 
one of the most prestigious national and inter-
national human resources awards.

Lastly, with regard to the G, one of our priorities 
is to strengthen our Corporate Governance fra-
mework and boost its effectiveness, in order to 
meet the goals that we’ve set ourselves in this 
area. Since May we have thus had a new poli-
cy in place which sets out our Governance and 
Risk Management structure for all the compa-
nies in the UCI Group. 

I hope you’ll find our Sustainability Report 
interesting.

Best wishes,

Cátia de Almeida Alves
Sustainability and corporate 
social responsibility Manager

Scan me to watch
the message Cátia
has to offer.
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We contribute to the progress, not only 
growing as business, but aiming to help 
our stakeholders to face the main coming 
challenges. This is our mission. 

We will publish our corporate sustainability 
report of the UCI Group, in which we have 
collected the main milestones reached in 
2021 and the most relevant environmen-
tal, social and corporate governance (ESG) 
indicators.

This report reflects the work made in all of 
the entity’s ESG axes. 

At UCI, we are aware of our responsibili-
ty to support our stakeholders in the trip 
towards a better, more inclusive, healthier, 
more responsible and sustainable world. 
We have therefore incorporated the ESG 
axes (Environmental, Social and Gover-
nance) in our strategy and in our business 
model, where all areas have collaborated 
with responsibility and enthusiasm, for the 
purpose of facing this year’s challenges. 

In this year, we highlight the evolution, ex-
ceeding each and every situation with resi-
lience, effort, trust and achievement. 

Circumstances derived from the socie-
ty and economy in which we currently 
live have put to the test our teams’ abili-
ty to adapt to continue accompanying our 
stakeholders in an context of uncertainty. 
New priorities and responsibilities have 
been pointed for the financial sector, in ge-
neral, and for UCI, in particular. 

Credit institutions play a crucial role, are 
part of the solution, and agents of change.
At UCI, we believe we can contribute to a 
better society. 

Things do not change by themselves; we 
have to make them change.

1. Introduction
We are responsible and sustainable. 
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Events such as the Paris Agreement of 2015 
on climate change, the pandemic we are living, 
since 2020, and the consequent economic 
crisis have marked a before an after in our so-
cieties, which are resolutely moving towards 
a new socioeconomic paradigm of sustaina-
bility. This is a challenge that particularly calls 
upon the credit institutions, key players of the 
economy as efficient credit and savings mana-

gers. We have a main role to play in the change 
towards a sustainable world, and contemplate 
in our decisions its impact in the climate, in the 
social changes and in the governance of com-
panies and institutions. 

At UCI, we do not only make progress towards 
sustainability, but we also actively boost it, to-
gether with our stakeholders.

We develop our activity by applying ethics 
principles in the responsible and sustainable 
management, for the purpose of guarantee-
ing actions committed to the long-term value 
creation.

2. Our commitment
The future is built today

We have integrated 
the Responsibility and 

Sustainability in our 
strategy and business 

model

We have incorporated 
the UN SDG 
(sustainable 

development goals) in 
our commitment to the 
different stakeholders

We have adhered to 
the Spanish network of 

Global Compact

Our sustainable 
products have the 
“green stamp” of 

the Energy Efficient 
Mortgage Label of the 

European Mortgage 
Federation (EEML-EMF)

We have established 
public-private and 
technical-financial 

agreements to contribute 
to the decarbonisation of 
the Iberian housing stock 

and decent access to 
housing 

In our general Sustainability policy, we have the 
purpose to promote the development of res-
ponsible behaviours that lead to the business 
sustainability and that, on the one hand, throu-
gh a rigorous and efficient management, gene-
rate value and trust to our clients and share-
holders; maintain the ability to obtain positive 

results, compatible with the principles of trans-
parency and financial ethics; and that favour 
the development of people and the respect for 
the environment.

Sustainability has become part of the UCI 
Group’s strategy and business model, unders-

tanding it as the development that satisfies the 
needs of the present, not compromising the 
capacity of the future generations, guarantee-
ing a balance between the economic growth, 
the care for the environment and the social 
wellbeing.
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As a credit institution, we promote sustainable 
financing solutions to ease the access to hou-
sing. We focus in the responsible purchase of 
houses, accompanying people for them to feel 
guided, duly informed, and to know the econo-
mic and personal impact of a vital project such 
as the purchase of a home. We contribute to 
the rehabilitation of houses and to the renova-
tion of the housing stock of Spain and Portugal 
under sustainable, energetically efficient and 
environment-respectful criteria, thus contri-
buting to the SDG (Sustainable Development 
Goals) challenges. 

Through our activity, we also aim to promote 
an inclusive and sustainable growth to actively 
contribute to an economic and social system 
with more diversity, equity and inclusion.

INCLUSIVE

Helping our clients to access to housing or 
to improve their current home. We provide 
financial empowerment. We also help young 
people to receive the necessary financial 
education.

SUSTAINABLE

We contribute to our clients to be aware of the 
climate change and promote our business part-
ners to incorporate the sustainability in their 
business models.

As credit institution, we consider that we are 
in a privileged position to tackle these challen-
ges, both together with our stakeholders and 
through the creation of synergies and network 
effects. Our principles and standards clearly de-
fine the way in which we make businesses and 
interact at UCI. We relate with our stakeholders 
always on the base of our Code of Ethics and 
our Sustainability Policy. 

Complying with our social responsibilities con-
tributes to the wider purpose of our company’s 
sustainable development. As agent to promote 
debates on the significance of social matters, 
mainly in the construction of the transition 
towards a low-carbon, resilient and inclusive 
economy, we are ready to contribute to the 
establishment of standards and to collaborate 
within and beyond our sector.

We are changing our corporate 
behaviour and reassessing our 
relationships with our clients, 
employees, suppliers and the 

community as a whole. 

We believe that it is everyone’s 
responsibility to promote an ESG 
ecosystem and to guarantee that 

this actually happens.
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Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios (UCI) is a credit 
institution that started its journey in 1989, when 
Banco Santander and BNP Paribas decided to 
create a joint venture (where both entities parti-
cipate by 50%), specialised in the housing finan-
ce. We have 30 years of experience in the sec-

tor and counts with a team of more than 600 
people in our staff.

This year, as innovating business line, fully alig-
ned with the Group’s Sustainable and Respon-
sible strategy, we have decided to embrace the 

business of financing a the rehabilitating hou-
ses, with the purpose of renewing the Spanish 
housing stock, under a sustainability criterion, 
energy efficiency and respect for the environ-
ment, thus contributing to the decarbonisation 
of the real estate sector. 

3. Meet UCI

Apart from the brand UCI, the Group counts with the following brands:
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The adaptation of long-lasting companies is a constant and the environment in which we live is permanently evolving.

At UCI, we believe that technology, innovation 
and genuine social approach, to be more profi-
table, gain more talent and be competitive, are 
tools to achieve the Sustainability. 

We face the greatest challenge of the humanity 
in our existence.

Undoubtedly, the business universe has been 
evolving in the last decades towards a very di-
fferent environment than the traditional one, 
marked by the progressive incorporation of 
computer tools, of environmental and social va-
lues and cosmopolitan spirit.

The climate emergency, the need to adapt to 
the digital transformation accelerated by the 
pandemic and the commitment to comply with 
the new global social contract established for 
the purposes of the UN Sustainable Develop-
ment Goals (SDGs) by 2030, place sustainabi-
lity at the forefront of the business strategy.

In a generalised manner, the society is increa-
singly demanding the business world to co-
llaborate in the process of change required by 
these challenges. Therefore, if the companies 
want to perdure in time, they must open to the 
environment that surrounds them, and become 
aware of its issues and demands. This opening 
towards the environment must be instrumen-
ted through an active listening of the different 
stakeholders’ demands and needs.

The main challenge is the continuous threat to 
the «planetary limits», which leads to extreme 
weather patterns and to a growing limitation 
of resources. This increasingly affects our bu-
sinesses. We continue being convinced that 
a company that cares both about the citizens’ 
concerns and about the environmental needs 
will proposer in the long run.

The EU Next Generation plan aims to help re-
build Europe after the pandemic in a more 

ecologic, digital and resilient way. The European 
Green Deal and the digitalisation are an axis 
through which the member States will promote 
the employment and their economic growth in 
coming years.

Also, complying with the UN Sustainable deve-
lopment Goals (SDG) forces to reduce to cero, 
in the coming 30 years, the current 51,000 mi-
llion tons of CO2. Therefore, the single possible 
present is that promotes a sustainable econo-
mic model, based on disruptive technologies 
that respect the environment and the people.
This is known as sustainable digitalisation, that 
is to say, that where «the transformation of pro-
cesses and the activity of an organisation based 
on new technologies does not only affect its ac-
tivity, costs and the quality of its products and 
services, but also an appropriate use of mate-
rials and resources to progress towards a circu-
lar economy and respectful with the planet». 

4. A new business environment
We either adapt or we die.

Digitalisation and Sustainability, an indivisible couple
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This double transformation is no longer an op-
tion for the entities, but a need, if they want to 
survive in this new and challenging era.

Indeed, the digitalisation open a new world of 
possibilities to interact with the clients, better 
know their needs and offer a better service. It 
also increases the competition with the appea-

rance of new competitors. All this tests the fi-
nancial sector’s agility and innovating ability.

Only flexible organisations, those that are able to 
constantly question whether the way in which 
things were done yesterday is the way in which 
they should be done today, may opt to success.

The growing complexity in which the business 
world should evolve requires integrated thin-
king, which will have several consequences 
for the businesses’ new order: new organisa-
tional structures and cultures, new leaders-
hip traits, interconnected entities, new value 
approaches and relevance of transparency and 
responsibility. 

At the beginning of 2021, the UCI Group’s Sus-
tainability and Corporate Responsibility Direc-
tion was created. Its main function is to develop 
the sustainable transformation as a strategic 
line in the company, and to lead the entity’s in-
tegration of sustainability in the commitment 
with its stakeholders. This Direction directly re-
ports to the entity’s CEO.

In 2021, we have reinforced our ESG manage-
ment system to allocate it with a greater effi-
ciency, coherence and to integrate it both in the 
business and in the Group’s internal activities.
A solid, diverse and transparent corporate go-
vernance has been created to lead to more res-
ponsible and sustainable strategies.

Each of these areas has defined its range of ac-
tion to efficiently boost the company towards the 
sustainability both in its business model and in its 
internal activities.

During 2021, action strategies, principles and poli-
cies have been defined, which are the framework 
of UCI’s commitment to integrate Sustainability in 
its activity.

Sustainability Governance and Management Sys-

Green Area For a Green Recovery Financing Green Transition. Support to the 
commercial area to boost business, improvement of sales process

Green & 
ESG Taxonomy

Future Finance; Finance Inteligence, Control & Reporting, 
improvement of the databases in integrity and information

Corporate 
responsability

Ethical & Social, Corporate Engagement, New business 
environment, sustainable and inclusive growth

ESG
 strategy

ESG 
Framework

Sustainability 
Policy

Environmental 
Risk Policy

The Sustainability Management is divided in 3 areas of action:



37Annual Report 2021

Environmental

> Minimize the impact of our activities and supply chain, with a focus on reducing emissions of Carbon towards Net Zero

> Develop sustainable products and implement an environmental management system with the aim of minimizing the 
environmental impact of operations.

Social

> Promote talent, diversity, equity and inclusion.

> Promote residential inclusion and contribute to financial education.

>  Go along with our client in all its stages.

> IPromote the professionalization and diversification of the Real Estate Sector.

Governance

> Continue with a participatory, consensus-oriented, responsible, transparent, responsive, efficient business model, equitable and 
inclusive.

> Communicate our policies and strategy clearly to our supply chain.

> Do appropriate levels of monitoring and disclosure to show our strong approach.

Our ESG Commitments

We consider that the impact in the ESG pillars is 
greater when we act in three levels, considering 
the four fundamental dimensions:

Nuestra
estrategia ESG

En nuestras 
operaciones

Acción 
ambiental

Resiliencia 
económica

Sociedad 
inclusiva

Liderazgo y 
gobernanza

En nuestros 
negocios

En el mundo que 
nos rodea

Our ESG strategy

In our actions In our businesses In the world around us

environmental action economic resilience leadership 
and governance

inclusive society
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4.1 Analysis of materiality and the power of dialogue
Dialogue with the stakeholders

We create shared value for our stakeholders and generate long-term relationships based on trust and transparency 

The dialogue with stakeholders is increasingly 
relevant, in such an interdependent and global 
context. 

Boosting the dialogue and proactive relations-
hip with all stakeholders is particularly relevant 
for UCI in its commitment with the economic, 

social and environmental development and 
allows: 

Analysing and integrating the clients, employees, shareholders, 
investors and other stakeholders’ new expectations and needs. 

Developing innovating and sustainable products and services that 
respond to our stakeholders’ needs.

Responding in a transparent and clear manner to the information 
requirements of all of our stakeholders in the entity’s sustainability 

and ESG matters.

Identifying emerging risks and opportunities for the business through 
the stakeholders’ involvement in the study of the entity’s materiality. 

We additionally participate in national and 
European forums and working groups to 
contribute to sustainable initiatives and 
projects. 

We detail below the main channels of dialogue 
for the stakeholders:

Clientes 

Empleados

Profesionales 
inmobiliarios  

Multicanalidad Comercial
Línea con su Crédito 
UCI tu web 
Ekomi 
Encuestas de calidad  

Encuesta anual Great Place to Work 
Evaluación del desempeño 
Canal de alerta ética
Canales de noticias corporativas 

Red Comercial 
Eventos Profesionales 
Barómetro Inmobiliario 
Encuestas de calidad servicio 

Accionistas 
e inversores 

Sociedad 

Consejo Administración 
Roadshows de titulación 
Cuestionarios de inversores
Encuentros con inversores 

Entrevistas para el estudio Materialidad 
Participación en eventos
Redes sociales 
Webs corporativas  

Multichannel model

Línea con su Crédito

UCI Tu Web

Ekomi

Quality surveys

Annual Great Place to Work Survey

Performance evaluation

Ethics alert channel

Corporate news channels

Commercial Network

Professional Events

Real Estate Barometer

Quality surveys

Board of Directors

Securitisation Roadshows

Investor questionnaires

Meetings with investors

Interviews for the Materiality study

Participation in events

Social networks

Corporate websites

Customers

Employees

Real Estate 
Agents

Shareholders 
and investors

Society
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In order to cover the expectations and needs of 
our stakeholders and of the business in 2021 
we have carried out our Materiality Study for 
the purpose of identifying the priority environ-
mental, social and governance matters for our 

stakeholders and our business. Following UCI’s 
strategy and key sector trends in sustainabili-
ty, the material matters have been classified in 
agreement with their link with the ESG criteria 
(Environment, Society and Governance).

The most outstanding novelty of the study is 
the incorporation of a specific analysis to identi-
fy key issues and respond to the consequences 
of the Covid-19 pandemic.

The materiality report is elaborated by a third party expert in sustainability 
matters, and has been based on an exhaustive analysis of internal and ex-
ternal sources, analysis of the main sustainability trends, consultation to 

the main stakeholders, employees, clients, real estate professionals, and 
also external experts. 

Methodology

Identification of relevant issues

1
Se identifican los temas relevantes en base a un análisis 
de fuentes internas y externas relacionadas con el 
negocio y con los grupos de interés.

2 Sesión de trabajo interna para la validación, definición y 
agrupación de los temas según criterios ESG.

3 Se identifican 20 temas relevantes.

Prioritisation of material matters

Identificación de las 
prioridades mediante 
consultas internas y 
externas a diferentes 

grupos de interés y 
entrevistas a expertos

Las consultas se han 
clasificado en base a 
dos ejes: relevancia 

para el negocio y 
relevancia para los 
grupos de interés

Más de 800 encuestas 
de empleados, clientes, 

profesionales 
inmobiliarios y 

consultores financieros

8 entrevistas al Comité de Dirección 7 entrevistas a expertos externos

355 noticias relacionadas con 
temas materiales

12 tendencias sociales y 
de sostenibilidad

Identification of relevant issues based on an analysis of internal 
and external sources related to the business and stakeholders

Internal work session to carry out the validation, definition and 
grouping of topics according to ESG criteria.

Identification of 20 relevant topics.

Identification of the priorities
through internal and external 

consultation to different 
stakeholders and expert 

interviews.

The queries have been 
classified based on two axes: 

relevance for business and 
relevance to stakeholders.

More than 800 surveys
of employees, customers,

real estate agents and
financial consultants.

8 interviews with the Management Committee 7 interviews with external experts 

355 news related to material issues 12 social and sustainability trends
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Materiality matrix

Consolidation of global results from the matters’ 
prioritisation for the business and stakeholders

Material matters of the Group’s parent 
company 
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The main conclusions from the prioritisation have been the following: 

1
Los tres temas prioritarios en el Estudio de Materialidad 
2020 están relacionados con la atención y seguridad de 
los clientes: Satisfacción y experiencia del cliente, 
Cumplimiento y adaptación al marco regulatorio y 
Ciberseguridad y protección de datos.

En el eje de negocio, los tres temas prioritarios son 
Autonomía financiera y rentabilidad, Cumplimiento y 
adaptación al marco regulatorio y Satisfacción y 
experiencia del cliente. 

Los grupos de interés priorizan cuatro temas clave que 
corresponden a su relación con la compañía: Satisfacción 
y experiencia del cliente, Ciberseguridad y protección de 
datos, Transparencia y lenguaje claro y Compra 
responsable.

2

3
Respecto al estudio de 2018, destaca un aumento de la 
relevancia de los temas Financiación sostenible de la 
vivienda y Desarrollo del talento y formación. Los temas 
Gestión integral de los riesgos y Transparencia y lenguaje 
claro son los que reducen en mayor medida su 
relevancia, aunque continúan siendo dos temas clave.

4

Four key themes that correspond to
interest groups with their relationship 

with the company:
Customer satisfaction and customer 

experience,
Cybersecurity and data protection,

Transparency and clear language and 

The three priority issues in the Materiality Study
2020 are related to the care and safety of customers: Customer 
satisfaction and experience, Compliance and adaptation to the 
regulatory framework and Cybersecurity and data protection.

In the business area, the three priority issues are Financial auto-
nomy and profitability, Compliance and adaptation to the regulatory 
framework and Satisfaction and Customer experience. 

Compared to the 2018 study, there is an increase in
relevance of the topics Sustainable Housing Financing and talent 
training and development. The topics Risk Management and Trans-
parency and Clear Language are the ones that most reduce
relevance, although they remain as two key issues.

Stakeholders prioritize four key issues related to their relationship with 
the company: Satisfaction and  customer experience, Cybersecurity 
and protection of data, Transparency and clear language and Purchase 
responsible.
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As part of the Materiality Study, the consultations 
included a specific question on matters to face 
the consequences of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Internal 
Experts

Digital transformation is a priority issue to adapt to a
new context (21%).

Main themes for responsible business: sustainable financing of
housing, responsible purchasing and the health and well-being of 
employees (17% in each of them).

Financial 
Consultants

Digital transformation (25%) to improve its relationship with clients and 
UCI.

They value the support and training offered to them (17.5%).
Financial autonomy (14.5%) and responsible purchasing (14%).

Customers

Flexibility and aid for the payment of their homes in a context
complex economy like the current one (63%).

Protection of the health and safety of the company's workers (13%).

Employees

They believe that UCI has been able to answer the needs of
employees and customers during the pandemia. In the next year UCI 
should continue working to protect the health of employees (30%), offer
solutions to customers in difficulties (14.5%) and boost
digital transformation (14%).

External 
Experts

Responsible purchase (20%) and sustainable housing financing
(20%) as two topics to continue developing in 2021 to answer the
consequences of the pandemic.

Real Estate 
Agents

Responsible purchase of housing with solutions to customers in
difficulties (56%), keep profitability and financing and enhance the
digital transformation (13%).

The following conclusions have been obtained:
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SDGs to which UCI contributes

Priority SDG’s

UCI contributes to them
directly with its activity
and commitments

Interrelated 
SDG’s

UCI contributes to them 
in a direct and/or 
indirect through projects 
and specific initiatives

Transversal 
SDG’s

In all SDGs to which UCI
contributes

UCI has analyzed the 2030 Agenda to identify 
the SDGs to which it contributes most 
significantly through:

4.2 Contribution to the SDG

We support our stakeholders to face the challenges of the agenda 2030. 

We are aware that we must assume ambitious 
objectives, both environmental and of human ri-
ghts, inclusion, diversity, equity and equality, to 
reach the best market practices of transparency 
and good governance.

During this year, we have tackled the analysis of 
UCI’s contribution to the agenda 2030 in order to 
align and integrate it in our ESG framework and in 
projects and initiatives developed by the entity. 

In order to determine the SDGs to which UCI contri-
butes, an analysis has been made of more than 20 
corporate sources, as well as of the regulation and 
strategy related to the Agenda 2030, sector trends 
and sustainability and of the sector companies.
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Somos también parte de la red del Pacto Mundial desde 2020, y por ello estamos comprometidos con sus 10 principios:

1 Apoyar y respetar la 
protección de los DDHH

No ser cómplices en la 
vulneración de los DDHH.

Apoyar la libertad de afiliación y 
la negociación colectiva.

2

3

Apoyar la eliminación de toda forma de 
trabajo forzoso o realizado bajo coacción.4

Apoyar la erradicación del 
trabajo infantil.

5

Apoyar la abolición de las 
prácticas de discriminación.6

Mantener un enfoque preventivo 
que favorezca el medioambiente.7

Fomentar iniciativas que promuevan 
una mayor responsabilidad ambiental.8

Favorecer el desarrollo y la difusión de las 
tecnologías respetuosas con el medioambiente.9

Trabajar contra la corrupción 
en todas sus formas.

10

Support and respect the protection of 
internationally proclaimed human rights.

Ensure that business practices are not 
complicit in human rights abuses.

Uphold the freedom of association and the effective 
recognition of the right to collective bargaining. 

Eliminate all forms of forced and compulsory labor.

The effective abolition of child labour.

The elimination of discrimination in respect of em-
ployment and occupation.

Businesses should support a precautionary 
approach to environmental challenges.

Undertake initiatives to promote greater environmen-
tal responsibility.

Encourage the development and diffusion of 
environmentally friendly technologies.

Businesses should work against corruption in all its 
forms, including extortion and bribery.
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SDGs and goals to which UCI contribute and associated initiatives

SDG Goals to which UCI contribute   Main initiatives

4.3.  Ensure equal access for all women and men to 
affordable and quality technical, vocational and tertiary 
education, including university

> Aprendizándome: dynamic ecosystem for employees with 16 areas of
learning.
> SIRA: attract, train and contribute to the development of the best real estate 
professionals to identify them in the sector for their capabilities, ethical commitment 
and quality of service.
> Programa "Te acompañamos". Financial education for young people through the 
initiatives "Tus finanzas, tu futuro" (Junior Achievement) and Scholarship for 
extraordinary talent without resources (Fundación Dádoris).

8.5. Achieve full and productive employment and 
decent work for all women and men, including for young 
people and persons with disabilities, and equal pay for 
work of equal value.
8.8. Protect labour rights and promote safe and secure 
working environments for all workers, including migrant 
workers, in particular women migrants, and those in 
precarious employment.
8.10. Strengthen the capacity of domestic financial 
institutions to encourage and expand access to banking, 
insurance and financial services for all.

> Well-being and safety of employees and flexible environments: Cuídate Corazón 
En Casa to improve the health and quality of life of the workforce, development 
of teleworking as prevention measure against Covid-19 and AENOR Covid-19 
Certification.
> Agreements with CEE: contracting of material and services for the employment of 
people
with intellectual disability.
> Customer relationship model: based on responsible purchasing, free choice,
in-depth knowledge of the products and services to be contracted and support
at each stage of the customer's life. including different
digital tools and platforms.

 

10.2. Empower and promote the social, economic 
and political inclusion of all, irrespective of age, sex, 
disability, race, ethnicity, origin, religion or economic or 
other status.
10.3. Ensure equal opportunity and reduce inequalities 
of outcome, including by eliminating discriminatory 
laws, policies and practices and promoting appropriate 
legislation, policies and action in this regard.
5.5. Ensure women’s full and effective participation 
and equal opportunities for leadership at all levels of 
decision-making in political, economic and public life.

> “Te acompañamos“ Educational and awareness programs for the inclusion of
people with intellectual disabilities through Iniciativas Molonas with Fundación
Prodis.
> Guidance service on disability and dependency with Fundación Alares
for UCI employees and their families.
> Equality and diversity. Diversity white paper. Protocol against harassment in the
workplace, inclusive language guide and equality plan.
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SDG Goals to which UCI contribute   Main initiatives

 

7.2. Increase substantially the share of renewable 
energy in the global energy mix.
7.3. Double the global rate of improvement in 
energy efficiency.
11.1. Ensure access for all to adequate, safe and 
affordable housing and basic services and upgrade 
slums.
11.3. Enhance inclusive and sustainable 
urbanization and capacity for participatory, 
integrated and sustainable human settlement 
planning and management in all countries.
12.2. Achieve the sustainable management and 
efficient use of natural resources.
12.5. Substantially reduce waste generation 
through prevention, reduction, recycling and reuse.
12.6. Encourage companies, especially large and 
transnational companies, to adopt sustainable 
practices and to integrate sustainability 
information into their reporting cycle.
12.8. Ensure that people everywhere have 
the relevant information and awareness for 
sustainable development and lifestyles in 
harmony with nature.
13.1. Strengthen resilience and adaptive capacity 
to climate-related hazards and natural disasters in 
all countries.
13.3. Improve education, awareness-raising and 
human and institutional capacity on climate 
change mitigation, adaptation, impact reduction 
and early warning.

> Environmental management system: following the standards of ISO 14:001:
2015 (Spain and Portugal headquarters) to minimize the environmental impact and 
comply with the legal requirements and those derived from our interest groups. new 
organization with measurement tools based on homogeneous parameters for Spain 
and Portugal.
> Green product range, Energy rehabilitation of buildings, Self-construction Create 
Mortgage and Photovoltaic.
> Green bonds: RMBS Green Belem 1 and FT RMBS Prado VII.



47Annual Report 2021

SDG Goals to which UCI contribute   Main initiatives

16.5. Substantially reduce corruption and bribery 
in all their forms.
16.6. Develop effective, accountable and 
transparent institutions at all levels.
16.7. Ensure responsive, inclusive, participatory 
and representative decision-making at all levels.

> Corporate policies and robust internal governance to ensure proper management
responsibility and ethics of the entity.
> Client's interest protection: 9 principles that govern our professional activity.
> Fight against corruption and bribery: criminal prevention device and
money laundering prevention device.
> Information security.
> Annual report of financial and non-financial results of the company (report
verified)
> Promote and ensure responsible publicity and communication of
products and services

17.17. Encourage and promote effective public, 
public-private and civil society partnerships, 
building on the experience and resourcing 
strategies of partnerships.

> Green Alliances: EMF, GBCe, EDW, Gloval, Grupo BC, EMF, BEI, EDW, Consorci 
de Habitatge del Área Metropolitana de Barcelona,    EMVS, CONCOVI, Colegio de 
Administradores de Fincas de España, Generalitat de Catalunya, Emvisesa
municipal housing company of Seville, Barcelona City Council - Illa Eficient,
CAF (Alicante, Seville, Huelva, Valencia, Barcelona), COAM, COAMU.
> Business and sector alliances: AHE, ASNEF, Asociación Española de Calidad, 
alliance with NAR.
> Sustainability and corporate responsibility alliances: Global Compact and DIRSE.
> Agreements with Special Employment Centers: Prodis, Juan XXIII, La Amistad
Montesol.
> Agreements with social entities (Foundations, NGOs): Prodis, Dádoris, Junior
achievement
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4.3 Governance and Priorities

Policies that guide the integration of sustainability in our actions

Ethical 
Code

Sustainability
 Policy

Environmental Risk 
Management Policy

Diversity 
Policy

Customer Protection
 Policy

Establish a set of principles 
and conduct guidelines 
aimed at guaranteeing 
the ethical behavior 
and responsible for all 
UCI employees in the 
development of its activity.

Establish the sustainability 
general principles and 
commitments with our 
stakeholders for creating 
long-term value.

Specify the criteria and 
procedures to follow in 
connection with the grant 
loans to real estate assets 
that can have a bigger 
environmental impact.

Includes goals, principles 
and actions to ensure 
diversity and inclusive 
culture in the organization.

Details the 9 principles 
that must govern the 
relationship between UCI 
and its clients to respect 
their interests and inherent 
rights.

Other policies that support the development of our ESG strategy

Information Security 
Policy

Anti-corruption and 
Anti-bribery Policy

Clash of Interests 
General Policy

Supplier Contracting 
Principles and Procedure

Social Action 
Policy

Sustainable Events 
Guide

Collect the main lines 
of action to guarantee 
the confidentiality, 
integrity and 
availability of the UCI 
Group information.

Identify the most 
common cases of 
acts of corruption 
and what to do in 
these situations.

Set the guidelines to 
prevent and manage 
conflict of interests that 
can happen as a result 
of the activities of the 
employees, directors 
and entities of UCI 
Group

Set the general framework 
in relation to the selection, 
control and monitoring of 
service providers as well as 
the quality evaluation.

Set the action 
lines for donations 
made in the group, 
regardless of 
whether they are 
economic, in kind or 
through volunteering.

Rise awareness about 
tthe importance 
of incorporating 
sustainability criteria 
in the organization of 
events to minimize 
negative impacts.

In the development of our business activity and 
of our commitments with the society, in addi-
tion to being linked to several international ini-

tiatives related to the sustainable development, 
we count with an internal regulatory framework, 
constituted by policies and action principles, that 

guides us to adopt responsible behaviours in the 
integration of the ESG criteria.
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5. We support the sustainable transition

As entity committed to the planet, we have 
integrated the ESG criteria as one of the pi-
llars that guide our sustainability strategy.

ESG is the acronym of ‘environmental, social 
and governance’ and we call it: 
We greenimise, 

4.1. Why?/How?/What?

E de

Environmental > Greenizamos
Se refiere al efecto que nuestra actividad tiene en el  medioambiente, 
de forma directa o indirecta

S de

Social > Te Acompañamos
Incluye nuestro modelo de relación con el cliente y el impacto sobre la 
comunidad, por ejemplo, en términos de diversidad o derechos humanos.

G de 

Governance > Cumplimos
Se refiere al gobierno corporativo de la empresa, la composición del Consejo de 
Administración o las políticas de transparencia y códigos de conducta aplicados.

Our ESG approach is continuously compared to 
our stakeholders’ expectations, and we actively 
participate in discussions to understand their 
different perspectives. This means being 
transparent on the costs and opportunities 
involved. Issues such as innovation, best market 
practices are essential for the evolution of the 
ESG framework.

We accompany and We comply, and it covers the following matters:

“Sustainability is the challenge of the 21st century and credit institutions are called upon to play a ca-
talytic role in the transition towards a more sustainable world.  For a greener and more inclusive future”

About the effect that our activity has on the environment, 
directly or indirectly.

It includes our customer relationship model and the impact on the 
community, for example, in terms of diversity or human rights.

About the corporate governance of the company, the composition of the 
Board of Directors or the transparency policies and codes of conduct applied.

Environmental > Greenizamos

Social > Te Acompañamos 

Governance > Cumplimos

of

of

of
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We want to contribute to a better world.

In an environment where consumption models 
can adapt to the new social and environmental 
risks, as a financial institution we have taken 
part in this challenge by launching initiatives and 
financial products that contribute to social wel-
fare, sustainability and care for the environment.

Our PURPOSE?

HOW we do it?

WHAT we offer?

We offer innovative, sustainable and responsi-
ble financing solutions, positive for people and 
for the planet and we help each client in their 
vital project, making the journey a simple and 
transparent process.

We build sustainable and innovative financial 
solutions to support the transition towards a 
resilient and low-carbon economy.  In addition, 
we promote a inclusive, diverse and egualitarian 
growth, working in a culture of Good Governan-
ce with an ethical, responsible approach and 
transparent criteria that meet the demands of 
ESG investors and regulators.

Why

How

What



51Annual Report 2021
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Reducción de nuestro impacto ambiental

Comprometidos con la protección del medio 
ambiente, reduciendo/compensando nuestra 
huella para alcanzar la neutralidad en carbono 
en 2050.

Apoyar a nuestros clientes en la transición 
verde y alinear nuestra cartes para cumplir 
con los objetivos de París con el desarrollo 
de una oferta completa de financiación 
verde y sostenible

N
eg

oc
io

Huella de Carbono
Economía Circular
Consumo Sostenible de Recursos

Lucha contra en cambio 
climático y calentamiento global 
con productos responsables y 
sostenibles

Nuestras principales líneas de actuación en el eje Ambiental:

“Greenisation is the action we adopt to promote our stakeholders’ need to integrate sustainability in 
their business model and to accelerate the awareness towards energetically efficient homes.”

Climate change implies one of the greatest dis-
ruptions in history, due to its global nature and 
deep economic and social impact in all areas. It 
therefore requires a decisive response from the 
governments, regulators, companies and the 
society as a whole.

We commit to fighting climate change. We su-
pport the climate change goals established by 
the Paris Agreement. Our ambition is to reach 
zero net emissions in 2050 and we are working 
in the establishment of our first decarbonisa-
tion goals.

Although the financial sector is characterised 
by a very limited level of direct CO2 emissions, 
credit institutions play an essential role to as-
sist and accompany our clients in the transition 
towards a sustainable future, through financing.

5.2. ‘We greenimise’
Our contribution to accelerate the change towards the environmental sustainability.

Carbon footprint
Circular Economy
Sustainable Consumption of ResourcesA
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Committed to the environment protection, reducing/
compensating our footprint to achieve carbon neutrality
in 2050.

Fight against climate change and global 
warming with responsible and sustainable 
products

Apoyar a nuestros clientes en la transición verde y alinear 
nuestra cartes para cumplir con los objetivos de París con 
el desarrollo de una oferta completa de financiación verde y 
sostenible
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Our commitment with the environmental sus-
tainability and the fight against climate change 
are depicted in the ESG framework, focused on 
framing the entity’s activity and organisation wi-
thin the ESG parameters, and in the group’s Sus-
tainability Policy, both approved by the Board of 
Directors in 2021, as representation of its deci-
sive will to contribute to the development of a 
more sustainable economy and financial acti-
vity, aligned with the principles, guidelines and 
regulations in force in this matter.

In addition to incorporating sustainability in a 
transversal manner in the business model and 
strategy, with regard to environmental matters, 
we guarantee the minimisation of its processes 
and installations and this is the pillar on which 
the environmental management system (SGA), 

implemented in 2020 following the global stan-
dard ISO 14001:2015, is based. 

Concerning the organisation’s transformation 
in connection to the environmental training 
and awareness, we have made available to all 
our staff an online green training course, which 
must be compulsorily followed by all emplo-
yees from the different areas and departments. 
Additionally, in 2021, in order to accompany our 
clients in the transition process, UCI has laun-
ched a new specialised green course for the Fi-
nancial Consultants function.

Moreover, the organisation’s best practices and 
expertise are assessed through the internal 
platform Aprendizándome and with the inter-
nal communication channel, where employees 

can also make contributions and suggestions 
to improve environmental matters and of fight 
against the climate change.

With the above, the entity takes a further step 
in the exercise of its responsibility as accelera-
ting agent towards a sustainable economy and 
in the fight against climate change as financial 
agent.

Furthermore, through our financial activity, we 
commit to:

Analyze the impact of climate 
change, detecting needs 

than the transition towards 
an economy decarbonized 
can to present, to answer 
with business solutions 

that support sustainability 
environmental.

Analyze the climatic and 
environmental risks, its 

impact on customers and 
their financial activity, 
its gradual integration 

in compliance with the 
regulatory requirements.

Communicate transparently 
our advances in environmental 

sustainability, increasing 
awareness internally and and 
externally for foster a sense of 
environmental responsibility.

Assume and endorse 
the main commitments 

national and international 
that help protect of the 

environment and fight change 
weather, working on your 

implementation.
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The Environmental Management System (SGA) 
is implemented in the entity since 2020 and is 
externally certified by AENOR, which evidences 
the adequacy of the central services building to 
the requirements the Standard ISO 14001:2015. 
As required by this Standard, the entity has 
identified risks and opportunities derived from 
the system, as well as actions to be addressed 
for each risk. 

Due to our activity, we have not directly genera-
ted a very significant volume of polluting emis-
sions or environmental noise.

The most representative emissions are those 
indirectly originated from the consumption of 
electricity, as well as from the consumption of 
fossil fuels derived from the transportation of 
staff in work trips.

In order to minimise its impact, UCI continues 
managing lighting and conditioning installations, 
in particular in its headquarters.

Calculations of greenhouse gas emissions are 
given in equivalent tons of CO2, which already 
include the remaining greenhouse gases ori-
ginated from the combustion of the different 
energy sources used at UCI. Such greenhouse 
gases are mainly CO2, N2O and CH4 (the Bar-
celona Premium office residually uses natural 
gas coming from boiler).

In 2021, UCI has implemented a new methodo-
logy to measure environmental matters, based 
on standards of reference: GRI, GHG Protocol, 
ISO 14001, ISO 14064 and CDP, which allows us 

Atmospheric emissions and climate change

E1- Internal axis: Environmental management system 
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2021 2020

Total Carbon Footprint 514,97 t CO2 539 t CO2

Carbon footprint per employee 0,84 t CO2 0,86 t CO2

Emissions generated during the two last years are expressed in tons of CO2 and a decrease with regard to 2020 has been achieved:
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to have a comprehensive solution to structure, 
consolidate and report all environmental infor-
mation, increasing the efficiency and the 
reliability. 

This software maintains the traceability of all 
data for audits or verifications, and allows us to 
objectively establish goals for the reduction of 
greenhouse gases in 2022. 

The year used as ‘base year’ in comparisons of 
trends will be, in each case, the previous finan-
cial year. 
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Emissions by scope:

Aspect
2021 2020

tCO2eq % tCO2eq %

Scope 1

Natural gas consumption 1.5170 100.00 0.9981 100.00

Total scope 1.5170 Total 0.9981

Scope 2

Electricity consumption 115.4769 100.00 126.5809 100.00

Total scope 115.4769 Total 126.5809

Scope 3

Ink and toner cartridges 0.3965 0.10 0.0630 0.02

Diesel consumption A (A3) 93.1378 23.40 56.3755 13.58

Gasoline consumption (A3) 95.8298 24.08 56.4755 13.61

Business travel emissions (CO2) 34.5743 8.69 280.6204 67.61

Discarded equipment 0.0017 0.00 0.0000 0.00

Paper 0.2595 0.07 0.3554 0.09

Alkaline batteries 0.0003 0.00 0.0002 0.00

Plastic 0.0280 0.01 0.1115 0.03

Municipal waste 3.2038 0.81 7.1759 1.73

Business trips 170.5420 42.85 13.8859 3.35

Total scope 397.9738 Total 415.0632

Total emissions Total 514.9677 -5.10 Total 542.6423
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77,99%

21,71%

Alcance 1
Alcance 2
Alcance 3

,0,30%

SCOPE 1: DIRECT EMISSIONS clarify con-
sumptions corresponding to this scope 

It includes emissions generated by installations 
through the consumption of fuels, such as ga-
soil (in our HQ, we have a generator set that is 
activated when the power system fails). There 
is a minimum consumption, we only have the 
natural gas (at the Barcelona Premium Office). 

SCOPE 2: INDIRECT EMISSIONS FROM 
ELECTRICITY

It includes emissions derived from the power 
consumption in Spain and Portugal. For Spain, 
in this scope, the contracting of clean/renewa-
ble energy with guarantee of origin is particular-
ly relevant (we have the certificate of 100% re-
newable energy since 2020 for all offices that 
contract Energya – except for Avenida Córdoba, 
Palma, Marbella and Barcelona Premium-).

We have reduced around 9% of scope 2 
emissions with regard to 2020:

SCOPE 3: OTHER INDIRECT EMISSIONS

This scope includes other indirect activities in 
Spain and Portugal, such as emissions in trips 
made by train, plane, vehicle (except for com-
pany vehicles) and consumptions of paper and 
waste management in Spain and Portugal.

In this sense, in 2021, emissions of CO2 in tons 
(t) derived from these parameters amounted to 
a total of 397.97 t/CO2, with regard to 415.06 t/
CO2 in 2020.

In relation to working trips, UCI usually applies 
environmental and expense rationalisation cri-
teria, favouring the choice of transportation 
means with a lower level of CO2 emissions, and 
in work trips we promote the use of shared ve-

hicles. The irruption of the COVID-19 pandemic 
has led, since March 2020, to the interruption 
of almost all trips within the group, although in 
2021 part of the regular trips have been 
resumed.

The health emergency situation has implied 
a quantitative and qualitative leap, so that te-
lework has become a reality in the daily work of 
almost all employees. There are multiple objec-
tives and impacts from these changes, and ran-
ge from a better balancing of the personal and 
professional life to evident savings of time, ener-
gy and emissions.

Furthermore, this same situation is reflected in 
the following graphic, where we may observe 
the significance assumed each one of the sco-
pes of our carbon footprint:

scope 1
scope 2
scope 3
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UCI’s objectives include the efficient consumption 
of resources, and it implements initiatives focused 

on their optimisation, particularly of those that are 
material for the group: water, energy and paper. 

special emphasis is also given to the awareness on 
their correct use.

Sustainable use of resources

2021 2020

Total electricity consumption per employee 950 KWh 1030 KWh

Total water consumption per employee 1 m3 3,6 m3

Total paper consumption per employee 12 kgs 15 Kgs

Aspect 2021 2020 Var. %

Water

Water consumption 668.779 m3 2,295.836 m3 -69.56%

668.779 2,295.836 -69.56%

Gas

Natural gas consumption 8,335.000 kWh 5,484.000 kWh -51.99%

8,335.000 5,484.000 -51.99%

Electricity

Electricity consumption 580,619.697 kWh 650,285.909 kWh -10.71%

580,619.697 650,285.909 -10.71%

Emissions
Emissions 514.968 t 542.642 t -5.10%

514.968 542.642 -5.10%
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Aspect 2021 2020 Var. %

Indicators

Diesel consumption A (A3) 37,922.570 l 22,954.180 l 65.21%

Gasoline consumption (A3) 42,704.903 l 25,167.341 l 69.68%

67.55%

Raw Materials

Paper consumption 7,280.100 kg 9,951.704 kg -26.85%

Waste

Ink and toner cartridges 0.164 t 0.026 t 528.85%

Discarded equipment 0.080 t 0.000 t

Paper 12.189 t 16.670 t -26.88%

Alkaline batteries 0.013 t 0.008 t 50.78 %

Plastic 1.314 t 5.232 t -74.88%

Municipal waste 5.461 t 11.266 t -51.52%

19.221 33.202 -42.11%

Trips

Business trips 816,754.060 km 81,964.249 km 896.48%

816,754.060 km 81,964.249 896.48%
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The Group’s main source of energy is the electri-
city. In 2021, we have consumed 580,619 KWh 
at consolidation level, with regard to the con-
sumption of 650,285.90 KWh in 2020, which 
implies an important reduction in the electric 
power demand, which reflects, in addition to 

organisational changes caused by the extraordi-
nary situation generated by the COVID-19 pan-
demic, since March 2020 (which gave rise to a 
situation of permanent telework for a great part 
of the staff), the ongoing programming of ener-
getic efficiency actions and the sustainable de-

velopment in the Group companies.

We reflect below this decreasing trend and the 
efficient use of energy:
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The most relevant water consumptions at UCI 
correspond to UCI Spain (Building axesur) and 
UCI Portugal (Building Torre das Amoreiras) 
headquarters and to offices that have the grea-

test staff volume, all originating from network 
water; therefore, it is considered that there is no 
relevant affection to water sources.

Furthermore, we expose below the evolution of 
the consolidated water consumption  in the last 
two years, expressed in m³:

Water

Electricity

Aspect 2021 2020 Var. %

Electricity

Electricity consumption 580,619.697 kWh 650,285.909 kWh -10.71%

580,619.697 650,285.909 -10.71%
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  The following agencies/offices include the water con-
sumption in the lease contract (and thus are not included 
in the global calculation of water consumption): Agency of 

Madrid Mortgages; Agency of Marbella; Agency of Murcia; 
Agency of Palma; Agency of Sabadell; Agency of Seville; 
Agency of Seville Mortgages; Agency of Príncipe de Verga-

ra; Agency of Valencia; Agency of Vigo; Agency of Zaragoza; 
Agency of Coimbra; Agency of Algarve; Agency of Oeiras.

The concept of circular economy is one of the 
seven iconic initiatives that are part of the stra-
tegy Europe 2020 to favour the sustainable 
development. It is an economic concept inte-
rrelated with sustainability, and which objec-
tive is for the value of products, materials and 
resources (water, energy) to be maintained as 
long as possible in the economy, and to reduce 
the waste generation to the minimum level. The 
idea is to implement a new economy, circular 

-not linear-, based on the principle of «closing 
the life cycle» of products, services, waste, ma-
terials, water and energy.

We count with internal procedures to ensure 
the withdrawal and recycling of 100% of paper 
and plastic through authorised waste mana-
gers. Corporate centres (headquarters) have a 
selective waste collection of packages, organic 
matter and batteries.

Paper and toners concentrate the main con-
sumptions of materials used in our offices. 

The paper consumption, furthermore, shows a 
reducing trend, achieved thanks to different po-
licies, such as: digitalisation, reduction of prin-
ting points, reuse and use of recycled paper, etc. 
Below we observer this same trend, where pa-
per consumption is expressed in Kg:

Circular economy and waste prevention and management 
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Aspect 2021 2020 Var. %

Water

Water comsumption 698.779 m3 2,295.836 m3 -69.56%

668.779 2,295.836 -69.56%

Consumed water is not reused or recycled.
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Aspect 2021 2020 Var. %

Raw materials

Paper consumption 7,280.100 kg 9,951.704 kg -26,85%

Throughout 2021, UCI has maintained the same 
line with initiatives aimed to substitute the pos-
tal mail by email in communications to clients, 
as well as the use of recycled paper (originated 

from sustainable forests – with Eco Label Cer-
tificate) for services that could not be digita-
lised and the use of the tool Postamail, which 
has undoubtedly allowed decreasing the paper 

and toner consumption.

As in the case of non-hazardous waste, most of 
the generated hazardous waste, and provided 
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that there is a technological alternative, are ai-
med to recycling, thus contributing to the con-
cept of circular economy indicated above, as the 
use of resources that are out of use and cannot 
be reused in our activity is eased.

Our method to eliminate all waste is verified 
through information collected in waste manage-

ment control and monitoring documents (Was-
te Chronological Record), and through destruction 
certificates issued by the different suppliers and 
authorised managers. It is important to note that 
the supplier’s treatment of waste from documen-
tation, paper and cardboard, once shredded, selec-
ted and compacted, consists in sending them to 
paper and cardboard factories for their recycling.

We expose below waste generated by the UCI 
Group, verifying their clear decrease in 2021:

Aspect 2021 2020 Var. %

Waste

Ink and toner cartridges 0.164 t 0.026 t 528.85%

Discarded equipment 0.080 t 0.000 t

Paper 12.189 t 16.670 t -26.88%

Alkaline batteries 0.013 t 0.008 t 50.78 %

Plastic 1.314 t 5.232 t -74.88%

Municipal waste 5.461 t 11.266 t -51.52%

19.221 33.202 -42.11%
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Our activity does not cause significant impacts 
with regard to lighting, noise or atmosphe-
ric, discharge and soil pollution, and therefore 
we have not received fines or non-monetary 

penalties for non-compliance of the environ-
mental regulations. Additionally, we have not 
received claims related to the environmental 
management. 

We detail below some specific actions by the 
Infrastructures Department in relation to the 
environmental regulatory compliance:
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It should be noted that, due to the health crisis 
of the Covid-19, most of the staff at UCI part 
has been teleworking, since March 2020, and 
therefore both 2020 and 2021 present atypical 
behaviours with regard to the consumption of 
resources, trips, and holding of onsite events. 

The entity has not carried out measures to pre-
serve or restore the biodiversity, since we con-
sider that UCI’s activity does not generate im-
pacts on it and, additionally, the company does 
not count with facilities in protected areas.

Finally, concerning the fight against food waste, 
in 2021, UCI has not carried out any action or 
implemented measures in this sense.

Throughout 2021, we have continued our 
analysis on how we expect the climate 

change to affect the entity and how it will 
adapt to its consequences. 

Date Action

january 21

Review of 2020 indicators, creation and installation of 2021 indicators and respective internal controls

Energy audit

Obtaining the NIMA

march21
ISO 14001 online training

Consultancy of environmental legal requirements

april 21

Headquarters air quality auditorium

Creation of the chronological file of waste 

Vinyl head office recycling bins

june 21 Recycling of water bottles at headquarters and agencies under the concept of recycling and life cycle

september 21 Installation of air purifiers at headquarters and offices

Consequences from the climate change and transition towards a low-carbon economy 
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At UCI, we promote financial solutions to ease 
the access to housing. Our purpose is to boost 
the responsible purchase of houses through 
customised loans and mortgages that put our 
clients and their vital projects at the core.

We contribute to rehabilitating houses and re-
newing the housing stock of Spain and Portu-
gal under a sustainability criterion, energetic 
efficiency and respect for the environment, 
thus contributing to the challenges of the SDGs 
(Sustainable Development Goals).

As financial entity, we address the challenge 
of energy efficiency and sustainability through 
Green Mortgages & Loans. The objective of this 
initiative is to promote the acquisition of ener-
getically efficient homes and the rehabilitation 
of the housing stock. 

Since 2018, we participate in the European 
programme as one of the credit institutions in 
the Green Mortgage initiative led by the Euro-
pean Mortgage Federation (EEMI – EMF) and, 
in 2021, within the EEML-EMF, we have been 
appointed to lead the Taxonomy working group, 
which objective is to align the standards of the 
EEML (Energy Efficient Mortgage Label) stamp 
with the European Union taxonomy.

We participate as members of the AUNA pro-
ject, which objective is to promote the sustai-
nable rehabilitation of buildings through smart 
financing (this project has received financing 
from t he research and innovation programme 
Horizonte 2020 of the European Union, by vir-
tue of the Grant Agreement no. 957119 and is 
led by the Green Building Council Spain). 

We have joined, during 2020, the European In-
vestment Bank in the fight against the climate 
change, with the issuance of RBMS Green Be-
lém (the first issuance of green bonds in Por-
tugal) with a total of 385MM€, committing to 
energetically rehabilitate around 450,000 m2, 
and with estimated energy savings estimate by 
43.7GWh/year. 

In 2021 with the third prime RMBS of the Ibe-
rian peninsula since the beginning of the pan-
demic- Prado VIII, for an amount of 480MM€-, 
we joined again the European Investment Bank 
to decarbonise the housing stock. Total energy 
savings are expected by 57.3 GW/year.

E2 - Business: Green Mortgages & Loans
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50 %

28 %

6 %

New Building EPC A

New Building EPC B

Purchase & Green Refurbishment (SUMA)

Green Builidings Rehabilitation

16 %

New Building EPC A

New Building EPC B

39 %

61 %

Producción green 2020

4% 
de la producción 
total 2020

7% 
de la producción 
total 2020

Producción green 2021

18%

46%

52%

13%

18%

17%

7%

7%

3%

0%
19%

7% 
de la producción 
total 2021

8% 
de la producción 
total 2021

New Building EPC A

New Building EPC B

Purchase & Green Refurbishment (SUMA)

Green Building Rehabilitation

New nZEB EPC B

New nZEB EPC A

New nZEB EPC B

New Building EPC A

New Building EPC B

New nZEB EPC A

Green Refurbishment

In line with the recommendations and expec-
tations of the EBA and of the European Cen-
tral Bank, we have incorporated ESG factors 

in the risk management, in particular the ex-
posure of the measurement and analysis of 
physical risks in our portfolio in Spain, since 

2010, to have a comprehensive and well do-
cumented view.

Our Green production in 2021 in Spain repre-
sents 7% and in Portugal 8%, with regard to 4% 

and 7% in Spain and Portugal in 2020, and we 
have reached 35% of our commitment.

Our Green production has grown by 31% in 
2021 with regard to 2020:

Our commitment of Green business and progress:

Compromisos asumidos

2020 2021

114,62 MM€ 325 MM€

2022 2023 2024

49,19 MM€ 64 MM€

Commitments assumed

Green Production Green Production

of total 
production 2021

of total 
production 2021

of total 
production 2020

of total 
production 2020
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Furthermore, we expose below the analysis obtained from such assessment (only for Spain):

Location of the properties



68 Annual Report 2021

Seismic risk

The seismic risk gradient has been calculated following the 
provisions based on the basic seismic acceleration, a scale 
that marks the intensity, being the parameter contemplated 
in the NCSE-02 Standard. The letters have been established 
according to the following scale, the letter gradients being: 

A B C D ECalification

Very Low

Low

Medium

High

Very High

Acceleration Gradient ab > 0,04g 0,04g < ab < 0,08g 0,08g < = ab < 0,12g  0,12g < = ab < 0,16g ab > 0,16g

Not Appreciable Moderate Strong Strong to
very Strong

Very Strong 
to Fierce

Without
Damage

Very Low Low Moderate From Moderate
to Strong
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Potencial damage
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B 47.33%
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Risk of River Flood

This parameter analyzes the potential danger of river flooding 
in a specific geographic location. As a flood zone, the definition 
and criteria set forth in the R.D. 849/1986, and R.D. 9/2008 
laws have been followed. The classification has been made ac-
cording to the evaluation that the river basin districts carry out 
of the risk of flooding: 

A B C D ECalification

Very Low

Low

Medium

High

Very High

Flood
Periodicity

Very Low
Probability

>= 500 años

Low Probability
<500 y >=100 años

Medium Probability
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Probability
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B 0,05%
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Risk of Marine Flooding

In a similar way to the risk of river flooding, the risk of flooding of 
marine origin has been analyzed, considering as flood zones those 
that are not caused by tides, since if so, they would form part of the 
terrestrial maritime public domain.

A B C D ECalification

Very Low

Low

Medium

High

Very High

Flood
Periodicity

Very Low
Probability

>= 500 años

Low Probability
<500 y >=100 años

Medium Probability
<100 y >=50 years

High Probability
<50 y >= 10 years

Very High
Probability

<10 years

A 99,65%

B 0,05%

36297

17 110

High

Very High

Alic
ante

Castelló
n

Giro
na

Granada

Málaga

Islas Baleares

Huelva

Asturia
s

Tarra
gona

Cantabria

Santa C
ruz de Tenerif

e

Valencia

Barcelona
Cádiz

Las Palm
as

1
2 2 2 2

4
5

6 6
7 7

10

17 17

22

A B C D ECalification

Very Low

Low

Medium

High

Very High

Flood
Periodicity

Very Low
Probability

>= 500 años

Low Probability
<500 y >=100 años

Medium Probability
<100 y >=50 years

High Probability
<50 y >= 10 years

Very High
Probability

<10 years

A 99,65%

B 0,05%

36297

17 110

High

Very High

Alic
ante

Castelló
n

Giro
na

Granada

Málaga

Islas Baleares

Huelva

Astu
ria

s

Tarra
gona

Cantabria

Santa C
ruz de Tenerif

e

Valencia

Barcelona
Cádiz

Las Palm
as

1
2 2 2 2

4
5

6 6
7 7

10

17 17

22



71Annual Report 2021

Risk of Air Pollution

1568

17962

15996

793

793

6 17
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Madrid
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A 4.3%

B 49.31%

D 0.29%

No Ev.
43.92%

Very Low

Low

Medium
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Very High

Non Ev.

In this parameter the global air quality is categorized, based on the wei-
ghting of the ratios of evaluation of the compliance or non-compliance 
with the limit values   or the legal objective values   during the last decade, 
for the different concentrations in the ambient air of the substances. 
pollutants included in RD 102/2011, regarding the improvement of air 
quality. 

The substances analyzed are: sulfur dioxide (SO2), nitrogen dioxide (NO2), particles (dust, ash, soot, me-
tallic particles, cement and pollen) with an aerodynamic diameter equal to or less than 10 and 2.5 µm, lead 
(Pb), benzene (C6H6), carbon monoxide (CO), ozone (O3), arsenic (As), cadmium (Cd), nickel (Ni) and 
benzo (a) pyrene (C20H12).
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Risk of Extraordinary Claims

This parameter analyzes the number of extraordinary claims that 
have been registered on real estate during the last ten years, by 
municipality, expressed in number of claims per thousand inhabi-
tants. Extraordinary risks are understood to be those not covered 
by a standard insurance policy. These risks include contingencies of 
natural origin and those caused by acts of violence.

A B C D ECalification

r = Number of
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Energy Rating of the Property (Main Indicator, Emissions)

The energy rating scale (Main Indicator, Emissions) is based on 
CO2 emissions per m2of Surface associated with heating, cooling, 
DHW, ventilation and lighting services (only bussines buildings).
It is made up of the letters, from A to G, and is the result of the 
relationship between the emissions of the building in question and 
a building with similar characteristics and that meets either the re-
quirements related to the Technical Building Code (CTE).

A B C D ECalification
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Energy Rating of the Property (Secondary Indicator, Consumption)

Finally, we do not count with provisions and guarantees for environmental risks.

Indicators related to “We greenimise” may be consulted in section 6.1 of the report- Indicators on Environmental Matters

The energy rating scale (Secondary Indicator Consumption) reports on the primary 
energy consumption per m2 of surface associated with heating, cooling, DHW, venti-
lation and lighting services (only bussines buildings).
It is made up of the letters, from A to G, and is the result of the relationship between 
the emissions of the building in question and a building with similar characteristics 
and that meets either the requirements related to the Technical Building Code (CTE).

Atmospheric emissions and climate change
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“We generate a positive impact in our stakeholders through the programme ‘we accompany’”

In a world that moves at breakneck speed, we need tolerance and 
support from all and to all. 

“You scratch my back and I'll scratch yours: people at the heart”.

Our main objectives in the social 
axis of the ESG framework place 
people at the heart and our purpo-
se for 2022 with the project “UCI 
NOW” is to connect/integrate the 

Social axis with all the areas within 
the entity.

“It starts and ends with the 
people”.

Te

S1 - People First S2 - Financial Social Engagement

Promote talent & Diversity, 
equality and inclusion 

among the organizational 
structure

Foster residential inclusion and 
financial education

S3 - Customer Centric S4 - Real Estate Activity Capabilities

Client Support during the 
several stages of their 

journey.

Foster Real Estate 
professionalization and 

diversification.

“Our objective is to promote the talent, diversity, equity and inclusion” 

We specialise in homes, and work for our emplo-
yees to feel at home when working in UCI. 

In 2021, we have renewed the certification Great 
Place to Work®, which has recognised us as a 
great place to work, one of the most prestigious 
distinctions in the area Human Resources at na-
tional and international level.

The global trust index (Spain and Portugal) has 
been of 76%, which implies an increase of 4% 
with regard to 2020. 

As relevant detail, we highlight the employees’ 
high participation and implication in both coun-
tries, with an index of 92% in Spain and 93% in 
Portugal.

S1- People First

5.3. ‘We accompany’

Again, a great place to work

JUL 2021–JUL 2022
ESP

Certified
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We strive for the professional development of 
UCI employees through training and education, 
in order to boost the skills and abilities required 
by the organisation in a changing business envi-
ronment that demands new challenges.

In 2021, in order to evolve learning at UCI and 
ease its agility in Spain, we have developed the 
project “Aprendizándome” as a key element of 
the leadership culture, where the employee is 

the main player responsible for their own learning 
and personal development. It is a dynamic and 
continuously growing ecosystem where each 
person may find their own path of development.

It is created to boost the learning culture, where 
the employee as main player has an active role in 
their own development. Also, the project is alig-
ned with our business needs and offers an array 
of different learning resources. The employee 

establishes targets, objectives and expectations, 
while the entity finds a vehicle to manage the 
talent.

The objectives are the following:

Talent, Employment and Employability 

Training

Promote the 
ongoing learning 

culture and 
develop the 

present talent and 
the one we will 

need in the future.

Respond to 
the different 
development 

needs and 
concerns for 

the continuous 
improvement of 

people within the 
entity.

Give opportunities 
based on 

the people’s 
predisposition and 

achievements. 

Generate 
updated contents 

of interest, in 
response to the 

people’s learning 
needs.

Create an 
ecosystem to allow 

the development 
of detected needs 

to guarantee 
the entity’s 

sustainability 
(upskilling and 

reskilling).

Create an ongoing 
learning, training 

and improvement 
model, bespoke 
and adapted to 

each one’s needs 
and to the highest 
value contribution 

to the entity.
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The main results in 2021 have been the following:

145
listas de 
reproducción

132
personas interesadas 
en cursos presenciales
(la media anterior estaba en los 10-20) (>200% años anteriores)

12.000
horas formativas
voluntarias

más de

1.500
accesos
por mes

promedio de

The platform counts with compulsory and vo-
luntary trainings, and their 15 themes cover 
such wide fields as the following: Sustainability, 
Digitalisation and Technology, Financial, Legal, 

IT, Clients, Marketing, Business, Risk, We share, 
Culture and RC, Skills, Languages, Leadership 
and More than work.

We note that, for this project, in 2021, in the sur-
vey GPTW, training and development have in-
creased their assessment by 10 points with re-
gard to 2020, reaching 80%

We have worked in the organisation’s talent ma-
pping to identify key people, skills and abilities of 
employees in the different profiles and, there-
fore, to be able to cover and adapt the different 
positions based on the entity’s needs at every 
moment.

The talent mapping is based on different tests 
to objectively measure the potential and perfor-
mance at work, which combination resulting in 

a talent degree that helps to make decisions in 
relation to the talent management. 

Another notable issue is the performance as-
sessment. In 2021, performance assessments 
have been made for 85% of people in Spain and 
77% in Portugal. This assessment is made by ma-
nagers to each direct collaborator and, therefore, 
it is a moment to work on the teams’ talent and 
development. The continuous improvement is 

part of our commitment as leaders, and the as-
sessment allows us to analyse the evolution and 
results from established objectives, as well as to 
measure behaviours and values that define our 
culture.

Talent  

reproduction 
lists.

voluntary training 
hours.

more than

people interested 
in presential resources, 
(the previous average was of 10-20)

accesses per month 
(>200% previous years).

Average of 
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In Spain, during the year, 10 people have joined 
the payroll, out of whom 50% are women and 
50% are men, and in Portugal 4 people have 
joined, all women. In turn, in Spain, 19 new 
internships have been made in 2021.
In the incorporation process, the candidate 
is provided with a satisfaction questionnaire, 
which global valuation has been of 4.64/5.

We also promote the internal mobility, which 
in 2021 reached 11.67% in Spain and 8.99% in 
Portugal, as this is an essential element in the 
people development, allowing UCI professionals 
to have a global view of the organisation, extend 
their expertise and continue being trained.

Precisely in order to promote this mobility, we 

publish vacancies in the section “Muevete” of 
our internal Talent management application 
for interested employees to be able to apply 
the position and request the change. In 2021, 
in Spain, 11 vacancies have been published, 
and 3 positions have been covered through 
this system. In Portugal, 8 vacancies have been 
covered with internal staff. 

Recruitment

10
people joined
the company’s 
workforce

19
interns

4,64/5
candidates
satisfaction

11,67%
internal mobility
in 2021

50%
women

50%
men

4
people joined
the company’s 
workforce

100%
women

8,99%
internal mobility
in 2021
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In Spain the totality of employees are covered 
by the sector bargaining agreement of ASNEF, 
the National Association of Credit Financial Es-
tablishments in Spain. Portugal does not apply a 
sector bargaining agreement.
 
99.43% of our payroll in Spain counts with an 
indefinite term contract. Out of the 10 people 
who joined us in 2021, 50% were with indefi-
nite term contract, which represents our com-
mitment with the generation of stable quality 

employment. In Portugal, 91% of contracts are 
indefinite term. 
 
All our professionals benefit from a Remunera-
tion Policy that guarantees an appropriate re-
muneration system and, also, at UCI we offer 
social benefits to our collaborators, such as the 
wellbeing and health management program-
mes, ergonomics at work, 29 working days of 
holidays, kindergarten cheques, life insurance, 
private health insurance, restaurant tickets, 

transport aids, no-interest Loans, financing in 
favourable conditions and flexible hours. 

In 2021, we have elaborated a new remunera-
tion policy to comply with regulatory develop-
ments applicable to our sector, for the purpose 
of guaranteeing compatible remuneration prac-
tices with an appropriate and efficient risk ma-
nagement in the Entity.

Employment and remunera-

Also in 2021, we have worked in the Diagnosis of 
equality to adapt to the new requirements. This 

process includes a remuneration audit of UCI. All 
this contributes to the improvement of the qua-

lity of personal and professional life and to the 
work balancing.

Balance of 
remuneration 
components Transparency

Proportionality 
and long-term 
sustainability 

Prudential risk 
management 

Generation of 
commitment 

and motivation

Link to results 
and recognition 

of excellence

Internal equity 
and external 

competitiveness

Strategy and 
time horizon No 

discrimination

This policy is based on the following general remuneration principles:
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At UCI, we are working to raise awareness and promote gender equality in 
all positions. The professional development, the balancing, the equality of 
opportunities and the salary gender equality are an issue to develop at the 
short term within the Entity.

The gender salary gap measures differences of remuneration between 
the average salary of men and women and is divided by the men’s salary.

The gender salary equity measures the existence of "equal salary for equal 
work" between women and men in the same professional category. The 

comparison does not take into account factors such as the permanence in 
the position, the years of service, the prior experience or the background.

Our strategy also prioritises the salary parity between men and women, 
which is measured through the gender salary gap and equity:

At UCI, there are fewer women than men in the senior management; int 
he remaining posts, the gender diversity is balanced.

Salary equality, a goal to keep working towards

Gender salary gap 

Gender salary equity 

522 
personas

56,90% 
mujeres

43,10% 
hombres

89 
personas

59,55% 
mujeres

40,45% 
hombres

Como nos encontramos en 2021:

20,36% 
2021

20,44% 
2022

39,55% 
2021

37,70% 
2022

4,91% 
variación
2020 - 2021 (%)

-0,39% 
variación
2020 - 2021 (%)

Our position in 2021

people women men

people women men

Variation

Variation
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Salary gap UCI Spain  (1)

2021 2020 Variation

Senior 
Management 32.79% 27.22% 20.46%

Management 3.21% 13.01% -75.33%

Manager 8.31% 8.95% -7.15%

Collaborator 2.73% 2.64% 3.41 %

Salary gap UCI Spain (1)

2021 2020 Variation 

Senior 
Management

53.03 % 55.52 % -4.48%
Management

Manager 9.37 % 11.87 % -21.06%

Collaborator -0.20 % -4.10 % -95.12 %

Average remuneration of the Board Members and Management

2021 2020

Women Men Women Men 

Average 
remuneration 
Board Members(1)

- 18,312.50 € - 14,000.00 €

Average 
remuneration 
of senior 
management  (2)

83,177.42 152,995.82 € 86,895.19 € 149,854.18 €

Average remuneration of the Board Members and Management

2021 2020

Women Men Women Men 

Average 
remuneration 
Board Members

N/A N/A N/A N/A

Average 
remuneration 
of senior 
management  (1)

36,617.00 € 77,963.71 € 34,688.00 € 77,982.37 €

(1) The single female Board Member and one male Board Member waived to perceiving remuneration 
and allowances. 
(2) Senior management is the Executive Committee
Both in Board Members and in Senior management, the remuneration includes the totality of 
perceptions, both for salary and others.

(1) For the same professional category, the remuneration of men has been 
divided by that of women.

(1) For the same professional category, the remuneration of men has been 
divided by that of women.

(1) Directors constitute the Executive Committee



82 Annual Report 2021

Health & Wellbeing

On March 2020, we implemented the telework 
modality to contribute to slow down the conta-
gion of the Covid-19. During 2021, we continued 
using telework as measure of contention.

In order to ease the work-life balance and impro-
ve the staff’s productivity and commitment, we 
count with flexible hours that benefit 72.41% of 

the staff in Spain and 78% in Portugal. 
In this line, in 2021, 8 employees have adopted 
the parental leave in Spain.

Since the end of 2020 we count with a Digital 
Disconnection Policy that guarantees this right in 
order to combine the digital connectivity with the 
work-life balance in an efficient manner. 

We note that, in the Great Place to Work, one of 
the items with greatest evolution has been the 
one lined to the work-life balance, with a valua-
tion of 72%, increasing by 15 points with regard to 
2020.

Because we care for our people

Organisation of the time of work and work-life balance

Contingency 
committee 

UCI COVID 
Management 

Initiative 
‘Cuídate Corazón’ 

Stimulus HUB 
Chats 

Charity 
Runs

Ergonomics in 
the workplace

Andjoy

Contingency committee to monitor the 
pandemic, take appropriate measures at each 
moment, according to the health evolution, and 
to report employees with regard to the health 
crisis. We have also design the returning plan 
under security and prudence criteria and based 
on the instructions from the health authorities. 

UCI COVID Management Portal, site of 
reference for all matters related to the health 
crisis, the impacts in our company, and the 
employees’ health status. It includes the 
protocols and procedures in force. 

Initiative ‘Cuídate Corazón’ - launched in 
2017- to help improve the quality of life of our 
employees and reduce the risk of cardiovascular 
accidents. This initiative helps to improve our 
personnel’s health and covers a portfolio of 
comprehensive solutions on the care of the 
quality of life of people and their organisations.

In order to continue caring for our staff, during 
2021, 305 people have undergone the medical 
check (293 UCI and 12 medical checks to Execu-

tives), extending medical protocols in the annual 
medical checks.

The key initiatives developed in 2021 have been 
the following:
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Collaboration agreement with Stimulus, a 
company of reference in emotional care, to 
make available to employees and families a 
team of psychologists to help them to identify 
and better understand their emotions, thoughts 
and conducts at such a complicated moment. 
With this agreement, associated psychologists 
are made available to the staff and family 

members, for 1 year, from May 2021 to May 
2022. From May to the end of 2021, 14 people 
used the service.

We have also resumed our agreement with 
Andjoy, chain of gyms, offered it to 100% of our 
staff, with the participation of 1.7%.

We have resumed the Charity Runs, trying to 
promote the exercise among the employees. 
Online HUB Chats have been held for 100% of 
our staff. 

In particular, we have participated in these races:

Theme HUB Chats:

Financial Education 
(28 participants)

Nutrition and healthy eating in telework: 
138 participants

 (9.88%/10, satisfaction percentage)

Hearth Race 
(38 participants)

False Myths in Nutrition: 
147 participants 

(4.93%/5, satisfaction percentage)

Companies Race 
(23 participants)

Mental care:
163 participants 

(9.66%/10, satisfaction percentage)

Santa Race
 (28 participants)
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Ergonomics in the workplace: As measures for 
the labour risk prevention, adapt work posts is 
one of the determining factors to ensure the 
good health and security at work, also from 
home. It is important to count with stable tables, 
without corners that could cause a bump, ergo-

nomic chairs for a good posture when working, 
counting with an illuminated place to work and 
appropriate computer equipment. Being aware 
of the above, from the start of the pandemic, 
UCI provided ergonomic chairs to workers who 
did not have one at home, and also continued 

sending computer screens, laptops or headsets 
to count with all the necessary material and 
ease the remote work in full security.

We are governed by the sector Bargaining Agree-
ment ASNEF (National Association of Credit Ins-
titutions). Article 27 on Health surveillance indi-
cates that entities will guarantee to employees 
the periodic voluntary surveillance of their health 
condition, based on risks to which the employee 
is exposed, with a particular valuation of risks that 
could affect female workers who are pregnant or 
have recently given birth, and staff particularly 
sensitive to certain risks, applying the Protocol 
of Health Examinations for PVD users of the Mi-

nistry of Health (visual function examinations, 
musculoskeletal symptoms, task’s characteris-
tics and assessment of the mental workload) or 
substituting regulations.

The HR area manages the application to the staff 
of the Annual Bargaining Agreement of ASNEF in 
relation to the health surveillance and, also, ini-
tiatives are implemented to cover needs detec-
ted in the staff or derived from special situations 
such as in the case of the pandemic. All these 

actions and initiatives are specified in this sec-
tion of Health and Wellbeing and in the following 
Special Covid-19 section.

Moreover, visits have been made to new work 
centres to assess new openings after performing 
reforms or substantial modifications, in addition 
to preventing planning to implement corrective 
measures. Also, and in order to count with spa-
ces protected against the COVID, UCI has im-
plemented collective protection means, such as 

Process for the adaptation and 
integration in HQ post: special 

chairs, evacuation chair, 
footrest, ergonomic pads, 

vertical mice, high-resolution 
screens, and screen lifters, and 

voice software. 

The Prevention Service has 
provided footrests and/or 

special ergonomic chairs to 
achieve a better adaptation 

to the post. 

During telework, pregnant 
workers have been 

provided with a protection 
lumbar cushion and a 

footrest.

At the headquarters, there 
is the possibility to lend 
a parking space to the 

sensitive worker, at their 
request, if it was available.

By means of a risk 
assessment in each 

working centre, specially 
relevant risks will be 

analysed for sensitive 
workers.

In order to guarantee the integration and universal accessibility of disabled people, the following actions are performed:
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The care for the wellbeing, health and security 
of all employees has been particularly relevant 
since the beginning of the pandemic in 2020.

We have been certified by AENOR in our action 
protocols against the COVID-19. This certifica-
tion guarantees an appropriate implementation 
and adaptation of security and hygiene mea-
sures at the entity’s work centres certification. 
And, in 2021, we have renewed the certificate 
for the purpose of continuing working and im-
plementing best practices against the pande-
mic.

The objective was to contrast that protocols 
applied by UCI follow an appropriate metho-
dology, guaranteed by AENOR. This is based on 
the expertise of AENOR in the company’s im-
plementation of protocols related to best practi-
ces in the field of security and health at work; as 
well as in recommendations and requirements, 
issued by different bodies, such as the Ministry 

of Health or the National Institute of Security 
and Hygiene at Work.

Given the easiness of contagion of the corona-
virus and the human interest of our personnel 
for their colleagues’ wellbeing, it is necessary to 
train our employees in their health status, anon-
ymously, but indicating the number of people 
within the team with symptoms, confined or 
recovered, during this pandemic, in addition to 
offer advice in the care and protection against 
the virus, performing 503 Covid-19 tests among 
the employees.

On a periodic basis, we have analysed, through 
different Committees, the evolution of the pan-
demic at level of the society in general, and at 
level of our company in particular, for the purpo-
se of adopting appropriate preventive measures 
at each moment.

protection screens, signage, and individual pro-
tection means: masks, virucidal solutions, etc.), 

both for centres and for UCI employees, to gua-
rantee their security and health.

In particular, during 2021, 6 work centres have 
been reviewed: 

Josep Tarradellas 
(New opening)

Seville 
(New opening)

Headquarters in floor 9 (m30) 
and floor 8 (training rooms) 

(reforms)

Castellon 
(5 year review) 

Murcia 
(5 year review)

Jerez 
(5 year review)

Special COVID-19
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The diversity management transformed UCI into 
an entity with better commitment, with pride of 
belonging, with excellence at work, impact in the 
society and the customer experience.

The journey towards diversity we have marked 
in our diversity policy consists of progressively 
addressing the different realities to achieve an 
inclusive staff in gender, sexual diversity, culture, 
disabled people and generational diversity.

56,9% 
de la plantilla
son mujeres

26,32% 
de mujeres en 

alta dirección

0,77% 
de personas con 

discapacidad en la plantilla

46,5 años
de edad media

en la plantilla

59,55% 
de la plantilla
son mujeres

16,67% 
de mujeres en 

alta dirección

43 años
de edad media

en la plantilla

Nuestros datos son:

Diversity, equality and inclusion
Eliminating discrimination at work 

The world we live in is diverse and this must be 
reflected in the way in which companies inte-
ract with the society and with their own emplo-
yees. At UCI, we consider that diversity & inclu-

sion are essential pillars, and thus key matters 
of our corporate culture. 

Our culture is aligned with our mission, which is 
based on contributing to the progress of people 
in general in a Responsible, Sustainable and Fair 
manner. 

We believe that, in order for the society to pros-
per, we must commit to the diversity and inclu-
sion, as synonyms of a company’s cultural weal-
th. And, if we want to be fair in everything we do, 
we must contribute for all people to receive the 
same treatment, no matter their gender, origin, 
sexual orientation, disability or believes.

“Diversity in the company enrichens 
us, makes us greater, stronger, more 

human. 

All different, all equal”.

of staff are women of women in the senior 
management

of disabled people 
in staff 

Average age of staff 

Average age of staff of women in the senior 
management

of staff are women

years

years
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We note below certain matters from the GPTW 
survey related to the equality of treatment, both 
in Spain and in Portugal. 

We detail below the percentage of employees who consider that we are fairly treated:

s

Regardless of the age 87% 90%

Regardless of race 98% 98%

Regardless of gender 86% 96%

Regardless of the sexual orientation 96% 98%

The main initiatives performed have been the following: 

A During 2021, we have worked in an equality diagnosis based on the new requirements. In the first quarter of 2022, the actual Equality Plan, based on the 
analysis performed, is expected to be reformulated.

B Guidelines on Inclusive Language were published, coordinating its dissemination to the different UCI Group’s brands to promote the representation of all 
people.

C Creation of a specific community was created on diversity in the internal social network.

D

Upwelling project with Alares. Working on the awareness within the entity in relation to functional diversity and, additionally, making available an advisory 
service on disability and dependence, both for employees and their relatives, not only for people with disability certificate, to enable them to detect new 
aids, but also for people who could have some kind of disability and who, for unawareness or other reasons, have not yet requested the certificate
Also, this service is aimed to the advice and guiding on how to process the dependence degree, as well as available benefits.

E
Collaboration with special employment centres, such as Prodis, La Amistad Montesol and Foundation Juan XXIII Roncalli, for purchases or services, and 
thus to favour the indirect employment of intellectually disabled people. 

F
“Desayunos molones” with students of Foundation Prodis to favour the relationship and knowledge of disabled people to the UCI employees through a motivating 
and different format, to break barriers and boost the inclusion of intellectually disabled people. 

G
Adherence to Empowering Women’s Talent, a project promoted by Teams&Talent, born for the purpose of developing the women’s empowerment and 
leadership in the companies. This programme offers to all members the opportunity to inspire, learn and advance towards equality and diversity.

H External equality awareness actions.
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Dialogue and communication with the employees 

The ongoing dialogue and active listening are 
elements that allow UCI placing its employees 
in the centre, knowing their opinions and needs, 
and also receiving proposals to contribute to the 
ongoing improvement. 

In this sense we count with different channels 
to be able to inform our employees on different 
matters within the organisation, as well as to 
collect their opinion and suggestions and know 
their concerns to improve different processes 
and situations within UCI. 

Our channels and initiatives are the following: 
Virtual breakfasts with General Management: 
on a periodic manner, a breakfast is held 
between some employees (in a rotating way) 
and the CEO, in order to keep in touch with 
the management and be able to express their 
concerns and questions. 

HUB chats: members of the management team 
share data with the totality of the payroll on the 
entity’s evolution and actions that are being 
implemented. In these chats, any employee can 

formulate their questions to any management 
team member. 

Corporate Intranet and the news portal 
which centralises all employees’ services and 
makes available all corporate and business 
information, while we collect all news within 
the organisation, elaborated by the employees. 
This portal becomes a meeting point for the 
collaborators to know what is being done and 
how, and it is a channel to share knowledge and 
recognition.

Yammer, the online corporate network that 
allows all collaborators in Spain to share 
professional experiences, participate in 
debates, and propose improvement ideas for 
the company. 

Moreover, at UCI, we count with other 
communication means, such as daily newsletters 
to report the market news to our staff, monthly 
newsletters on the business evolution or on 
demand for occasional communications.

“El Batido”, the internal communication 
magazine which reports on the employees’ 
more personal facets, in addition to the Entity’s 
aspects. It is a support to create synergies within 
UCI, which is quarterly distributed to all staff. 

Also, there are annual events held for managers 
(UCIWay) or to all staff (UCIDay).
 
In 2021, we have launched the ‘1st innovation 
campaign’ with the theme, How could we 
improve our processes through the artificial 
intelligence and automation?’. With it, the 
employees, working as a team, have been able 
to propose improvement ideas for the entity’s 
processes, through innovation, that have been 
assessed by the management team, resulting in 
a series of finalist ideas and one winner, which 
is currently being developed by the wining team, 
with the support of the organisation. 
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“Promoting the residential inclusion,  the sustainable rehabilitation and contributing to the financial education”

In 2021, we have helped more than 14,000 people in Spain and Portugal, representing almost the double than the total number of new clients in the 
year (7,666 new clients).

S2- Our Financial-social commitment

Main magnitudes of our Socio financial commitment:

Beneficiaries of the programme "We accompany" 2021 2020

Clients in payment difficulties cleared in the year 9,584 68% 16,913 87%

Social Rehabilitation 2,400 17% 780 4%

Mortgages to young people 1,493 11% 1,585 8%

Financial education 432 3% 193 1%

Socioeconomic empowerment 225 2% 0 0%

Total 14,134 100% 19,471 100%

In view of the extraordinary unprecedented 
situation of the health crisis derived from the 
COVID-19, homes have become a real shelter. 
In this sense, we have wanted to remain close 
to our clients in situations of payment difficulty, 
adopting solutions adapted to the greatest 
number of people in vulnerability situation. 

The recovery area performs best practices that 
allows us to anticipate the clients’ defaults, with 
a bespoke monitoring in order to find solutions 
adapted to each client.

We have developed a set of tools to help our 
clients who have faced adverse social situations 

during the process of their mortgage and have 
financial difficulties. This set of tools helps 
clients not to impair their mortgage and to 
administer their loan in an efficient, sustainable 
and responsible manner.

UCI has established a Restructuring Acceptance 

Social inclusion in the business

Mortgage Management of Critical Clients - “Because we always accompany”

Social Inclusion in the business and investment in society.
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Policy and, in general, of solutions for clients with 
difficulties, adapted to the present and future 
circumstances expected from the clients. In this 
sense, we make a distinction between temporary 

restructuring operations, long-term solutions and 
definitive solutions.

The indicator we measure and duly monitor 

corresponds to the client’s transformation rate 
from critical stage to regular management, 
without delay.

Furthermore, this indicator is considered:

1
Relevant, central and material for the general business of UCI, and of a great strategic significance for the current and/or future operations of the 
Entity. It measures the results from UCI’s efforts to continue with moratoriums until our clients can pay their monthly instalments and, therefore, for 
them to prevent entering the stage of non-compliance. The objective is to reduce the number of clients with financial difficulties from our operations.

2 Measurable or quantifiable on a consistent methodological basis.

3 Able to measure the record. Considering an ambitious and proportional estimate, in order to balance the credit risk and/or the social object.

34% 
has been reduced

98% 78% 
has been increased

12% 
defaults standstill 

agreements

definitive 

solutions

number of rentals 

Social Housing Fund

In 2021 (vs. 2020)
has been reduced
34% defaults
98% standstill agreements

has been increased
78%de�nitive solutions
12% number of rentals 
Social Housing Fund

In 2021 (vs. 2020)
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1
Relevant, central and material for the general business of UCI, and of a great strategic significance for the current and/or future operations 
of the Entity. It measures the results from UCI’s efforts to improve and promote the amount of renovations of ecologic buildings in areas 
with economic issues in our operations.

2 Measurable or quantifiable in a quarterly monitoring by the Corporate Responsibility area, in order to verify the compliance with targets.

3 Able to measure the record. Considering an ambitious and proportional estimate, in order to balance the credit risk and/or the social object.

1 “Eligible under sustainable energetic efficiency criteria”: UCI, since 2018, has been developing a range of Green products, which count 
with the Energy Efficient Mortgage Label of the European Mortgage Federation.

2
“Eligible under social criteria related to the GDP level per capita in the project’s province”: rehabilitation projects in low-income areas are 
projects chosen for the green renovation and conversion of buildings into more comfortable and healthier houses, in order to reduce GHG 
emissions and fight against energy poverty.

This parameter is related both with the climate change and with social ob-
jectives. Furthermore, in order for a rehabilitation project to be eligible under 

this dimension, it must meet the following criteria: 

The following table has been designed to esti-
mate how many people could be affected by 
this project in the following 5 years with the fo-
llowing considerations:

Also, this indicator is considered:

Sustainable and social rehabilitation of buil-

5 floors per 
building

4 houses per 
floor

3 people per 
house

Considering that UCI has financed 13 eligible 
social buildings in 2020 and 40 in 2021.

Low-income or deprived areas are defined as those postal areas in which 
the average income is 25% below the average income of the “region” (Pro-
vince in Spain) where they are located. Their calculation has taken data from 

the INE (Spanish National Institute of Statistics), observed in each province.
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At UCI, we contribute to the economic and so-
cial development of the society through our 
own business activity and of our social commit-
ment through the social investment in projects 
to support groups identified in our strategy. In 
this matter, our responsible commitments with 
the society are the following: 

Our investment in the Society 

Support the 
progress of societies 

in which we are 
present, through the 

housing financing 
activity. 

Support educational 
programmes, with 

special focus on financial 
education and future 

skills, in order to promote 
education in savings and 

responsible consumption. 

Promote the guidance 
to young people for 
their professional 

experience and future 
work. 

Boost the support 
to these specific 
groups: disabled 
people, people in 

residential exclusion 
risk and young 

people.

This parameter focuses on providing mortgage 
financing to people below 35 years old, in or-
der to promote the access to housing to these 
profiles.

The resulting indicator is measured by the num-
ber of natural persons below 35 years old who 
have contracted mortgage loans during the year. 
Multiple and single borrowers will be considered 
in this methodology.

Access of young people to housing
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In 2021, and in order to materialise our commitments in actions, we have 
designed our programme “We accompany” for the purpose of developing 

initiatives to contribute to the social wellbeing of the groups of people men-
tioned above, aligned with our ESG strategy.

1 Education to young people, with a special focus on the financial education.

2 Inclusion of intellectually disabled people, through the “Iniciativas molonas” .

3 Residential inclusion of vulnerable groups of people.

4 Donation for global and/or health emergency in countries where UCI is present.

This criterion includes the following:
Education

The financial education 
programme “Tus Finanzas, 
Tu Futuro” in collaboration 

with Foundation Junior 
Achievement with which 
we have participated in 6 

editions.

The support to Foundation 
Dádoris with internships 
of young people with an 

extraordinary talented and 
without resources.

Contribution to educational programmes of 
Foundation Prodis to promote and boost the 

inclusion of young people with intellectual 
disability. In 2021, the selected project was 
Conecta2 Expert Programme, which is an 

adapted online course on digital skills.  

We have established 4 lines of action:
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This parameter includes actions related to so-
cioeconomic matters, such as groups of peo-
ple in risks of residential exclusion, for which, in 
2022, we will collaborate with an entity in order 
to support and palliate these situations.

Also in order to promote the inclusion of inte-
llectually disabled people, together with Foun-
dation Prodis, we have developed “Iniciativas 
molonas”, which include “Desayunos molones” 
of which, in 2021, we have held 3 and which will 
continue performing in 2022. The main objec-
tive of these meetings among UCI employees 
with students of Foundation Prodis is to break 
barriers through specific actions of exchange 

of experiences and knowledge of different rea-
lities, which all have a place in our society. Di-
versity and inclusion are matters to work on in 
a daily basis and naturally in our personal and 
professional relationships. 

We also include our campaigns in natural or 
health catastrophes in the countries where UCI 
is present. In particular, in 2021, we collaborated 
in the Red Cross initiative #ErupcionLaPalma to 
help residents affected by the volcano. In this 
case, UCI employees joined the campaign and 
their donations were summed to the amount 
contributed by UCI, achieving a multiplying 
effect. 

Lastly, in the framework of Inmotionate, the 
greatest forum for real estate professionals of 
Spain, Inmosolidarios awards are given in recog-
nition of the most charitable initiatives in the 
real estate sector. These awards consist of do-
nations made by UCI to Foundations and NGOs 
with which it collaborates in awarded initiatives. 
Five realtors were awarded for their social con-
tribution projects and help to vulnerable groups.

Socioeconomic Empowerment

429 199 17 48.715 €
beneficiarios
de las acciones

voluntarios participantes
en las acciones

participación en

programas
en 
donaciones

Nuestro compromiso social en cifras:Our social commitment at a glance:

programme
beneficiaries

participating
volunteers

participation in

programs
NGO grants
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In this work line, we commit with the mission of accompanying our clients in the different stages 

The centre of our client relationship model is to 
accompany our clients from the beginning to the 
end and offer them a clear, natural and bespoke 
financing model, where the transparency, com-
munication and information are the bases of the 
relationship.

Our value creation and the impact we generate 
in the people reside in the relationship model, 
as the purchase of the house is one of the most 
impacting decisions in the life and economy of 
anyone.

Thus, our customer relationship model focuses 
on maintaining a relationship that goes beyond 
the simple fact of contracting a loan or buying a 

state. Our commitment is to know the client and 
propose simple, logical solutions, adapted to the 
client’s needs and project. 

One of our main objectives is to respect the 
clients’ interests and inherent rights. Therefore, 
the Consumer Protection is a relevant function 
within the Compliance area. In this framework, 
our entity ha established its Customer Protec-
tion Policy.

Also, and since we recognise that satisfied and 
loyal clients are essential for the sustainable 
growth and our ongoing success, we continue 
promoting the customer’s satisfaction and re-
commendation. This is why the systematic co-

llection of comments from our clients is an im-
portant matter in our customer-focused strategy, 
which is essential for our transformation initiati-
ves. Additionally, we count with a customer care 
service to channel and solve claims received, 
and to offer an appropriate customer care. This 
service is compelled to provide a reasoned reply 
to claims formulated by clients within the maxi-
mum of one month. Its team counts with the 
necessary experience and tools to duly respond 
to claims received from UCI clients, Bank of 
Spain, the CIRBE, the Customer’s Ombudsman 
(independent from UCI), OMIC and consumers’ 
associations.

S3- Client at the heart

218.932
hogares

hemos financiado un total

desde que la Compañía nació en España y Portugal

393.950
clientes

5.000
hogares

En 2021 hemos ayudado a la adquisición

(7% más que en 2020)

A relational model with the client from the beginning to the end

We have financed a total

since the company was created

In 2021 we have helped the acquisition

in Spain and Portugal
(7% more than 2020)

Homes Clients Homes

, , ,
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7.666
9,75/10

nuevos clientes valoración ekomi posventa

96,12 %

89 %79,93 %

96 %

94,5 %

4,86/5

+ 7% (primeros y 
segundos titulares) recomendación recomendación

nivel de satisfacción

nivel de satisfacción

recomendación

New clients Ekomi rating Aftersales

+7% first and 
second holders recommendation recommendation

recommendation

satisfaction level

satisfaction level

,
.

.

.

.

.
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“We promote the professionalisation and diversification of the Real estate sector”.

The real estate professionals are our travel 
companions, our allies, who have allowed us to 
connect people to homes, for more than thirty 
years, and are essential in our commercial mo-
del. Currently, we collaborate with more than 
2,000 real estate agencies.

The service delivered by real estate agents is 
essential for those who acquire a house and for 
the community where they exercise their pro-
fession. Their task requires high standards of 
quality, responsibility and training. 

We contribute to the compliance with these 
increasing market demands, implementing ini-
tiatives and providing tools for the development 
and growth of real estate professionals in Spain 
and Portugal. 

Our commitment focuses on ethics and trai-
ning and originates from 2005, when we signed 
the agreement to become the local partner in 
Spain, Portugal and Brazil of RRC (Residential 
Real Estate Council), former CRS, non-profit 
organisation born from the National Association 
of Realtors (NAR), which integrates the best 
professionals specialised in residential housing, 
providing them with knowledge and tools for 
the development of their activity with the hi-
ghest efficiency. 

Subsequently, in 2016, we entered into an 
agreement with the NAR to act as their repre-
sentatives in Spain, administer the REALTOR® 
designation, give their courses, as well as a code 
of ethics to protect the consumers’ interests. 

Also, through our area of development profes-
sional, SIRA (for its acronym Spanish Interna-
tional Realty Alliance, PIRA in Portugal), which 
belongs to the subsidiary UCI Servicios para Pro-
fesionales Inmobiliarios, we promote courses 
and training sessions that allow them to develop 
their business and to anticipate the future.

In 2019, the Law regulating Real Estate Credit 
Contracts came into force, entailing improve-
ments for the consumer and a turning point in 
the professionals’ work. The standard establi-
shed a legal system and regulates requirements 
for the access to the activity and the supervi-
sory regime over the professionals, providing 
security and transparency to the intermediation 
in the financing. 

Within the annual training catalogue, UCI has 
offered courses together with Foundation of Fi-
nancial Studies (FEF) to allow the professionals 
to obtain their certification as Real Estate Credit 
Informant. A total of 147 professionals decided 
to enrol during 2021. 

In 2021, SIRA has organised 83 courses in Spain, 
with 1,506 attendees/day, which figure is lower 
than in 2020, but consolidates SIRA as one of 
the market leaders in the training for property 
agents.

We complemented these training courses with 
webinars and quarterly informative magazines, 
Revista Inmobiliarios, in Spain, and Real Estate, 
in Portugal. 

In 2021, more than 80 webinars were organised 
in Spain. We know that every real estate profes-
sional is an agent of change. Therefore, we also 
promote their professional growth with initiati-
ves such as Inmotionate, the greatest event of 
training and networking for professionals in the 
country. 

On February, we were not able to organise the 
trip to Sell-A-Bration, given that the event was 
organised online. SIRA organised the event’s vi-
sualisation, providing attendees with a live trans-
lation of the event and with sections therein to 
comment each lecture with sector experts. This 
time, as with this new format, we could incor-
porate 105 attendees to the event, mostly from 
Spain, but with representation of Portugal, Co-
lombia, Ecuador, Mexico and Argentina. 

S4- Professionalisation of the real estate sector
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On October 2021, we have held Inmotionate; 
the onsite event gathered 620 attendees in 
Madrid. 

In 2020, a new communication channel 
was created, #InmocionateEnCasa. In 2021, 
7 shows were broadcasted. 

Following with our commitment to contribute 
to the sustainability of the planet and to the de-
carbonisation of cities, we consider that the real 
estate professional is a key intermediary in this 
transformation. In line with the entity’s strategic 
axis, we organised the NAR Green course within 
Inmotionate in Madrid, with the attendance of 

36 agents on October. We continue commit-
ting for Property agents to become leaders in 
the ecologic transition of houses in Spain and 
promote the rehabilitation and the creation of 
more efficient, healthy and sustainable estates.

nº de designaciones nº mebresías

906 725

1.116

36

Spanish 
International
Realty Alliance®

nº mebresías

nº mebresías PIR Portugal

94

62
nº mebresías CRS Portugal

+12% en 2021

+29% en 2021

+18,46% en 2021

-0,27% en 2021

+141% en 2021

+26% en 2021

No. of designations No. of memberships No. of memberships PIR Portugal

No. of memberships No. of memberships CRS Portugal

in

in

in

in

in

in

,
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At UCI, we count with tools to supervise our su-
ppliers’ service quality. In order to comply with 
the different requirements, both regulation re-
quirements and from internal and external au-
dits, the Entity counts with two procedures:

> Principles and Contracting of Suppliers.

> Policy for the outsourcing of essential services.

Such procedures are framed within the corpo-
rate management framework, which establi-
shes general action guidelines related to the 
selection, control and monitoring of external su-
ppliers.

These procedures define the method used in 
UCI on purchase contracting and/or subcon-
tracting necessary to deliver the service, in order 
to ensure that specified requirements are satis-
fied, focused on the improvement and creating 
value in the Organisation.

In the 2021 strategy, in our sustainable and res-
ponsible axis, one of the focuses of action of the 

strategic line related to ethics and values is the 
ethic management of purchases, tracing the line 
to be followed to include social, gender equality 
and environmental matters in the relationship 
with suppliers. During 2021, the suppliers’ con-
tracting procedure was reviewed and adapted, 
and the Supplier’s Code of Conduct was im-
plemented, covering action principles to be fo-
llowed by suppliers who work with UCI. Such 
principles are the following: ethics and conduct; 
lack of conflict of interest; social area (human 
rights health and security, diversity, equality and 
inclusion); environment; confidentiality, privacy 
and continuity. During 2021, the Policy for the 
outsourcing of essential services was reviewed 
and adapted, including guidelines from Guide 
EBA/GL/2019/02 on outsourcing. Moreover, 
we count with a method that allows us to value 
the quality and delivery ability of suppliers and/
or outsourced services, based on a series of cri-
teria established for these suppliers’ activities.

On an annual basis, an assessment is made of 
suppliers and/or outsourced services by the 
person in charge of their processes.

For such purpose, it is considered that they are 
within the scope of the certification ISO 9001 
and/or ISO 14001 and that the criteria and as-
sessment methodology documented in the co-
rresponding procedures have been established.

Also, once assessed, they are in charge of com-
municating its result to the supplier, in order to 
establish actions for improvement to satisfy our 
clients’ established requirements, needs and 
expectations, creating value for the Entity and 
our stakeholders.

S5- And Our suppliers
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In 2021, we have assessed 24 suppliers (11 of 
Quality and 5 of Environment and 8 of Quality 
and environment) and 28 Outsourced services, 
having assessed 13 of Quality and 12 of Quality 
and environment.

Performing 
assessments 
at the same 

moment and 
covering all these 

matters.

Adequacy and 
documentation 
of criteria in all 

assessment 
procedures.

Coherence and 
uniformity in 

the assessment 
methodology.

Easiness in 
performing and 
communicating 

their results.

Contributing 
value to the 
assessment 

and increasing 
the capacity of 

Indicators related to “We accompany” may be consulted in section 6.2 of the report- Indicators Social matters

proveedores servicios externalizados

3,68 3,24
satisfactorio globalmente

satisfactorio

El resultado de la evaluación ha sido:

During 2021, we have been working on the 
integration of environmental matters in the 
annual quality assessment, considering our “life 
cycle”, with the following benefits:

Result of the evaluation

Providers Outsourced services

satisfying globally
satisfying
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Promoting a transparent, 
independent, efficient and 
prudent management of 

the UCI Group

Assigning 
responsibilities and 

competences, in a clear, 
defined, transparent 

and coherent manner, 
in the Entity and 

Group’s internal control 
framework.

Establishing efficient 
policies and procedures for 
the identification, analysis, 

assessment, treatment, 
monitoring, review and 

reporting of risks to which UCI 
S.A. E.F.C. is exposed.

Establishing appropriate 
internal control 

mechanisms and 
remuneration policies 

and practices compatible 
with an appropriate 

and efficient risk 
management. 

Ensuring the Entity and 
the Group’s interests, 
as well as that of their 

investors, clients, 
employees and, in 

general, their different 
stakeholders.

We guide our business and our relationships with stakeholders through ethics, 
responsible and transparent criteria.

In this chapter we include pillars that govern UCI’s action to reach a res-
ponsible and sustainable organisation management, generating value for 
its stakeholders and the society in general. 

5.4. ‘We comply’

One of our priorities is to strengthen the cor-
porate governance framework and promote its 
effectiveness, to comply with our objectives 
marked in the Governance dimension of the 
ESG framework in the most responsible and 
sustainable manner possible.

Since May 2021, we count with a new Corpo-
rate governance policy that constitutes the 
framework that defines the Governance, Risk 
management and Compliance structure (GRC) 
both of Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A. Es-
tablecimiento Financiero de Crédito.

Corporate governance

The main objectives of policy are the following:
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Bylaws

Policy suitability of Board 
Members and of senior 
management members 
and other key function 

holders

Remuneration policy for 
members of the Board 

of Directors
Policy of conflicts of 

interest

Additionally it takes into consideration the gui-
delines on internal governance of the European 
Banking Authority (EBA/GL/2017/11) which 
specifies internal governance systems, proce-

dures and mechanisms that must be imple-
mented by credit institutions and investment 
companies to guarantee an efficient and pru-
dential management of the entity. 

The Corporate governance policy is comple-
mented with other standards to guarantee the 
correct management of the UCI Group:

UCI S.A. E.F.C has an appropriate and 
transparent organisational structure and 
operating management and control model, 
which aim is an efficient and proportional 

action to the nature, scale and complexity 
of risks inherent to its business model and 
activity and, in turn, in compliance with the 
principles of best corporate governance.

The organisation chart of UCI S.A., E.F.C. Is 
structured with three main bodies: 

Based on the nature of the Group, UCI S.A., E.F.C. 
has a sole shareholder who governs and adminis-
ters the Entity, together with the Board of Direc-

tors. Taking into account the shareholding struc-
ture, the company UCI S.A. exercises the powers 
of the General Shareholders’ Meeting and, as 

such, has been entrusted with functions establi-
shed by law and the bylaws. 

Governing Bodies

Sole Shareholder. UCI S.A. 

UCI, S.A. como 
accionista único, que 

ejerce las competencias 
de la Junta General. 

El Consejo de Administración, que 
concentra su actividad en la función 

general de supervisión y en la adopción 
de las decisiones más relevantes.

Los Comités del Consejo, que lo asisten en el 
desarrollo de sus funciones e incluyen: un 

comité de Auditoría y Riesgos y un Comité de 
Evaluación, Idoneidad y Remuneraciones.

UCI, S.A. as sole shareholder, 
exercising the powers of the 
General Shareholders’ Meeting.

The Board of Directors, which 
concentrates its activity in the 
general function of supervision 
and adoption of the most rele-
vant decisions. 

The Board’s Committees, which assist 
in the development of its functions and 
include: an Audit and Risks Committee 
and a Committee of Assessment, Suita-
bility and Remunerations. 
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Internal Governance

The Board of Directors is the highest body of re-
presentation, management, strategy and super-
vision of the activity of UCI S.A., E.F.C., except 
with regard to matters reserved to the power of 
the Sole Shareholder. 

As in the case of the Board of UCI SA, the Board 
of Directors of UCI S.A., E.F.C. Includes four 
members. Their obligations and responsibilities 
are detailed on the Annual Report of Credit En-
tities’ Capital Self-Assessment Process and are 
the following: 

The Board’s policy is to delegate the ordinary 
management of UCI S.A., E.F.C. In the mana-
gement team, and to focus its activity on the 
general function of supervision and adoption of 
the most relevant decisions for the Company’s 
administration. 

In order to support these basic functions throu-
gh an appropriate management monitoring, 
supervision and control process, the Board of 
Directors counts with two specific committees 
that provide assistance in their corresponding 
fields: 

> Audit and Risk Committee, which Members 
are appointed by the Board. Its purpose is to 
improve the monitoring, information and de-
cision making of the Board, as well as develo-
ping, executing and monitoring management 
control systems, internal control and regulatory 
compliance. 

> Committee of Assessment, Suitability and 
Remunerations  Its most relevant powers are 
the assessment of directors and key person-
nel’s suitability, and the supervision and appli-
cation of the remuneration policy. 

The entity’s governance comprises, at internal 
level, the management instances, which ac-
tivity is reported to the Board of Directors and 
which first level corresponds to the General Ma-
nagement, with the support of a Management 
Committee, an Executive Committee and diffe-
rent sector committees, constituted to manage 
of certain matters and risks 

UCI’s senior management is led by the CEO, 
who reports to the Board of Directors. It counts 
with several management bodies: the Mana-

gement Committee, the Executive Committee 
and different sector committees created to ma-
nage specific matters and risks. 

Senior management, within the framework 
established by the Board of Directors and its 
Committees, plans and develops the entity’s 
strategy, organises resources, leads the human 
capital and organises and controls processes. 

Board of Directors 
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Organisational structure of the Group

Management bodies (see annex 1)

(1) Consolidation Rule: Accounting wise, 
UCI S.A. is consolidated throught the 
equity - related method with both 
shareholders. This concerns its 
shareholders’ P&L and their balance 
sheet. In terms of capital requirements, 
UCI Group’s balance sheet is 
proportionally intergrated, 50% with both 
shareholders. This impacts in principle 
only its shareholders’ equity 
requirements.

(1)

Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A., 
E.F.C. is a Financial Credit Entity, 
autorised and supervised by the Bank of 
Spain

50%

40%

10%

Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A.,
Establecimiento Financiero de Crédito

100% UCI S.A.

UCI Spain

UCI Portugal Branch

Retama Greece Branch

Retama Portuguese Branch

Companhia Promotora, UCI, S.A.,

50% UCI Holding Brasil LTDA

Retama Real Estate, S.A.U. (Spain)

100% UCI S.A.

UCI Servicios para 
Profesionales Inmobiliarios S.A. (Spain)

100% UCI S.A.

Comprarcada Rede de Serciços
Inmobiliários S.S. (Portugal)

99,9% UCI S.A.

UCI - Mediaçcao de Seguros 
Unipessoal LDA (Portugal)

100% UCI S.A.

UCI - Holding Brasil LTDA

99% UCI S.A.
0,01% Retama Real Estate S.A.U.

UCI Greece Credit and Loan
Receivables Servicing Company

100% UCI S.A.
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Our culture of Compliance

At UCI, one of our priorities is to care for the 
compliance with regulations in force, and with 
policies and procedures established in the 
group, as well as adopting the best practices 
and ethics and professional standards in our 
activity.

We are a responsible company, which implies 
being aware of the Compliance as key tool in 
our daily activity and to provide legal security, 
and ensure the best ethical and professional 
practices in the entity.

We also rely on this culture as a decisive 
function for the prevention, management 
and risk control, configured as a necessary 
element for the entity’s appropriate operation 
and for the value creation to our stakeholders 
and a the society as a whole.

The Culture of Compliance is transversal, 
which implies that it affects all levels within 
the entity and must be part of the daily 
operations of all employees; the best support 
is the awareness of all people within UCI. The 
implementation of the culture of compliance in 
the organisation entails preventing, detecting 

and managing risks of Compliance through 
the creation and development of specific 
programmes. 

These risks are not only restricted to criminal 
standards, but also to all those established 
on our legal system, and those voluntarily 
assumed by UCI, which breach, in addition 
to criminal liability or strong administrative 
penalties, could imply serious reputational 
damages with an impact in UCI’s image in the 
market. Such risks of compliance refer not only 
to the degree of compliance with regulations 
in force, but also to the achievement of ethics 
principles established in the UCI’s values.

Compliance skills

The compliance skills include the promotion 
of the dissemination, knowledge, compliance 
with, the general and binding interpretation of 
the code of ethics, as well as the coordination 
of its application, and resolution of all consulta-
tions or doubts posed in relation to its content, 
interpretation, application or compliance and, in 
particular, to the application of disciplinary mea-
sures by the competent bodies. 

Basic rules

In this sense, we count with basic standards that 
give shape to our Compliance model. 

The code of ethics that develops the principles in-
cluded on the Group’s Mission, Vision and Values 
in a global, complex and changing environment. 
It also establishes a set of conduct principles and 
guidelines to ensure the ethical responsible beha-
viour of all UCI employees in the development of 
their  activity. 

This code stipulates that the regulatory complian-
ce and ethics covers the compliance with the legis-
lation in force reflected in UCI Group’s internal pro-
cedures. Therefore, all UCI Group’s collaborators 
have the duty to adjust their actions to the regula-
tions in force, following, in this sense, UCI Group’s 
specific guidelines.The Code of Ethics in relation 
to the respect of the people’s individualities and 
rights establishes that our labour objectives are 
the elimination of sexist behaviours, the discri-
mination for ethnicity, religion, nationality, civil 
status, sexual orientation and/or social class, 
as well as behaviours that could constitute an 
offence, such as the sexual and labour harass-
ment. Ethics rules must be present in each one 

Compliance and business ethics culture 
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of us within the labour environment, and we are 
responsible for adapting them to the different si-
tuations that could arise each day. Everyone wi-
thin the UCI Group has a moral commitment to 
report any of these conducts when witnessed, in 
order to collaborate in the achievement of a work 
environment according to the values, culture and 
customs of our Company.

When performing our activity, we adopt res-
ponsible behaviour guidelines, respecting and 
making others respect the human rights in the 
internal and external relationships, assuming 

commitments included in international rules and 
guidelines, such as the Declaration of the Inter-
national Labour Organisation (ILO) related to the 
fundamental principles and rights at work, inclu-
ding the Fundamental labour rules of the ILO, the 
UN Guiding Principles on companies and human 
rights, and the ten Global Compact principles.

Also, we count with a criminal risk prevention 
system, which in 2020 has been reviewed by an 
external consultant, and which includes proce-
dures and controls to prevent the performance, 
by employees, collaborators and/or people wor-

king on its environment, of actions and conducts 
that could be considered fraudulent or inappro-
priate. These procedures include the one aimed 
to the prevention of corruption and bribery. This 
procedure identifies aspects to be taken into ac-
count in the daily activity, to prevent such risk of 
corruption and bribery and, therefore, the risk of 
incurring in criminal liability for the legal entity.

The criminal risk prevention device is completed 
with other procedures and policies, such as:

Criminal Risk 
Prevention Manual.

Money Laundering 
Prevention Manual.

Whistleblowing 
Channel Procedure.

Catalogue of best 
and bad practices 

within UCI.

Anticorruption and 
anti-bribery policy – 
Gift and invitations 

policy.

Policy of relationships 
with the authorities 

and with Public 
Administrations.
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Similarly, UCI counts with a gift and invitation po-
licy which, together with the anticorruption and 
antibribery policy, are part of the criminal preven-
tion device, and it establishes guidelines to be 
considered in relation to the possible delivery or 
acceptance of gifts in UCI Group, for the purpose 
of not incurring in actions against the regulation 
and internal procedures. 

In addition to the gift and invitation policy, we 
count with an anticorruption and antibribery po-
licy. UCI Group has assumed a commitment of 
“cero tolerance” with regard to corruption and/
or bribery activities, in all shapes and circum-

stances. The purpose of the anticorruption and 
antibribery policy is to identify the most regular 
cases for this type of activities and how to pro-
ceed to identify, prevent and avoid them. 

Consumer Protection Policy (Protection of the 
Client’s Interest). One of the main objectives of 
UCI Group is the respect for the clients’ interests 
and their inherent rights. Accordingly, the Con-
sumer Protection function is very relevant within 
the field of Compliance. 

In this framework, UCI Group has established 
its Consumer Protection Policy, which is based 

on the following principles: “Fair and Respectful 
Treatment”, “Design of customer centric pro-
ducts and services”, “Transparency in communi-
cation”, “Responsible prices”, “Consideration of 
clients’ particular circumstances and prevention 
of the over-indebtedness”, “Data protection”, 
“Claim management”, “Financial education” and 
“Responsible innovation”.

Follow-up of measures to improve 
the identification and knowledge 

of the final client (KYC), both 
in the financing activity and in 
the activity of sale of estates 

(KYC), and the knowledge of the 
supplier. 

Follow-up of the alert 
management system of 

potentially suspicious money 
laundering operations, both 
in financing and in the sale 

of estates, regardless of the 
subsequent detailed analysis of 

each file.

Review of the money 
laundering prevention 
system by an External 

Expert, by virtue of Law 
10/2010.

Internal verification of 
the Money Laundering 
Prevention system by 

UCI’s Internal Audit 
Department.

Review and update of 
the risk self-assessment 

report, in relation to 
money laundering 

prevention.

Furthermore, we make available in the Intranet 
the exemplifying Catalogue of money laun-
dering risk operations – real estate sector and 
credit institutions sector, published by the Tre-
asury Department. Within the specific chapter 
of Money Laundering Prevention, we note the 
significance of the due control and compliance 
with obligations in this matter for the Entity. The 

non-compliance with obligations established 
by the legislation for this section could imply 
serious penalties, both economic and adminis-
trative, for the entity.

Therefore, UCI Group has implemented a series 
of procedures to detect suspicious operations, 
which must be immediately communicated, 

according to the Money Laundering Prevention 
Manual. 

From the particular standpoint of the complian-
ce with the money laundering prevention regu-
lations, the essential working lines during 2021 
have been the following: 
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The Group’s Whistleblowing Channel is a 
procedure to report the non-compliance with 
regulations, allowing the Group’s collaborators 
to confidentially communicate conducts 
that could imply a lack of compliance with 
the corporate governance system or the 

commission by any of the Group’s collaborators 
of an action against law (in particular a criminal 
action) or against UCI’s acting standards 
included on the Code of Ethics and in internal 
policies and procedures.

During 2021, no claim has been received through 
this channel in Spain, and no incident has been 
registered in the Gift policy.

Compliance training modules given during 2021 
in UCI Group in Spain have been the following:

Activity

Awareness and training given in Regulatory compliance

1.564
alertas

15 
comunicadas
al OCI (órgano de 
control Inteno)

9
comunicadas
al SEPBLAC

Se ha continuado con el proceso de 
revisión continua de la cartera de 
clientes, desde el punto de vista de 
prevención de blanqueo de capitales

No se ha comunicado 
ninguna al órgano 
regulador local

No se ha comunicado 
ninguna al órgano 
regulador local

367
alertas

9
alertas

• 1.564 alertas en España, de las cuales 15 fueron comunicadas al OCI (órgano de control Interno) y de esas 15, se han comunicado 4 al SEPBLAC.  Asimismo, se ha conti-
nuado con el proceso de revisión continua de la cartera de clientes, desde el punto de vista de prevención de blanqueo de capitales. 
• En Grecia se han analizado 9 alertas y no se ha comunicado ninguna al órgano regulador local.
• En Portugal se han analizado 367 alertas y no se ha comunicado ninguna al regulador local.

Alertas Prevención de Blanqueo de Capitales. Durante el año 2021 se han analizado un total de:

Competition Law Criminal Risk 
Prevention 

Anticorruption and 
gift policy

International 
Penalties and 

Seizures 

Protection of 
the customer’s 

interest
Volcker

Money laundering 
prevention

Advertisement of 
banking products 

and services

Validation and 
monitoring of 

products

Data Protection

Money Laundering Prevention Alerts analized during 2021

Alerts

Alerts

communicated 
to the OCI  
(internal control body)

Communicated 
to SEPBLAC

We have continued with the ongoing 
portfolio review, in order to prevent 
money laundering

None of which have been 
communicated to the 
local regulator.

None of which have been 
communicated to the 
local regulator.

Alerts
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The scope of all of them has covered all staff, 
except for the one related to the competition 
law, which was aimed for managers, including 
senior management. Concerning the training 
Volcker, it has been aimed to a given group of 
employees and directors.

In 2021, we have implemented the Supplier’s 
Code of Conduct, as part of the document of 

“Suppliers’ contracting principles and procedu-
res”. This Supplier’s Code of Conduct aims to 
establish guidelines to be followed by suppliers 
with which UCI relates. Furthermore, we have 
implemented the Policy of relationships with 
the authorities and with Public Administrations, 
and have reviewed and updated the Corporate 
Governance Policy, the Policy of Conflicts of in-
terest and the policy of outsourcing of essential 

services. We have also implemented the Gui-
delines of conduct standards with clients in si-
tuation of default. 

Internal communications for the awareness of 
contents related to Compliance have been the 
following:

In 2021, 39 information communications have been disseminated on regulatory developments in Spain.  

Policy of gifts and invitations

Transparency with the client

Culture of Compliance

Ethics whistleblowing channel

Cybersecurity and diligent use of email

Policy of commercial communication (advertising)

Internal record of advertisement (Circular 4/2020 of Bank of Spain)

Guidelines of standards of conduct with clients in situation of default

Policy of conflicts of interest

Data protection and guarantee of digital rights

Significance of the suppliers’ contracting procedure

Policy of outsourcing of essential services
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EThe year 2020 and the pandemic boosted the 
transformation in the way we relate and the vir-
tual world positioned itself in the front line, dri-
ving both the agility and closeness in relations-
hips and rising the demand to be developed in 
secure environments.

Special emphasis has been made in remote wor-
king plans and in the management of its associa-

ted risks. We have adapted the ability of the re-
mote access channels and systems, according to 
the operating needs, and have reinforced these 
connections’ protection and control measures.

At UCI, technology is a facilitating vehicle for the 
relationship between the organisation and the di-
fferent stakeholders, particularly with our clients, 
as we are a customer-focused organisation and 

the security and privacy of information is a rele-
vant matter of the highest priority, with the Cy-
bersecurity department as the area in charge of 
guaranteeing it.

In this sense, during 2021, we have reinforced 
our commitment in this matter and have defined 
strategic axes:

Information security 

1

Development of the three-year Information security master plan with the collaboration of an external expert, Deloitte, 
to trace action lines to reach the following strategic objectives:

> Identify the UCI Group’s needs in Information Security, expressed in terms of Confidentiality, Integrity and Availability.

> Manage Information security risks to keep them at the Acceptable Risk Level for UCI Group.

> Integrate the Cyber-incidents Management process within the Business Continuity Process.

> Guarantee the adherence to the legal framework in force in Information security.

2 Establish the figure of the Chief Information Security Officer (CISO) certificate by the ECC (EC-Council).

3 Shareholders’ report to the CISO, since June 2021.
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At UCI, we consider the risk as an inherent fac-
tor to our business. A correct analysis, measu-
rement and management will contribute to the 
achievement of appropriate margins and to the 
maintenance of solvency and liquidity levels. 

A solid risk culture is essential and one of the 
keys that will allow the Group to respond to the 
variations of economic cycles, to clients’ new re-
quirements, and to the increase of the competi-
tion, positioning us as an entity to be trusted by 
our stakeholders. 

Comprehensive risk management 

Compromiso

Orientación al 
cliente

Sencillez

Experiencia Resposabilidad

Nuestra cultura de riesgos se define a 

través de cinco principios: 

As we are aware of the significance of all these 
matters, we have launched the certification 
process under Standard ISO 27001 to 
implement best practices in this matter.

As a consequence, we have developed a new 
Information Security Policy, gathering the main 
action lines that are essential to guarantee the 
Confidentiality, Integrity and Availability, as 
strategic objective in information security.

We have implemented the Information 
Security Management System (SGSI) and have 
also launched the certification process ISO 
27001, which has raised our maturity levels in 
Information Security Governance.

We have reinforced protection measures against 
information leaks, improved the management 
of risks associated to cloud operations and to 
the collaboration with third parties, analysing 
the maturity in their security.

We have strengthened the process of response 
against Cyber-incidents and have analysed the 
offenses. We have also carried out simulations 
of Cyber-incidents in order to optimise the 
abilities to detect and protect the processes 
and the security tools. 

The Vulnerabilities Management process has 
been reinforced, both at perimetral security 
level and at internal level, and internal processes 

have also been integrated with the shareholders’ 
processes.

This entire improvement and transformation 
process has been paired with a new 
dimensioning of the Cybersecurity Department 
to face present and future needs, as well as 
the deployment of the training plan and of 
continuous training in information security, 
including initiatives as varied as training, UCI 
HUB, communications and phishing drills.

Experience

Commitment

Client 
focused

Responsibility

Simplicity

Our risk culture is defined through 
five principles:
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Commitment. The risk culture is based on the 
commitment and participation of all Units and 
employees (regardless of their function), inte-
grating the risk culture as a “lifestyle” not as an 
imposition. 

Responsibility. All units and employees must 
know and understand the risks in which their 
daily activity incurs, and be liable for their iden-
tification, valuation, management and reporting, 
in a comprehensive and transparent way. 

Simplicity. Adapt the risk culture to the Group’s 
business model with clear, documented proces-
ses and decisions, understandable by emplo-
yees and clients. 

Client focused. All risk actions are focused on 
the client, and on their long-term interests. The 
Group’s vision is to become the leader of specia-
lised real estate financing, gaining the trust and 
loyalty of employees, clients, shareholders and 
the society. The path to achieve this requires the 
proactive contribution to our clients’ progress 
with an excellent risk management. 

Experience. Through experienced situations, 
being able to foresee the occurrence of adverse 
events. This experience will be acquired through 
a dynamic and evolving learning process, which 
will be shared and conveyed at all levels. 

The dissemination of the risk culture is a pro-
cess of continuous improvement, which is being 
strengthened through a series of actions, based 
on the communication, training and develop-
ment and technological support. 

Risk Management Function

The risk manager (FGR) is responsible for pro-
viding exhaustive meaningful information on 
risks and for advising the Board of Directors to 
understand the Entity’s global risk profile.
 
In general, the following functions have been 
allocated to the FGR:

> It counts with the appropriate authority, range 
and resources, taking into account the propor-
tionality criteria to implement risk policies and 
the risk management framework.

> It has direct access to the management body 
in its supervisory function and to its committees.

> It has access to all business lines and internal units 
with potential to generate risks, as well as to the 
relevant subsidiaries and associates.

> The FGR staff has the appropriate expertise, 
skills and experience on risk management tech-
niques and procedures, as well as on markets and 
products.

> It is independent from the business lines and 
units which risks are controlled, although it is 
true that they interact. The interaction among 
the operating functions and the FGR eases the 
objective for all of the entity’s staff to assume 
the risk management responsibility.

> It is a core element in the entity’s organisation, 
and is structured in a way to be able to control 
the risk management framework. The FGR plays 
an essential role in guaranteeing that the entity 
has implemented efficient risk management 
processes and actively participates in all impor-
tant decisions related to risk management.

> It provides independent information, analysis 
and expert and pertinent criteria on risk expo-
sures. It provides advice on risk-related pro-
posals and decisions adopted by the business 
lines or internal units, and informs the manage-
ment body on whether these are coherent with 
the entity’s risk strategy and appetite. The FGR 
recommends, through action plans, improve-
ments in the risk management framework and 
corrective actions against any non-compliance 
with policies, procedures and risk limits.
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The risk mapping contemplates the risk families incurred by the operations of each different Business Unit comprised on UCI Group. 

Each risk family is defined below:

Risk mapping

Risk Family Definition 

Concentration Lack of diversification from the standpoint of geographic exposure, client’s typology, specific products or per sales channel. It 
also includes the client’s individual exposure and the exposure per activity sectors. 

Credit It shows the possibility to suffer losses derived from debtors’ non-compliance with their contractual obligations. It includes the 
risk of counterparty. 

Structural 
interest rate

The interest rate risk is the exposure to which the Entity is subject as a consequence of interest rate’s adverse movements. This 
sensibility is conditioned by gaps in maturity dates and interest rates’ review dates of the different balance sheet items. 
 
Changes in interest rates impact the Entity’s intermediation margin and affect the value of assets and liabilities held by the 
Entity. Therefore, an effective interest rate risk management is essential to delimit this risk and to ensure the Entity’s economic 
value and profitability. 

Solvency

Solvency from the financial standpoint is identified with an entity’s ability to generate funds to face the agreed conditions, 
acquired commitments with third parties.
 
Solvency is closely related to the concept of credit risk, as it represents the possible disruption that would be originated for the 
entity from the variation of conditions and characteristics that could alter the entity’s ability to comply with the contractual 
terms of its operations.

Liquidity The Liquidity Risk includes the possibility for the Entity to suffer losses for the absence of available liquid funds to face payment 
obligations, both at the short and at mid/long terms.
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Family risk Definition

Market The Liquidity Risk includes the possibility for the Entity to suffer losses derived from adverse variations in market prices and/
or marketable instruments with which the Entity operates. 

Operational Risk of loss resulting from a lack of adaptation or failure in processes, personnel, internal systems, or external installations. 
This definition includes the legal risk and excludes the reputational risk. 

Reputational 
The Reputational Risk is defined as the body of the different Stakeholders’ perceptions and opinions on the Entity. It is 
associated to changes of perception regarding the Group, or its brands, by stakeholders, where an action, event or situation 
could negatively or positively affect the organisation’s reputation. 

Strategic 

The strategic risk is defined as the current and future impact in income and capital which could derive from adverse business 
decisions, undue application of decisions, or lack of ability to respond to changes. This risk is a compatibility function of the 
Entity’s strategic objectives, strategies developed to reach those objectives, resources used, as well as the quality of their 
execution. The necessary resources to implement business strategies are assessed in relation to the impact of economic, 
technological, competitive and regulatory changes. 

ESG

ESG criteria cover the following matters:

-The environmental factor (E), to make decisions based on how the companies’ activities affect the environment.

-The social factor (S), to take into consideration the repercussion for the community from the entity’s activities.

-The governance factor (G), which studies the impact from the shareholders and management, and is based on matters 
such as the structure of boards of directors, the shareholders’ rights, or the transparency, among others.
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One of the pillars on which the development of 
our risk culture is based is the implementation 
of a Risk Management System (RMS), trans-
versal throughout the entity and integrated in 
the Group’s strategy, operations and culture. 

The RMS is implemented in accordance with 
the RIA methodology (Risk Identification and 
Assessment), which consists in the identifica-
tion and assessment of the different types of 
risk, involving the different lines of defence in 
its execution, in order to reinforce the advanced 
proactive risk management, establishing ma-
nagement standards in compliance with regu-
latory requirements and which are aligned with 
the best market practices, also being a mecha-
nism to transfer the risk culture. 

The function comprises all risk identification 
and assessment processes, as well as their 
integration in the risk profile, its units and ac-
tivities, also allowing the update of the risk 
mapping.

The final objective is to know the residual risk 
for risks and subfamilies and the risk profile for 
families and Units. The risk profile is determi-
ned by the interrelation between each block of 
the RIA: 

1. Risk performance

It allows knowing the residual risk per type of 
individual risk, through a set of KRIs calibrated 
based on international or internally defined 
standards. 

Each individual risk’s residual risk is determined 
by one or several KRIs (sometimes, expert jud-
gement), which risk assessment is framed wi-
thin ranges defined into 4 risk levels. Also, the 
risk tolerance, risk limit and weighing are defi-
ned for each KRI. 

The aggregated and weighed rating of each in-
dividual risk determines the risk profile for each 
risk family and Unit, which should be aligned 

with the risk appetite defined by the Entity for 
each risk family. 

2. Control environment

It assesses the implementation degree of the 
objective management model established in 
agreement with advanced standards.

The assessment focuses on internal governan-
ce procedures and global controls in order to 
verify that they are appropriate for the Entity’s 
risk profile, business model, size and complexi-
ty, and to identify the extent to which the Entity 
complies with requirements and best internal 
governance and risk control standards specified 
on applicable international and internal guideli-
nes in this field. 
This assessment is performed by three lines of 
defence in the Entity, in which its risk manage-
ment and control model is based, in order to ve-
rify their alignment degree. 

Risk profile 
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First line of defence   
Business areas and all support areas that generate a risk exposure constitute the first line of defence against such risk. These 
areas are responsible for establishing a risk management environment to ensure their permanence within the approved 
appetite and defined limits. 

Second line of 
defence  

The second line of defence consists of the risk function (Risk Management department and Internal Control department) 
and the compliance function. These areas independently supervise and challenge the risk management activities performed 
by the first line of defence.

These areas are responsible for ensuring that risks are managed in agreement with the risk appetite defined by top 
management, and for promoting a solid risk culture throughout the organisation. These areas also must provide guidelines, 
advice and expert judgement in all relevant risk-related matters. 

Third line of de-
fence 

Internal audit, as third line of defence. On its ultimate control layer, internal audit performs periodic assessments to verify 
that policies, methods and procedures are appropriate and have been effectively implemented in the management and 
control of all risks.

The feasibility of the Entity’s current business model, based on its 
ability to generate reasonable profitabilities in the 12 following months.

The sustainability of the Entity’s strategy, based on its ability to generate 
reasonable profitabilities during a future period of at least 3 years, 
based on its strategic plans and financial forecasts. 

Assessment of the Entity’s business model and 
strategy. Unit’s forward-looking analysis based 
on stress metrics and/or identification and va-
luation of the main threats or key vulnerabilities 
(Top risks) that could have a significant impact 

on the strategic plan or compromise the Entity’s 
future feasibility, allowing the establishment of 
specific action plans to mitigate their potential 
impacts and monitor them. 

The Entity will perform a periodic business mo-
del analysis (BMA) to assess the business and 
strategic risks and to determine:

4. Business Model Analysis (BMA) 
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UCI performs a comprehensive risk manage-
ment, where the risk appetite’s definition and 
control is a key element. The risk management 
function has access to all business areas and 
will be independent from those which risks are 
controlled; however, the interaction between 
operating functions and the risk management 
function eases the objective that all of the En-
tity’s personnel assume the responsibility to 
manage risks. 

This approach is aligned with the best market 
practices and recommendations from the main 
international regulators. 

In this context, our Risk Appetite Framework 
(hereinafter, RAF) thus formalises the struc-
turing of the decision-making with regard to 

risks, the definition, level and composition of 
risks to be assumed by the Group on its activi-
ty, as well as the risks’ supervision mechanism 
and follow-up. Therefore, the risk management 
function is a focal element of the Entity’s orga-
nisation and is structured in a way to ease the 
implementation of risk policies and control the 
risk management framework. 

Thus, the risk management excellence is one of 
the strategic priorities we have established for 
ourselves. This implies consolidating a strong 
risk culture throughout the Organisation, a risk 
culture known and applied by all of our emplo-
yees. Therefore, the risk management function 
is actively involved on the elaboration of the risk 
strategy and ensures the implementation of 
efficient risk management procedures, and also 

provides the board of directors with all risk-rela-
ted relevant information in order to allow them 
to establish an appropriate risk appetite level 
for the Entity. 

Once all elements were analysed, the risk appe-
tite for UCI Group during 2021 was established 
as Medium-Low, mainly conditioned by the 
credit risk family (considered as the Group’s 
main exposure). The risk profile closed the year 
as Medium-Law, as a consequence of establi-
shing tolerances and limits adjusted to the su-
pervisor’s expectations.

Risk Appetite 
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UCI’s operating risk is calculated according to the standard method (Bank of Spain)

Indicators related to “We comply” may be consulted in section 6.3 of the report- Indicators Governance matters and in Annex 1, Governing Bodies.

Operational risk

Evolution of SGRO events. 

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 1Q21 2Q21 3Q21 4Q21

Ammount No Incidents

68
1,247.421 €

3,788.057 €

411,311 € 501,912 €
287,945 €

803,735 €

94
73

25

50

82

112

156
139

240

Referring to the period (01/01/21 - 12/31/21)

1,067.924 €

115,838 €

415,555 €
352,300 €

Incidence Cost€
Cases

Open Closed Open Closed

25 112 7,010.00 803,734.86 3,931

9 59 7,010.00 529,34.48 1,985

16 53 0 274,394.38 1,946

0 0 0 0 0

Events by RO subfamilies (BdE).

Clients, products and incidents in the bussiness, business, process 
management and system failure

Ammount No Incidents

163,364 €

203,440 €

31,141 €
17,609 €

56

2
4

20

0 0

0 €
0 €

 Referring to the period (01/01/21 - 12/31/21)

4,151

Threaded events (UCI) 

Ammount No

4 3
3
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1
1 1

1
2

9
8
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3
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0 0 0 0
1

0
11

0
2

17,497
4

185,626

263,518

162,66217

280 701
1

140 897 224 505
12,287
2
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6. Indicators
6.1 Environmental matters

Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Variación 
2020 - 2021 (%) 2020 2021 Variación 

2020 - 2021 (%)

Greenhouse Gas Emissions (GHG)

Total CO2 emissions (t / CO2) 271,95 330,26 21,44% 270,70 184,71 -31,77%

Scope 1 emissions (direct emissions) (t / CO2) 1,00 1,52 52,00% 0,00 0,00 0,00%

Scope 2 emissions (indirect emissions) (t / CO2) 106,92 97,38 -8,93% 19,66 18,11 -7,92%

Scope 3 emissions (indirect emissions) (t / CO2) 164,03 231,37 41,05% 251,03 166,61 -33,63%

Waste

Total hazardous waste (ton) 0 0 - 0 0,08 - 

Total non-hazardous waste (ton) 32,06 17,615 -45,06% 1,143 1,606 40,51%

Total recycled waste (ton) 20,79 12,15 -41,54% 1,143 1,526 33,51%

Consumption

Total water consumption (m³) 2.119,90 528,319 -75,08% 175,938 155,357 -11,70%

Water consumption per employee (m³) 3,92 1,01 -74,17% 1,95 1,75 -10,71%

Total paper consumption (kg) 5.122,99 2.909,20 -43,21% 4.828,71 4.370,90 -9,48%

Paper consumption per employee (kg) 9,47 5,57 -41,15% 53,65 89,00 65,88%

Total energy use (kWh) 555.338,14 493.970,42 -11,05% 94.947,77 86.649,28 -8,74%

Total use of clean energy (kWh) 551.177,72 417.284,84 -24,29% 0 0 -

Share of clean energy used (%) 99,25% 84,48% -14,89% 0 0 -

Energy use per employee (kWh / year) 1.026,50 946,30 -7,81%  1.054,98 973,59 -7,71%

Combating Climate Change

Volume of green production (Sustainalytics / EEML criteria) (M€) 37,65 49,08 30,37% 11,54 14,99 29,92%

Total green operations (Sustainalytics / EEML criteria) 146 188 28,77% 56 69 23,21%

Total energy savings of the green product range (kWh / m² / year) 3.308,02 4.632,12 40,03% 163,1 77,30 -52,61%

Emission reductions from the green product range (ton / CO₂) - 1.452,10 - - - -
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6.2. Social matters
Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Great Place to Work (GPTW)

Índice Great Place to Work Index 71% 75% 5.63% 80% 83% 3.75

Training and Qualification

Training hours per collaborator 10,977.77 11,491.52 4.68% 1986 2576 29.71%

Training hours per manager 2,882.19 4,960.49 72.11% 857 873 1.87%

Training hours per director
741.95 975.31 31.45% 152 386 154%

Training hours per management

Total 14,601.91 17,427.32 19.35% 2995 3835 28.05%

Total training hours/annual employee 26.67 31.86 19.46% 30.88 41.24 33.55%

% voluntary training 48.86% 73.59% 50.61% 0 0 0.00%

% mandatory training 51.14% 26.41% -48.36% 12.22% 16.85% 37.89%

% e-learning training 84% 99.52% 18.48% 75.30% 93.40% 24.04%

% face-to-face training 13% 0.48% -96.31% 25.30% 6.60% -73.91%

% internal training 28% 28.99% 3.54% 32% 31.26% -2.31

% external suppliers training 72% 71% -1.39% 69% 68.74% -0.38%

% female participants 57% 65.34% 14.63% 58.24% 60.44% 3.78

% male participants 43% 34.66% -19.40 41.76% 39.56% -5.27%

level of satisfaction 4.5 4.54 0.89 0 0 0.00%

Rotation and Mobility

Rotation index (1) 4.22% 5.46% 29.38% 5.11% 3.93% -23.09%

Internal mobility index - nº people (2) 131 62 -52.67% 6 8 33.33%

Internal mobility index (2) 18.18% 11.67% -35.81% 7% 9% 30.35%

(1) Percentage resulting from dividing two amounts: the total number of employees leaving in the year divided by the average number of employees at the beginning and end of the year 

2) Percentage resulting from dividing the number of mobilities in the year by the average number of employees at the beginning and end of the year. Do not compute the end of temporary missions
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Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Employees

Employees per gender

Women (nº total) 311 297 -4.50% 55 53 -3.64%

Women (%) 57.49% 56.90 -1.03· 61.11% 59.55% -2.55

Men (nº total) 230 225 -2.17% 35 36 2.86%

Men (%) 42.51% 43.10% 1,.9% 39% 40.45% 4.01%

Total 541 522 -3.51% 90 89 -1.11%

Employees per age

Employees < 25 years (nº total) 1 2 100.00% 2 0 -100%

Employees < 25 years (%) 0.18% 0.38% 111.11% 2.22% 0.00% -100%

Employees 25-40 years (nº total) 122 88 -27.87% 25 25 -

Employees 25-40 years (%) 22.55% 16.86 -25.23% 27.78% 26.97% -2.92%

Employees > 40 years (nº total) 418 432 3.35% 63 64 1.59%

Employees > 40 years (%) 77.26% 82.76% 7.12% 70% 73.03% 4.33%

Total 541 522 -3.51% 90 89 -1.11%

Employees per nacionality

Nº of nationalities 12 13 8.33% 2 4 100%

Immigrant employees (nº total) 20 22 10.00% 1 4 300%

Immigrant employees  (%) 3.70% 4.21% 13.78% 1.11% 4.49% 304.50%

Employees per disability

Nº of employees with disability (nº total) 3 4 33.33% 0 0 -

Nº of employees with disability (%) 0.55% 0.77% 40% 0 0 -

Collaborator (%)
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Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

No. of employees per professional classification

Senior manager (nº total) 18 19 5.56% 7 7 -

Senior manager (%) 3.33% 3.64% -9.40% 7.78% 6.74% -13.35%

Management (nº total) 10 11 10.00% 0 1 100%

Management (%) 1.85% 2.11% 14.05% 0% 1.12% -

Manager (nº total) 93 90 -3.23% 26 26 -

Manager (%) 17.19% 17.24% 0% 28,89% 29.21% 1.12%

Collaborator (nº total) 420 402 -4.29% 57 56 -1.75%

Collaborator (%) 77.63% 77.01% -0.80% 63.33% 62.92% -0.65%

Total 541 522 -3.51% 90 89 -1.11%

Contracting

Modality of employment contracts

FT temporary contracts - total no. 7 3 -57.14% 12 8 -33.33%

FT temporary contracts - % 1.29% 0.57% -55.81% 13.48% 8.99% -33.41%

PT temporary contracts - total no. 0 0 0,00% 0 0 -

PT temporary contracts - % 0% 0% 0,00% 0% 0% -

FT indefinite contracts - total no. 531 517 -2.64% 77 81 5.19%

FT indefinite contracts - % 98.15% 99.04% 0.91% 85.39% 91.09% 6.68%

PT indefinite contracts - total no. 3 2 -33-33% 1 0 -100%

PT indefinite contracts - % 0.55% 0.38% -30,91 1.12% 0.00% -100%

Total 541 522 -3.51% 90 89 -11.11%
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Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Annual average of contract modalities per gender

Annual average FT temporary contracts - women 4.83 3 -37.89 8 6 -25%

Annual average PT temporary contracts - women 0 0 0,00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - women 302.17 300 -0.72% 43.75 47 7.43%

Annual average PT indefinite contracts - women 1.75 1 -42.86% 1 0 -100%

Total 308.75 304 -1.54 52.75 53 0.47%

Annual average FT temporary contracts - men 1.17 0.92 -21.37% 4 2 -50%

Annual average PT temporary contracts - men 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - men 228.33 223.17 -226% 33 34 3.03%

Annual average PT indefinite contracts - men 1.42 1.58 11.27% 0 0 -

Total 230.92 225.67 -2.27% 37 36 -2.70%

Annual average of contract modalities per age

Annual average FT temporary contracts - Less than 25 years old 0.17 0.92 441.18% 1 0 -100%

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - Less than 25 years old 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - Less than 25 years old 2.08 0.75 -63.94 0 0 -

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - Less than 25 years old 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Total 2.25 1.67 -25.78% 1 0 -100%

Annual average FT temporary contracts - From 25 to 40 years old 5 2.67 -46.60% 9 7 -22.22%

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - From 25 to 40 years old 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts- From 25 to 40 years old 124.25 100.25 -19.32 17 18 5.88%

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - From 25 to 40 years old 1 1 - 0 0 -

Total 130.25 103.92 -20.21% 26 25 -

Annual average FT temporary contracts - More than 40 years old 0.83 0.33 -60.24 2 1 -50%

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - More than 40 years old 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - More than 40 years old 404.17 422.17 4.45% 59.75 63 5.44%

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - More than 40 years old 2.17 1.58 -27.19% 1 0 -

Total 407.17 424.08 4.15% 62.75 64 1.99%



124 Annual Report 2021

Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Annual average of contract modalities per professional classification

Annual average FT temporary contracts - Senior Management 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - Senior Management 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - Senior Management 18 18.92 5.11% 7 6 -14.29%

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - Senior Management 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Total 18 18.92 5.11% 7 6 -14.29%

Annual average FT temporary contracts - Management 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - Management 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - Management 10 10.75 7.50% 0 0 -

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - Management 0 0 0.00% 0 1 100%

Total 10 10.75 7.50% 0 1 100%%

Annual average FT temporary contracts - Manager 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - Manager 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - Manager 91.58 91.08 -0.55% 26 26 -

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - Manager 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Total 91.58 91.08 -0.55 26 26 -

Annual average FT temporary contracts - Collaborator 6 3,92 -34.67 12 8 -33-33%

Annual average of PT temporary contracts - Collaborator 0 0 0.00% 0 0 -

Annual average FT indefinite contracts - Collaborator 410.92 402.42 -2.07% 43.75 48 9.71%

Annual average of PT indefinite contracts - Collaborator 3,17 2,58 -18.61 1 0 -100%

Total 420.09 408.92 -2.66% 56.75 56 -1.32%

In all tables of averages of employees of Portugal the calculation is made taking into account the number of employees at 2021 closing.
The systems do not provide the information of the totality of the staff that has been part of the company during the year.
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Spain Portugal

2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 

- 2021 (%)
Labour Relationships

Collective bargaining agreements

Total no. collective bargaining agreements 1 1 0% N/A N/A -

% of employees covered 100% 100% 0% N/A N/A -

Dismissals

Classification of the number of dismissals

No. dismissals per gender - women 1 7 600.00% 0 0 -

No. dismissals per gender - men 4 0 -100% 0 1 100.00%

No. dismissals per age - Less than 25 years old 0 0 - 0 0 -

No. dismissals per age - From 25 to 40 years old 1 2 100.00% 0 0 -

No. dismissals per age - More than 40 years old 4 5 25.00% 0 1 100.00%

No. dismissals per professional classification - Senior Management 0 0 - 0 0 -

No. dismissals per professional classification - Management 0 0 - 0 0 -

No. dismissals per professional classification - Manager 2 1 -50.00% 0 1 100.00%

No. dismissals per professional classification - Collaborator 3 6 100% 0 0 -

Total 5 7 40.00% 0 0 -

Salary Gap and Remuneration

Average remuneration of employees

Average remuneration per gender - women 28,732.80€ 29,168.58 € 1.52% 18,446.26 € 19,795.25 € 7,31%

Average remuneration per gender - men 36,116.36 € 36,627.23 € 1.41% 31,302.92 € 31,930.20 € 2,00%

Average remuneration per age - Less than 25 years old 19,050.48 € 18,472.50 € -3.03% 14,441.50 € - -

Average remuneration per age - From 25 to 40 years old 25,496.27 € 25,703.21 € 0.81% 15,818.47 € 16,797.59 € 6,19

Average remuneration per age - More than 40 years old 33,763.31 € 33,808.72 € 0.13% 27,166.90 € 27,150.81 € -0,06%

Average remuneration per professional classification or equal value - Senior Management 95,818.81 € 93,514.08 € -2.41 % 71,797.46 € 72,057.03 € 0,36%

Average remuneration per professional classification or equal value - Management 56,778.75 € 56,702.99 € -0.13% - - -

Average remuneration per professional classification or equal value - Manager 41,224.14 € 41,385.56 € 0.39% 27,122.27 € 26,953.22 € -0,62%

Average remuneration per professional classification or equal value - Collaborator 26,267.36 € 26,813.42 € 1.31% 16,381.38 € 17,115.01 € 4,48%
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2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 
2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Salary gap

Senior Management - % 27.22% 32.79% 20.46%
55.22% 53.03% -4.48%

Management - % 13.01% 3.21% -75.33%

Manager - % 8.95% 8.32% -7.15% 11.87% 9.37% -21.06%

Collaborator - % 2.64% 2.73% 3.41% -4.10 -0.20% -95.12%

(1) For the same professional category, the remuneration of men has been divided by that of women.

Salary gap of gender (2) 20.44% 20.36% -0.39 37.70% 39.55% 4.91%

(2) Percentage resulting from dividing 2 quantities: the difference between the average salary of men and the average salary of women, divided by the salary of men.

Average remuneration of board members and senior management

Average remuneration board members (1) - women - - - N/A N/A -

Average remuneration board members (1) - men 14,000.00€ 18,312.50€ 30.80% N/A N/A -

Average remuneration of senior management - women 86,895.19€ 83,1177.42€ -4.28% 34,688.00€ 36,688.00€ 5.56%

Average remuneration of senior management - men 149,854.18€ 152,995.82€ 2.10% 77,982.37€ 77,963.71€ -0.02%

(1)  The single female board member and one of the board members waive the receipt of remuneration and allowances.

Alta Management is the Executive Committee in both Spain and Portugal. 

The average remuneration of Directors and Senior Management includes all salary and non-wage payments. 

Social benefits

Total no. of social benefits 14 14 - 13 13 -

Work-life balance

Flexiworking

% of employees* 70.66% 72.41% 2.48% 76.67% 77.53% 1.12%

Commercial networks and of recoveries are not included in this policy.
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2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Absenteeism

Rate of absenteeism in percentage (%) 

Accident 0.01 0.05 400.00% 0 0 -

Common illness 1.97% 2.97% 51% 0.07 0.02 -71%

Maternity 0.23 0.26 13% 1.93 0.53 -73%

Occupational illness 0 0 - 2 0.55 -72.50%

Total 2.21 3.28 48.42% 2 0.55 -72.50%

Professional contingencies (1) 0.01 0.05 400% 0 0 -

Common contingencies (1) 1.96 2.97 51.53% 1.51 0.2 -86.75%

(1) (Days of sick leave elapsed year *100) / ₂(Days month * Affiliated workers month) 

 No. of hours of absenteeism

Professional contingencies 32,216.00 50,000.00 52.20% 0.00 0.00 -

Common contingencies 208 800 284.62% 456 2,736 500%

Total 32,424.00 50,800.00 56.67% 456.00 2,736.00 500%

Occupational accidents

Accidents at work and professional illnesses

Frequency accidents at work - women (1) 1.87 1.97 5.35% 0 0 -

Frequency accidents at work - men (1) 2.53 0 -100.00% 0 0 -

Severity of accidents at work - women (2) 0.01 0.197 1,870.00% 0 0 -

Severity of accidents at work - men (2) 0.03 0 -100.00% 0 1 100%

Frequency professional illnesses - women 0 0 - 0 0 -

Frequency professional illnesses - men 0 0 - 0 0 -

Severity professional illnesses - women 0 0 - 0 0 -

Severity professional illnesses - men 0 0 - 0 0 -

(1) Frequency rate: (no. of accidents with leave, including accidents on the way to or from work/no. worked hours) x 1,000,000

(2) Severity rate: (Days lost due to accidents at work, including those due to accidents on the way to or from work and relapses/no. hours worked) x 1.000
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2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

No. of accidents at work per gender

Women 1 1 0% 0 0 -

Men 1 0 -100% 0 1 100%

Total 2 1 -50% 0 1 -

Investment in Labour Risk Prevention (PRL) and protection against the COVID-19

Economic investment

Investment in protection measures against the Covid-19 215,835.00€ 134,153.00 € -37.84% N/A N/A -

Investment in PRL and security of employees 45,017.00€ 52,279.00€ 16.13% N/A N/A -

Total 260,852.00€ 186,432.00€ -28.53% N/A N/A -

Inclusion and diversity

Women in leadership positions

% Women in EC (1) 22% 26.32% 19.64% 16.67% 16.67% 0.00%

% Women in manager position (2) 41% 40% -1.23% 42.31% 40.74% -3.71%

(1) Percentage resulting from dividing 2 amounts, the total number of women by the total number of EC members, men and women

(2) Percentage resulting from dividing 2 amounts: the total number of women managers by the total number of men and women managers (EC and managers)

Relationship with clients

Evolution of the number of clients

Total no. clients per country (1) - 356,057 - - 37,893 -

(1) Number of different clients (1st and 2nd owner) who have signed with UCI since the beginning

Total no. of new clients per country (2) 5,555.00 6,029.00 8.53% 1,628.00 1,637.00 0.55%

(2) Number of new different clients (1st and 2nd owner) per year
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2021 (%) 2020 2021 Var. 2020 - 

2021 (%)

Customer satisfaction - clients ekomi valuation (1)

Clients UCI 9.62 9.71 0.94% 4.84 4.86 0.41%

Clients Hipotecas.com (Spain)/ Direct Channel (Portugal) 9.78 9.89 1.12% 4.77 4.94 3.56%

Clients International Buyers 9.7 9.82 1.24% - - -

(1) Valuation over 10 in Spain and over 5 in Portugal.

Global clients ekomi valuation (1) 9.66 9.75 0.93% 4.84 4.86 0.41%

(1) Annual ratio, not including international Buyers

Total no. of client valuations (1) 2,307 2,479 7.46% 916 982 7.21%

(1) Not including IB valuations

Measurement customer experience - Quality perceived After-Sales Clients 

Satisfaction level - Client without contact 91.80% 90.00% -1.96% N/A N/A -

Recommendation level - Client without contact 81.76% 82.45% 0.84% N/A N/A -

Satisfaction level - Client with contact 96.84% 96.12% -0.74 96.70% 96.00% -0.72%

Recommendation level - Client with contact 83.82% 89.00% 6.18% 93.30% 94.50% 1.29%

Web Client Satisfaction 85.00% 88.00% 3.53% 86.20% 89.05% 3.31%

Client without contact: Clients who have not contacted the after-sales service by telephone for more than 1 year.

Client with contact: Client who has contacted by the after-sales service by telephone on the previous month.

Recommendation when signing the mortgage - ekomi  

Recommendation level* - 79.93% - N/A N/A -

*New valuation in 2021
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2021 (%)

Customer claims

Total no. of admitted customer claims 4,022 3,408 -15.27 19 19 0.00%

No. claims solved in favour of the client 378 454 20.11% 12 8 -33.33%

No. claims solved against the client 3,316 2,910 -12.24 7 11 57.14%

No. claims to be solved 328 44 -86.59% 0 0 -

Adherences / requests from the Code of Best Practices

Admitted requests 146 148 1.37% N/A N/A -

Approved requests 88 79 -10.23% N/A N/A -

Agreements with clients - Restructuring operations, definitive solutions and moratoriums

Restructuring operations (1) 7,828 5,189 -33.71% 59 139 135.59%

Definitive solutions: debt property swaps
490 872 77.96% 1 1 -

Definitive solutions: mandates

Total 8,318.00 6,061.00 -27.13% 60 140 133.33%

(1) Data on signed restructuring operations do not include moratoriums

Legal moratoriums -RDL 4,310 73 -98.31% 0 1787 100.00%

Sector moratoriums 4,471 129 -97.11% 0 293 100.00%

Total 8,781 202 -97.70% 0 2080 100.00%

Total client solutions 17,099.00 6,263.00 -63.37% 60 140 133.33%

Prevention / regularisation of non-compliance

PARI N/A N/A - 1,179 4,701 299%

PERSI N/A N/A - 1,403 2,844 103%

PARI: Plano de Ação para o Risco de Incumprimento

PERSI: Procedimento Extrajudicial para Regularização de Situações de Incumprimento
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UCI adherence to the Housing Social Fund

No. of leases 25 28 12% N/A N/A -

Financial Social Engagement

Social inclusion in the business

No. of people benefiting from solutions to clients in difficulty of payment 16.608 9.397 -43,42% 305,00 187,00 -38,69%

No. of people benefiting from sustainable retrofitting of buildings in areas of low 
GDP per capita 780 2.400 207,69% N/A N/A -

No. of young people with access to housing 1.082 1.098 1,48% 503 395 -21,47

Investment in the community

Monetary contributions to non-profit entities

Fundación Prodis - educational projects 15,000.00€ 15.000.00€ - N/A N/A -

Fundación Prodis - awareness projects - € 950.00€ 100% N/A N/A -

Red Cross 18,305.00€ 10.365.00€ -43.38% N/A N/A -

Madrid Food Bank - covid-19 emergency / Banco Alimentar Portugal 5,000.00€ - € -100.00% 2,000.00€ - -100%

Fundación Dádoris - Student Scholarships 3,000.00€ 3.000.00€ - N/A N/A -

International Cooperation - Una sonrisa por Navidad 1,450.00€ - € -100.00% N/A N/A -

Fundación Junior Achievement - Tus finanzas, tu futuro 3,600.00€ 4.400.00€ 22.22% - 5,500.00€ 100%

Inmosolidarios Awards 1,000.00€ 15.000.00€ 1,400.00% N/A N/A -

Instituto Português de Oncologia - I.P.O. Lisboa N/A N/A - - 5,000.00€ 100%

ONG Crescer, Ser - Hogar Infantil N/A N/A - - 500.00€ 100%

Total 47,355.00€ 48.715.00€ 2.87% 2,000.00% 11,000.00€ 450%
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Professionalisation and training of the real estate sector

Memberships SIRA and CRS

No. Memberships SIRA / PIR 612 725 18.46% 39 94 141.03%

No. Memberships CRS España 1119 116 -89.63% 62 78 25.81%

Membership SIRA: the Realtor distinction is obtained with this membership

CRS Designations

No. Designations CRS España 806 906 12.41% 20 36 80.00%

CRS: To be designated CRS, it is necessary to have SIRA membership (from 2020), be a CRS member, have been in the sector for 4 years, have participated in 35 sales/purchases, and have obtained 64 training credits 
having gone through the REAP (5 compulsory courses giving 8 credits each) and through complementary training, travel or attendance at events (which provide credits towards the 64 credits required). 

CRS Courses Spain

No. of courses (1) 92 83 -9.78% 10 8 -20.00%

No. of attendees (2) 2,881 1,506 -47.73% 512 120 -76.56%

(1) Including CRS REAP (compulsory) and CRS Essentials (not compulsory) courses

(2) The number of attendees in courses does not refer to unique attendees, as one single real estate professional may receive several courses.

Valuation CRS training (1)

Valuation CRS courses 9 9 - 8 7 -12.50%

Valuation CRS teachers 9.27 9.43 1.73% 8 7 -12.50%

(1) Valuation over 10, in both cases

Other courses

No. of Code of Ethics courses 10 7 -30.00% 1 1 0,00%

No. of attendees to the Code of Ethics course 297 146 -50.84% 36 12 -66.67%

No. of Green courses 1 1 - 0 1 -

No. of attendees to Green courses 184 45 -75.54% 0 18 -

No. of CIPS courses N/A N/A - 1 1 0.00%
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No. of attendees to CIPS courses N/A N/A - 17 11.00 -35.29%

No. of courses of Assitentes Profissionais Imobiliários N/A N/A - 0 2 -

No. of attendees to courses of Assitentes Profissionais Imobiliários N/A N/A - 0 40 -

Course Code of Ethics: Course SIRA membership that gives access to being Realtor. 

GREEN Course: Sustainability course focused on the real estate world

Attendees to professional events

Inmociónate (1) / Inmociónate online (Portugal) - 630 - 169 - -

NAR  Convention - - - - - -

CRS Sell-abration Convention 67 105 56.72% - - -

(1) In 2020, #InmocionateEnCasa (March and July) was held, with more than 26,300 attendees in the different programmes, with an average of 752 unique attendees per afternoon

Magazine

Inmobiliarios (no. published magazines) 4 4 - 3 3 -

Scope: no. of real estate professionals who receive the magazine* 12,867 10,465 -18.67% 3,000 3,000 -

*Average of the 4 annual editions
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Money Laundering Prevention Alerts
Total no. of alerts 720 1.564 117% 226 367 62%

Communicated to the OCI (Internal Control Body) 5 15 200% 0 0 -

Communicated to the SEPBLAC (Spain) / Regulator in Portugal 2 4 100% 1 0 -

Training in Compliance
Competition Law 1 1 - - - -

Criminal Risk Prevention 1 1 - - - -

Anti-corruption and gift policy 1 1 - - - -

Sanctions and International Embargos 1 1 - - - -

Money Laundering Prevention 1 1 - - 1 100%

Data Protection 1 1 - - 1 100%

Protection of the client's interest - 1 - - - -

Advertising of banking products and services - 1 - - - -

Volcker 1 1 - - - -

Product validation and monitoring - 1 - - - -

Suspeição indicators N/A N/A - - 1 100%

Total 7 10 42.86% - 3 100%

Awareness on compliance
Gift and invitation policy 1 1 - - - -
Transparency with the client 1 1 - - - -
Catalogue of Bad Practices / Catalogue of Best Practices 1 0 -100% - 1 100%
Compliance - Culture of Compliance 1 1 - - - -
Importance of training on compliance 1 0 -100% - - -
Sepblac Memorandum 1 0 -100% - - -
Whistleblowing channel 0 1 100% - - -

Ethics and Compliance

Reports in the Whistleblowing channel 
No. Reports 0 0 - 0 0 -

Gift policy
No. Incidents 0 0 - 0 0 -

5.3. Governance matters
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Cybersecurity and diligent use of email 0 1 100% - - -

Commercial communication policy (advertising) 0 1 100% - - -

Policy on outsourcing of essential services 0 1 100% - - -

Internal advertising record (Circular 4/2020 - Bank of Spain) 0 1 100% - - -

Guidance on standards of conduct with defaulting customers 0 1 100% - - -

Policy on conflict of interests 0 1 100% - 1 100%

Data protection and guarantee of digital rights 0 1 100% - - -

Money laundering prevention manual N/A N/A - - 1 100%

The importance of the suppliers contracting procedure 0 1 - - - -

Total 6.00 12.00 100% 0,00 3.00 100%

Corporate policies on ethical and responsible management

No. of corporate policies for the responsible and ethical management of the 
organisation 7 7 - 7 7 -

No. reviews of communication and advertising pieces on products and services 173 178 2.89% - - -
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The scope of the information and entities 
included on the Non-Financial Information 
Statement correspond to Unión de Créditos 
Inmobiliarios S.A., Establecimiento Financiero 
de Crédito in Spain, and to the Portuguese 
branch, which perimeter covers 93% of 
employees of UCI Group and 98% of the 
managed outstanding balance. The information 
of other UCI Group companies is not 
representative for the purpose of this report. 

As established in article 49 of the Code of 
Commerce, in wording given by the Law of 
Non-Financial Information and Diversity (Law 
11/2018, of 28 December, amending the Code 
of Commerce, the consolidated text of the 
Corporate Enterprises Act approved by Royal 
Decree Law 1/2010, 2 July, and Law 22/2015, 
of 20 July, of Audit, in relation to non-financial 
information and diversity), the UCI Group 
presents its Sustainability Report (Non-Financial 
Information Statement) corresponding to 2021. 
The purpose of this document is to clearly and 
concisely collect the non-financial information 
established in said article.

For such purposes, subject companies are 
compelled to incorporate in their Management 
Report or, as applicable, in a separate report 
corresponding to the same year, with the same 

content and requirements, “information at least 
related to environmental and social matters, 
as well as to the personnel, to the respect of 
human rights and the fight against corruption 
and bribery”. 

In its commitment with the non-financial 
information report, the UCI Group opts for 
elaborating a separate report, following in its 
development the criteria of the international 
standards of the UN Global Compact and 
the Global Initiative of the GRI Sustainability 
Reporting Standards.

In the process of elaborating and approving the 
content of this report, the Strategic Guidelines 
2020-2022 issued by the European Securities 
and Markets Authority (ESMA) have been 
considered, including developments related 
to the financial innovation and sustainability. 
In this sense, the ESMA has published, jointly 
with the European Supervisory Authorities 
(ESAs) a consultation document to develop 
environmental, social and good governance 
(ESG) reporting standards in development of 
Regulation (EU) 2019/2088, on the reporting 
of information related to sustainability in the 
financial services sector (the Sustainable 
Finance Disclosure Regulation, SFDR), which 
will imply the obligation to disclose information 
at entity and product level.

Additionally, within the European field, we 
highlight the EBA’s sustainable finance 
plan, which described the approach and 
schedule to comply with mandates related to 
environmental, social and governance factors, 
and the EBA’s guidelines of loans origination 
and monitoring, which establishes the entities’ 
obligation to include ESG matters in their risk 
policies, together with the consideration of 
transition and physical risks, as well as specific 
policies and procedures for green financing.

Moreover, the Regulation (EU) 2020/852 
related to the establishment of a framework 
to facilitate sustainable investments and, 
therefore, amending Regulation (EU) 
2019/2088, has introduced the obligation to 
incorporate, from December 31, 2021, in the 
Non-Financial Information Statement (NFIS) 
the report of activities related to the mitigation 
and adaptation to the climate change and, 
from December 31, 2022, information on 
the remaining environmental objectives: 
sustainable use and protection of hydric and 
sea resources; transition towards a circular 
economy; pollution prevention and control; 
protection and recovery of the biodiversity and 
ecosystems. 

Furthermore, in the process of elaboration, we 
have taken into account the latest publications 

7. Complementary information 
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of the European Central Bank: Guidelines 
on climate and environmental risks, which 
explain the way in which the European Central 
Bank expects credit institutions to perform 
a prudential management of such risks and 
to communicate them with transparency, in 
accordance with the prudential framework 
in force and the report on the disclosure of 
information on the institutions’ environmental 
and climate-related risks, published by the 
European Central Bank at the same date.

Lastly, at State level, we note the presentation 
of the Draft Law on Climate Change and 
Energy Transition (PLCCTE), which compels 
credit institutions to publish, from 2023, 
specific decarbonisation objectives of their 
loan and investment portfolio, and to include 
in the information with prudential relevance 
an annual report assessing the financial 
impact on the society of climate change-
related risks generated from the exposure to 
its activity, including risks of transition towards 

a sustainable economy and measures adopted 
to face such risks.

To consult the correspondence of Law 11/2018 
of Non-Financial Information and Diversity and 
the GRI reporting standards, consult annex 2.

7.1- External validation

UCI Group publishes, every year, its 
Sustainability Report. The last Report elaborated 
by UCI Group corresponds to the financial 
year 2020 (approved on February 27, 2020), 
which is verified by independent bodies, by 
virtue of Law 11/2018 and GRI guidelines. The 
present Report has been verified by MAZARS 
AUDITORES, S.L.P., as independent verification 
service provider, in accordance with the new 
wording given by Law 11/2018 to article 49 of 
the Code of Commerce.

Such verification includes the documentary 
verification of information collected in the 
present document, as well as the analysis of 

the quality of quantitative data used, justifying 
the coherence of reported information with 
results from the analysis of the stakeholders’ 
needs and expectations.

For such purpose, MAZARS AUDITORES, 
S.L.P. adopts requirements established 
in International Standard on Assurance 
Engagements 3000 Revised in force, 
“Assurance engagements other than audits 
or reviews of historical financial information” 
(ISAE 300 Revised), issued by the International 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board 
(IAASB) of the International Federation of 
Accountants (IFAC) and with the Guidelines on 

Verification Engagements of the Non-Financial 
Information Statement, issued by the Spanish 
Institute of Chartered Accountants.

Once verified, the Report is approved by 
the Board of Directors and the General 
Shareholders’ Meeting of UCI.
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Anexo 1. Table of correspondence of Law 11/2018 of Non-Financial Information and 
Diversity and the GRI reporting standard

Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

General Information

Brief description of the group's business model, including: its business environment Material 2.Meet UCI GRI 102-2 Activities, brands, products and services

Brief description of the group's business model, including: 
its organisation and structure Material 5.4 We comply GRI 102-18 Governance structure

Markets in which it operates Material 2.Meet UCI GRI 102-4 Location of headquarters

Objectives and strategies Material 1.Our commitment GRI 102-6 Markets served 

Main factors and trends that could affect its future evolution Material 4.A new business 
environment GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

Materiality Material 4.1 Analysis of materiality 
and the power of dialogue GRI 102-47 List of material topics 

ANEX
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

Environmental matters

Management approach: description and results from the environmental policies and main 
risks related to these matters, linked to the group's activities Material 5.2 We greenimise

GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Detailed information

Current and foreseeable effects of the company's activities in the environment and, where 
applicable, health and security Material

5. . We support the 
sustainable transition                                                                                                                                       
               

GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

5.2 We greenimise GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Environmental assessment or certification procedures Material 5.2 We greenimise GRI 102-11 Precautionary principle or approach

Resources dedicated to the environmental risk prevention Material  5.2 We greenimise GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Application of the precautionary principle Material  5.2 We greenimise GRI 102-11 Precautionary principle or approach

Provisions and guarantees for environmental risks Material  5.2 We greenimise GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Pollution

Measures to prevent, reduce or repair carbon emissions that seriously affect the 
environment, taking into account any form of air pollution specific to an activity, including 
noise and light pollution.

Material  5.2 We greenimise GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Including noise and light pollution Not Material  N/A  

Circular economy and waste prevention and management

Measures for the waste prevention, recycling, reuse, other forms of waste recovery and 
disposal Material 5.2. We greenimise

GRI 103-2 Management Approach 

GRI 301-2 Recycled inputs 

Actions to fight food waste No material N/A

Water consumption and supply, according to local limitations Material 5.2 We greenimise GRI 303-1 
(2018) Interaction with water as a shared resource

Consumption of raw materials and measures adopted to improve the efficiency of their use Material 5.2 We greenimise
GRI 301-1 Materials used per weight or volume.

GRI 301-2 Recycled inputs 
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

Direct and indirect power consumption Material 5.2 We greenimise
GRI 302-1 Power consumption within the organisation

GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy consumption

Measures taken to improve the energy efficiency Material

1.Our commitment       

GRI 103-2 Management Approach
5.We support the sustaina-
ble transition                      

5.2 We greenimise GRI 302-4 Reduction of energy consumption

Use of renewable energies Material 5.2 We greenimise GRI 302-1 Power consumption within the organisation

Climate change

Greenhouse gas emissions generated as a result from the company's activities, including the 
use of goods and services produced. Material 5.2 We greenimise

GRI 305-1 Direct GHG emissions (scope 1)

GRI 305-2 Indirect GHG emissions when generating 
energy (scope 2)

GRI 305-1 Other indirect GHG emissions (scope 3)

Measures adopted to adapt to the consequences of climate change Material

5.We support the sustaina-
ble transition            

GRI 201-2
Financial implications and other risks and 
opportunities derived from the climate 
change

5.2 We greenimise

Reduction targets voluntarily established at mid and long term tor educe greenhouse gas 
emissions and measures implemented for such purpose Material 5.2 We greenimise GRI 103-2 Management Approach 

Biodiversity protection

Measures taken to preserve or restore the biodiversity No material N/A

Impacts caused by activities or operations in protected areas No material N/A
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

Social and personnel matters

Management approach: description and results from social and personnel-related policies 
and of the main risks related to these matters, linked to the group's activities Material 5.3.We accompany

GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Employment

Total number and distribution of employees per gender, age, country and professional 
category Material

5.3.We accompany GRI 102-8 Information on employees and other workers

S1 People First GRI 405-1 Diversity in governing bodies and employees

Total number and distribution of employment contract modalities Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 102-8 Information on employees and other workers

S1 People First

Annual average of indefinite-term contracts, temporary contracts and part-time contracts 
per gender, age and professional category Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 102-8 Information on employees and other workers

S1 People First

Number of dismissals per gender, age and professional category Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 103-8 Management Approach 

S1 People First

Average remuneration per gender, age and professional category Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of 
women vs. men

S1 People First

Salary gap Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of 
women vs. menS1 People First
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

Remuneration in equal work posts or average in the company Material

5.3.We accompany 

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of 
women vs. men

S1 People First

Average remuneration of the board members and directors per gender (including variable 
remuneration, allowances, severances, payment to savings systems) Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 405-2 Ratio of basic salary and remuneration of 
women vs. men per professional category 

S1 People First

Labour disconnection policies Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 103-2 Management Approach 

S1 People First

Disabled employees Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 103-2 Diversity in governing bodies and employees

S1 People First

Work organisation

Organisation of working time Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 103-2 Management Approach
S1 People First

Number of hours of absenteeism Material

5.3.We accompany

GRI 403-9

Types of accidents and accident frequency 
rates, occupational diseases, lost days, 
absenteeism and number of deaths due to 
occupational accidents or diseases.S1 People First

Measures to ease the enjoyment of balancing procedures and to promote the co-responsible 
exercise by both parents Material

5.3.We accompany
GRI 401-3 Parental leave

S1 People First
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the 
Report Correspondence GRI

Health and security

Health and security conditions at work Material

5.3.We accompany GRI 403-1; 
430-2; 
403-3; 
403-5; 
403-6; 403-7

Management Approach 
S1 People First

Work accidents and professional illnesses per gender: frequency rate and severity Material

5.3.We accompany GRI 403-2

Types of accidents and accident frequency 
rates, occupational diseases, lost days, 
absenteeism and number of deaths due to 
occupational accidents or diseases.

S1 People First GRI 403-3 Workers with a high incidence or high risk of 
activity-related diseases

Social relationships

Organisation of the social dialogue (including procedures to report and consult the staff and 
to negotiate with them) Material

5.3.We accompany
GRI 103 Management Approach 

S1 People First

Percentage of employees covered by collective bargaining agreement per country Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 02-41 Collective negotiation agreements
S1 People First

Balance of collective bargaining agreements, in particular in the area of health and security at 
work Material

5.3.We accompany GRI 403-1 Worker representation in formal worker-
company health and safety committees

S1 People First GRI 403-4 Health and safety issues addressed in formal 
agreements with trade unions. 
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the 
Report Correspondence GRI

Training

Training policies implemented Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 103 Management Approach 
S1 People First

Total amount of training hours per professional category Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 404-1 Average training hours per employee
S1 People First

Universal accessibility of disabled people 

Universal accessibility of disabled people Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 103 Management Approach 
S1 People First

Equality

Measures adopted to promote equality of treatment and opportunities between women and 
men Material

5.3.We accompany
GRI 103 Management Approach 

S1 People First

Equality plans, measures adopted to promote employment, protocols against sexual and 
gender harassment Material

5.3.We accompany
GRI 103 Management Approach 

S1 People First

Integration and universal accessibility of disabled people Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 103 Management Approach 
S1 People First

Policy against any type of discrimination and management of diversity Material
5.3.We accompany

GRI 103 EManagement Approach 
S1 People First
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the 
Report Correspondence GRI

Respect for Human Rights

Management approach: description and results from policies on human rights and of the 
main risks related to these matters, linked to the group's activities Material 5.4 We comply 

GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

GRI 103-2 Management Approach 

Application of due diligence procedures in human rights and prevention of the risk of breach 
of human rights and, where applicable, measures to mitigate, manage and repair possible 
abuses

Material 5.4 We comply 

GRI 102-16

GRI 102-17

GRI 412-2 Employee training on human rights policies 
or procedures

Reports of human rights’ breaches Material 5.4 We comply GRI 406-1 Cases of discrimination and remedial action 
taken

Promotion and compliance with provisions of fundamental agreements of International 
Labour Organisation related to the respect for the freedom of association and right to 
collective negotiation 

Material 5.4 We comply GRI 103-2 Management Approach 

Elimination of the discrimination in employment and occupancy Material 5.4 We comply GRI 103-2 Management Approach 

Elimination of forced or compulsory work No Material N/A

Effective abolition of child labour No Material N/A

Fight against corruption and bribery

Management approach: description and results from policies on human rights and of the 
main risks related to these matters, linked to the group's activities Material 5.4 We comply 

GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Measures adopted to prevent corruption and bribery Material 5.4 We comply 

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

GRI 102-16 Values, principles, standards and norms of 
conduct

GRI 205-1 Operations assessed for corruption-related 
risks

GRI 205-2 Communication and training on anti-
corruption policies and procedures

GRI 205-3 Confirmed cases of corruption and 
measures taken
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

Measures to fight against money laundering Material 5.4. We comply 
GRI 103-2 Management Approach

GRI 102-16 Values, principles, standards and norms of 
conduct

Contributions to foundations and non-profit entities Material

5.3.We accompany 

GRI 201-1 Direct economic value generated and 
distributedS2 Our financial-social 

commitment

Information on the Company

Management approach: description and results from policies on human rights and of the main 
risks related to these matters, linked to the group's activities Material

4.3 Governance and 
Priorities                
 5.4 We comply 

GRI 102-15 Key impacts, risks and opportunities

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

Company's commitments with sustainable development

Impact of the company’s activity in employment and local development Material
5.3.We accompany 
S2 Our financial-social 
commitment

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

GRI 203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

GRI 204-1 Proportion of expenditure on local suppliers

Impact of the company’s activity in local populations and in the territory Material
5.We support the 
sustainable transition                        
5.2 We greenimise 

GRI 103-2 Management Approach

GRI 203-2 Significant indirect economic impacts

GRI 204-1 Proportion of expenditure on local suppliers

Relations held with actors of local communities and modalities of such dialogue Material

4.A new business 
environment         
 4.1 Analysis of materiality 
and the power of 
dialogue

GRI 102-43 Approaches to stakeholder engagement 

Association or sponsorship actions Material 5.2 We greenimise 
5.3 We accompany 

GRI 102-12 External initiatives

GRI 102-13 Membership in associations
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Information requested by Law 11/2018 Materiality Page/section in the Report Correspondence GRI

Subcontracting and suppliers

Inclusion of social, gender equality and environmental matters in the procurement policy Material 5.3 We accompany

GRI 102-9 Supply chain

GRI 308-1 Environmental assessment of suppliers

GRI 414-1 Social assessment of suppliers

Consideration in relations with suppliers and subcontractors of their social and environmental 
responsibility Material 5.3 We accompany

GRI 102-9 Supply chain

GRI 308-1 Environmental assessment of suppliers

GRI 414-1 Social assessment of suppliers

Supervisory systems and audits and their results Material 5.3 We accompany GRI 102-9 Supply chain

Consumers

Measures for the health and the security of the consumers Material
5.3 We accompany 

S3 Client at the heart 

GRI 416 -1 Health and safety impact assessment of 
product or service categories

GRI 416 -2
Cases of non-compliance concerning health 
and safety impacts of product and service 
categories

GRI 417 -1 Requirements for information and labelling of 
products and services

Claiming systems, complaints received and their resolution Material
5.3 We accompany 

S3 Client at the heart 

GRI 103 -2 Management Approach 

GRI 417 -2 Cases of non-compliance related to product 
and service information and labelling

Tax Information

Profits obtained per country Material 6.4 Tax information 
indicators

GRI 207-4 
(2019) Profit before tax

Profit tax paid Material 6.4 Tax information 
indicators

GRI 207-4 
(2019) Tax on profit paid

Public grants received No Material N/A
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Annex 3) Alignment of UCI’s financial products with the European 
Union (EU) taxonomy
“The European Green Deal demonstrates that 
that Europe has long dreamed of being decar-
bonised, resilient and digital.”

One year before the European Green Deal came 
into existence, in 2018, Europe already counted 
with a programme to carry out all the neces-
sary financial reforms required by an economic 
transformation of this depth. This roadmap was 
the Action Plan: financing the sustainable deve-
lopment, aimed to place the European financial 
sector in the course of the inclusive and sus-
tainable growth. In particular, it indicated three 
large objectives related to finances in the Old 
Continent, specified in 10 actions with which 
to prevent the dream of a sustainable Europe 
from having feet of clay: refocus capital flows 
towards sustainable investments, integrate 
sustainability in the financial risk management, 
and promote transparency and the long term in 
the financial activities.

The environmental taxonomy grants all agents 
involved in financing and building a sustainable 
European economy with a common framework 
to operate under the same coordinates: it aims 
to be a classification of sustainable economic 
activities to help investors, companies and go-
vernments to speak the same language in the 
field of sustainability. In the first part of the wor-

kbook, we will analyse the six climate objecti-
ves established by Europe with the taxonomy. 
We will also go through the four criteria to be 
met by any economic activity that aims to be 
considered “sustainable” in view of this classi-
fication system. These two traits turn the taxo-
nomy into the cornerstone of the entire Action 
Plan of 2018, without which it would be very 
difficult —or even impossible— to reach the cli-
mate, energetic and digital transition objectives 
throughout the continent.

The European environmental taxonomy basica-
lly aims to be a classification of economic ac-
tivities according to their sustainability degree, 
from the environmental point of view. Its regu-
lation entered into force on July 2020, indeed 
being configured as the first classification sys-
tem of these characteristics in the world, and 
which also allows determining the sustainabili-
ty degree of a given investment.

This classification aims to fight the greenwas-
hing, that is to say, the danger for the govern-
ments, companies and investors to allocate a 
sustainable nature to their operations and ac-
tivities, even if they lack it. In order to prevent 
this, the European Commission has clearly 
indicated, with its taxonomy, the criteria to be 
met by any economic activity to be able to be 

officially considered “sustainable”; thus, it will 
be neatly defined for all agents implied in its fi-
nancing and execution. It undoubtedly implies a 
long-waited homogenisation of the sustainable 
discourse throughout the European territory.

The great milestone of the taxonomy has been 
to allocate the EU with six common climate tar-
gets to which any sustainable economic activi-
ty that searches for financing must necessarily 
contribute. It also indicates the four criteria that 
any sustainable economic activity must meet 
to be considered as such. With these two abo-
vementioned traits, the taxonomy could be un-
derstood as a transparency tool with a scientific 
basis.
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Los seis objetivos medioambientales que señala la taxonomía 
europea para las actividades económicas sostenibles son:

Mitigación Adaptación al 
cambio

climático

Protección
de los recursos 

hídricos y marinos

La transición a una 
economía circular

La prevención y el 
control de la 

contaminación

La recuperación de la 
biodiversidad y los 

ecosistemas europeos

As mentioned above, the taxonomy focuses 
on classifying the economic activities and, in 
this sense, provides entities which declare 

themselves as sustainable with four criteria 
on which to base the sustainability of their 
activities and operations – and thus to evidence 

their contribution to the continent’s climate 
transition.

Mitigation of the climate change

As indicated in the introduction, on December 2015, 196 countries committed 
in Paris for the planet’s temperature not to increase more than 2°C with regard 
to preindustrial areas, and to make an effort to limit it in 1.5°C (Regulation [EU] 

2020/852 of the European Parliament and the Council of 18 June, on the 
establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable investment, and amending 

Regulation (EU) 2019/2088 [hereinafter, Regulation [EU] 2020/852], art. 2.5). 
Among others, this commitment implies considerably reducing greenhouse 

gas emissions at global level, with all related efforts. The activities indicated by 
the European environmental taxonomy to mitigate the climate change include the 

generation, distribution and use of renewable energies, the improvement of the energetic 
efficiency, the clean mobility, the development of the carbon storage technology and, in 

general, the increase of carbon sinks (Regulation [EU] 2020/852, art. 10).

Adaptation to the climate change

Since 2010, the number of “climate refugees” has reached 
21.5 million. In a given sense, the consequences from the 

planet’s temperature increase are already a reality for 
millions of people. Adapting to the climate change implies 

“reducing or preventing the current adverse climatic impacts 
or those expected in the future” (Regulation [EU] 2020/852 
of the European Parliament and the Council of 18 June, on 
the establishment of a framework to facilitate sustainable 
investment, and amending Regulation (EU) 2019/2088). 

These are therefore measures that reinforce the European 
economic and social system against the consequences of a 
global temperature increase of the planet which, as a matter 

of fact, some see as unavoidable.

The EU Taxonomy Regulation establishes 
six environmental objectives

Climate change 
mitigation

Climate change 
adaptation

The sustainable use 
and protection of 
water and marine 

resources

The transition to a 
circular economy

Pollution prevention 
and control

The protection and restoration 
of biodiversity and ecosystems
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Furthermore, an economic activity must meet 
the following four criteria to be considered 
sustainable from the environmental standpoint, 
in view of the European taxonomy in this field: to 

substantially contribute to one of the European 
climate targets, not to significantly damage 
any of the other five, to comply with minimum 
social guarantees and adapt to the technical 

selection criteria to be proposed by the EC for 
each one of the six climate targets (Regulation 
[EU] 2020/852, art. 3).

In this context, we expose below the percentage 
of our assets/financial products that align with 
the taxonomy and that are characterised for 
being sustainable solutions for individual clients 
through: (1) financing to acquire homes with 
an energy efficiency rating of A or B; and (2) 
financing exclusively dedicated to build homes 
with the highest energy efficiency ratings (A 
and B):

Criterios para que una economía se considere sostenible

Contribuir sustancialmente 
a uno de los objetivos 
climáticos europeos

No perjudicar de forma 
significativa a ninguno 

de los otros cinco

Cumplir unas 
garantías mínimas 

sociales

Adecuarse a los criterios técnicos de 
selección que propondrá la CE para cada 

uno de los seis objetivos climáticos

Country Product Green Taxonomy Amount

Works A&B 19,100,528.79 7% 

New construction A&B 74,113,657.97 27% 

Self-construction A&B 6,081,650.61 2% 

Works A&B 151,852,622.65 55% 

New construction A&B 23,533,172.93 9% 

Total A&B 274,681,632.94 100% 

Total outstanding balance PT 
&SP 10,655,619,093.59 

GAR Total 2.6% 

Outstanding balance PT 1,199,130,161.31 

Outstanding balance SP 9,456,488,932.28 

GAR PT 15% 

GAR SP 1.1% 

Criteria for an economy to be considered sustainable

Contribute substantially 
to one of the European 

climate goals

Not significantly harm 
any of the other five

Comply with minimum 
social guarantees

Adapt to the technical selection 
criteria that the EC will propose for 
each of the six climate objectives
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Finally, we know that ‘green’ is more than a 
colour. It symbolises nature and is associated to 
the care for the environment. A green future is 

necessary for the world to continue being as we 
know it today, and not as depicted by the worst 
omens. At UCI, we are aware of it, and thus will 

continue committing to green finances.

During 2021, no grant has been received.

Annex 4) Tax information

Tax Information

UCI profits per country (Euros)  

Profits (Euros)  2020 2021 Var 2020 - 2021 (%)

Spain -22,241,353.12 25,484,540.47 -214.61%

Portugal  6,570,461.60 3,782,172.44 -42.28%

Greece 24,566.83 75,891.30 208.92%

Brazil  2,749.96 134,689.00 4,798%

Total consolidated profits -15,643,574.73 29,487,293.21 -288.49%

Tax paid on profits (UCI Group)

Total consolidated profits  -15,643,574.73 29,487,293.21 -288.49%

Total paid taxes 1,681,916.31 1,322,975.64 -21.34%
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At UCI, we consider that the establishment 
of alliances is essential for the development 
of our responsible and sustainable business 

model. Therefore, we have entered into 
agreements and conventions with several 
organisations. We show below the relationship 

with the main institutions with which we 
collaborate.

Annex 5) Alliances 

Green Alliances

BEI - European Investment Bank It is the world's largest multilateral financial institution and one of the largest 
providers of climate finance www.eib.org/en

EMF -European Mortgage Federation 
The European Mortgage Federation (EMF) is the voice of the European 
mortgage industry and represents the mortgage lenders' interests at European 
level.

www.hypo.org/emf

It aims to ensure a sustainable housing environment for the citizens 
of the European Union (EU). 

It is part of the ABS Loan Level Data initiative established by the European 
Central Bank which is dedicated to providing data warehousing and full 
disclosure services for investors in asset-backed securities

www.eurodw.eu

Gloval
It is a full-service real estate valuation, engineering and consulting firm 
that brings together companies, with more than 70 years of accumulated 
experience.

www.gloval.es

Brupo BC

It is a company that provides End to End services for the formalisation and 
management of mortgage operations, with tailor-made solutions adapted to 
the needs and particularities of each Financial Institution. They deal with the 
mortgage process in a global manner, managing the pre-signing, assistance 
with signing and post-signing of all types of operations. 

www.grupobc.com/es

GBCe -  Green Building Council España
A platform for meeting and dialogue that provides cutting-edge information 
and training to guide and help its members in the transformation towards 
sustainable building, with a focus on people's wellbeing.

www.gbce.es

CONCOVI - Confederación de Cooperativas de Viviendas de España

Contribute to the improvement of the energy efficiency of the existing building 
stock by means of public-private partnerships, through the use of financing 
the refurbishment of homeowners' associations.

www.concovi.org

IDAE - Instituto para la Diversifiación y Ahorro de Energía www.idae.es

Consejo General de Colegios de Administradores de Fincas. España www.cgcafe.org

Colegio de Administradores de Fincas

(Alicante, Sevilla Huelga y Málaga)

COAM - Colegio Oficial de Arquitectos de Madrid www.coam.org
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Green Alliances

EMVS - Empresa Municipal de la vivienda y suelo de Madrid

Contribute to the improvement of the energy efficiency of the existing building 
stock by means of public-private partnerships, through the use of financing 
the refurbishment of homeowners' associations.

www.emvs.es

Generalitat de Catalunya https://web.gencat.cat/ca/inici/

Consorci Habitatge del Área Metropolitana de Barcelona www.amb.cat/s/home.html

Ayuntamiento de Barcelona - Illa Eficient https://ajuntament.barcelona.cat/ca

Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility Alliances

UN Global Compact International initiative of the United Nations that promotes sustainable 
development and corporate social responsibility. www.pactomundial.org

DIRSE - Asociación Española de Directivos de Sostenibilidad (ASG)

Spanish association of Sustainability and ESG (Environmental, Social and 
Corporate Governance) professionals, which works for the promotion, defence 
and recognition of the people who, from all types of entities, develop this 
specific function, thus contributing to improve their capacity to influence the 
creation of value in organisations.

www.dirse.es

Business and Sector Alliances

AHE

It is an organisation made up of the banks, credit cooperatives and financial 
credit establishments with the largest presence in the Spanish mortgage 
market. The Association members approximately hold 75 per cent of the 
mortgage lending market.

www.ahe.es

ASNEF - Asociación Nacional de Establecimientos 

Financieros de Crédito

Liaison between financial institutions specialising in consumer finance in 
Spain and public administrations, other Spanish and European professional 
associations, and users of financial products. Through its work, it facilitates 
access to consumer and production goods for consumers, professionals and 
entrepreneurs.

www.asnef.com

Asociación Española de la Calidad
A private non-profit organisation whose purpose is to promote Quality as a 
driver of competitiveness and sustainability for professionals, companies and 
the country.

www.aec.es

NAR - National Association of REALTORS ®
It is the largest professional association in the United States, with one million 
members, including institutes, companies and councils, involved in all aspects 
of the residential and commercial sectors. SIRA is the local partner in Spain.

www.siralia.com/sira

Green Alliances

BEI - European Investment Bank It is the world's largest multilateral financial institution and one of the largest 
providers of climate finance www.eib.org/en

EMF -European Mortgage Federation 
The European Mortgage Federation (EMF) is the voice of the European 
mortgage industry and represents the mortgage lenders' interests at European 
level.

www.hypo.org/emf

It aims to ensure a sustainable housing environment for the citizens 
of the European Union (EU). 

It is part of the ABS Loan Level Data initiative established by the European 
Central Bank which is dedicated to providing data warehousing and full 
disclosure services for investors in asset-backed securities

www.eurodw.eu

Gloval
It is a full-service real estate valuation, engineering and consulting firm 
that brings together companies, with more than 70 years of accumulated 
experience.

www.gloval.es

Brupo BC

It is a company that provides End to End services for the formalisation and 
management of mortgage operations, with tailor-made solutions adapted to 
the needs and particularities of each Financial Institution. They deal with the 
mortgage process in a global manner, managing the pre-signing, assistance 
with signing and post-signing of all types of operations. 

www.grupobc.com/es

GBCe -  Green Building Council España
A platform for meeting and dialogue that provides cutting-edge information 
and training to guide and help its members in the transformation towards 
sustainable building, with a focus on people's wellbeing.

www.gbce.es

CONCOVI - Confederación de Cooperativas de Viviendas de España

Contribute to the improvement of the energy efficiency of the existing building 
stock by means of public-private partnerships, through the use of financing 
the refurbishment of homeowners' associations.

www.concovi.org

IDAE - Instituto para la Diversifiación y Ahorro de Energía www.idae.es

Consejo General de Colegios de Administradores de Fincas. España www.cgcafe.org

Colegio de Administradores de Fincas

(Alicante, Sevilla Huelga y Málaga)

COAM - Colegio Oficial de Arquitectos de Madrid www.coam.org
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Agreements with Foundations

Fundación  Dádoris
Support for talented high school students with brilliant results to access 
university studies and centres of excellence and who do not have financial 
resources.

www.fundaciondadoris.org

Fundación Prodis
Contribution from the ethical commitment to improve the quality of life 
of people with intellectual disabilities and their families, supporting and 
promoting their full inclusion in a fair and supportive society.

www.fundacionprodis.org
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Independent Assurance Report
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CARTA 6. Risk 
Management
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1. Risk management
The UCI Group believes risk is an inherent fac-
tor in the business it conducts. Its correct as-
sessment, measurement and management 
contributes to the delivery of adequate margins 
and the maintenance of the Entity's solvency 
and liquidity. In the development of risk mana-
gement systems and models, we take as ben-
chmark the best market practices, including 
those carried out by our shareholders.

Our risk management function (RMF), throu-
gh the implementation of a risk management 
system (RMS), manages the corporate risks 
to which the company is exposed in a holistic, 
organised and methodological manner, which 
calls on all levels of the organisation to collabo-
rate. This makes the SGR a transversal, proacti-
ve and dynamic process.

Its main objective is to protect and create va-
lue in the company, improving decision making 
while contributing to the achievement of ob-
jectives, as it favours the anticipation of threats 
and opportunities. The end objective is to su-
pport strategic decisions in the definition of the 
different management policies.

The objectives of the SGR in each of its phases 
are:

•  Identify the main risks to which the company 
is exposed and implementation of a corporate 
risk map.

•  Definition of key risk indicators (KRIs), evalua-
tion of the control environment and the busi-
ness model to determine the risk profile of the 
Entity’s identified individual and global risks.

•  Establish and monitor the risk appetites that 
the company considers reasonable to assume 
in the execution of its business strategy, as well 
as the definition and integration of the risk cul-
ture at all levels of the organization.

•  Assessment of capital and liquidity require-
ments following the regulator's approach.

•  Monitoring of risks, follow-up of action plans 
and reporting according to the standards esta-
blished by the regulator or stakeholders.

1.1. Executive summary and highlights

This section is a summary of the UCI Group's 
risk profile and management in 2021 through 
its main indicators and their performance.

UCI Group’s global risk appetite in the last quar-
ter of 2021 was set at medium-low. The increa-
se in the risk profile compared to the previous 
year follows an accounting reclassification of 

part of the portfolio as a result of a supervisory 
recommendation from the Bank of Spain. The 
impact of this recommendation led to an in-
crease in the bank's credit risk and capital pro-
file. The remaining risks to which the Entity is 
exposed are low or medium-low in nature.

Credit and concentration risk

This is the main risk to which the Entity is ex-
posed and stems from our business model 
which is the granting retail mortgage loans. The 
main exposure to credit risk comes from tran-
sactions underwritten before 2012, while the 
credit quality of mortgages signed after 2012 
increased substantially. This has had a positive 
influence on the exposure to this risk because 
they increase their relative weight on the balan-
ce sheet.

One of the key indicators in terms of credit qua-
lity is the NPL ratio, which has improved over 
the course of 2021.
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Concentration risk is linked to credit risk and 
does not have significant concentrations by 
geography, product, type of customer or sales 
channel. There any deviations from the regula-
tory ratios relating to sector or individual con-
centrations.

Structural interest rate

Structural interest rate risk assesses the impact 
on the balance sheet items that are sensitive to 
adverse changes in interest rates. No breaches 

of the internal limits as set by the board of di-
rectors have taken place.

Capital risk

The UCI Group meets the minimum requi-
rements established for its ratios under the 
current applicable regulations. However, the 
requisite to reclassify part of the portfolio and 
its impact on RWAs has weakened the capital 
ratios, forcing the Entity to increase its share 

capital in order to comfortably meet the regu-
latory limits.
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Liquidity and funding risk

UCI Group has issued two new securitisations 
in Spain during 2021 known as “RMBS Pra-
do VIII” and “RMBS Prado IX”, both with the 
highest ratings allowed and were well recei-
ved on the markets in a year of extraordinary 
uncertainty.

Throughout 2021, UCI has had its ratings re-
newed by DBRS (A low) and Fitch (BBB), kee-
ping its Investment Grade status with both 
agencies, thus allowing it to expand its poten-
tial sources of funding on the capital markets.

At year-end the Entity was not subject to com-
pliance with the LCR and NSFR indicators. 
However, in line with Basel III regulations, but 
adapted to its own business model, the Entity 
has established two internal liquidity indicators, 
STLR (587%) and LTLR (52.8%), exceeding the 
internal limits established by the board by 100% 
and 50%, respectively.

Market risks

The market risk is determined solely by price 
fluctuations linked to the "foreclosed assets" 
item on the Bank's balance sheet. The uptick 
in appraisals and the capital gains on the sale 
means that this risk is on a downward trend.

Operational risk

Our Operational Risk Management System 
(SGRO in the Spanish acronym) has unearthed 
a larger number of incidents, significantly re-
ducing exposure to operational risk in line with 
the greater maturity of the system. The actions 
aimed at promoting an operational risk culture 
and the involvement of all functions and senior 
management have resulted in the finding and 
reporting of an increasing number of incidents, 
although losses show a downward trend.

The operational risk capital requirements at the 
end of 2021 for the UCI Group amounted to 
EUR 19.25 million.

Reputational risk

Reputational risk is determined by the inherent 
risk of the mortgage sector and is no different 
than that of its peers. The eKomi and GmB cer-
tification reveals a high customer satisfaction 
with the service and attention received.

Strategic risk

The strategic focus in 2021 was mainly on the 
economic recovery linked to the uncertainty 
generated by the emergence of new variants 
of the Covid-19 virus and the monitoring of our 
strategic projects’ performance. Financial indi-
cators such as net income for the year and RoE 
show a good progression.

1.2. Top risks and emerging risks

We carried out a forward-looking analysis of the 
unit based on stress metrics and/or identifica-
tion and assessment of the main threats or key 
vulnerabilities (top risks) that could have a sig-
nificant impact on the strategic plan or jeopar-
dise the company’s future viability. This allows 
us to establish specific action plans to monitor 
and mitigate their potential impacts.

The assessment of key vulnerabilities is based 
on the individual rating of the top risks which 
are grouped into 4 broad areas (weighted ac-
cording to their importance in the company’s 
yearly strategic plan).

Ekomi 9,8/10

GMB 4,8/5
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Macroeconomic and political risk

1. Health, safety and security amidst the conti-
nuing threat of Covid-19.

2. Macroeconomic and geopolitical uncertainty.

3. Business continuity, crisis management and 
disaster response.

4. Climate change and environmental sustainability.

5. Inflation and global fiscal tightening.

Competitive environment and customer 
relations

1. Communication, management and reputation.

2. Digital disruption, new technologies and AI.

3. Human capital, diversity and talent 
management.

4. Supply chain, subcontracting and the ‘nth' 
part risk.

5. Communications, reputation and stakehol-
der relations.

Regulatory event

1. Financial, liquidity and insolvency risks.

2. Changes in laws and regulations.

3. Organisational governance and corporate 
reporting.

4. Company culture.

5. Fraud, bribery and criminal use of disruption.

Threats to systems (cyber risk)

1. Cybersecurity and data security.

2. Risks of teleworking.

3. Phishing and spear phishing.

4. Ransomware.

5. Advanced persistent threat.
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2. Risk management and 
control model

2.1. Risk principles and culture

A solid risk culture is of vital importance and 
one of the keys that will enable us to respond 
to changes in economic cycles, new customer 
demands and increased competition, positio-
ning ourselves as an institution trusted by all 
our stakeholders.

Excellence in risk management is one of the 
company's strategic priorities. This entails con-
solidating a strong risk culture throughout the 
organisation, one that all UCI Group employees 
know and apply.

Our risk culture is defined through five principles:

1. Commitment. Risk culture is anchored on the 
commitment and participation of all units and 
employees (regardless of the function they per-
form), through their engagement and integra-
ting it as a "lifestyle" rather than an imposition.

2. Responsibility. All units and employees must 
know and understand the risks involved in their 
daily activities and take responsibility for identi-
fying, assessing, managing and reporting them 
in a comprehensive and transparent manner.

3. Simplicity. Adapt the risk culture to the 
Group's business model which is based on pro-
cesses and decisions that are clear, documen-
ted and comprehensible to both employees 
and customers. 

4. Customer focus. All risk actions are customer 
oriented, focusing on their long-term interests. 
The Group's vision is to be the leading expert 
in specialised real estate financing and earn 
the trust and loyalty of employees, customers, 
shareholders and society. The way to achieve 
this is by pro-actively contributing to the pro-
gress of our customers through excellent risk 
management.

5. Experience. Based on past experience, be 
able to foresee potential adverse events. This 
experience shall be acquired through a dyna-
mic and evolutionary learning process, and sha-
red and transferred to all levels. 

The dissemination of the risk culture is a pro-
cess of continuous improvement, strengthened 
through a series of actions based on communi-
cation, training and development, and techno-
logical support from the SGR.

2.2. Corporate risk map

The classification of the UCI Group's risks ena-
bles effective management, control and com-
munication of risks. Our corporate risk map in-
cludes the following families:

Credit and concentration risk: is the risk of 
financial loss arising from the default or im-
pairment in the credit quality of a customer or 
counterparty which the UCI Group has finan-
ced or where a contractual obligation has been 
signed. 

The level of concentration indicates the lack of 
diversification in terms of geographic exposure, 
customer type, specific products or by sales 
channel.

Interest rate risk: is the risk the company is 
exposed to as a result of adverse movements 
in interest rates. This sensitivity is conditioned 
by the mismatch between the maturity and the 
interest rate review dates of different balance 
sheet items.

Capital risk: this is linked to entity's capacity 
to generate funds to meet, under the agreed 
terms and conditions, the commitments made 
with third parties.

Solvency is closely related to credit risk, as it 
represents the potential loss to the entity resul-
ting from changes in conditions and characte-
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ristics that could impact the company's ability 
to meet the contractual terms of its operations.
Liquidity and funding risk: the risk that suffi-
cient liquidity will not be available to meet obli-
gations as they fall due, or can only be obtained 
at a high cost.

Market risk: reflects the possibility of incurring 
losses due to adverse movements in market 
prices and/or marketable instruments in which 
the entity operates.

Operational risk: is the risk of incurring losses 
due to the inadequacy or failure of processes, 
staff, internal systems or due to external events. 
It includes legal, regulatory compliance and be-
havioural risks.

Reputational risk: is the risk of a real or poten-
tial negative economic impact due to an adver-
se perception of the bank by employees, cus-
tomers, shareholders/investors and society at 
large.

Strategic risk: this the risk of loss or damage 
resulting from strategic decisions, or from their 
faulty implementation, that affect the medium- 
and long-term interests of our key stakeholders, 
or from an inability to adapt to changes in the 
environment. 

2.3. Risk governance

Our risk governance structure enables us to 
conduct effective oversight in line with our risk 
appetite. It is supported by the management 
model with three lines of defence, our commit-
tee structure and a strong risk culture.

Lines of defence

UCI Group has a model encompassing three 
lines of defence to effectively manage and con-
trol risks:

• First line: the business functions that take on 
or generate exposure to risk are the first line 
of defence. This first line identifies, measures, 
controls, monitors and reports the risks it en-
gages and applies the internal regulations that 
govern risk management. Risk generation must 
be line with the approved risk appetite and as-
sociated thresholds.

• Second line: the risk management and com-
pliance functions make up the second line of 
defence, which independently monitors and 
challenges the risk management activities ca-
rried out by the first line of defence. The second 
line of defence must ensure, within its respec-
tive areas of responsibility, that risks are ma-
naged in line with the risk appetite defined by 
senior management and promote a strong risk 
culture throughout the organisation.

• Third line: the internal audit function is inde-
pendent in order to provide assurance to the 
board of directors and senior management on 
the quality and effectiveness of internal con-
trols, governance and risk management sys-
tems. This helps protects our value, solvency 
and reputation.

The risk management, compliance and inter-
nal audit functions have an appropriate level 
of separation and independence. Each has 
direct access to the board of directors and its 
committees.

Risk management committee structure

The Board of Directors is ultimately responsible 
for risk management and control. It reviews and 
approves risk frameworks and risk appetite, and 
promotes a strong risk culture throughout the 
organisation. In performing these functions, the 
board is supported by the risk oversight, regu-
latory and compliance committee and the UCI 
Group executive committee.

The Group’s chief risk officer (Group CRO) 
sets the risk management strategy, promotes 
an adequate risk culture and is responsible 
for overseeing all risks, as well as challenging 
and advising the business lines on their risk 
management.
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The Group’s CRO has direct access to and re-
ports directly to the Audit and Risk Committee 
and the Board of Directors.

Risk governance keeps the control line separa-
te from the risk-taking line:

Board risk-audit committee Risk management committee 

Functions

This committee is responsible for risk management, in accordance with the powers 
delegated by the board, and is authorised to accept, modify, or escalate actions or 

transactions that may expose the entity to significant risk. 
The committee takes risk-taking decisions at the highest level,

in accordance with the Group's risk appetite.

This committee is responsible for risk management and for providing a holistic view 
of risks. It determines whether the business lines are managed in accordance with 

the risk appetite. It also identifies, monitors and assesses the impact of current and 
emerging risks on the Group's risk profile.

Chaired by Directors / CEO Group CRO

Composition Appointed executive directors and other members of senior management; the Risk 
Management, Compliance and Finance functions are also represented.

Members of senior management and the Risk Management, Compliance, Financial 
and Financial Comptroller functions.

Frequency Every six months Quarterly
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2.4. Management processes and tools

Risk appetite and thresholds 

At UCI Group, we run a comprehensive risk 
management system where the definition and 
control of risk appetite is key. Within this con-
text, our RAF is the basis for coordinating the 
risk decision-making process; the definition, le-
vel and composition of the risks that the Group 
wants to assume as part of its business, as well 
as the mechanism for supervising and monito-
ring them. 

A component of the RAF is the RAS (Risk Appe-
tite Statement) which sets out in writing the 
aggregate level of the different risks that UCI 
Group is willing to avoid, reduce, share or assu-
me in order to achieve its strategic objectives.
The risk appetite for the entire Group is defined 
annually by the board of directors and the RMF 
is responsible for managing the risk profile in 
line with the risk appetite.

The main elements underpinning our risk appe-
tite are:

• A medium-low and predictable target risk pro-
file, focused primarily on granting mortgages to 
individuals.

• A sound capital and liquidity structure, with 
risk profiles that do not compromise the 
Group's viability.

• An independent risk management function 
with active engagement by senior manage-
ment to strengthen a strong risk culture and a 
sustainable return on capital.

•  A remuneration policy that aligns the interests 
of employees and executives with the Group's 
risk appetite and long-term performance.

Risk Profile Assessment (RPA)

At UCI Group we assess the entity's risk pro-
file systematically using a unique and robust 
methodology that enables us to analyse all the 
risk to which we are exposed, in accordance 
with the corporate risk map. It produces results 
at different levels by risk type and unit using a 
scoring system that classifies the profile into 
four categories: low, medium-low, medium-hi-
gh and high.

The RPA methodology is based on the core prin-
ciples of the risk identification and assessment 
model, including: self-assessment and suitabi-
lity of the exercise, efficiency, holistic and com-
prehensive view of risk, by means of common 
methodologies, convergence and alignment for 
decision making purposes.

The exercise involves all three lines of defence, 
reinforcing our risk culture by analysing how ris-
ks evolve and identifying opportunities for im-
provement.

The risk profile assessment consist of the 
following:

• Risk performance: measures the exposure 
profile to each type of risk.

•  Control environment: assesses the distance 
to the target operating model of our advanced 
risk management in line with regulatory requi-
rements and best market practices.

• Prospective analysis: assesses potential 
threats that may impact business planning and 
strategic objectives.

During 2021, improvements have focused 
on reviewing and strengthening governance 
standards.
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Scenario analysis

A paramount technique used to ensure robust 
risk management and control is the analysis of 
the possible impacts arising from the different 
scenarios in which the Group operates in order 
to determine capital and liquidity requirements.

In this regard, at UCI Group we conduct internal 
capital and liquidity adequacy (ICLAA) exerci-
ses in which the entity applies its methodology 
to assess capital and liquidity levels under diffe-
rent scenarios based on an adverse evolution of 
different macroeconomic variables (GDP, inte-
rest rates, employment and house prices).

Risk Reporting Structure (RRS)

In order to provide senior management with a 
complete and up-to-date view of the risk pro-
file, the Risk Management department reports 
on a recurring basis and consolidates risks so 
that appropriate decisions can be taken in a ti-
mely manner.

We have two types of risk reports: 

1. Risk Management Report (quarterly): this 
quarterly report is presented to the Risk Mana-
gement Committee and distributed to senior 
management.

2. Risk Management Report (Board): this report 
is submitted to the board’s Risk-Audit Commi-
ttee and distributed to the appointed executive 
directors and members of senior management.

3. Corporate risks

3.1 Credit and concentration risk

3.1.1 Credit and concentration risk 
management

This is our most important risk, both in terms of 
exposure and capital consumption, and inclu-
des credit risk in lending, on the balance sheet, 
in the analysis of the collateral and coverage.

Lending

Business strategies and risk policies ensure 
a comprehensive view of the portfolios, set-
ting business objectives and defining concre-
te action plans in line with our risk appetite 
statement.

The risk approval criteria, included in our len-
ding policy, reviews three key risk concepts: 
borrower, collateral and transaction. The main 
objective of the policy is to ensure the credi-
tworthiness of the customer and the consis-
tency of the transaction.

The first thing is to assess the borrower's abi-
lity to pay, to ensure that the financial obliga-
tions assumed are met in a timely manner as 
agreed, taking into account only the borrower's 
recurring income without relying on guarantors, 
or assets offered as collateral (considered as an 
exceptional means of recovery).

In order to assess the borrower's solvency and 
risk profile, UCI will have sufficient, precise and 
updated information prior to the signing of the 
loan agreement related to the purpose of the 
loan (employment, sources of income proving 
the ability to pay, composition of the household 
and dependents, commitments and periodic 
expenses associated with the latter). All these 
data will assess the personal guarantee of the 
parties to the loan. 

As a second basic element of the transaction, 
UCI carries out an accurate valuation of the co-
llateral with authorised appraisal companies. 
This valuation forms the basis for determining 
the ratio between the loan amount requested 
and the value of the collateral.

All the documents that have served as the basis 
or support for the decision will be adequately 
traceable in the entity's systems, with the dou-
ble objective of complying with the regulatory 
framework and facilitating future reviews, both 
internally and by third parties. Likewise, all the 
documents used in the analysis of the transac-
tion, as well as the data extracted from it and 
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used to measure the feasibility and decide on 
the transaction, as well as the decision on the 
feasibility of the transaction taken jointly with 
the appropriate decision-making body, shall 
be recorded in an easily accessible computer 
format.

In order to analyse the ability of our customers 
to meet their contractual obligations, we use 
valuation and parameter estimation models in 
each of our segments.

1. Rating: the Client Rating model segments the 
portfolio classified as performing risk to default 
risk. This segmentation is based on predictive 
behavioural models, calculated on the basis 
of historical data from the UCI España Retail 
portfolio. Each transaction is assigned a risk ra-
ting, based on its current status and past per-
formance. This rating is updated monthly for all 
transactions.

2. Scoring: the Credit Scoring model is an al-
gorithm that automatically assesses the credit 
risk of a person applying for a loan. The model 
can estimate probabilities of non-payment by 
customers and assign a metric that allows bo-
rrowers to be compared and ranked according 
to their risk of default. The objective of these 
models is to find patterns of behaviour in the 
customer portfolio.

Changes to the terms and conditions 
and recovery management

The recoveries department follows the require-
ments set out in the EBA guidelines on the ma-
nagement of non-performing, refinanced and 
forborne exposures. Recovery management is 
divided into four stages: watchlist or early de-
fault, recovery of non-performing loans, wri-
te-offs and management of foreclosed assets. 
We are constantly looking for alternative solu-
tions to court proceedings as a means of debt 
collection.

Based on the principle of customer protection, 
and in order to facilitate payment commit-
ments, the recovery area carries out an impor-
tant function in our risk management and con-
trol with respect to changes to the terms and 
conditions of a transaction. This is where a cus-
tomer seeks an improvement in the financial 
conditions or is experiencing financial stress to 
meet full payment of the loan instalment.

If there is a modification in the financial terms 
of a client who wants to subrogate to another 
entity or improve the conditions of their cu-
rrent loan, UCI has different solutions to assess 
and renegotiate the terms and conditions of its 
loan. These can be applied to clients requesting 
enhancements following a review of both the 
transaction and the client. 

Credit risk assessment, monitoring 
and control

Regular monitoring of the business performan-
ce against the strategic plans is essential to our 
risk management. The RMF regularly monitors 
and assesses credit risk indicators, enabling 
early detection of impacts on the evolution of 
risk and credit quality. Moreover, trends and 
deviations of key risk indicators are monito-
red in line with our risk appetite statement; 
action plans are implemented, parties in char-
ge are identified and monitoring frequency is 
established.

Classification of transactions according 
to credit risk due to insolvency

Loans are granted under the premise that the 
debt will be repaid according to the conditions 
established in the deed. For this reason, when 
a loan is granted the transaction is classified as 
performing risk, and remains as such as long as 
the client meets its contractual obligations. 

However, depending on the customer's pay-
ment performance, the classification of the 
debt may change if the customer's creditwor-
thiness deteriorates. By the same token, the 
classification of the debt may improve if the 
client regains lost creditworthiness.
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The criteria for the accounting classification 
and the level of provisioning required for each 
of the classifications are managed by the Fi-
nancial Comptroller's department.

Coverage of credit risk loss due 
to insolvency

The main purpose of provisioning for loans is 
to make sure that the resources needed to co-
ver the shortfall from possible losses expected 
from assets exist, and to anticipate their impact 
on the financial statements should these los-
ses materialise.

The provisioning model is based around an es-
timation of the Expected Loss (EL) that may be 
incurred in the future on the loan if it reaches 
the end of its usual impairment cycle. It asses-
ses the loans and provisions thereof for possi-
ble losses that might be incurred if the loan is 
reclassified in default, if there is a foreclosure 
or payment in lieu or execution on the collateral 
to cancel the customer’s debt and finally, if UCI 
puts the Real Estate Owned (REOs) up for sale.

In accordance with current solvency regula-
tions, credit risk is covered with existing own 
resources adequately managed and able to 
absorb the risks assumed, as well as by pro-
visions set up to cover insolvencies. This co-
verage is classified into specific coverage for 
non-performing and delinquent loans (to cover 

exposures to defaults or transactions whose 
full repayment is in doubt) and for performing 
risk coverage. These, in turn, are further classi-
fied into performing risk coverage and watchlist 
performing risk. The latter correspond to cove-
rage of transactions with weaknesses in their 
creditworthiness but do not raise doubts as to 
their full repayment.
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3.1.2 Main metrics

In 2021, EUR 892 million were granted (+EUR 
106 million compared to 2020), with satisfac-
tory metrics in terms of lending: Loan to Value 
66.30% (67.64% in 2020); rate of personal con-
tribution 28.09% (25.39% in 2020); affordabi-
lity rate 30.20% (29.09% in 2020); and cost of 
risk 0.10% (0.11% in 2020).

At December 2021, the NPL ratio for UCI Group 
stood at 7.75% (-49 bps against 2020). 

Thanks to our business model, it is worth noting 
the high quality of the collateral concentrated 
almost exclusively in first home financing. At 
year-end, 97.4% of the value of the portfolio was 
covered by mortgage guarantees.

At year-end 2021, the Group's total provisions 
to cover potential bad debts on loans to cus-
tomers amounted to EUR 362 million: EUR 8 
million for performing risk, EUR 36 million for 
watchlist performing risk, EUR 76 million for 
non-performing loans and EUR 242 million for 
delinquent loans. 

Total provisions held at 31 December 2021 
linked to the lending portfolio of non-perfor-

ming delinquent loans represents an NPL cove-
rage ratio of 29.29 %.

In terms of credit risk concentration, UCI conti-
nuously monitors the degree of concentration 
under different relevant dimensions: sector, 
individual, geography, customer, product and 
channel.

With regard to sector concentration, the di-
rect risk of the Entity will be grouped, without 
taking into account the risk of natural persons 
(except that arising from business activities), in 
the twelve economic activity categories esta-
blished by the supervisor.

With respect to individual concentration, the 
Entity’s total direct exposure shall be itemized 
(following the same criteria used in the calcu-
lation of the sector concentration index) with 
the Entity’s 1,000 largest borrowers, regardless 
of their legal status or form. Where several bo-
rrowers are connected because they make up 
an economic group or decision-making unit, 
they shall be grouped together and considered 
as a single risk.

Sector and individual concentration ratios are 
within regulatory limits. ICI 0.107% (0.106% in 
2020) and SCI 11% (10.87% in 2020).

UCI Group NPL ratio (90d)
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UCI Group is subject to the large exposure re-
gulation of the CRR, according to which an 
institution's exposure to a client or a group of 
connected clients is considered as 'large expo-
sure' when its value equals or exceeds 10% of 
its eligible capital.

In addition, in order to limit large exposures, 
no exposure to a client or group of connected 
clients may exceed 25% of their eligible capital, 
after taking into account the effect of the credit 
risk mitigation included in the rule.

At the close of December, after applying risk 
mitigation techniques, UCI does not reach the 
aforementioned thresholds. Regulatory credit 
exposure within the scope of large exposures 
represents 4.3% of credit risk at December 
2021.

In geographical terms, credit risk is diversified 
in the main markets where we operate (Spain, 
Portugal, Greece and Brazil). In Spain and Por-
tugal its business is concentrated on real es-
tate loans and in Greece on the management 
and maintenance of loans awarded by financial 
institutions.
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The geographical concentration of both the 
portfolio and the front book indicates that 
loans are granted throughout Spain. The level 
of concentration risk is considered low insofar 
as lending is mainly carried out in large popula-
tion centres such as Madrid, Barcelona and the 
Mediterranean coast (Valencia, Malaga, Seville 
and Cadiz), which are considered mature and 
well-known markets.

Its lending activity is distributed throughout 
Spain's different Autonomous Communities, 
with developer operations in Spain registering 
the highest level of concentration, where len-
ding risk may amount to more than one million 
euros. This figure is nevertheless minimal com-
pared to the total balance of the Entity's invest-
ment portfolio (0.12% of the portfolio’s total 
balance). 

3.2 Structural balance sheet interest 
rate risk

3.2.1 Structural balance sheet interest 
rate risk management

Interest rate risk arises from possible changes 
in interest rates that could negatively impact 
the value of a financial instrument, portfolio or 
the Group as a whole. It affects loans, deposits, 
debt securities and most assets and liabilities 
in the trading portfolios, as well as derivatives.

The ALM (Asset Liability Management) area is 
in charge of the internal active management of 
interest rate risk, based on monitoring the enti-
ty's exposure and taking positions aimed at mi-
tigating this exposure, while complying with the 
limits established for the Group. 

To assess the exposure to interest rate risk, the 
ALM area analyses the maturity or repricing 
gaps between assets and liabilities from a static 
point of view, i.e., based on the current balance 
sheet, with its maturity and renewal terms. In 
addition, the entity calculates the economic 
value of the balance sheet, i.e. the net present 
value of all expected balance sheet flows, as-
suming that the maturity is not renewed. Given 
the economic value, its sensitivity to different 
interest rate scenarios then is analysed. Dyna-
mic analyses are also performed, which, as the 
name suggests, go beyond the current balance 
sheet to calculate simulations about the future. 
This simulates the net interest income and its 
sensitivity to changes in interest rates. 

The indicators used in the analysis of UCI's ba-
lance sheet exposure to interest rate risk are 
approached from three clearly differentiated 
perspectives:

Interest rate gap
Gap analysis consists of grouping portfolio ba-
lances according to the maturity and repricing 
of assets and liabilities in time intervals in order

 

to estimate the sensitivity of the balance sheet 
to changes in interest rates

- A positive gap is where more assets mature 
and/or reprice than liabilities, which is favoura-
ble in the face of rising interest rate. Where the 
balance sheet structure assimilates changes in 
interest rates on assets more quickly, the net 
interest margin is positively impacted by this 
circumstance, resulting in a greater interest in-
come flows for the Entity. 

- Negative gap is where more liabilities mature 
and/or reprice than assets, which is favourable 
in the face of falling interest rates. In this case, 
the greater speed with which liabilities assimi-
late changes in interest rates means that the 
net interest margin is favoured by lower interest 
rates, due to lower financial expenses.

- A reduced gap at all maturities will make net 
interest margin less sensitive to changes in in-
terest rates. A maximum monthly gap, either 
(-) or (+) will contribute to this lower sensitivity, 
stabilizing the impact on the net interest mar-
gin and therefore on the institution's results.

Sensitivity of net interest margin

UCI regularly assesses the exposure of the gap 
to interest rate risk through simulations (projec-
tions) of the change on the net interest margin 
under different interest rate scenarios.
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Sensitivity of economic value 

The sensitivity of the economic value is a me-
asure that complements the sensitivity of the 
net interest margin. It measures the impact of 
changes in interest rates in terms of the mar-
ket value of the Company's equity-adjusted as-
sets and liabilities. Therefore, the objective is to 
capture all the time effects generated on future 
flows arising from interest rate movements.

3.2.2 Key metrics

At 31 December 2021, the interest rate gap 
does not exceed any of the internally establi-
shed thresholds for the different time periods 
considered.

The sensitivity of net interest margin to a scena-
rio in which the yield curve moves by +/- 100bps 
is -2.13% and -0.30% respectively, which does 
not exceed the internal limit of +/- 8.5%.

The sensitivity of the economic value to a sce-
nario in which the yield curve moves by +/- 
100bps is -1.73% and -2.12% respectively, which 
does not exceed the internal limit of +/- 7.5%.

The above figures show that interest rate chan-
ges have not had an adverse impact on the En-
tity’s economic value and equity.

3.3  Capital risk

3.3.1 Capital risk management

Capital management and capital adequacy at 
UCI Group seeks to ensure solvency and pro-
fit maximization, while meeting internal capital 
targets and regulatory requirements. It is a key 
strategic tool for decision-making at corporate 
level.

The Group's capital management activities 
include:

- Setting solvency and capital contribution tar-
gets aligned with minimum regulatory require-
ments and internal policies in order to ensure a 
sound level of capital consistent with our risk 
profile, and an efficient use of capital to maxi-
mise shareholder value.

- Develop a capital plan to deliver on these ob-
jectives consistent with the strategic plan. Ca-
pital planning is an essential part of the imple-
mentation of the three-year strategic plan.

- Capital adequacy assessment to ensure that 
the capital plan is consistent with our risk profi-
le and the RAF also under stress scenarios.

- Internal capital reporting, as well as reporting 
to the supervisor and the market (ILAAP).

The development of the Group's capital func-
tion takes place at three levels:

Regulatory capital

Regulatory capital management is based on 
an analysis of the capital base, the solvency 
ratios under current regulatory criteria and the 
scenarios used in capital planning to make the 
capital structure as efficient as possible, both in 
terms of cost and compliance with regulatory 
requirements.

Economic capital

The economic capital model aims to ensure 
that we correctly allocate our capital to all risks 
to which we are exposed as a result of our bu-
siness and risk appetite. The aim is to optimise 
the Group's value creation.

Profitability and pricing

Create value and maximise profitability by care-
fully choosing the most appropriate strategies 
in terms of profitability while taking risk into ac-
count. That is why profitability and pricing are 
part of the key processes of the capital model.
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3.3.2 Key metrics

At UCI Group we have a capital position com-
mensurate with our business model, balan-
ce sheet structure, risk profile and regulatory 
requirements.

At the close of the year, the CET1 ratio was 
7.18%, higher the regulatory requirement of 7%. 
The increase of 2 bps in CET1 was thanks to the 
EUR 60 million capital increase, which asserts 
our shareholders' commitment to the bank. 
The growth in RWA, supported by an appropria-
te management and the recovery in the pace of 
securitisations, also contributed to the stability 
of the indicator.

AT1 (Additional Tier 1) represents 1.49% made 
up entirely of contingent convertible bonds or 
CoCos, i.e., hybrid issues with both debt and 
equity elements. Its main feature is that it can 
be converted into shares or equity if the CET1 
capital ratio falls below a certain level. The CET1 
ratio is therefore 8.67%, exceeding the regula-
tory requirement of 7%. Tier2, made up of su-
bordinated debt, stands at 1.91%.

As a result, the total capital ratio at year-end 
2021 stood at 10.57%, over and above the mini-
mum regulatory requirement of 10.5%, ensuring 
a solid capital base and complying with the mi-
nimum regulatory ratios.

At the date of preparation of this report, a ca-
pital increase of €100m, an additional issue of 
€22m of AT1 and an increase of €45m in su-
bordinated debt were carried out in order to 
strengthen the levels of solvency and to attain 
the proposed objectives.

3.4 Liquidity and funding risk

3.4.1 Liquidity and funding risk 
management

We measure liquidity risk through various tools 
and metrics that cover the different risk factors 

that fall within this risk. The objective is to have 
a minimum of liquid assets and a funding struc-
ture that satisfies the legal nature and business 
model.

Our funding plan consists mainly of issuing fi-
nancial instruments in the capital markets (se-
curitisation funds), credit lines with sharehol-
ders, own funds and external repo lines.

With respect to securitisations, the Entity has 
more than 25 years of experience and since 
2015 has placed a total of 10 transactions with 
external investors under its Prado programme 
in Spain and Belem in Portugal.

The development of the financing plan begins 
with the transactions through the implementa-
tion of responsible lending and purchasing po-
licies. These ensure the credit risk quality stan-
dards required by investors and rating agencies 
in the securitisation fund issues, which include 
criteria of charges on income and minimum 
personal contribution, among others. In turn, 
the commercial policy promotes the sale of 
an attractive range of simple, transparent and 
standardised products, free of scalability or op-
tions; these include different types of insuran-
ce sold without attachment to the Entity.

Regarding the terms and conditions of the is-
sues, the UCI Group complies with the stan-
dards published by the regulator ESMA in 2017, 
on simplicity, transparency and standardisation 
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(STS compliant) and with the Capital Require-
ments Regulation (CRR). In terms of structu-
ring, it also incorporates mechanisms to protect 
the senior tranche placed with investors, such 
as the step-up call on year 5, turbo amortisa-
tion, interest rate risk hedging and limits on the 
renegotiation of loan terms. Together, these all 
contribute to improving the Bank's funding ca-
pacity in the markets.

We have also developed an ESG framework 
that has enabled us to engage with internatio-
nal entities such as the European Investment 
Bank (EIB) to raise funding, through lending un-
der Green standards.

In addition to securitisations, we have develo-
ped an active policy of using collateral for fun-
ding purposes through repos on our own bonds 
issues. This requires for collaboration with enti-
ties other than the shareholders. 

We use the income generated by the business 
on a recurring basis to first fund new business 
activity and then use any surplus liquidity to 
reduce our exposure to the shareholders’ lines 
of credit, while ensuring balanced compliance 
with the prudential obligations.

At year-end 2021, no specific liquidity regula-
tion applies to the entity and therefore, in line 
with best market practices, we have developed 
internal indicators based on the regulatory indi-
cators for risk management.

• STRL (Short Term Liquidity Ratio): based on 
the Basel III regulatory framework. It aims to 
promote the short-term resilience of the bank's 
risk profile by ensuring the availability of liquid 
assets to withstand a significant stress scena-
rio (internal and market) for 30 calendar days. 
The risk appetite in relation to this indicator has 
been set by the board of directors at 100%.

• LTLR (Long Term Liquidity Ratio): based on 
the Basel III regulatory framework. This metric 
requires maintaining a stable funding profile 
in relation to the composition of its assets and 
off-balance sheet activities. In this case, the 
risk appetite sets the minimum level of the ra-
tio at 55%.

We have lines of credit with the shareholders 
(Santander and BNP Paribas), which are re-
viewed at least once a year and at the same 
time with both shareholders, to adapt them to 
the needs of the business within the framework 
of the Entity's liquidity policy and structure. For 
assets not refinanced through securitisations 
placed on the market, we manage refinancing 
through these lines of credit: The branches in 
Portugal and Greece are funded directly throu-
gh their parent company in Spain.

3.4.2 Key metrics

The amount of draw-downs from the credit li-
nes fell by 8.73% in 2021 (4.35% in 2020), exce-
eding the target set in the strategic plan which 

aims to gradually increase funding autonomy.
The STLR measures the bank's resilience to a 
liquidity crisis in the short term (30 days) throu-
gh high quality assets. At 31 December 2021, 
the STLR stood at 587%.

The internal long-term liquidity ratio (LTLR), 
which complements the STLR, measures the 
institution's resilience to a liquidity crisis in the 
long term (1 year), i.e., the assurance that long-
term assets are funded by at least a minimum 
of stable liabilities commensurate with its liqui-
dity risk profiles. As at 31 December 2021, the 
LTRL ratio stood at 52.81%.

3.5 Market risk

3.5.1 Market risk management

Thus, the Entity's exposure to market risk is 
mainly determined by the existence of fore-
closed assets in payment of debt classified as 
"Available for sale". Variations in home prices 
have a direct impact on the Entity's balance 
sheet and on the valuation of assets, which is 
reflected in the profit & loss account.

Any self-subscribed and retained bonds will 
remain on the balance sheet to maturity. Con-
sequently, market price fluctuations would not 
imply any market risk.
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The Entity's hedging derivatives are treated as 
cash flow hedging instruments designed to he-
dge liabilities against interest rate fluctuations, 
and are within the regulatory limits for hedge 
accounting. 

Therefore, the variations in the price of these 
instruments in the market do not have any mar-
ket risk since they are classified as "Held-to-ma-
turity investment portfolio". 
 
3.5.2 Key metrics

The marketing of foreclosed assets continues 
to yield positive results. In 2021, capital gains 
amounted to EUR 8.1, compared to EUR 7.3 mi-
llion in 2020. 

The coverage ratio of foreclosed real estate as-
sets in payment of debt stood at 28.9% (25.1% 
if we include leased foreclosed assets) at the 
close of 2021 against 27.5% (24.4% if we inclu-
de leased foreclosed assets) in 2020.

3.6  Operational risk

3.6.1 Operational risk management

The objective of operational risk control and 
management focuses on the identification, 
measurement, assessment, control, mitigation 
and reporting of this risk. Operational risk inclu-

des ICT risk, compliance and conduct risk and 
model risk.

The priority is to identify and eliminate pockets 
of risk, regardless of whether or not losses have 
been incurred. Measurement also contributes 
to the prioritisation of operational risk mana-
gement. Operational risk is inherent to all pro-
ducts, activities, processes and systems, and 
is generated in all business and support areas.  
For this reason, all employees are responsible 
for managing and controlling the operational 
risks that are found in their scope of work. 

The Standard Approach (SA) is applied to mi-
nimum capital requirement declarations, esta-
blishing the mechanisms necessary to comply 
with the requirements specified in the ECB’s 
“Guide for applying the SA to determine equity 
for operational risk”.

With regard to operational risk, the organisatio-
nal model adopted by the UCI Group, based on 
the three lines of defence, defines the following 
independent pillars or levels of responsibility:

• Business and support functions. They are res-
ponsible for identifying, assessing, managing, 
monitoring and reporting on the operational ris-
ks of their activity.

• Operational risk function. This function is in 
charge of defining the methodology and solu-
tions to identify, measure, control and correctly 

manage the Group's operational risk and, addi-
tionally, control its correct deployment. It helps 
the business and support functions and conso-
lidates information on the operational risks of 
the entire Group for reporting to senior mana-
gement and the risk management committees 
involved.

• Internal audit function. In relation to operatio-
nal risk, this is the area responsible for reviewing 
compliance with the established operational 
risk identification, measurement, control and 
management model.

The operational risk function analyses, reports 
and advises the business and support func-
tions on the best way to assess operational risk. 
Its day-to-day responsibility falls on different 
areas and departments of the Entity. They have 
lines of communication with the operational 
risk function to obtain information and imple-
ment actions, as the case may be, in order to 
manage the risk. The interaction between the 
operational risk function and the rest of the 
areas and departments is defined by the mana-
ger in charge.
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During the 2021 fiscal year, the Entity has veri-
fied operational risk events amounting to EUR 
0.81 million, compared to EUR 3.43 million in 
2020, which breakdown as follows:

3.6.2 Key metrics

Independently of the previous calculation, ins-
titutions applying the Basic Indicator Approach 
will have to record operational risk losses of 
more than €1 million or 0.5% of their equity, re-
porting among other things, the type of opera-
tional risk event. 

In the course of 2021, UCI Group has not identi-
fied specific operational risk events that breach 
either the €1 million threshold or 0.5% of equity.

During the year, COVID-19 related loss events 
have been identified as:

•  One-off additional costs, related to the in-
creased use of digital services and teleworking 
to ensure business continuity.

•   Costs arising from work related practices and 
workplace safety, which have been necessary 
for business continuity purposes. These inclu-
de staffing/consultants to cover essential func-
tions, one-off COVID-19 disinfections and me-
dical services for risk prevention. 

Capital requirements linked to operational risk 
amounted to EUR 19.3 million at year-end.

The change from BIA to SA has saved the ins-
titution EUR 0.2 million in equity in 2021, com-
pared to EUR €4.1 million in 2020.

3.7 Reputational Risk

3.7.1 Reputational risk management

Reputational risk is the risk arising from all the 
perceptions and opinions that the different 
stakeholders have about the company. It is 
associated with changes in perception of the 
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Group or its brands on the part of stakeholders, 
where an action, event or situation may nega-
tively or positively impact the reputation of the 
organisation.

The reputational risk management model is ba-
sed on an eminently preventive approach, but 
also on crisis management processes. So, risk 
management encompasses both business and 
support activities.

Management of reputational risk is carried out 
considering two fundamental variables, namely 
corporate reputation and specific reputational 
risks that affect the company's operations. It in-
cludes reputational risks resulting from external 
and operational factors, from compliance and 
conduct issues as well as ICT risks.

This risk is particularly linked to the complian-
ce function, given the strong reputational im-
pact from potential sanctions, economic or 
otherwise, or being subject to other types of 
disciplinary measures by supervisory bodies. It 
also includes conduct risk, which seeks to me-
asure and manage the risks of harm to stake-
holders and to market integrity. Likewise, it is 
closely linked to the risk of money laundering 
and financing of terrorism, the risk of any eco-
nomic, administrative or even criminal dama-
ges caused from using the financial system for 
money laundering activities or the financing of 
criminal organisations, including those linked to 
terrorism.

During the risk management process, if the ris-
ks are identified as having negative economic 
impacts, the objective will be to reduce any re-
lated costs; if they are seen as opportunities, 
the focus will be on increasing the investment 
associated with the risk.

3.7.2 Key metrics

Key metrics for this risk show a high degree of 
customer satisfaction. The eKomi certification, 
a unique platform where consumers share real 
shopping experiences, yielded a score of 9.8 
out of 10 at year-end. The Google My Business 
tool provided by Google to help businesses ma-
nage their online presence scored 4.8 out of 5 
with around 1000 reviews. On the other hand, 
UCI's monitoring of the media indicates that 
94% of the comments on social media have 
been made with a positive sentiment. 

Finally, our materiality matrix, which aims to 
identify and prioritise the key issues for the 
company from a business and stakeholder 
perspective, shows that there is a high degree 
of alignment between delivery of stakeholder 
expectations and the material issues set for 
2021

Based on the analysed information, following 
UCI's strategy and key industry trends on sus-
tainability, the material topics have been clas-
sified according to their relationship with ESG 
criteria (Environment, Society and Governance).

3.8  Strategic risk

3.8.1 Strategic risk management

Strategic risk is defined as the loss or damage 
resulting from strategic decisions, or from their 
faulty implementation, that affect the long-
term interests of our key stakeholders, or an in-
ability to adapt to changes in the environment.

The company’s business model is a key com-
ponent of strategic risk. Potential current and 
future impact on results or on capital can ari-
se from adverse business decisions, a mis-
taken application of strategic decisions or 
from the inability to respond to changes in the 
environment.

The management of strategic risk is transver-
sal across the entire company and stems from 
other risks whose origin may be non-strategic 
but can still entail a significant impact on the 
company’s business model and strategy.

The analysis of the strategic risk distinguishes 
between three individual risks:

- Business model risk: this is the risk associated 
with the entity's business model. It includes, 
among others, the risk of growing obsolete, be-
coming irrelevant and/or losing value to deliver 
on the desired results.
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- Strategy design risk: is the risk associated with 
the strategy as reflected in the Group's long-
term strategic plan (including the risk that the 
plan itself is inadequate), or the assumptions 
made therein, which could result in the failure 
to achieve the expected results.

- Strategy execution risk: is the risk linked with 
the implementation of the three-year financial 
plan, including potential impacts due to both 
internal and external factors, potential lack of 
responsiveness to changes in the business en-
vironment and risks associated with corporate 
development operations.

Strategic risk will be analysed by looking at the 
correct definition of the business model and of 
the strategy, together with their transposition in 
identifying priorities and strategic lines, linked 
to selecting the projects that are taken forward 
in order to reach the strategic goals set and ro-
lled out in functional plans.

Assessing the efficiency and efficacy of each 
activity in the process, and its degree of com-
munication, will help determine the company’s 
exposure to strategic risk.

3.8.2 Key metrics

The entity closed the 2021 financial year with a 
net income of EUR 29.5 million euros, or 246% 
above the target defined in the annual strate-
gic plan. The cost-to-income ratio stands at 

34.15%, a good performance allowing the en-
tity to be comfortably below the established 
threshold.

Moreover, the front book’s RoE, for which a mi-
nimum value has been set at 10.5%, stood at 
12.68% in 2021, consolidating the acceleration 
of the UCI group's global activity.
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In financial year 2021, the UCI Group applied 
the financial reporting framework established 
by the rules applicable to Credit Financial Es-
tablishments in Spain, the accounts being de-
termined by Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019 of 
26 November. Until the financial year 2019, in 
compliance with the regulations applicable to 
the Group for its corporate accounts, it applied 
the criteria established in Circular 4/2004. In 
2020, the Group will apply Bank of Spain Cir-
cular 4/2019, which includes the same ac-
counting criteria that Spanish credit institutions 
have been applying since 2018, in application of 
Circular 4/2017, which transferred to Spain the 
European accounting framework comprising 
the International Financial Reporting Standards 
adopted in the European Union (EU-IFRS).

At year-end 2021, as explained in point 2.1 of 
these notes to the consolidated financial state-
ments, the UCI Group changed its accounting 
criteria, essentially in relation to aspects linked 
to the classification of loans and receivables. 
Consequently, in accordance with Rule 17 of 
Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, the Group has 
restated and adjusted the opening and closing 
balance sheets as if these criteria had always 
been applied. Unless otherwise stated, the 
comparisons and variations between 2020 and 
2021 detailed in the body of this management 
report refer to changes in the amounts after 
these adjustments.  

1. Economic Environment
The year 2021 has been marked by the pro-
longation of the health crisis generated by the 
covid-19 pandemic, and the correction of the 
adjustments that occurred in 2020 in econo-
mic activity in general. After the sharp econo-
mic slowdown in the world economy in 2020, 
with a decline in world GDP of 4.4% according 
to the IMF, the second year of decline since the 
beginning of the series in 1960, and close to 
the 5.1% drop experienced between 2008 and 
2009, the world economy experienced growth 
of +5.9% in 2021, double the pace in 2019, the 
last pre-covid-19 year.

In the markets where UCI operates, the impact 
has also been very significant, although the 
starting point was lower as the contractions 
experienced in 2020 were greater: after a de-
cline of 4.4% in 2020, the EU economy grew by 
4.8% according to Eurostat estimates, and the 
euro zone by 4.6% after -5.1% in 2020. Despi-
te significant growth over 2021, both in Spain 
(+5.2%) and Portugal (+5.8%), these two econo-
mies have yet to reach the levels they knew in 
2019. On the other hand, the Greek economy 
had grown by 13.4% year-on-year by September 
2021, reaching the 2019 level at that date.

The Spanish residential real estate market in 
2021 compensated in 2021 for the declines ex-
perienced in the uncertainty phase of the first 
year of the pandemic: after an overall decline 

of 2.2% over the whole of 2020, prices grew by 
4.4% until the 4th quarter of 2021 according to 
the index of the Ministry of Public Works.

After a year 2020 marked by 3 months of al-
most full confinement, which contributed to 
a 17% decline in the volume of housing sales 
compared to 2019, the housing market regai-
ned an upward trend, with sales 34.7% higher 
than the 2020 level by units, and thus by 11% 
compared to the 2019 total.

2. Commercial Activity 
Loans to Customers
The difficult healthcare environment, with its 
social and economic implications, has defined 
the scope of UCI's activities since the second 
quarter of 2020, regarding its customers, its 
employees and all its stakeholders in general. 
The 2021 financial year brought marked chan-
ges in the regulatory and social framework of 
the countries in which UCI operates. The Group 
has constantly sought to adapt its working en-
vironment as best as possible to these suc-
cessive changes. This volatility has not altered 
the level of commitment and satisfaction of its 
employees: UCI confirmed in 2021 the valuable 
Great Place to Work certification, obtained for 
the first time in June 2020, with even higher 
levels of adherence. The high levels of servi-
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ce quality perceived by customers were also 
maintained in this challenging environment, 
with ratings of over 9.5 out of 10 on Ekomi and 
over 4.5 out of 5 on Google.  

All this was compatible with the consolidation 
of the increase in commercial activity in 2021: 
the cumulative production of new mortgage 
loans by UCI, EFC, in 2021 amounted to €892 
million, 14% higher than the €785 million for-
malised in 2020. However, the year saw two 
different rates of growth. Up to June 2021, the 
increase in production was 35.6% compared to 
the first half of 2020, which had been weighed 
down by the second quarter's confinement. In 
the second half of 2021, activity was only 8% hi-
gher than in the first half of 2021.

Activity remained buoyant in Spain, where UCI, 
EFC formalised 707 million new operations 
(+15.6%/2020) with increases in both the pro-
fessional channel (+28.5%) and the direct chan-
nel, operating under the hipotecas.com brand 
(+1.7%). Portugal, with 185 million, grew 7.1% 
over 2020.  

The strategic axes of the commercial offer 
of UCI, EFC in Spain have been maintained 
in 2021, with the emphasis on the strategy of 
responsible lending and sustainability, which in 
financial terms has found its translation in the 
high weight of fixed or mixed rate production 
with a first period at long fixed rate: 79%, after 
the level of 81% in 2020.

In both Spain and Portugal, the proportion of fi-
nancial consultants in commercial activity has 
remained in the majority, with 73% in 2020 and 
83% in 2021 (81% in Spain and 89% in Portugal).

In Greece, the portfolio of UCI, EFC, assigned 
since 2018 to UCI, EFC Spain, is managed by 
the Group company UCI Hellas LMS, a wholly 
owned subsidiary of UCI SA, with an asset ma-
nagement licence granted by the Bank of 
Greece.

The global loan portfolio managed over the 
three countries coincides as of March 2021 
with the investment recorded in Unión de Cré-
ditos Inmobiliarios, SA, EFC, the main company 
of the UCI Group, following the cancellation of 
the UCI 9 securitisation fund, whose residual 
assets, after exercising the clean-up call, have 
been reincorporated in the balance sheet of 
this company. The outstanding portfolio mana-
ged by the UCI Group stood at EUR 10,670 mi-
llion at the end of 2021,

The portfolio in Spain at the end of 2021 stood 
at 9,287 million being almost stable with res-
pect to the balance sheet at the end of 2020 
(+0.2%), while the portfolio in Portugal, 1,197 mi-
llion, increased by +1.7% and the portfolio of UCI 
in Greece, managed by UCI Hellas LMS, whose 
balance is structurally decreasing, as there is no 
new production, with 190 million decreased by 
-6.4%.

3. Gross Margin

With respect to 2020, the consolidated gross 
margin obtained by the Group after restate-
ment of the 2020 accounts stood at 149.5 
million euros, a decline of 9.0% (-12.1 million) 
compared to 2020. In the absence of restate-
ment, the decline would have been 3.9% (6.2 
million).

The main component of the decline has been 
the absence of restructuring operations of UCI 
EFC's liabilities due to the secondary market 
purchase of asset-backed securities. Income 
was 9.4 million in 2020 against zero in 2021. 
Net of this point, the variation after restatement 
is a decrease of 5.1 million after restatement of 
the 2020 accounts, and an increase of 3.2 mi-
llion in the absence of restatement.

The restatement process of the 2020 accounts 
has implied the recognition of income genera-
ted by doubtful assets net of hedging in the 
years 2020 and 2021. This amount has been 
reduced by 0.6 million euros between the res-
tated 2020 and 2021 accounts. On the other 
hand, in the absence of restatement of the 
accounts, the full amount would have been re-
cognised in 2021 for 7.8 million euros.

In addition, the accrual of income and expenses 
generated in the formalisation has experien-
ced under both approaches a decrease of 3.3 
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million euros between 2020 and 2021, which 
constitutes the third component of the margin 
variation between 2020 and 2021 under the 
two accounting approaches.

UCI continued to finance its activity through 
its securitisation programme in Spain, granting 
loans to the securitisation funds Prado VIII in 
May and Prado IX in October, which together 
generated a cash-in of 857 million euros, wi-
thout considering the 51 million euros that the 
company has subscribed with these securiti-
sation funds to be used as collateral for future 
repo transactions. In addition, UCI exercised 
the clean-up call on the securitisation funds 
UCI 9 and UCI 10, which resulted in a joint dis-
bursement of 157 million euros, and also exerci-
sed the step-up call on the Prado II and III funds, 
which represented a joint disbursement of 480 
million euros.

At the same time, the two Investment Grade 
ratings that the subsidiary UCI, EFC has with 
the agencies Fitch and DBRS have enabled it to 
carry out repo transactions (repurchase agree-
ments), with counterparties outside the sha-
reholder groups, using as collateral asset-bac-
ked securities backed by company loans for an 
amount of around 514 million euros at the end 
of 2021.

In 2022, the UCI Group, through UCI EFC, plans 
to continue to develop its financing autonomy 
under conditions that enable it to maintain the 

competitiveness of its commercial offer and 
the expected growth in the production of new 
loans, both in Spain and Portugal.

4. General cost

In 2021, the UCI Group's expenses, excluding 
commissions paid to intermediaries, amounted 
to 49.6 million, an increase of 1.8 million (+3.8%) 
from the level in 2020, when a refund of undue 
income of 2.4 million had been received from 
the Portuguese tax authorities. Excluding this 
amount, UCI Group's overheads decreased in 
2021 by 0.5 million (-1.0%). These figures have 
not been affected by the restatement process 
of the 2020 accounts.

The Group's headcount ended the year at 652 
employees, a reduction of 27 compared to the 
end of 2020.
 
The Group's average headcount for the finan-
cial year 2021 is set at 652 employees, which is 
27 fewer than the average for the financial year 
2020.

The 2021 efficiency ratio stood at 34.5%, re-
presenting a decrease of 0.4%, in the restated 
2020 accounts, without considering the ex-
traordinary items in 2020 (impact of the lia-
bility repurchase operations, nor the one-off 
return of revenues in Portugal in 2020). Under 

the accounting criteria in force in 2020, the de-
crease would have been 2.2%.

5. Defaults and Hedging

The entry into force on 1 January 2020 for 
Credit Financial Institutions of Bank of Spain 
Circular 4/2019, which transferred to Spani-
sh SCIs the European accounting framework 
comprising the International Financial Repor-
ting Standards adopted in the European Union 
(EU-IFRS), had led to substantial changes in 
the classification of the Group's loan portfolio, 
in the calculation of impairment provisions and 
in the valuation of the associated collateral.

In addition, following the criteria of its regula-
tors regarding the accounting classification of 
portfolios, in 2021 the UCI Group has chan-
ged its accounting criteria, which is why this 
report presents information with and without 
restatement of the balance sheet and income 
statement.

In turn, the outbreak of the pandemic in 2020 
and its permanence in 2021 have meant, in the 
three countries in which the Group manages 
loan portfolios, the application of public, sec-
torial and private moratoriums, which UCI has 
formalised with its customers, according to the 
criteria established by the competent authori-
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ties of the respective countries, with these mo-
ratoriums ending during the financial year 2021.

Regarding the loan portfolio, the NPL ratio of 
the assets managed by the company, excluding 
subjective doubtful assets, continued to fall, 
standing at 7.82% at the end of 2021 compared 
to 8.34% at the end of 2020 based on restated 
accounts. This decrease reflects a decrease in 
the non-performing loans balance of 56 million, 
generalised in the three countries: 52 million in 
Spain, 3 million in Portugal, and 1 million in the 
Greek portfolio. The reduction in the non-per-
forming loan balance over the 2020-2021 bien-
nium occurred despite the economic crisis 
caused by the pandemic and the slowdown in 
judicial activity, as a result of the confinements 
and the measures to protect the most vulnera-
ble customers adopted in the three countries. 
The reduction in the NPL ratio of 0.52% would 
have been very similar, 0.55% in the absence of 
the restatement of the 2020 accounts.

The subjective doubtful balance, after the 
change of accounting criteria, ended the year 
at 880 million euros, 8.2% of the total balance: 
831 million in Spain, 3.3 in Portugal, and 46 in 
Greece. These levels represent an increase of 
EUR 368 million compared to the end of 2020 
before the change of criteria: 330 million euros 
in Spain, 1 million euros in Portugal and 38 mi-
llion euros in Greece.

However, based on the restated accounts, 
drawn up by retroactively applying the new ac-
counting criteria, the subjective doubtful balan-
ce is 1290 million at the end of 2020, having 
therefore been reduced by 410 million based 
on the Group's new criteria during the financial 
year 2021. The overall doubtful assets ratio is 
therefore reduced from 20.4% to 16.1% during 
2021, while it would have increased from 13.1% 
at the end of 2020 in the absence of restate-
ment of the 2020 accounts.

Provisions for loan losses were determined ba-
sed on the internal model under IFRS 9. Howe-
ver, in application of the principle of prudent 
valuation, the Group has chosen to provision its 
portfolio of subjective doubtful loans based on 
the alternative solution defined by its Circular 
4/2019.

Loan loss provisions for the entire loan portfo-
lio amounted to 362 million euros at year-end 
2021, a reduction of 26 million euros compared 
to the levels recognised in 2020 prior to the 
change in accounting policy and 70 million eu-
ros compared to the restated 2020 accounts. 
Overall, provisions for bad debt risk hedges, los-
ses not covered by hedges and legal expenses 
decreased from 143 million euros in 2020 to 
euros 38 million in 2021 following the change in 
accounting policy, and from 134 million euros to 
83 million euros in the absence of the restate-
ment of the 2020 accounts.

Loan loss provisions for the entire loan portfolio 
amounted to 362 million euros at year-end 2021, 
a reduction of 26 million euros compared to the 
levels recognised in 2020 prior to the change in 
accounting policy and 70 million euros compared 
to the restated 2020 accounts. Overall, provi-
sions for bad debt risk hedges, losses not covered 
by hedges and legal expenses decreased from 
143 million euros in 2020 to 38 million euros in 
2021 following the change in accounting policy, 
and from 134 million euros to 83 million euros 
in the absence of the restatement of the 2020 
accounts.

Foreclosed asset sales maintained strong activity 
despite the pandemic, and for the fourth conse-
cutive year, generated a positive impact (8.1mi-
llion euros after 7.3 million euros in 2020) on 
the income statement for the year, as a result of 
the high levels of provisions for these assets, as 
well as the good performance of the real estate 
market.

The coverage ratio of doubtful exposures, fo-
llowing the change in accounting policy and the 
restatement of the 2020 accounts, has remained 
broadly stable from 18.3% to 18.5%. Within this po-
pulation, the coverage of the portfolio 90 days or 
more past due on the company's balance sheet 
has decreased from 33.3% to 29.6%, reflecting 
the positive impact of the results of the recovery 
teams, the good performance of the real estate 
market and the improved expectations for 2020.
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The Group's transitional properties classified 
as available-for-sale assets stood at the end of 
2021 at a value net of provisions of 225.2 mi-
llion euros, compared to 263.4 million euros at 
the end of 2020. This decrease is the result of 
good results in the marketing of foreclosed pro-
perties, both for sale and lease.

The Real Estate Marketing Network in Spain 
managed the marketing of 1,066 properties 
owned by the Group (+14% on 2020), having 
helped 216 customers in payment difficulties 
in the marketing of their properties (+51%).

With a net balance of its transitory properties 
at minimum levels, 1.8 million euros, Portugal's 
stock has been reduced by 26% compared to 
2020, in line with the trend of recent years. In 
Greece, the foreclosed assets portfolio has re-
mained at very low levels: 0.8 million euros.

In 2022, the Group plans to maintain its strate-
gy of responsible collection, compatible with a 
clear focus on reducing doubtful assets, both in 
the most aggravated portfolio, as well as those 
customers who, without being in a situation of 
default, have payment difficulties or are subject 
to moratoriums or temporary reductions in the 
amount of their instalments. And finally, conso-
lidate the good results and positive economic 
impact of the real estate marketing activity.

6. Consolidated Results

The UCI Group has recognised, after restate-
ment of the 2020 accounts, a net positive re-
sult of 29.5 million euros in 2021 against net 
losses of 30.5 million euros in 2020. In the ab-
sence of restatement of the 2020 accounts, 
the 2021 positive result would have been 1.7 
million euros after losses of 25.7 million euros 
in 2020.

The trends are similar for the different results of 
the main subsidiary Unión de Créditos Inmobi-
liarios, SA, EFC: it recorded, after restatement 
of the 2020 accounts, a positive result after 
tax of 34.4 million euros, compared to a loss 
of 30.0 million euros in 2020. In the absence 
of restatement, the 2021 positive result would 
have been 6.6 million euros, and the 2020 loss 
would have been 24.9 million euros.

Retama Real Estate (UCI Group's asset mana-
gement company) reduced its negative result 
for the third consecutive year to -1.3 million eu-
ros, following a loss of -1.5 million euros in 2020.

UCI SPPI recorded its sixth profitable year (167 
thousand euros) after 66 thousand euros in 
2020, following the company's business reo-
rientation in 2015.

Both Comprarcasa Portugal and UCI LMS in 
Greece closed for the fourth consecutive year 

with positive figures, respectively 8 and 81 
thousand euros.

7. Risks and uncertainties

Regarding the main risks and uncertainties, we 
note the following:

• Credit risk: due to the nature of the UCI 
Group's retail business and the large dispersion 
derived from it, the risks arising from the cre-
dit balance and the real estate portfolio do not 
present significant concentrations in relation to 
the Group's level of shareholders' equity.

• Market risk: the Group is subject to the finan-
cial, mortgage and real estate markets in the 
countries in which it operates, which have evol-
ved favourably. The pandemic that appeared at 
the beginning of 2020 has not generated signi-
ficant unfavourable impacts to date. As of the 
date of this document, the impacts arising from 
the armed conflict that began on 24 February 
2022 in the Republic of Ukraine are difficult to 
identify and quantify. 

• Operational risk: operational risks essentially 
fall within the risk systems of Unión de Crédi-
tos Inmobiliarios, S.A., EFC, as they have the 
same facilities, the same computer servers and 
the same levels of access and security to the 
systems. Within the framework of the manage-
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ment of the UCI Group's equity, operational risk 
has a consumption of 19.3 million euros, almost 
all of which corresponds to the company Unión 
de Créditos Inmobiliarios, EFC. The equivalent 
figure was 20.3 million in 2020.

• Litigation risk: in 2021, UCI continued to ma-
nage legal proceedings for claims for annul-
ment of clauses, the most relevant grounds 
being the arrangement fees, the arrangement 
fee and the portfolio indexed to the IRPH ben-
chmark.  In relation to the first two grounds, the 
CJEU is pending a decision on the preliminary 
questions raised by the Supreme Court on the 
statute of limitations for the return of arrange-
ment fees and the arrangement fee. Regarding 
the IRPH, it is worth highlighting the favourable 
rulings that have occurred in 2021 both in Spain 
and in the CJEU.

During 2021, the average payment period to 
UCI suppliers was 15 days, within the legally es-
tablished period of 60 days. Given the activity 
in which the Company engages, there are no 
relevant issues of an environmental nature.

No investments in research and development 
were recorded during the year, although the 
Group continues to develop IT systems as 
part of innovation plans, which for reasons of 
prudence have been recorded under general 
expenses.

There were no acquisitions of treasury shares 
during the financial year 2021.

Subsequent to year-end, on 24 January 2022, 
the company received a communication from 
its supervisor, the Bank of Spain, within the fra-
mework of the SREP process. This communi-
cation established under Pillar II a P2R level of 
2% as a supplement to the solvency level requi-
red for the company and its subsidiary Unión de 
Créditos Inmobiliarios, S.A, EFC, as well as an 
additional P2G level.

As a result, the parent company UCI, SA pro-
ceeded to a capital increase of 100 million 
euros on 3 March and a subordinated debt is-
sue of 45 million euros on 24 March, both is-
sues having been subscribed by the company's 
shareholders in proportion to their stake in the 
company. In addition, the Board of Directors of 
UCI, S.A. on 24 February agreed the principle of 
issuance by the company of Contingently Con-
vertible Bonds for 22 million, and their full subs-
cription by its shareholders, during the second 
quarter of 2022.

8. Equity and Solvency 
Ratios

RDL 309/2020 of 11 February 2020 stipulated 
that the prudential regulations for credit institu-

tions, in particular Regulation 575/2013 of the 
European Union (CRR), would generally apply 
to financial credit institutions. This regulation 
therefore came into force for the UCI Group 
on 1 July 2020, leading to a first solvency sta-
tement for 31 December 2020. This regulation 
included, on the one hand, a change in the level 
of solvency required under Pillar I: the percen-
tage to which weighted average assets were 
subject was raised from 8% on 30 June 2020 
to 10.50% as of 30 June 2020. It also included 
credit institutions in the scope of the SREP su-
pervisory mechanism, under the supervision of 
Banco de España.

Under this mechanism, as explained in the 
previous point regarding events occurring af-
ter year-end, the UCI Group and its subsidiary 
Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios have seen their 
own funds requirements revised upwards, in 
application of Pillar 2 (as communicated by 
their regulator, BdE), by incorporating a P2R of 
2%, as well as an additional P2G.

At the end of 2021, the Group followed the re-
quirements to which it was subject: with a sol-
vency ratio of 10.57%, exceeding the minimum of 
10.50% by 4.1 million euros. A year earlier, the ratio 
was 10.66%, and the Group was 14.9 million eu-
ros above the same minimum. If the result of the 
financial year 2021 after restatement of the 2020 
accounts had been computed at that date, the ra-
tio at the end of 2021 would have been 11.19% and 
the surplus would have been 33.5 million.
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Tier 1 book equity stood at 477.4 million at the 
end of 2021 without incorporating the result for 
the year, i.e., 9.27% of the Group's risk-weighted 
assets. This level includes, as at the end of the 
previous financial year, 82 million contingent-
ly convertible bonds. Of the balance of 395.4 
million euros, 60 million euros came from a 
capital increase of UCI, SA, contributed propor-
tionally by its two shareholder groups, dated 22 
December 2021. In addition, the UCI Group had 
104.7 million euros of Tier2 capital, represen-
ting 1.90% of weighted assets.

Following the communication received from Pi-
llar 2 of its supervisor, UCI, SA has proceeded 
to issue new shares for an amount of 100 mi-
llion euros on 3 March 2022, and to issue new 
subordinated debt for an amount of 45 million 
euros on 24 March. After these operations, wi-
thout incorporating the 2021 result as equity, 
and assuming conservatively stable risk-wei-
ghted assets, the estimated solvency ratio at 
the end of March 2022 would be 12.99%, and 
10.26% based on Tier 1 capital alone. The incor-
poration of the 2021 result would bring these 
ratios to 13.53% and 10.80%. 

In addition, following the completion of the 22 
million euros issue of contingent convertible 
bonds approved by the Board of Directors of 
UCI, SA and currently being issued, which is ex-
pected to be completed before 30 June 2002, 
each ratio will see its value increased by 0.40% 
in absolute terms.

9. Group`s expected 
evolution

The health and economic context resulting 
from the pandemic interrupted the dynamism 
and improvement that the economies of the 
Iberian Peninsula had been experiencing since 
2015. However, the UCI Group overcame this 
environment, with its trading performance con-
tinuing to improve, while the markets' recep-
tion of the securitisation funds' transactions, 
originated on the back of loans assigned by UCI 
EFC, continued to be very well received. In qua-
litative terms, the Euronext Lisbon award for 
the best transaction in 2020 in the Sustainable 
Finance category and the achievement in 2020 
and confirmation in 2021 of the Great Place to 
Work certification underline the UCI Group's 
ability to adapt to the new environment.  

The environment in which UCI operates, espe-
cially the evolution of the real estate market, 
has not been significantly affected by the pan-
demic two years after its onset.

The UCI Group will continue to actively mana-
ge its business, maintaining a sustainable and 
responsible management model, focused on 
meeting the real needs of its customers, and on 
quality and transparency in all processes. In the 
commercial activity in Spain, as a complement 
to its presence in the real estate professional 

channel, it will continue to develop the direct 
channel, especially through its "hipotecas.com" 
brand. In terms of products, the priority will be 
to develop financial solutions for the refurbi-
shment and improvement of the energy effi-
ciency of individual homes and homeowners' 
associations, in line with the priorities of the EU 
and Spain in its 2030 agenda, making all this 
compatible with appropriate management of 
spreads, and continuing to develop autonomy 
in refinancing.

In portfolio management, customer satisfac-
tion, cross-selling, efficiency in the responsible 
recovery of defaulted transactions, compatible 
with a clear focus on the reduction of non-per-
forming assets, and the profitable divestment 
of foreclosed assets and cost control, will con-
tinue to be priorities.

UCI will continue to develop its refinancing po-
licy on the markets in 2022, through the contri-
bution of loans from its portfolio to the securiti-
sation funds issued with the collateral of these 
guarantees, as well as through other sources 
of financing, accessible with the two 'Invest-
ment Grade' ratings obtained in 2018 and 2019 
by the subsidiary UCI EFC with the agencies 
DBRS and Fitch respectively, as well as the ra-
ting obtained by the Group's holding company, 
UCI, SA, with the agency Fitch in 2019.
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10. Non-Financial 
Reporting Statement

By virtue of Law 11/2018, of 28 December of 
non-financial information and diversity, UCI 
Group has elaborated the consolidated non-fi-
nancial reporting statement related to 2020, 
which is included as a separate document at-
tached to the consolidated directors’ report of 
2020, as established on article 44 of the Com-
mercial Code.
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Historic Euribor 12 M -  IRPH - CPI Spain  
  



190 Annual Report 2021

NPL Coverage (Spain+Portugal+Greece)
 

  december17        december18          december19         december20        december21   

Total doubtful + foreclosed balance Esp+Ptg+Gre (> 3 months)
Loan loss provisions
Consolidated balance coverage rate
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% NPL´s (+90days) In balance Sheet 
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Spain: Nº REO HOMES: 
Tickets/Sales/Stock Property Adjudicated 
 

4,768

4,438
4,286

3,878

3,466

1,017
1,085 1,011

1,043  1,042 1,018 1,083 1,038

In Stock without rentals Stock rentals Sales
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Portugal: Nº REO HOMES: T
ickets/Sales/Stock Property Adjudicated 
 

In Stock without rentals Sales
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Coefficients of own resources 
UCI Group at 31/12/2021

36.7

529.9

8,643.4

40.2

1,829.3

334.9

1,463.4

458.4

9.6

8,762.6

471.3

447.2



CARTA 7.2. Independent Auditor's Report 
on the Consolidated Annual 
Accounts
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CARTA 7.3. Annual
accounts
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS ON 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 (Expressed in thousands of euros)

U.C.I., S.A. and Subsidiaries (UCI GROUP) 

ASSETS Note 2021 2020 (*)

Cash, cash balances in central Banks and other on-demand 
deposits
Cash
Other on-demand deposits

16 263,386

3
268,383

314,194

3
314,191

Financial assets held for trading

Trading derivatives 24

24,750

24,750

16,437

16,437

Financial assets not held for trading compulsorily measured 
ar fair value profit and loss
  Equity instruments  
  Debt securities
  Loans and advances

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit 
and loss
  Equity instruments  
  Debt securities
  Loans and advances

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
 global results:
  Debt securities 
  Loans and advances

-

-
-

-

-
-

Financial assets at amortized cost
  Debt securities 
  Loans and advances

17 10,367,855
-

10,367,855

10,260,537
-

10,260,537

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Note 2021 2020 (*)

Financial liabilities held for trading

  Derivatives 
  Short positions
  Deposits 

24

29,168

29,168
-
-

22,778

22,778
-
-

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
and loss - -

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Deposits

Deposits of credit institutions
Debt securities
Other financial liabilities

23 10,625,929

7,461,168

7,461,168
3,160,805

3,956

10,693,221

7,518,748

7,518,748
3,171,297

3,177

  Derivatives - hedge accounting 25 19,475 106,627

Provisions

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit 
obligations
Other non-current remunerations to employees 
Procedural matters and litigations for outstanding taxes 
Commitments and guarantees granted

26
  

14,414  

-

-
-

14,141

10,653

-

-
-
10,653

Tax liabilities
 Current tax liabilities
 Deferred tax liabilities

21 2,649
1,418

1,230

1,472
1,472
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ASSETS Note 2021 2020 (*)

Hedging derivatives 25 25 25

Changes in the fair value of hedged elements of a portfolio 
with hedge of the interest rate risk - -

Investments in join ventures and associates - -

Property, plant and equipment
Tangible assets
Property investments

19 128,809
8,186

120,623

124,389
7,815

116,574

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

20 2,777
-

2,777

2,368
-
2,368

Tax assets
Current tax assets
Deferred tax assets

21 92,645
4,594

88,051

137,823
6,064

131,759

Other assets
Insurance agreements linked to pensions
Inventories
Other assets 22

23,147
-
-
23,147

18,570
-
-
18,570

Non-current assets held for sale 18 224,02 261,845

TOTAL ASSETS 11,127,498 11,36,187

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY Note 2021 2020 (*)

Other liabilities 22 27,499 39,841

Liabilities included in disposable groups of elements 
classified as held for sale - -

 TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,719,134 10,874,592

EQUITY
Equity
Capital
  Paid
Share premium
Equity instruments issued other than capital
Other equity elements
Accumulated gains
Other reserves
Profit/(loss) for the period
Minus: Interim dividends

29

  

422,371
114,137
114,137

43,882
-
-

234,864
-
29,488
-

422,371
114,137
114,137

43,882
-
-

234,864
-

29,488
-

Other global accumulated results
Elements that will not be reclassified in results
Elements that could be reclassified in results

  Hedging of net investments in businesses abroad  
  Currency exchange 
  Hedging derivatives. Cash flow hedge reserve 
   Changes in the fair value of debt instruments measured at 
fair value through other global results 

28

(14,007)
-

(14,007)

-
-

(14,007)

-

(75,443)
-

(75,443)

-
-

(75,443)

-

TOTAL EQUITY 408,364 261,595

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11,127,498 11,136,187

Memorandum item
Contingent risks
Contingent commitments

32 -
33,267

-
22,452

(*) Presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. It should be noted that the balances have been restated with respect to those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1). The 
accompanying Notes 1 to 36 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet on 31 December 2021.
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U.C.I., S.A. and Subsidiaries (UCI GROUP)

CONSOLIDATED PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNTS CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED ON 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020 
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

Note 2021 2020 (*)

Income from interests
Financial assets at amortised cost
Derivatives - hedge accounting, interest rate risk 
Other assets
(Expenses from interests)

33

34

188,893
171,090

17,516
287

51,129

215,755
182,137
15,873
17,745
76,20

INTEREST MARGIN 137,764 139,735

Income from dividends 
Income from commissions 
(Expenses for commissions)
Profit or (-) loss when writin g off financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit and loss, net
 Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Profit or (-) loss for financial assets and liabilities held for trading, net 
Profit or (-) loss for financial assets and liabilities held for negotiation, net 
Profit or (-) loss for financial assets not held for trading compulsorily measured at fair value through profit and loss, net
Profit or (-) loss for financial assets and liabilities designated at fair value through profit and loss, net 
Profit or (-) loss for financial assets and liabilities not held for trading, net 
Profit or (-) loss resulting from hedge accounting, net 
Exchange differences [profit or (-) loss], net 
Other operating income
Other operating expenses

-
12,567
(6,101)

-
-

(474)
-
-
-
-
-
-

5,768
-

-
9,814

(4,858)
9,446
9,446
(374)

-
-
-
-
-
-

7,899
-

GROSS MARGIN 149,524 161,662

Administration expenses
 Personnel costs 
 Other general administration expenses 
Amortisation
Provisions or (-) reversal of provisions
Impairment or (-) reversal of the impairment of financial assets not measured at fair value through profit and loss
 Financial assets at amortised cost 
 Financial assets at fair value through other global results

35
36

(79,267)
(33,948)
(45,319)
(6,923)

(732)
4,404
4,404

-

(83,449)
(34,179)

(49,270)
(6,007)

(735)
(94,719)
(94,719)

-

RESULTS FROM THE OPERATING ACTIVITY 67,006 (23,248)
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Note 2021 2020 (*)

Impairment or (-) reversal of the impairment of non-financial assets
 Property, plant and equipment
 Property investments
 Intangible assets
Others
Share of profit or (-) loss on investments in subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates accounted for using the equity method
Profit or (-) loss when writing off non-financial assets, net
Profit or (-) loss originated from non-current assets and disposable groups of elements classified as held for sale not admissible as 
discontinued activities 18

(1,830)
-

(1,830)
-
-
-
-

(13,594)

(3,300)
-

(3,300)
-
-
-
-

(16,706)

RESULT BEFORE TAX 51,860 (43,254)

(Expenses or (-) income for income tax from continuing activities) (22,372) (12,732)

RESULT FROM THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 29,488 (30,522)

GaProfits (losses) after tax from discontinued activities - -

RESULTS FROM THE YEAR 29,488 (30,522)

(*) Presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. It should be noted that the balances have been restated with respect to those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1). The 
accompanying Notes 1 to 36 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet on 31 December 2021. 
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UCI, S.A. and Subsidiaries (UCI GROUP)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)
A) CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED ON 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020

2021 2020 (*)

RESULTS FROM THE PERIOD 29,488 (30,522)

OTHER GLOBAL RESULTS 61,436 (31,313)

ELEMENTS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED IN RESULTS
Actuarial profits (losses) in defined benefit pension plans
Non-current assets and disposable groups of elements held for sale
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other global results, net
Profits (losses) of hedge accounting of equity instruments at fair value through other global results, net
Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss attributable to changes in the credit risk
Other valuation adjustments
Income Tax related to elements that will not be reclassified

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

ELEMENTS THAT COULD BE RECLASSIFIED IN RESULTS
Hedging of net investments in businesses abroad (effective portion)
Currency exchange
Cash flow hedges (effective portion) 
Profits (losses) registered in equity
Transferred to results 
Transferred to the initial carrying amount of hedged elements 
Other reclassifications
Debt instruments at fair value through other global results
Profits (losses) registered in equity 
Transferred to results 
Other reclassifications
Non-current assets and disposable groups of elements held for sale 
Other recognised income and expenses
Income Tax related to elements that could be reclassified in results

61,436 
-
-

85,611
85,661

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(24,175)

(31,313)
- 
- 

(44,732)
(44,732)

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 

13,419

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES 90,924 (61,835)

(*) Presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. It should be noted that the balances have been restated with respect to those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1). 
The accompanying Notes 1 to 36 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021. 
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U.C.I., S.A. and Subsidiaries (UCI GROUP)
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED AT DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

Common 

stock

Share 

premium
Reserves

Other equity 

instruments

Minus: 

Treasury 

shares

Profit/

(loss) for 

the period

Minus: 

interim 

dividend

Total 

equity

1. Closing balance at (31/12/2020)
Effects from error correction 
Effects from changes in accounting policies

98,019
-
-

-
-
-

269,541
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

(30,522)
-
-

-
-
-

337,038
-
-

(75,443)
-
-

261,595
-
-

2. Adjusted opening balance 98,019 - 269,541 - - (30,522) - 337,038 (75,443) 261,595

3. Total recognised income and expenses - - - - - 29,488 - 29,488 61,436 90,924

4. Other variations in equity
4.1 Capital increases
4.2 Capital decreases
4.3 Conversion of financial liabilities in capital
4.4 Increase of other equity instruments
4.5 Reclassification from financial liabilities to other equity 
instruments
4.6 Reclassification from other equity instruments to financial 
liabilities
4.7 Distribution of dividends
4.8 Operations with equity instruments (net)
4.9 Transfers between equity items
4.10 Increases (reductions) for business combinations
4.11 Payments with equity instruments
4.12 Other increases (reductions) of equity
4.13 Exchange differences

16,118
16,118

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

43,882
43,882

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(34,677)
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-

(30,522)
-
-

(4,155)
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

30,522
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-

(30,522)
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

55,845
60,000

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

(4,155)
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

55,845
60,000

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

(4,155)
-

5. Closing balance at (31/12/2021) 114,137 43,882 234,864 - - 29,488 - 422,371 (14,007) 408,364

EQUITY

Accumulated 

other global 

result

TOTAL 

EQUITY

B)  CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY CORRESPOODING TO YEARS ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
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U.C.I., S.A. and Subsidiaries (UCI GROUP)

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN EQUITY CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED ON DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

Common 

stock

Share 

premium
Reserves

Other equity 

instruments

Minus: 

Treasury 

shares

Profit/

(loss) for 

the period

Minus: 

interim 

dividend

Total 

equity

1. Closing balance at (31/12/2020)
Effects from error correction 
Effects from changes in accounting policies

98,019
-
-

-
-
-

336,650
(22,963)
(52,845)

-
-
-

-
-
-

12,882
-
-

-
-
-

447,551
(22,963)
(52,845)

(44,130)
-
-

403,421
(22,963)
(52,845)

2. Adjusted opening balance 98,019 - 260,842 - - 12,882 - 371,743 (44,130) 327,613 

3. Total recognised income and expenses - - - - - (30,522) - (30,522) (31,313) (61,835)

4. Other variations in equity
4.1 Capital increases
4.2 Capital decreases
4.3 Conversion of financial liabilities in capital
4.4 Increase of other equity instruments
4.5 Reclassification from financial liabilities to other equity 
instruments
4.6 Reclassification from other equity instruments to financial 
liabilities
4.7 Distribution of dividends
4.8 Operations with equity instruments (net)
4.9 Transfers between equity items
4.10 Increases (reductions) for business combinations
4.11 Payments with equity instruments
4.12 Other increases (reductions) of equity
4.13 Exchange differences

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

8,699
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-

12,882
-
-

(4,183)
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(12,882)
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-

(12,882)
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(4,183)
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

(4,183)
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(4,183)
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

(4,183)
-

5. Closing balance at (31/12/2020) 98,019 - 269,541 - - (30,552) - 337,038 (75,443) 261,595

EQUITY

Accumulated 

other global 

result

TOTAL 

EQUITY

(*) Presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. It should be noted that the balances have been restated with respect to those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1). The 
accompanying Notes 1 to 36 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021. 
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UCI S.A. y Sociedades Dependientes (UCI GROUP

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED ON 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

2021 2020 (*)

A. CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit or loss for the period

Adjustments to profit or loss to obtain cash flows from operating activities
             Depreciation and amortisation
             Other adjustments  

Net increase/decrease in operating assets
Financial assets held for trading
Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or los
Financial assets held for sale
Financial assets at amortised cost
Other assets

Net increase/decrease in operating liabilities
Financial assets held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Other operating liabilities

Collections/payments for income tax

(182,673)
29,488

(33,721)
6,923

 (40,644)

 (94,842)
-
-
-

 (90,264)
 (4,578)

 (83,598)
-

 (67,292)
 (12,340)

 (3,966)

89,387
 (30,522)

165,349
3,390

161,959

410,818
595

-
-

 (8,378)
418,601

 (456,258)
-

 (448,159)
 (8,099)

-

 B. CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments 
Tangible assets
Intangible assets
Participations
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities
Charges
Tangible assets
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities

77,982
 (3,164)
 (2,131)

 (1,033)
-
-

81,146
8,401

72,745

49,412
 (3,179)
 (1,942)
 (1,237)

-
-

52,591
-

52,591

C. CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Payment for dividends and other remuneration of liabilities
Charges
Issuance of equity instruments

53,883
 (6,117)
 (6,117)

60,000
60,000

(6,100)
(6,100)
(6,100)

-
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2021 2020 (*)

D. EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D)
CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD
MEMORANDUM ITEM:
COMPONENTS OF CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD 
Cash
Balance of cash equivalent in central banks
Other on-demand deposits
Total cash or cash equivalents at end of the period

-
 (50,808)

314,194
263,386

-
-

3
-

263,383
263,386

-
132,699
181,495
314,194

-
-

2
-

314,192
314,194

(*) Presented solely and exclusively for comparison purposes. It should be noted that the balances have been restated with respect to those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1). The 
accompanying Notes 1 to 36 are an integral part of the consolidated balance sheet at 31 December 2021. 
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1. Activity
of the entity 
UCI, S.A. is the Parent of a Group of Investees 
comprising UCI, S.A. and its Investees (he-
reinafter the UCI Group). UCI, S.A. was incor-
porated for an indefinite period of time in 1988 
and has been registered in the Mercantile Re-
gister since that year. Its registered office and 
tax domicile is at calle Retama nº 3 in Madrid, 
and it is registered in the Madrid Mercantile Re-
gister in volume 4075, folio 169, section 8, page 
number M-67799, 29th entry.

The Group's main activity is the granting of 
mortgage loans. Its corporate purpose also 
allows it to carry out the activities of a Credit Fi-
nancial Institution through the subsidiary Unión 
de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A., E.F.C.

During 1999 and 2004, the Group opened a 
Branch in Portugal and Greece respectively to 
distribute mortgage loans to individuals. The 
Greek production was paralysed in the last 
quarter of 2011, and the branch was closed in 
the first quarter of 2019, reallocating assets to 
the parent company. The remaining activity is 
performed on the national territory.

The Parent Company is obliged to prepare, in 
addition to its own individual annual accounts, 

which are also subject to mandatory audit, 
consolidated annual accounts for the Group, 
including, where applicable, the corresponding 
interests in Subsidiaries. The individual annual 
accounts have been prepared as of 30 March 
2022 and are expected to be approved unchan-
ged by the Shareholders. The individual and 
consolidated financial statements for 2020 
were authorised for issue on 11 March 2021 and 
approved by the shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting on 4 May 2021. The Entities 
comprising the Group are engaged in credit fi-
nancing activities.

On December 31, 2021 and 2020, total assets, 
net equity and results for the year of the Sub-
sidiary UNION DE CRÉDITOS INMOBILIARIOS 
S.A. E.F.C. represent almost all of the same 
concepts within the Group.

Summarised below are the individual balance 
sheet, the individual income statement, the in-
dividual statement of recognised income and 
expenses, individual statement of changes in 
net equity and individual cash-flow statement 
for the aforementioned Subsidiary, correspon-
ding to the financial years ended on December 
31, 2021 and 2020, prepared in accordance 
with the same accounting principles and rules 
and valuation criteria applied to these consoli-
dated financial statements for the Group: 
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UNION DE CREDITOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. ESTABLECIMIENTO FINANCIERO DE CREDITO SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL
Balance sheets on 31 December 2021 and 2020 (Expressed in thousands of Euros)

ASSET Note 2021 2020 (*)

Cash, cash balances in central Banks and other on-demand 
deposits
Cash
Other on-demand deposits

16 110,447

2
110,445

155,486

2
155,484

Financial assets held for trading

Trading derivatives
Equity instruments
Debs securities
Loans and advances

24

5,954

5,954
-
-
-

15,853

15,853
-
-
-

Financial assets not held for trading compulsorily measured 
ar fair value profit and loss

  Equity instruments  
  Debt securities
  Loans and advances

24 313,648

-
-

313,648

393,886

-
-

393,886

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit and 
loss
  Equity instruments 
  Debt securities 
  Loans and advances 

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

Financial assets designated at fair value through other global 
results:
 Equity instruments  
  Debt securities 
  Loans and advances

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

Financial assets at amortized cost
   Debt securities 
  Loans and advances

17 10,438,662
-

10,438,662

10,638,742
-

10,638,742

Hedging derivatives 25 25 25

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2021 2020 (*)

Financial liabilities held for trading
    Derivatives 
  Short positions
  Deposits 

24
20,806
20,806
-
-

2,451
2,451

-
-

Financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit 
and loss
   Deposits
  Issued debt securities  
  Other financial liabilities  

-

-
-
-

-

-
-
-

Financial liabilities at amortized cost 
Deposits

Deposits of central bank
Deposits of credit institutions 
Deposit of clients
Debt securities  
Other financial liabilities

23 10,742,708
10,738,913

-
7,269,197
3,469,716

-
3,795

 11,239,502
11,236,325

-
7,371,860

3,864,465
-

3,177

  Derivatives – hedge accounting 25 19,475 106,627

Provisions

Pensions and other post-employment defined benefit 
obligations
Other non-current remunerations to employees
Procedural maters and litigations for outstanding taxe. 
Commitments and guarantees granted
Other provisions

26
  

11,746  

-

-
-
-

11,746

9,855

-

-
-
-
9,855

Tax liabilities
Current tax liabilities
 Deferred tax liabilities 

21 2,221
1,106
1,115

1,143
1,143

-
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ASSET Note 2021 2020 (*)

Changes in the fair value of hedged elements of a portfolio 
with hedge of the interest rate risk - -

Investments in join ventures and associates - -

Property, plant and equipament
ITangible assets
Property investments
Of which: Assigned in operating lease

19 125,807
7,947

117,860

121,210
7,621

113,589

Intangible assets
Goodwill
Other intangible assets

20 2,464
-

2,464

2,052
-
2,052

Tax assets
Current tax assets
DEferred tax assets

21 63,421
18

63,403

102,221
4

102,217

Other assets
Insurance agreements linked to pensions
Inventories
Other assets

22 24,227
-
-
24,227

29,337
-
-
29,337

Non-current assets held for sale 18 209,501 244,113

TOTAL ASSETS 11,294,156 11,702,924

Pro-memory
Contiguous risks
Contingent commitments 32

-
33,267

 -
22,452 

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES Note 2021 2020 (*)

Other liabilities 22 31,746 33,378

Liabilities included in disposable groups of elements 
classifield as held for sale - -

 TOTAL LIABILITIES 10,828,702 11,392,956

EQUITY
Equity
Capital
  Paid
Share premium
Equity instruments issued other tan capital
Other equity elements
Accumulated gains
Otras reserves
Profit/(los) for the period
Minus: interim dividends

29

  

478,291
52,534
52,534

125,746
-
-
-

265,623
34,388
-

383,903
45,852
45,852
72,428
-
-
-

295,652
(30,029)

-

Other global accumulated results 
Elements that will not be reclassified in results 
Elements that could be reclassifield in results 
  Hedging of net investements in businesses abroad
  Currency exchange 
  Hedging derivatives. Cash Flow hedge reserve
   Changes in the fair value of debit instruments measured at 
fair value through other global results 

28

(12,837)
-

(12,837)
-
-

(12,837)

-

(73,935)
-

(73,935)
-
-

(73,935)

-

TOTAL EQUITY 465,454 309,968

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 11,294,156 11,702,924
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UNION DE CREDITOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. ESTABLECIMIENTO FINANCIERO DE CREDITO SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL 
Profit and los accounts corresponding to year ended at 31 December 2021 and 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

Nota 2021 2020 (*)

Income from interests 
Financial assets at amortized cost
Derivatives – hedge accounting, interest rate risk
Other assets
(Expenses from interests)

33

34

189,851
172,132

17,516
203

(52,736)

216,263
182,137
15,873
18,253

(78,022)

INTEREST MARGIN 137,115 138,241

Income from dividends 
Income from commissions 
(Expenses for commissions)
Profit or (-) loss when writing off financial assets and liabilities not measured at fair value through profit and los, net.
Profit and (-) los for financial liabilties hel for trading, net.
Profit and (-) los for financial assets not held for trading compulsory measured at fair value through profit and los, net.
Other operating income
Other operating expenses

-
12,420

(5,652)
-

(474)
(81)

3,687
-

-
9,795

(4,858)
9,446
(374)

-
5,315

-

GROSS MARGIN 147,015 157,565

Administration expenses
 Personnel cost 
 Other general administration expenses 
Amortization
Provisions or (-) reserval of provisions
Impairment or (-) reserval of the impairment of financial assets not measured at fair value through profit and loss 
 Financial assets at amortized cost

37
38

19.20

(80,567)
(31,860)
(48,707)
(6,691)

(714)
3,780
3,780

(78,367)
(32,049)
(46,318)
(5,855)

(735)
(97,378)
(97,378)

RESULTS FROM THE OPERATING ACTIVITY 62,823 (24,770)

Impairment or (-) reserval of the impairment of non-financial assets 
 Property, plant and equipment
 Property investments
 Intangible assets
Profito r (-) los when writing off non-financial assets, net
Profit or (-) los originated from non-current assets and disposable groups of elements classifield as held for sale not admisible as 
discontinued activities

19

           

18

(1,831)
-

           (1,831)
-
-

(9,832)

(3,120)
-

(3,120)
-
-

(15,015)
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Nota 2021 2020 (*)

RESULT BEFORE TAX 51,160 (42,905)

(Expenses or (-) income for income tax from continuing activities) 31 (16,772) (2,876)

RESULT FROM THE YEAR FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS 34,388 (30,029)

Profits (losses) after tax from discontinued activities - -

RESULT FROM THE YEAR 34,388 (30,029)
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UNION DE CREDITOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. ESTABLECIMIETO FINANCIERO DE CREDITO SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL
STATEMENTS OF RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES CORRESPONDING TO YEAR ENDED ON 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

2021 2020 

RESULTS FROM PERIOD 34,388 (30,029)

OTHER GLOBAL RESULTS 61,098 (29,805)

ELEMENTS THAT WILL NOT BE RECLASSIFIED IN RESULTS
Actuarial profits (losses) in defined benefit pensión plans 
Non-current assets and disposable groups of elements held for sale
Changes in the fair value of equity instruments measured at fair value through other global result, net
Profits (losses) of hedge accounting of equity instruments at fair value through other global results, net
Changes in the fair value of financial liabilities ar fair value through profit and los attributable to changes in the credit risk
Other valuation adjustments
Income Tax related to elements that Will not be reclassified

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

ELEMENTS THAT COULD BE RECLASSIFIED IN RESULTS
Hedging of net investments in businesses abroad (effective portion)
Currency exchange
Cash Flow hedges (effective portion)
Profits (losses) registered in equity
Transferred to results
Transferred to the initial carrying amount of hedged elements
Other reclassifications
Debt instruments at fair value through other global results
Profits (losses) registered in equity
Transferred to results 
Other reclassifications
Non-current assets and disposable groups of elements held for sale
Income Tax related to elements that could be reclassified in results

61,098
-
-

87,283
87,283

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

(26,185)

(29,805)
- 
- 

(42,578)
(42,578)

- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
- 
-  

 12,773

TOTAL RECOGNISED INCOME AND EXPENSES 95,486 (59,834)
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STATEMENT OF TOTAL CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2021 AND 2020
(Expressed in thousands of Euros)

Common 

stock

Share 

premium
Reserves

Other equity 

instruments

Minus: 

Treasury 

shares

Profit/

(loss) for 

the period

Minus: 

interim 

dividend 

Total 

equity

1. Closing balance at (31/12/2020) (*)
Effects from error corretion
Effects from changes in accounting policies

45,852
-
-

72,428
-
-

295,652
-
-

-
-
-

-
-
-

(30,029)
-
-

-
-
-

383,903
-
-

(73,935)
-
-

309,968
-
-

2. Adjusted opening balance 45,852 72,428 295,652 - - (30,029) - 383,903 (73,935) 309,968

3. Total recognised income and expenses - - - - - 34,388 - 34,388 61,098 95,486

4. Other variations in equity
4.1 Capital increases
4.2 Capital decreases
4.3 Conversion of financial liabilities in capital
4.4 ncrease of other equity instruments
4.5 Reclassification from financial liabilities to other equity 
instruments 
4.6 Reclassification from other equity instruments to financial 
liabilities
4.7 Distribution of dividens
4.8 Operations with equity instruments (net)
4.9 Transfers between equity items
4.10 Increases (reductions) for business combinations 
4.11 Payments with equity instruments
4.12 Other increases (reductions) of equity 

6,682
6,682

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

53,318
53,318

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

(30,029)
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-

(30,029)
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

30,029
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-

30,029
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

60,000
60,000

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

60,000
60,000

-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

(4,155)

5. Closing balance at  (31/12/2021) 52,534 125,746 265,623 - - 34,388 - 478,291 (12,837) 465,454

EQUITY

Other 

accumulated 

global results

TOTAL 

EQUITY
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UNION DE CREDITOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. ESTABLECIMIENTO FINANCIERO DE CREDITO SOCIEDAD UNIPERSONAL
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS CORRESPONDING TO YEARS ENDED ON 31 DECEMBER 2021 AND 2020

2021 2020 (*)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Profit or loss for the period

Adjustments to profit or loss
             Depreciation and amortisation
             Other adjustments

Net increase/decrease in operating assets
Trading portfolio
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets designated at fair value with changes in other global result
Financial assets at amortized cost
Other assets
Net increase/decrease in operating liabilities
Trading portfolio
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Other operating liabilities
Collections/payments for income tax

(99,517)
34,388

(20,482)
6,691

(27,173)

(366,649)
9,899

(80,238)
-

 (291,370)
(4,940)

(480,072)
18,355

(496,794)
(1,632)

-

61,454
(30,029)

114,864
5,855

109,009

36,673
(6,774)

-
-

19,670
23,777

(60,054)
(2,383)

(62,421)
4,750

-

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Tangible assets
Intangible assets 
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities
Charges
Tangible assets
Intangible assets 
Non-current assets held for sale and associated liabilities

(5,521)
 65,909

1,712
957

63,241
42,282

-
-

60,388

(2,243)
(47,925)

(1,942)
(1,237)

(44,746)
45,682

-
-

45,682

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Payments
Dividens
Charges
Issuance of own equity instruments

60,000
-
-

60,000

(10,000)
(10,000)
(10,000)

-
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2021 2020 (*)

EFFECT OF EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES
NET INCREASE/DECREASE IN CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS (A+B+C+D)
F. CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT BEGINNING OF THE PERIOD
G. CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD
MEMORANDUM ITEM:
COMPONENTS OF CASH OR CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF THE PERIOD
Cash
Balance of cash equivalent in central banks
Other on-demand deposits
Total cash or cash equivalents at end of the period

-
(45,038)
155,486
110,488

-
-

2
-

110,448
110,448

-
49,211

106,275
155,486

-
-

2
-

155,484
155,484
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2. Basis of
presentation of 
the consolidated 
financial
statements and 
consolidation 
principles
2.1 Bases of presentation of 
the consolidated annual 
accounts

On January 1, 2020, Circular 4/2019 of 26 No-
vember, of Bank of Spain, entered into force 
for financial credit establishments, public and 
reserved financial reporting standards, and 
models of financial statements. The reference 
taken by this Circular is the accounting regu-
lation for credit institutions, either establishing 
analogous criteria or directly referring to stan-
dards of Circular 4/2017, of 27 November. Di-
fferences in the nature, scale and complexity of 

the establishments’ activities with regard to cre-
dit institutions are translated in a simplified regi-
me of requirements in the financial statements. 
Such regulations includes requirements set in 
national accounting regulations, together with 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
adopted by the European Union (IFRS-EU) and, 
in particular, the criteria of the IFRS-EU 9, on fi-
nancial instruments, including the approach of 
expected losses to estimate credit risk hedges 
are incorporated to the accounting regulations 
of the financial credit establishments.

The abovementioned Circular constitutes the 
adaptation to the sector of Spanish credit ins-
titutions of the International Financial Repor-
ting Standards, adopted by the European Union 
through Community Regulations, according to 
Regulation 1606/2002 of the European Parlia-
ment and the Council, of July 19, 2002, related 
to the application of International Accounting 
Standards, to show the true and fair view of the 
Entity’s equity and financial position at Decem-
ber 31, 2021 and the results of its operations, of 
recognised income and expenses and of cash 
flows generated during the year therein ended.

Accordingly, the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements have been formulated by the Direc-
tors following the accounting models and crite-
ria established in Circular 4/2019, of 27 Novem-
ber, of Bank of Spain, to express the true and 
fair view of the consolidated equity and conso-
lidated financial position at December 31, 2021 

and of consolidated results from the Group’s 
operations and changes in consolidated equity 
and cash flows during the year therein ended.

The consolidated annual accounts for the finan-
cial year 2021 have been prepared by the Direc-
tors at the meeting of its Board of Directors held 
on 30 March 2021. The consolidated annual ac-
counts of the Group and the annual accounts 
of the Group entities for the financial year 2021 
will be submitted for approval by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders to be held after the 
date of preparation and during the first half of 
the financial year 2021. However, the Board of 
Directors of the Parent Company of the Group 
considers that these consolidated annual ac-
counts will be approved without changes.

The consolidated financial statements for the 
financial year 2020 were prepared by the Di-
rectors at the Board of Directors' meeting held 
on 11 March 2021 and approved by the General 
Meeting of Shareholders held on 4 May 2021.
Accordingly, the financial reporting framework 
applicable to the Group and used in the pre-
paration of these consolidated financial state-
ments is that set out in:

1. The Commercial Code and other commercial 
legislation.

2. Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019 of 22 Decem-
ber 2019 on standards for public and confiden-
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tial information and models of financial state-
ments of credit institutions.

3. The mandatory rules approved by the Spani-
sh Accounting and Auditing Institute (Instituto 
de Contabilidad y Auditoría de Cuentas) and 
other commercial legislation. 

4. All other applicable accounting regulations.

The Group's financial statements have been 
prepared on the basis of the Group's accoun-
ting records, taking into account all accounting 
policies and rules and measurement bases that 
have a significant effect on the financial state-
ments, so that they present fairly the Group's 
equity and financial position on 31 December 
2021 and the results of its operations, recog-
nised income and expense, changes in equity 
and cash flows for the year then ended.

The principal accounting policies and measu-
rement bases applied in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements for 2021 are 
set out in Note 11. There are no accounting po-
licies or measurement bases that have a ma-
terial effect on the consolidated financial sta-
tements for 2021 that have not been applied in 
their preparation.

Notes to the financial statements contain in-
formation in addition to that presented in the 
balance sheet, income statement, statement 
of changes in equity and cash flow statement. 

They provide narrative descriptions or disaggre-
gation of those statements in a clear, relevant, 
reliable and comparable manner.

Main regulatory changes in the period 
from 1 January to 31 December 2021, 
not commented above

The following is a summary of the main appli-
cable Bank of Spain Circulars issued and which 
entered into force in the financial year 2021:

Bank of Spain Circular 1/2021 of 28 January 
amending Circular 1/2013 of 24 May on the 
Central Credit Register and Circular 5/2012 of 
27 June to credit institutions and payment ser-
vice providers on transparency of banking ser-
vices and responsibility in the granting of loans 
(BOE of 30 January 2021).

The main objective of the circular is to adapt 
Banco de España Circular 1/2013 of 24 May 
on the Central Credit Register and Circular 
5/2012 on the transparency of banking servi-
ces and responsibility in the granting of loans, 
to the changes introduced in the regulation 
of the Central Credit Register (CCR), as well 
as the update of the official reference rates 
by Order ETD/699/2020 (amending Order 
ECO/697/2004 and Order EHA/2899/2011, 
on transparency and customer protection in 
banking services (OM)). 

On 27 July the Official State Gazette (BOE) 
published the OM on revolving credit, which, 
among other regulations, amends Order 
ECO/697/2004, of 11 March, on the Central 
Credit Register (hereinafter, 'OM of the CIR'). 
One of the objectives of this order is to improve 
the information available to lenders to analyse 
the solvency of potential borrowers, so as to 
avoid over-indebtedness positions that lead 
borrowers to be unable to meet their finan-
cial obligations. Having the right information to 
make a sound assessment of creditworthiness 
to prevent over-indebtedness is particularly re-
levant in the context of the economic and so-
cial impact of the Covid-19 health crisis.

On the other hand, the exceptional situation 
created by covid-19 has made it necessary to 
implement various financial measures to mi-
tigate the economic impact of the pandemic. 
These measures have been articulated in four 
royal decree-laws and facilitate the financing 
conditions for individuals, companies and the 
self-employed through the implementation of 
moratoriums and public guarantees, and throu-
gh private moratoriums promoted by associa-
tions of institutions. In order to comply with the 
reporting obligations imposed on lenders by 
these Royal Decree-Laws and to support the 
Banco de España's supervisory and inspection 
tasks, the reporting institutions were asked to 
send the RIC certain information on the charac-
teristics of the loans affected by the aforemen-
tioned measures.
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In addition, the aforementioned Circular in-
troduces, in its second rule, a modification of 
certain aspects of Circular 5/2012, in relation 
to official interest rates through the amend-
ment of Order EHA/2899/2011. The aim of this 
change is, among other objectives, to increase 
the official interest rate alternatives available to 
institutions, both for use in granting loans and 
for inclusion as substitutes in such contracts. 
To this end, the list of interest rates that will 
be considered official reference rates is revi-
sed, the name of some of the existing ones is 
changed and their number is increased. In this 
respect, the circular updates the list of official 
rates envisaged in the OM on transparency and 
establishes the definition and procedure for de-
termining the new indices.

The application of the Circular has not had any 
significant effects on the Group's consolidated 
financial statements.

Bank of Spain Circular 3/2021 of 13 May amen-
ding, regarding the definition of the reference 
interest rate based on the Euro short-term rate 
(euro STR), Circular 5/2012 of 27 June to credit 
institutions and payment service providers on 
transparency in banking services and respon-
sibility in the granting of loans (BOE of 17 May 
2021).

The main purpose of this circular is to adapt 
the definition of the euro short-term rate (euro 
STR) for the purposes of its consideration as 

an official rate, as set out in Annex 8, Section 
6, of Circular 5/2012 of 27 June 2012 to credit 
institutions and payment service providers on 
transparency in banking services and respon-
sible lending, following the publication of Gui-
deline (EU) 2021/565 of the European Central 
Bank of 17 March 2021 amending Guideline 
(EU) 2019/1265 on the euro short-term inte-
rest rate (euro RTS) (ECB/2021/10), which pro-
vides for the compilation and daily publication, 
from 15 April 2021, of average composite euro 
RTS-based composite rates.

The application of the aforementioned Circu-
lar has not had any significant effects on the 
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2021, of 25 Novem-
ber, to credit institutions and other supervised 
institutions, on models of confidential state-
ments on market conduct, transparency and 
customer protection, and on the register of 
complaints (BOE of 1 December 2021).

The purpose of the aforementioned circular is 
to establish the content and frequency of the 
model confidential statements on market con-
duct, transparency and customer protection 
that must be submitted to the Banco de Es-
paña. It also determines the minimum content 
of the information that these institutions must 
have at the disposal of the Banco de España re-
garding complaints.

The application of the aforementioned Circu-
lar has not had any significant effects on the 
Group's consolidated financial statements.
Banco de España Circular 5/2021, of 22 De-
cember, amending Circular 2/2016, of 2 Fe-
bruary, to credit institutions, on supervision and 
solvency, which completes the adaptation of 
the Spanish legal system to Directive 2013/36/
EU and Regulation (EU) No 575/2013. (BOE of 
23 December 2021) (Correction of errors BOE 
of 30 December 2021).

This circular responds to the principles of ne-
cessity, effectiveness, proportionality, legal cer-
tainty, transparency and efficiency, as required 
by article 129 of Law 39/2015, of 1 October, on 
the Common Administrative Procedure of Pu-
blic Administrations.

With regard to the principles of necessity and 
effectiveness, this circular is the necessary 
instrument for the development of the regime 
applicable to the new macroprudential tools 
available to Banco de España, in accordance 
with Royal Decree-Law 22/2018 and Royal De-
cree 102/2019, whose ultimate objective is to 
identify, prevent and mitigate the development 
of systemic risk and ensure a sustainable con-
tribution of the financial system to economic 
growth:

1. Capital buffer requirements, as provided for 
in articles 43 to 49 of Law 10/2014.
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2. The establishment of limits to sectoral con-
centration, in accordance with Article 69 Ter of 
Law 10/2014.

3. The setting of conditions on the granting of 
loans and other operations, pursuant to Article 
69 quarter of Law 10/2014.

The application of the aforementioned Circu-
lar has not had any significant effects on the 
Group's consolidated financial statements.

Bank of Spain Circular 6/2021 of 22 Decem-
ber amending Circular 4/2017 of 27 November 
to credit institutions on public and confiden-
tial financial reporting standards and financial 
statement formats, and Circular 4/2019 of 26 
November to financial credit institutions on 
public and confidential financial reporting stan-
dards and financial statement formats (BOE 
of 29 December 2021). The main objective of 
the circular is to update Circular 4/2017, of 27 
November, for credit institutions, on public and 
confidential financial reporting standards and 
financial statement formats.

Firstly, the amendments that the aforementio-
ned circular incorporates in Circular 4/2017, are 
fundamentally to reflect the changes in the in-
ternational financial reporting standards adop-
ted by the European Union (IFRS-EU), with re-
gard to International Accounting Standard 39 
and International Financial Reporting Standards 
4, 7, 9 and 16. The aforementioned changes are 

the result of the project of the International Ac-
counting Standards Board (IASB) to respond to 
the reform of the benchmark interest rate indi-
ces known as IBORs (InterBank Offered Rates).

Second, the templates and instructions for the 
preparation of the confidential financial state-
ments known as FINREP have, inter alia, been 
amended by Commission Implementing Re-
gulation (EU) 2021/451 of 17 December 2020 
laying down implementing technical stan-
dards for the application of Regulation (EU) 
No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and 
of the Council as regards supervisory repor-
ting by institutions and repealing Implemen-
ting Regulation (EU) No 680/2014. Pursuant 
to this Implementing Regulation, changes have 
been introduced in FINREP, inter alia, regarding 
restructured, refinanced or refinancing tran-
sactions (forborne exposures). This circular 
incorporates adjustments to the treatment of 
restructured, refinanced or refinanced transac-
tions set out in Annex 9, on 'Credit risk analysis 
and coverage', of Circular 4/2017 of 27 Novem-
ber, to keep it aligned with that of FINREP.

Third, the European Banking Authority (EBA) 
Guidelines on lending and loan monitoring 
(EBA/GL/2020/06) aim, inter alia, to improve 
practices, processes and procedures related to 
the granting of credit operations. These guide-
lines have been adopted by the Banco de Es-
paña for both less significant credit institutions 
and financial credit institutions, and by the Eu-

ropean Central Bank for significant credit insti-
tutions.

Fourth, the aforementioned circular amends 
Annex 9 of Circular 4/2017 of 27 November to 
update the alternative solutions for the collecti-
ve estimation of credit risk loss allowances and 
discounts on the reference value of foreclosed 
assets or assets received in payment of debts. 
This update considers the evolution of the data 
on the transactions reported by the institutions 
to Banco de España and, in addition, in the case 
of the alternative solutions, incorporates upda-
ted forecasts on future macroeconomic condi-
tions.

The main change introduced is the update of 
the alternative solutions for the collective es-
timation of credit risk loss allowances and dis-
counts on the reference value of foreclosed 
assets or assets received in payment of debts. 
It should be noted that these changes will be 
applied as of 30 June 2022, as the first referen-
ce date, changes introduced in the tables rela-
ting to the coverage percentages, as an alterna-
tive solution, for the collective estimate of the 
coverage of transactions classified as normal 
risk and normal risk under special surveillance, 
as well as the coverage of doubtful risk and the 
percentage discounts on the reference value.
 
Fifth, Circular 4/2017 of 27 November is amen-
ded to update the statistical data requirements 
of the Economic and Monetary Union (EMU), 
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in accordance with the amendments establi-
shed by Regulation (EU) 2021/379 of the Eu-
ropean Central Bank of 22 January on balance 
sheet items of credit institutions and of the 
monetary financial institutions sector (recast) 
(ECB/2021/2). The new information reques-
ted consists, on the one hand of additional 
data requirements to improve the analysis of 
monetary and credit developments and, on 
the other hand, of amendments to some of the 
existing data requirements and definitions to 
support better integration with other statistical 
datasets.

Lastly, specific amendments are made to the 
individual financial statements reserved in Cir-
cular 4/2017 of 27 November in order to intro-
duce new data requirements to verify com-
pliance with standards or to compile statistical 
information, as well as to make technical ad-
justments and corrections identified as neces-
sary since the last update of that Circular.
The application of the aforementioned Circular 
has not had any significant effects on the Enti-
ty's annual accounts.

Main regulatory changes in the period 
comprised from January 1 to December 
31, 2020, not commented above

On 2 December 2019 Banco de España Circu-
lar 4/2019 of 26 November 2019 on public and 
confidential financial reporting standards and 
financial statement formats was published in 

the Official State Gazette. This Circular, which 
came into force on 1 January 2020, takes the 
accounting regulations of credit institutions as 
a reference, either by setting criteria similar to 
those of credit institutions or by referring di-
rectly to the rules of Circular 4/2017 of 27 No-
vember on public and confidential financial re-
porting rules and financial statement formats.

In this way, the Banco de España is continuing 
the strategy of compatibility of the accounting 
regime of supervised institutions with the most 
advanced accounting criteria of the EU-IFRS, 
while respecting the principles of the Commer-
cial Code. In particular, the criteria of IFRS-EU 
9 on financial instruments included in Circular 
4/2019, including the expected loss approach 
for the estimation of credit risk hedges, as well 
as the IFRS-EU 16 leasing standard, are incor-
porated into the accounting rules of financial 
credit institutions.

On 1 January 2020, regarding the classifica-
tion, recording and valuation in accordance 
with Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019, the Group 
recognised the impact of these regulations on 
equity.

The most significant adjustments made by the 
Group as a result of the first-time impact on the 
2020 financial statements are as follows:

1. In accordance with Annex IX (of Circular 
4/2017), the impairment model for financial as-

sets was applied for the first time, which is no 
longer based on incurred loss but on expected 
loss, for credit risk based on IFRS-EU 9, which 
implied:

a. Negative net impact on reserves of EUR 
48.46 million.
b. Increase in valuation adjustments by 52.84 
million euros (reducing the heading "Financial 
assets at amortised cost").
c. Increase of EUR 3.99 million in deferred tax 
assets.

2. In accordance with Circular 4/2019, credit 
financial institutions must apply for the first 
time, the accounting criteria for leases in sec-
tions 1 to 9 of the first transitional provision of 
Circular 2/2018, which replaces standard 33 
on leases of Circular 4/2017 and incorporates 
the accounting criteria compatible with those 
of IFRS-EU 16, whose main difference lies in 
the accounting treatment for the lessee, main-
taining without relevant changes, the accoun-
ting of these contracts by the lessor. The group 
quantified its best estimate of the impact, 
which was:

a. Increase in "Tangible assets" of 6.1 million eu-
ros due to the recognition of the right of use.
b. Increase of "Other financial liabilities" in the 
amount of 6.1 million euros due to the recog-
nition of the obligations arising from the lease 
contract.
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Comparison of information

The previous year’s consolidated annual ac-
counts are solely and exclusively presented for 
comparison purposes, with each item of the 
consolidated balance sheet, consolidated pro-
fit and loss account, consolidated statement of 
changes in equity, consolidated statement of 
cash flows and the notes to the consolidated 
Financial Statements, related to 2019. There-
fore, they do not necessarily correspond to the 
consolidated annual accounts formulated by 
the Entity in the previous year.

Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019 of 26 November 
2009 generally requires the annual accounts to 
present comparative information. In this regard, 
and in accordance with commercial legislation, 
the Group's directors must present, for compa-
rative purposes with each of the items in the 
balance sheet, income statement, cash flow 
statement, statement of changes in equity and 
notes to the financial statements, in addition 
to the figures for 2021, the figures for the pre-
vious year, obtained by application of the afore-
mentioned Circular. Consequently, the figures 
for the financial year 2020 in the notes to the 
financial statements are presented solely and 
exclusively for comparative purposes.

In this respect, certain amounts for the finan-
cial year 2020 have been adjusted in the con-
solidated financial statements to make them 
comparable with those of the current year.

The effect of these changes on the 2020 ba-
lance sheet is as follows:
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BALANCE DE SITUACIÓN Saldo 2020 
formulado Ajustes Saldo 2020 

reexpresado

Efectivo, saldos en efectivo en bancos centrales y otros depósitos a la vista
Activos financieros mantenidos para negociar
Activos Financieros a coste amortizado
Derivados - contabilidad de coberturas
Activos no corrientes y grupos enajenables de elementos que se han clasificado como mantenidos 
para la venta
Activos tangibles
Activos intangibles
Activos por impuestos
Otros activos

241.415
16.437

10.305.245
25

261.845

124.389
2.368

125.896
383.146

72.779
 -

(44.708)
 -
-

 -
 -

11.927
(364.576)

314.194
16.437

10.260.537
25

261.845

124.389
2.368

137.823
18.570

TOTAL ACTIVO 11.460.766 (324.579) 11.136.187

Pasivos financieros mantenidos para negociar
Pasivos financieros a coste amortizado
Derivados - contabilidad de coberturas
Provisiones
Pasivos por impuestos
Otros Pasivos

20.327
10.990.915

106.627
5.927
1.472

44.566

2.451
(297.694)

 -
4.726

 -
(4.726)

22.778
10.693.221

106.627
10.653

1.472
39.840

TOTAL PASIVO 11.169.834 (295.242) 10.874.592

FONDOS PROPIOS:
Capital 
Otras Reservas 
Resultado del ejercicio

364.867
98.019

292.504
(25.656)

(27.829)
 -

(22.963)
(4.866)

337.038
98.019

269.541
(30.522)

AJUSTES POR VALORACIÓN (73.935) (1.508) (75.443)

TOTAL PATRIMONIO NETO 290.932 (29.337) 261.595

TOTAL PASIVO Y  PATRIMONIO NETO 11.460.766 (324.579) 11.136.187
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The effect of the reclassifications under 
"Financial assets at amortised cost" in the 
balance sheet is as follows:

Saldo 2020 

Formulado
Reclasificacion

Saldo 2020 

reexpresado

Activos Fianacieros a Coste Amortizado. STAGE 1
Activos Fianacieros a Coste Amortizado. STAGE 2
Activos Fianacieros a Coste Amortizado. STAGE 3

8.850.105
400.699

1.394.383

8.850.105
400.699

1.394.383

7.806.978
665.962
2.172.247

TOTAL 10.645.187 - 10.645.187

Miles de euros

At year-end 2021, the Group has revised cer-
tain accounting criteria, essentially in relation 
to aspects linked to the accounting classifica-
tion of certain transactions included under the 
heading "financial assets at amortised cost - 
loans and advances to customers", which has 
led to an increase in restructured transactions 
and consequently in the provisions associated 
with these transactions. In this respect, in order 
to facilitate comparability with the figures pre-
sented in the previous year, the effect of this re-
classification on the annual accounts prepared 
in the previous year is detailed.

Certain items reflected under "Financial assets 
at amortised cost" corresponding to operations 
classified as Stage 1 amounting to 1,043,127 

thousand euros have been reclassified to Sta-
ge 2 for an amount of 265,263 thousand euros 
and to Stage 3 for an amount of 777,864 thou-
sand euros.

As a result of the above, credit risk hedges on 
these transactions were increased by 44,708 
thousand euros, of which 35,466 thousand eu-
ros were provided against reserves and 9,242 
thousand euros were recorded against the res-
tated consolidated income statement.

In addition, the accounting criteria for the con-
solidation of certain vehicles in which Unión de 
Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A., Based on rule 43 of 
Circular 4/ 2017, which considers that an entity 
controls another entity when it has the capacity 

to direct the relevant activities of the latter and 
is exposed to its variable returns, these vehi-
cles, which were treated by Unión de Créditos 
Inmobiliarios S.A., E.F.C., were consolidated in 
accordance with the treatment defined in rule 
23.10 of Circular 4/ 2017. The main impacts 
were on the balance sheet, as the accrued va-
riable fee receivable amounting to 368 million 
euros, which was classified under "Other As-
sets", was eliminated, and the substitution of 
the shares issued (1,139.4 million euros) recor-
ded for the securitisation bonds issued by the 
vehicles (1,297.4 million euros), with no signifi-
cant impact on the income statement.

On the other hand, an amount of 4,726 thou-
sand euros has been reclassified from "other 
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liabilities" to "provisions" corresponding to "Pro-
visions for taxes and other legal contingencies 
"deriving from the estimated resources which 
the entity will have to dispose of according to 
the estimates made, in relation to litigation ori-
ginated by customers.

Finally, the Company has recognised an amount 
of 4,953 thousand euros for the recognition of 
accrued interest on loans classified as doubt-
ful, of which 2,291 thousand euros has been re-
cognised in the income statement for the year 
2020. 

The effect of the reclassifications on the profit 
and loss account is as follows:

Pérdidas y Ganancias Saldo 2020 
formulado Ajustes Saldo 2020 

reexpresado

Ingresos por intereses
(Gastos por intereses)

213.464
(76.020)

2.291
 -

215.755
(76.020)

A) MARGEN DE INTERESES 137.444 2.291 139.735

Ingresos por comisiones
(Gastos por comisiones)
Ganancias o (-) pérdidas al dar de baja en cuentas activos y pasivos financieros no valora-dos a 
valor razonable con cambios en resultados, netas
Ganancias o (-) pérdidas por activos y pasivos financieros mantenidos para negociar, netas
Otros ingresos de explotación

9.814
(4.858)

9.446

(374)
7.899

-
-
 -

 -
-

9.814
(4.858)

9.446

(374)
7.899

B) MARGEN BRUTO 159.372 2.291 161.663

(Gastos de administración)
(Amortización)
(-) (Provisiones o reversión de provisiones) 
(-) (Deterioro del valor o reversión del deterioro del valor de activos financieros no valora-dos a valor 
razonable con cambios en resultados y pérdidas o (-) ganancias netas por modificación) 
(-) (Deterioro del valor o reversión del deterioro del valor de activos no financieros)
(-) Ganancias o pérdidas procedentes de activos no corrientes y grupos enajenables de elementos 
clasificados como mantenidos para la venta no admisibles como actividades interrumpidas (600)

(83.449)
(6.007)

(735)
(85.477)

(18.909)
(1.097)

- 
- 
- 

(9.242)

15.609 
(15.609) 

(83.449)
(6.007)

(735)
(94.719)

(3.300)
(16.706)

C) GANANCIAS O (-) PÉRDIDAS ANTES DE IMPUESTOS PROCEDENTES DE LAS 
ACTIVIDADES CONTINUADAS (36.302) (6.952) (43.254)

(-) (Gastos o ingresos por impuestos sobre los resultados de las actividades continuadas) 10.646 2. 085  12.732

D) GANANCIAS O (-) PÉRDIDAS DESPUÉS DE IMPUESTOS PROCEDENTES DE LAS 
ACTIVIDADES CONTINUADAS (25.656) (4.866) (30.522)

E) RESULTADO DEL EJERCICIO (25.656) (4.866) (30.522)
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In the profit and loss account for the year ended 
31 December 2020 for comparability purpo-
ses, in addition to the amounts indicated abo-
ve, an amount of 15,609 thousand euros from 
"Impairment or (-) reversal of impairment of 
non-financial assets" to "Gains or (-) losses on 
non-current assets and disposal groups clas-
sified as held for sale not qualifying as discon-
tinued operations" relating to provisions and 
recoveries of provisions for non-current assets 
held for sale.

There are no additional material issues that 
would significantly affect the comparability of 
the figures presented for the year with those for 
the previous year.

2.2 Management and 
impacts of the Covid-19 
pandemic
The appearance of the Coronavirus COVID-19 
in China and its global expansion to a large num-
ber of countries led to its qualification as global 
pandemic by the World Health Organisation on 
March 11, 2020. The pandemic has affected and 
continues adversely affecting the national and 
international activity and economic conditions, 
ultimately leading many countries to economic 
recession.

In view of this pandemic situation, the Group 
has focused on ensuring the continuity in the 
business’ operating security, as a priority, and 
on monitoring impacts in the business and in 
the Group’s risks (such as impacts in results, 
capital, the clients’ solvency or liquidity). Addi-
tionally, since the beginning, the Group adopted 
a series of measures to support and ease the 
payment of loans to its clients, mainly to those 
sectors most strongly affected by the Covid-19

In order to mitigate the impact associated 
to the COVID-19, both Bank of Spain and the 
European Central Bank and other European 
and international institutions have made pro-
nouncements aimed to allow more flexibility 
concerning the implementation of accounting 
and prudential frameworks. These pronoun-
cements have been taken into consideration 
by the Group when elaborating its Financial 
Statements.

The main impacts derived from the pandemic 
are detailed in the following Notes:

- Note 3 includes information on the conside-
ration of the COVID-19 pandemic in estimates.

- Note 17 includes information on initiatives ca-
rried out by the Entity to assist affected clients. 
This includes, among others, information re-
lated to the number of operations and the 
amount corresponding to moratoriums, both 
public and private, granted by the Group. 

In addition, in 2020, a "Post-Model Adjustment" 
was used to calculate the provision for credit 
risk from the Group's internal model, based 
on "expert judgement" and in order to include 
extreme economic conditions, the uncertain-
ty about the duration of the pandemic and the 
effectiveness of the measures adopted by the 
authorities for an amount of 8 million euros. In 
2021, given the availability of more reliable in-
formation on macroeconomic scenarios, these 
have been updated, reversing the "Post Model 
Adjustment" recorded for this item.

Throughout 2020, and with the aim of mitiga-
ting the impact associated with Covid-19, both 
the Bank of Spain and the European Central 
Bank made pronouncements aimed at allowing 
greater flexibility in the implementation of ac-
counting frameworks, mainly focused on avoi-
ding the automatic use of those indicators and 
assumptions which, although reasonable to 
date, have proven to be inappropriate in the 
context of Covid-19. Thus the Bank of Spain, 
in line with the EBA's communications, has 
allowed greater use to be made of the flexibility 
regarding the classification of certain deferred 
or refinanced transactions that serves as the 
basis for estimating their credit risk coverage. 

In line with these recommendations of the su-
pervisory bodies, the Group classified in Stage 1 
certain customers who have been granted mo-
ratoriums (deferrals) during the financial year 
2020 and who before the impact of Covid-19 
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had good payment behaviour and as a result of 
the crisis generated by the pandemic are ob-
served to have a transitory liquidity problem. 
Thus the Entity set certain thresholds to assess 
this good payment behaviour prior to Covid-19 
and keep customers who meet these criteria in 
Stage 1, rather than Stage 2 or Stage 3. 

In the year 2021, almost all of the moratoriums 
granted in the year 2020 have ended and the-
refore there is no differentiated accounting 
treatment for these types of operations.

2.3 Consolidation 
principles

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities on which the Group 
has control. In general, this capacity is stated, 
although not exclusively, by ownership, direct or 
indirect, of at least 50% of the political rights on 
investees or, if such percentage was below 50% 
or null, if, for example, there are agreements 
with their shareholders who grant such control 
to the Group. Control is understood to be the 
power to manage the financial and operational 
policies of an entity in which there is a holding, 
so as to obtain profits from its activities.

It is understood that an entity controls an inves-
tee when it is exposed to or has rights to varia-
ble returns for its involvement in the investee 
and has the ability to influence such returns 
through the power exercised on the investee. 
The following must concur in order to consider 
the existence of control:

a) Power:
An investor has power on an investee when the 
investor holds rights in force which provide it 
with the capacity to direct relevant activities, 
which are those which significantly affect the 
investee’s yields;

b) Yields: 
An investor is exposed or has right to variable 
yields for its involvement in the investee when 
yields obtained by the investor for such invol-
vement can vary in the basis of the investee’s 
economic evolution. The investor’s yields shall 
be only positive, only negative or simultaneous-
ly positive and negative.

c) Relation between power and yields: 
An investor controls an investee if the investor 
does not only hold power on the investee and 
is exposed or has right to variable yields for its 
involvement in the investee, but also has the 
capacity to use its power to influence yields ob-
tained for such involvement in the investee.

The financial statements of subsidiaries are 
consolidated with those of the Group by appl-

ying the full consolidation method. Conse-
quently, all significant balances and transac-
tions among consolidated entities and such 
entities and the Group are eliminated within 
the consolidation process.

At acquisition of a subsidiary, its assets, liabili-
ties and contingent liabilities are registered at 
their fair value at acquisition date. Positive di-
fferences between the acquisition cost and fair 
values of identifiable net assets acquired are 
recognised as goodwill. Negative differences 
are allocated to profit and loss at acquisition 
date.

Additionally, the shareholding by minority sha-
reholders on the Group’s equity is presented 
under “Minority shareholders” on the accom-
panying consolidated balance sheet. Their 
shareholding on the results for the year is pre-
sented on the caption “Results attributed to 
minority shareholders” on the accompanying 
consolidated income statement.

The consolidation of results generated by en-
tities acquired during a certain year only con-
siders results related to the period comprised 
between the acquisition date and that year’s 
closing. In parallel, the consolidation of results 
generated by entities disposed of during a cer-
tain year only considers those results related to 
the period from the opening of the year and the 
date of disposal.
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Securitisation funds in which an exposure has 
been withheld as subordinated financing have 
been consolidated through the global inte-
gration, in order to provide more information, 
although the control is not held on them, the-
re being alternative accounting presentation 
options.

Associates

Associates are those over which the Group 
holds a significant influence, although not a 
control or joint control. It is assumed that there 
is a significant influence when 20% or more of 
voting rights are held, directly or indirectly, on 
an investee, unless it is possible to clearly de-
monstrate that there is not such influence.

On consolidated financial statements, associa-
tes are valued by the “equity method”, that is to 
say, by the fraction of its net equity represen-
ting the Group’s shareholding on its capital, af-
ter considering dividends perceived from them 
and other equity eliminations. In the case of 
transactions with an associated entity, the co-
rresponding profit or loss is eliminated on the 
Group’s percentage over its capital.  

Structured entities 

In those cases in which the Group sets up or par-
ticipates in entities for the purpose of allowing 
its customers access to certain investments, or 
for the transfer of risks or other purposes, also 

known as structured entities since voting rights 
or similar are not the decisive factor in deci-
ding who controls the entity, it is determined, 
in accordance with internal criteria and pro-
cedures and considering the provisions of the 
relevant regulations, whether control exists, as 
described above, and therefore whether or not 
they should be subject to consolidation. Speci-
fically, for those entities in which it is applicable 
(mainly mutual funds and pension funds), the 
Group analyses the following factors:

- Percentage shareholding maintained by the 
Group, with a general threshold of 20%.

- Identification of the fund manager, verifying 
whether it is a company controlled by the 
Group as this could affect the ability to direct 
the relevant activities.

- Existence of agreements and/or arrange-
ments between investors that may result in de-
cision-making requiring the joint participation 
of investors, in which case the fund manager is 
not the decision-maker. - Existence of currently 
exercisable exclusion rights (possibility to re-
move the manager from office) as the existen-
ce of such rights may be a limitation to the ma-
nager's power over the fund, concluding that 
the manager acts as an agent of the investors.

- Analysis of the fund manager's remuneration 
regime, considering that a remuneration regime 
commensurate with the service provided does 

not generally create an exposure of such signifi-
cance as to indicate that the manager is acting 
as a principal. Conversely, if the remuneration is 
not commensurate with the service provided, 
it could give rise to such an exposure as to lead 
the Group to a different conclusion. 

Structured entities also include so-called as-
set-backed securitisation vehicles, which are 
consolidated in those cases where, being ex-
posed to variable returns, it is determined that 
the Group has retained control. The exposure 
associated with unconsolidated structured en-
tities is not material in relation to the Group's 
consolidated financial statements. 

The following table sets out, among other infor-
mation, the structured entities (Asset Securi-
tisation Funds) that are consolidated in these 
consolidated financial statements as of 31 De-
cember 2021:
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Society Country Activity

Mortgage Securitisation Fund UCI 11 Spain Securitisation

Mortgage Securitisation Fund UCI 12 Spain Securitisation

Mortgage Securitisation Fund UCI 14 Spain Securitisation

Mortgage Securitisation Fund UCI 15 Spain Securitisation

Mortgage Securitisation Fund UCI 16 Spain Securitisation

Mortgage Securitisation Fund UCI 17 Spain Securitisation

Securitisation Fund, RMBS Prado IV Spain Securitisation

Securitisation Fund, RMBS Prado V Spain Securitisation

Securitisation Fund, RMBS Prado VI Spain Securitisation

Securitisation Fund, RMBS Prado VII Spain Securitisation

Securitisation Fund, RMBS Prado VIII Spain Securitisation

Securitisation Fund, RMBS Prado IX Spain Securitisation

RMBS Green Belem I Portugal Securitisation
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The relevant information of Group Entities’ 
investments on December 31, 2021 and 2020 
is the following:

NAME AND ADDRESS
SHARE 

CAPITAL 2021
(in thousands of Euros)

SHARE 
CAPITAL 2020

(in thousands of Euros)
SHAREHOLDING PERCENTAGE ACTIVITY

UNIÓN DE CRÉDITOS INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. ESTABLE-CIMIENTO 
FINANCIERO DE CREDITO Sociedad Uniper-sonal
C/ RETAMA 3 - MADRID

52,534 45,852 100% Property financing loans

UCI SERVICIO PARA PROFESIORES INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. (antes 
COMPRARCASA SERVICIOS 
INMOBILIARIOS, S.A. Sociedad Unipersonal)
C/ RETAMA 3 - MADRID

635 635 100%
The provision of all types of services related with 
the property/IT market

RETAMA REAL ESTATE (antes U.C.I. SERVICIOS INMOBILIARIOS Y 
PROFESIONALES, S.L.
Sociedad Unipersonal)
C/ RETAMA 3 - MADRID

2,578 2,578
100% Advice, Management, direction and assistance for 

companies, as well as the acquisition and sale of 
real estate

ComprarCasa, Rede de Serviços Imobiliários, SA 275 275 99.9%
Development of IT activities and services related 
to the real estate sector, both through Internet and 
other technologies

UCI–Mediação de Seguros Unipessoal Lda
5 5 100% Insurance brokerage

UCI Holding Brasil Lda
1,494 1,494 100%

Holding entity. It holds 50% of COMPANHIA 
PROMOTORA UCI

(UCI Hellas Credit and Loan Receivables Servicing Company S.A. 100 100 100%  Management and maintenance of loans granted 
by financial entities.



232 Annual Report 2021

The contribution to the Group’s results by each 
entity during 2021 has been the following:

UCI, SA
Business 

in Spain

Business in Portugal 

and Greece

ComprarCasa, 

Rede de Serviços 

Imobiliários, 

S.A.

UCI Servicios 

para 

profesionales 

inmobiliarios S.A.

Retama Real 

Estate

UCI Mediación de 

seguros
UCI Holding Ltda

UCI Hellas 

Credit and Loan 

Receivables 

Servicing 

Company S.A.

Total Consolidado

(4,011) 30,169 4,219 8 167 (1,275) 2 134 75 29,488

Unión de Créditos 
Inmobiliario, SA. EFC

The contribution to the Group’s results by each 
entity during 2020 has been the following:

UCI, SA
Business 

in Spain

Business in Portugal 

and Greece

ComprarCasa, 

Rede de Serviços 

Imobiliários, 

S.A.

UCI Servicios 

para 

profesionales 

inmobiliarios S.A.

Retama Real 

Estate

UCI Mediación de 

seguros
UCI Holding Ltda

UCI Hellas 

Credit and Loan 

Receivables 

Servicing 

Company S.A.

Total Consolidado

(854) (40,753) (10,724) (4) (66) 1,478 (7) (3) (51) (30,522)

Unión de Créditos 
Inmobiliario, SA. EFC
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In the consolidation process, the full consolida-
tion procedure has been applied for the annual 
accounts of the subsidiaries. In this respect, 
the financial statements of the companies in-
cluded in the Group's scope of consolidation 
have been adapted to the valuation models, 
principles and standards used and the estima-
tes made, in accordance with the regulatory 
framework for financial reporting contained in 
the regulations governing financial credit ins-
titutions, without any significant adjustments 
having arisen as a result of this homogenisation 
process.

Consequently, all significant balances and tran-
sactions among Entities that are part of the 
consolidation perimeter have been written-off 
during the consolidation process. 
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3. Changes 
and errors in 
accounting criteria 
and estimates
The information included in the present conso-
lidated annual accounts is under the responsi-
bility of the Parent entity’s Directors. Estimates, 
if any, have been used in the present consolida-
ted annual accounts to value certain assets, lia-
bilities, expenses and commitments made by 
the Parent entity’s Senior Management, subse-
quently ratified by the Directors. 

Such estimates correspond to the following:

 - Losses from impairment of certain financial 
assets (Note 17 and 18)

 - The useful life applied to tangible assets and 
intangible assets (Notes 19 and 20)

 - The fair value of certain unlisted assets (Notes 
24 and 25) 

 - Impairment losses on non-current assets held 
for sale and investment property (Note 18 and 
20)

 - The valuation of the provisions required to co-
ver legal contingencies (Note 26)

 - The recoverability of deferred tax assets (Note 
29)

In updating the estimates described above, the 
Group has considered the current situation as a 
result of Covid-19, classified as a pandemic by 
the World Health Organisation, which is signi-
ficantly affecting economic activity worldwide 
and, as a result, the Entity's operations and fi-
nancial results, and which generates uncertainty 
in the Entity's estimates. Therefore, the Parent 
Company's management has made an assess-
ment of the current situation based on the best 
information available to date, developing in the 
Notes to the main estimates made the potential 
impacts of Covid-19 on them during the period 
ended 31 December 2021 (see Note 2.2).

Although the estimates described above have 
been made on the basis of the best information 
available at year-end 2021, it may be that future 
events may make it necessary to modify them 
(upwards or downwards) in the coming years, 
which would be done in accordance with the 
provisions of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019, 
prospectively, recognising the effects of the 
change in estimate, if any, in the corresponding 
income statement.

There are no additional aspects to those indica-
ted in Note 2.1.
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4. Distribution 
of income
The Board of Directors of the Parent shall pro-
pose to the General Meeting of Shareholders 
the approval of the losses for the year and their 
transfer to negative results of previous years. 

The proposed appropriation of the profit for the 
financial year 2021 obtained by the Company, 
which its Board of Directors will propose to the 
Sole Shareholder for approval, as well as the 
appropriation of the profit for the financial year 
2020 approved by the General Meeting of Sha-
reholders, is as follows:

2021 2020 (*)

Net profit for the year (5,794) 9,547

Application:
 To legal reserve
 To voluntary reserve
 To results of previous years
 To Dividends

-
-

(5,794)
-

955
8,592

-
-

Thousands of euros
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5. Minimum 
equity

Until December 31, 2013, Circular 3/2008 of 
Bank of Spain, of 22 May, and successive up-
dates, on the determination and control of 
minimum equity, regulated minimum equity 
requirements to be held by Spanish credit enti-
ties – both at individual and consolidation level 
– and the way to determine such equity.

On June 27, 2013, the European Union’s Official 
Gazette published the new regulation on capital 
requirements (called CRD IV), applicable from 
January 1, 2014, comprised by the following:

- Directive 2013/36/EU, of 26 June, of the Eu-
ropean Parliament and Council, related to the 
access to the activity by credit entities and 
investment companies, and the prudential 
supervision of credit entities and investment 
companies, modifying Directive 2002/87/EC 
and derogating Directives 2006/48/EC and 
2006/49/EC.

- Regulation EU 575/2013, of 26 June, of the 
European Parliament and Council, on pruden-
tial requirements for credit entities and invest-
ment companies, modifying Regulation EU 
648/2012.

In Spain, the transposition of the new European 
regulation has been performed on two stages. 
On a first stage, Royal Decree Law 14/2013, of 
29 November, was published, on urgent mea-
sures to adapt the Spanish law to the European 
Union regulation in supervision and solvency of 
financial entities, performed a partial transpo-
sition of Directive 2013/36/EU to the Spanish 
law and empowered Bank of Spain, in its final 
fifth provision, to use options allocated to na-
tional competent authorities in Regulation EU 
575/2013.

In the exercise of authorisation granted by such 
Royal-Decree Law, Bank of Spain approved 
Circular 2/2014, of 31 January, on the exercise 
of several regulatory options contained on Re-
gulation (EU) 575/2013, determining chosen 
national permanent and transitory options, for 
its application by credit institutions from the 
entry into force of such regulation, in January 
2014. Subsequently, this Circular was modified 
regarding the treatment of the deduction of in-
tangible assets during the transitory period, by 
Circular 3/2014, of 30 July, of Bank of Spain.

On a second stage, Law 10/2014, of 26 June, 
was enacted on regulation, supervision and sol-
vency of credit entities, establishing bases for 
a complete transposition of Directive 2013/36/
EU. Subsequently, in February 2015, Royal De-
cree 84/2015, of 13 February, was published, 
developing Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on regula-
tion, supervision and solvency of credit entities.

Then, Circular 2/2016, of 2 February, was pu-
blished, on supervision and solvency, which 
completes the adaptation of the Spanish legal 
system to Directive 2013/36/EU and to the Re-
gulation (EU) 575/2013.

All the above constitutes the current regula-
tion in force on minimum equity to be held by 
Spanish credit entities, both at individual and 
consolidation levels, and the way to determine 
such equity, as well as several capital self-as-
sessment processes to be applied.

Bank of Spain will have a supervisory func-
tion over the Financial Credit Establishments, 
in agreement with title III Law 10/2014, of 26 
June, on the regulation, supervision and sol-
vency of credit institutions, with adaptations 
that, where applicable, are determined by re-
gulation. This competence will be extended to 
any office or centre, in the Spanish territory or 
abroad, and, to the extend required by the com-
pliance with functions entrusted to Bank of 
Spain, to companies integrated in the group of 
the Financial Credit Establishment.

Finally, according to Royal Decree 309/2020, 
of 11 February, on article 29, the solvency regi-
me will be applicable to financial credit esta-
blishments and consolidable groups of finan-
cial credit establishments set in title II of Law 
10/2014, of 26 June, and in title II of Royal De-
cree 84/2015, of 13 February, in its developing 
standards, with the scope and specialities set 
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in Law 5/2015, of 27 April, and in such Royal 
Decree.

Concerning financial credit establishments 
that have the condition of SME, in agreement 
with the Recommendation 2003/361/EC of 
the Commission, of 6 May 2003, on the defi-
nition of micro-enterprises, small and medium 
entities, the capital conservation buffers, and 
specific anticyclical capital regulated in articles 
44 and 45 of Law 10/2014, of 26 June, and its 
developing regulation will not be applicable. 

Recommendation 2003/361/EC of the Com-
mission, of 6 May 2003, on the definition of mi-
cro-enterprises, small and medium entities es-
tablishes the following in article 2 of its Annex: 

o The category of micro-enterprises, small and 
medium entities (SME) comprises companies 
with less than 250 employees and which an-
nual turnover does not exceed 50 million euros 
or which general annual balance sheet does 
not exceed 43 million euros.

o The category of SME defines a small com-
pany as one with less than 50 employees and 
which annual turnover or general annual balan-
ce sheet does not exceed 10 million euros.

o The category of SME defines a micro-enterpri-
se as a company that hires less than 10 emplo-
yees and which annual turnover or general annual 
balance sheet does not exceed 2 million euros.

Therefore, at 2021 closing, the solvency regime 
established for credit institutions in title II of 
Law 10/2014, of 26 June, and in title II of Royal 
Decree 84/2015 is applicable to the Entity, with 
the abovementioned exceptions.

On 11 February 2020, the new Royal Decree 
309/2020, on the legal regime of financial cre-
dit establishments and amending the Regula-
tions of the Commercial Registry, approved by 
Royal Decree 1784/1996, of 19 July, and Royal 
Decree 84/2015, of 13 February, implementing 
Law 10/2014, of 26 June, on the regulation, 
supervision and solvency of credit institutions, 
was approved and came into force on 1 July 
2020.

In 2019, UCI Group decided to adopt criteria 
defined by EU CRR regarding the compliance 
with the percentage of 2.5% of “capital conser-
vation buffer”.

On April 16, 2019, UCI EFC España performed 
a transfer of 32 million euros, in order to allo-
cate share capital to its Branch in Portugal, in 
agreement with the local regulator, for the pur-
pose of maintaining sufficient solvency with a 
view to the development of its credit activity in 
Portugal.

Therefore, the Group considers equity and the 
equity requirements established by the afore-
mentioned regulations as a fundamental ele-
ment of its management of the Group, affec-

ting both investment decisions, analysis of the 
viability of operations, etc.

The Parent Company is responsible for the 
Bank of Spain's compliance with capital requi-
rements at the consolidated level. 

Below is a detail, classified into Tier 1 and Tier 
2 capital, of the Group's capital on 31 Decem-
ber 2021 and 2020, calculated in accordance 
with the provisions of Royal Decree 309/2020, 
which established that, in general, the pruden-
tial regulations for credit institutions, in particu-
lar Regulation 575/2013 of the European Union 
(CRR), would be applicable to financial credit 
institutions.

The minimum capital requirements established 
by the aforementioned regulations are calcu-
lated on the basis of the Group's exposure to 
credit and dilution risk (based on the assets, 
commitments and other memorandum items 
that present these risks, taking into account 
their amounts, characteristics, counterparties, 
guarantees, etc.), counterparty risk and posi-
tion and settlement risk corresponding to the 
trading book, foreign exchange risk (based on 
the net global position in foreign currencies) 
and operational risk. The Group is also subject 
to regulatory risk concentration limits.
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2021 2020 (*)

Computable Capital 158,019 98,018

Computables Reserves 211,982 292,514

Result of the year - (25,658)

Other basic PRs according to national legislation 108,423 122,301

Other deductions from basic own resources (1,016) (2,369)

BASIC OWN RESOURCES 477,408 456,934

Standard subordinated financing and similar instruments 105,000 105,000

SECOND CATEGORY OWN RESOURCES 105,000 105,000

COMPUTABLE OWN RESOURCES 582,408 561,934

TOTAL, WEIGHTED AVERAGE ASSETS 5,507,610 5,351,752

TOTAL, OWN RESOURCES REQUIREMENTS 578,299 561,934

OWN RESOURCES SURPLUS (+) / DEFICIT (-) 4,108 8,459

Thousands of euros

(*) Figures not restated
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Accordingly, the solvency ratios at year-end 
2021 and 2020 would be as follows: 2021 2020 

About Common Equity 8.67% 7.11%

On basic own resources 8.65% 8.67%

On second category own resources 2.23% 1.99%

Of total own resources 10.88% 10.66%

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, and during 
those years, the individual and consolidated eli-
gible capital exceeded the requirements of the 
regulations in force at any given time, with a sol-
vency ratio of 10.88% and 10.66%, respectively.

It should be mentioned that on 3 December 
2021, the Group had received from the Bank of 
Spain the letter containing the conclusions of 
the inspection mission carried out by the Bank 
at the Company between November 2020 and 
April 2021 for Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios, 
S.A., E.F.C. In this letter, the Bank of Spain re-
quired that the exposures from variable fees 
generated by securitisation funds receive the 
prudential treatment provided for in Article 
32.1(b) of the CRR, and therefore be deducted 
in full from the amount of the own funds of the 
subsidiary Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A., 
E.F.C.

At year-end 2021, this amount represented 
313.6 million euros. After this deduction, at year-
end the subsidiary's Tier 1 book equity amoun-

ted to 155.9 million euros without incorporating 
the profit for the year, i.e., 2.82% of risk-weigh-
ted assets. With the inclusion of the second-tier 
equity of 113 million, the solvency ratio is 4.87%. 
The deduction of the variable fee alone reduces 
the solvency ratio by 5.68% and is responsible 
for the deficit of 311.1 million euros that the sub-
sidiary reported in its solvency statement at the 
end of 2021.

Following the communication received from 
Pillar 2 of the supervisor (Note 10), the parent 
company U.C.I., S.A. has proceeded to capita-
lise its subsidiary Unión de Créditos Inmobilia-
rios, S.A., E.F.C. through the issue of new shares 
for an amount of 322 million euros on 3 March 
2022, and a new subordinated debt issue for 
an amount of 45 million euros on 24 March. Af-
ter these operations, without incorporating the 
result of 2021 as equity, based on the estima-
ted amount of variable commission at the end 
of March 2022, and assuming conservatively 
stable risk-weighted assets, the estimated sol-

vency ratio at the end of March 2022 would be 
13.21%, and 10.40% based solely on Tier 1 equity. 
The incorporation of the 2021 result would put 
these ratios at 13.83% and 11.02%, so that this 
subsidiary would meet the established capital 
requirements.

The amount and speed of the recapitalisation of 
Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios, S.A., E.F.C. by 
its sole shareholder UCI, S.A., in turn implicitly 
reflects the commitment of UCI, SA's own sha-
reholders to the solvency of the UCI Group and 
of its main component, Unión de Créditos Inmo-
biliarios, S.A., E.F.C.
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6. Information
by market segment 
and additional 
information

a) Segmentation by business lines

The main business of UCI Group is mortgage 
business, without other significant business 
lines.

b) Segmentation by geographic scope

The Group counts with a Branch in Portugal 
(production of 173 million euros and 191 million 
euros on December 31, 2020 and 2019 respec-
tively) and in Greece, which ended its commer-
cial activity in 2011, but continued granting new 
credits until 2016, in order to finance sales of 
certain REOs. It was closed at the end of the 
first quarter of 2019, reallocating assets to the 
parent company. The remaining activity is held 
in the national territory.

The branch in Portugal has financial assets at 
amortised cost (loans and receivables) amoun-

ting to 1,195 million euros and 1,176 million euros 
on 31 December 2021 and 2020 respectively.

c) Agency contracts

Neither at 2020 and 2019 closings, nor throu-
ghout such years, has the Group held “agency 
contracts” in force on the way they are con-
templated under article 22 of Royal Decree 
1245/1995, of July 14, of the Ministry of Eco-
nomy and Treasury. 

d) Coefficient of minimum reserves 

At December 31, 2020 and 2019, both the 
Group and the Parent Entity exempt are from 
complying with this coefficient, as they do not 
acquire responsible funds from the public.
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7. Remuneration 
and duty to loyalty 
of the entity's 
directors and key 
management 
personnel

The remuneration for members of the Board of 
Directors is included under the heading Person-
nel Costs in the accompanying consolidated 
income statement for an amount of 102 thou-
sand Euros (102 thousand Euros in 2020). 

At the date of formulation of the consolidated 
annual accounts, the Board members of UCI, 
S.A. and persons related to them, as defined 
by article 231 of the Corporate Enterprises Act, 
have not communicated to other Board mem-
bers any situation of conflict, direct or indirect, 
with the Entity’s interest.

Remuneration of key personnel and Board 
members as Directors

The salary remuneration received in financial 
year 2021 by the professionals who make up 
the Group's key personnel in their capacity as 
executives amounted to 2,782 thousand euros 
(2,683 thousand euros in financial year 2020), 
all of which corresponds to fixed remuneration. 
The Group's senior management corresponds 
to the senior management of the subsidiary 
Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios, S.A., E.F.C., as 
there are no members of the Board of Directors 
classified as senior management in the Parent 
Company. 

There are no termination benefits for key per-
sonnel in the financial year 2021 and 2020.

For the purposes of the attached data, key per-
sonnel are understood to be the persons who 
meet the requirements indicated in section 1.d) 
of Rule 62 of Circular 4/2017.
o 1.d) de la Norma 62ª de la Circular 4/2017.

Commitments for pensions, insurances, 
credits, guarantees and other concepts

The Group’s Directors have not been granted 
with commissions for pensions, credits, gua-
rantees or other concepts.
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8. Environmental 
impact
The Group considers that it has adopted the 
appropriate measures regarding the protection 
and improvement of the environment and the 
minimisation, as applicable, of environmen-
tal impact, complying with the regulations on 
this aspect. During 2020 and 2019, the Group 
has not made any significant investment of an 
environmental nature and neither has it consi-
dered it necessary to register any provision for 
risks and charges of an environmental nature, 
neither does it consider that there any material 
contingencies regarding the protection and im-
provement of the environment.

9. Audit fees
Fees for the audit of the Group's accounts, in-
cluded under "Other general administrative ex-
penses" in the consolidated income statement 
for the year 2021, amounted to 109,900 euros 
(103,062 euros in the year 2020 corresponding 
to Mazars Auditores, S.L.). In the financial year 
2021, no fees have been accrued by the auditor 
or other entities of its network for other servi-

ces (18.8 thousand euros in the financial year 
2020 corresponding to Mazars Auditores, S.L.), 
and regardless of their invoicing period.

10. Subsequent 
events
The conflict between Russia and Ukraine is 
causing, among other effects, an increase in 
the price of certain raw materials and the cost 
of energy, as well as the activation of sanctions, 
embargoes and restrictions towards Russia that 
affect the economy in general and companies 
with operations with and in Russia specifically. 
The extent to which this conflict will impact the 
Group's business will depend on the develop-
ment of future events that cannot be reliably 
predicted at the date of preparation of these 
financial statements. In any case, despite the 
uncertainty, the directors of the parent com-
pany do not expect that this situation will lead 
to a breach of material contractual obligations 
on the part of the Group, nor will it affect com-
pliance with the going concern principle.

In addition, on 24 January 2022, after the end 
of the year, Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios, 
S.A., E.F.C. received a communication from its 
supervisor, the Bank of Spain, within the fra-

mework of the SREP process. This communi-
cation established under Pillar II a P2R level of 
2% in addition to the solvency level required for 
the Company, which is 10.5%, as well as an ad-
ditional 1% P2G level.

Consequently, the parent company UCI, S.A., 
the sole shareholder of Unión de Créditos In-
mobiliarios, S.A., E.F.C., subscribed on 3 March 
2022 to a capital increase of 322 million euros, 
and subscribed to a subordinated debt issue of 
45 million euros on 24 March 2022.

Between 31 December 2021 and the date of 
authorisation for issue of these consolidated fi-
nancial statements, no events other than those 
indicated in the preceding paragraphs have oc-
curred that would materially affect the accom-
panying financial statements of the Entity.
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11. Accounting 
principles and 
rules and valuation 
criteria applied

The most significant accounting policies and ru-
les and measurement basis applied in drawing 
up these annual accounts are described below:

a) Principle of accrual

These annual accounts, except as applicable 
in respect of the cash flows statements, have 
been drawn up based on the real flow of goods 
and services, regardless of their date of pay-
ment or receipt.

b) Other general principles

The annual accounts have been drawn up on 
the historic cost basis, although modified by fi-
nancial assets and liabilities (including derivati-
ves) at fair value.

The preparation of the annual accounts requi-
res the use of certain accounting estimates. 
Likewise, this requires Management to exerci-
se its judgement in the process of applying the 

Entity’s accounting policies. These estimates 
could affect the amount of the assets and lia-
bilities and the breakdown of contingent assets 
and liabilities at the date of the annual accounts 
and the amount of income and costs during the 
period for the annual accounts. Although the-
se estimates are based on Management’s best 
knowledge of the current and foreseeable cir-
cumstance, the end results might differ from 
these estimates.

Going concern principle
In preparing the annual accounts it has been 
assumed that the management of the Com-
pany will continue for the foreseeable future. 
Therefore, the application of accounting stan-
dards is not intended to determine the value of 
the net assets for the purpose of their global or 
partial transfer or the resulting amount in the 
event of liquidation. Furthermore, the Directors 
of the Company consider that the Sole Share-
holder (UCI, S.A.) will continue to provide the 
Company with the necessary financial support 
to enable it to continue to operate normally in 
the future.

c) Financial derivatives

Financial derivatives are instruments that, in 
addition to providing a profit or a loss, can allow, 
under certain conditions, compensation of all 
or part of the credit and/or market risks asso-
ciated with balances and transactions, using as 
underlying components interest rates, certain 

indices, prices of some securities, cross rates 
of exchange for different currencies or other si-
milar references. The Entity uses traded finan-
cial derivatives in organised markets (OTC).
 
Financial derivatives are used for trading with 
customers who request this, for the Manage-
ment of the risks in the Entity’s own positions 
(hedging derivatives) or to benefit from chan-
ges in the prices of these. Financial derivatives 
that cannot be considered as being for hedging 
are considered as trading instruments. The fo-
llowing are the conditions for a financial deriva-
tive to be considered as being for hedging:

1.  The financial derivative must cover the risk 
of variations in the value of assets and liabili-
ties as a result of changes in the interest rate 
and/or exchange rate (cover for fair values), 
the risk of alterations to the estimated cash 
flows originating in financial assets and liabili-
ties, highly probable foreseen commitments 
and transactions (cash flow hedge) or the risk 
of net investment in a foreign business (he-
dge of net investments in foreign business).

2. The financial derivative should effectively 
eliminate any some risk inherent to the com-
ponent or position covered throughout the full 
period of hedging. Consequently, it is to have 
prospective effectiveness, effectiveness at the 
time of contracting the hedging under normal 
conditions, and retrospective effectiveness, su-
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fficient evidence that the effectiveness of the 
hedging is to be maintained throughout the life 
of the hedged component or position.

The effectiveness of the hedging provided by 
the derivatives defined as hedge, is to be duly 
documented by means of the tests of effecti-
veness, which is the tool that proves that the 
differences produced by changes in market 
prices between the hedged component and its 
hedging is maintained at reasonable parame-
ters throughout the life of the operations, the-
reby complying with the forecasts established 
at the moment of contracting.

If this is not the case at any moment, all asso-
ciated operations in the hedging group are to be 
transferred to trading instruments and be duly 
reclassified in the balance sheet.

3. It is adequately documented in the effective-
ness tests that the contracting of the financial 
derivative took place specifically to serve as he-
dging for certain balances or transactions and 
the form in which it was intended to achieve 
and measure this effective hedging, provided 
that this is form is consistent with the manage-
ment of the Entity’s own risks.

Hedges can be applied to individual items or 
balances or to portfolios of financial assets and 
liabilities. In the latter case, all the financial as-
sets or liabilities to be hedged must share the 
same type of risk, which is understood to be 

met when the sensitivity to interest rate chan-
ges of the individual hedged items is similar. A 
hedge is considered to be highly effective when 
it is expected, both prospectively and retros-
pectively, at inception and throughout its life, 
that changes in the cash flows of the hedged 
item that are attributable to the hedged risk will 
be almost entirely offset by changes in the fair 
value or cash flows of the hedging instrument. 
A hedge is considered to be highly effective 
when the results of the hedge have ranged wi-
thin a range of 80% to 125% of the results of the 
hedged item.

The Group normally uses interest rate swaps to 
hedge against interest rate fluctuations, prima-
rily with the Group's two shareholders.

Hedges are performed by homogeneous groups 
with a derivative for each transactions or hed-
ged group of transactions, and under the same 
conditions of reference, term, etc., as the hed-
ged component.

d) Definitions and classification of financial 
instruments

1. Definitions

A "financial instrument" is a contract that gives 
rise to a financial asset in one entity and, simul-
taneously, a financial liability or equity instru-
ment in another entity.

An "equity instrument" is a legal arrangement 
that evidences a residual interest in the assets 
of the issuing entity after deducting all of its 
liabilities.

A 'financial derivative' is a financial instrument 
whose value changes in response to changes in 
an observable market variable (such as an inte-
rest rate, foreign exchange rate, the price of a fi-
nancial instrument or a market index, including 
credit ratings), whose initial investment is very 
small relative to other financial instruments 
with a similar response to changes in market 
conditions and which is generally settled at a 
future date.

Hybrid financial instruments' are contracts that 
simultaneously include a host contract other 
than a derivative together with a financial de-
rivative, called an embedded derivative, that is 
not individually transferable and that has the 
effect that some of the cash flows of the hy-
brid contract vary in the same way as would the 
embedded derivative in isolation.

Compound financial instruments are contracts 
that simultaneously create a financial liability 
and an equity instrument for the issuer (e.g. 
convertible bonds that give the holder the right 
to convert them into equity instruments of the 
issuing entity).

The following transactions are not treated for 
accounting purposes as financial instruments:
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- Holdings in subsidiaries.
- Rights and obligations arising from employee 
benefit plans.

2. Classification of financial assets for valua-
tion purposes

Financial assets are presented in groups within 
the different categories in which they are classi-
fied for management and measurement purpo-
ses, unless they are presented as "Non-current 
assets and disposal groups classified as held 
for sale", or correspond to "Cash, cash balances 
at central banks and other demand deposits", 
"Derivatives - hedge accounting", "Financial as-
sets at fair value through other comprehensive 
income", or "Investments in subsidiaries, joint 
ventures and associates" in which case they 
are shown separately.

The classification criteria for financial assets 
depend both on the business model for their 
management and the characteristics of their 
contractual flows. 

The Company's business models refer to the 
way it manages its financial assets to generate 
cash flows. 

The Company takes the following factors into 
account in defining these:

- How the performance of the business model 
and the financial assets held in the business-

model are assessed and reported to key mana-
gement personnel.

- The risks that affect the performance of the 
business model (and the financial assets held 
in the business model) and, in particular, how 
those risks are managed.

- How business managers are remunerated.

- The frequency and volume of sales in previous 
years, as well as expectations of future sales.

Analysing the characteristics of the contrac-
tual cash flows of financial assets requires an 
assessment of the consistency of those flows 
with a basic borrowing arrangement. Contrac-
tual cash flows that are solely payments of 
principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding meet this requirement.

Based on the above, the asset can be measured 
at amortised cost, at fair value through other 
comprehensive income or at fair value through 
profit or loss. Bank of Spain Circular 4/2019 of 
26 November 2009 also establishes the option 
to designate an instrument at fair value throu-
gh profit or loss under certain conditions. The 
Company uses the following criteria for the 
classification of debt instruments:

- Amortised cost: financial instruments under 
a business model whose objective is to collect 

principal and interest flows, on which there are 
no significant unjustified sales and fair value is 
not a key element in the management of these 
assets and the contractual conditions give rise 
to cash flows on specific dates, which are only 
payments of principal and interest on the prin-
cipal amount outstanding.  In this regard, sales 
other than those related to an increase in the 
credit risk of the asset, unforeseen financing 
needs (liquidity stress scenarios) are conside-
red as unjustified sales. In addition, the charac-
teristics of their contractual flows substantially 
represent a "basic funding agreement".

- Fair value through other global result: finan-
cial instruments included in a business model 
whose objective is achieved through the co-
llection of principal and interest flows and the 
sale of these assets, with fair value being a key 
element in the management of these assets. In 
addition, the characteristics of their contractual 
flows represent substantially a "basic financing 
arrangement".

- Fair value through profit or loss: financial ins-
truments included in a business model whose 
objective is not achieved through those men-
tioned above, fair value being a key element in 
the management of these assets, and financial 
instruments whose contractual flow characte-
ristics do not substantially represent a "basic 
financing arrangement". This section includes 
the portfolios classified under the headings 
"Financial assets held for trading", "Financial 
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assets not held for trading mandatorily measu-
red at fair value through profit or loss" and "Fi-
nancial assets designated at fair value through 
profit or loss".

Equity instruments are accounted for under 
Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 at fair value 
through profit or loss unless the entity elects, in 
the case of non-trading assets, to classify them 
irrevocably at fair value through other global
result.

3. Classification of financial assets for presen-
tation purposes

Financial assets are included for presentation 
purposes, according to their nature on the ba-
lance sheet, if any, in the following categories:

•  Cash, balances with central banks and other 
demand deposits: cash balances and immedia-
tely available amounts receivable arising from 
deposits held at the Banco de España and other 
central banks.

 •  Derivatives: includes, where applicable, zo-
ther entities, such as shares and participa-
ting interests, which have the nature of equity 
instruments for the issuer, unless they are in-
vestments in associates or jointly controlled 
entities.

•  Debt securities: debt securities and other se-
curities evidencing a debt owed by their issuer, 

which bear interest and are evidenced by certi-
ficates or book entries.
  
• Loans and advances: debit balances on cre-
dits or loans granted by the Company, as well 
as, where applicable, other debit balances of 
a financial nature in favour of the Company, 
such as debit balances on bank accounts held 
with other institutions, term accounts, reverse 
repurchase agreements, cheques drawn on 
credit institutions, balances receivable from 
clearing houses and settlement agencies for 
transactions on stock exchanges and organised 
markets, guarantees given in cash, accrued di-
vidends receivable in favour of the Company, 
fees for financial guarantees receivable and ba-
lances receivable for transactions not origina-
ting from banking operations and services such 
as the collection of rents and similar. They are 
classified according to the institutional sector 
to which the debtor belongs as follows:

• Central banks: claims of any kind on central 
banks.

- Credit institutions: claims of every kind on 
credit institutions, including deposits and mo-
ney market operations, on behalf of credit 
institutions.

- Customer: includes the remaining debit ba-
lances of all credits or loans granted by the 
Company to customers.

 •  Derivatives - hedge accounting: offsetting en-
try for amounts credited to the profit and loss 
account arising from the valuation of portfolios 
of financial instruments that are effectively he-
dged against interest rate risk through fair value 
hedging derivatives.

4.. Classification of financial liabilities for pre-
sentation purposes

Financial liabilities are presented grouped into 
the different categories into which they are 
classified for management and measurement 
purposes, unless they are to be presented as 
"Derivatives - hedge accounting", which are 
shown separately.

Financial liabilities are included for valuation 
purposes in one of the following portfolios:

-  Financial liabilities held for trading (at fair va-
lue through profit or loss): Financial liabilities is-
sued for the purpose of benefiting in the short 
term from changes in their prices, financial 
derivatives that are not considered to be hed-
ging instruments, and financial liabilities arising 
from the firm sale of financial assets acquired 
under resale or borrowing arrangements (short 
positions).

- Financial liabilities designated at fair value 
through profit or loss: Financial liabilities are in-
cluded in this category when more relevant in-
formation is obtained either because this elimi-
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nates or significantly reduces inconsistencies 
in recognition or measurement (also referred 
to as accounting mismatches) that would ari-
se in the measurement of assets or liabilities 
or from the recognition of their gains or losses 
on different bases, either because there is a 
group of financial liabilities, or financial assets 
and liabilities, and they are managed and their 
performance is evaluated on a fair value basis 
in accordance with a documented risk mana-
gement or investment strategy and information 
on that group is also provided on a fair value 
basis to the Company's key management per-
sonnel. Liabilities may only be included in this 
portfolio at the date of issue.

- Financial liabilities at amortised cost: financial 
liabilities that are not included in the previous 
category and that correspond to the typical 
fund-raising activities of financial institutions, 
irrespective of the form in which they are ins-
trumented and their maturity.

At both 31 December 2021 and 31 Decem-
ber 2020, the Group did not hold any finan-
cial liabilities that, according to the applicable 
standards, should be classified in any other 
category.

5. Classification of financial liabilities for pre-
sentation purposes

Financial liabilities are included for presentation 
purposes, according to their nature in the ba-

lance sheet, in the following categories, if any:

•  Derivatives: includes the fair value, with an 
unfavourable balance for the Company, of de-
rivatives that do not form part of accounting 
hedges.

• Deposits: includes the amounts of repayable 
balances received in cash by the institution, ex-
cept those in the form of negotiable securities 
and those which are in the nature of subordi-
nated liabilities. It also includes, where appli-
cable, guarantees and cash deposits received, 
the amount of which may be freely invested. 

Deposits are classified according to the institu-
tional sector to which the creditor belongs into:

- Central banks: deposits of all types, including 
credits received and money market operations, 
received from the Banco de España or other 
central banks.

- Credit institutions: deposits of every kind, in-
cluding credit received and money market ope-
rations on behalf of credit institutions.

- Customer: includes all other deposits, inclu-
ding the amount of money market operations 
conducted through central counterparties.

- Debt securities issued: includes the amount 
of debt securities and other debt securities in 
the form of negotiable securities, other than 

those in the form of subordinated liabilities. 
This category includes, where applicable, the 
component that is considered to be a financial 
liability of securities issued that are compound 
financial instruments.

- Other financial liabilities: includes the amount 
of obligations payable in the nature of financial 
liabilities not included elsewhere.

- Derivatives - hedge accounting: includes the 
fair value, against the Company, of financial de-
rivatives designated as hedging instruments in 
accounting hedges.

- Short positions: the amount of financial lia-
bilities arising from the outright sale of securi-
ties received under reverse repurchase agree-
ments, securities lending or puttable collateral.

e)  Valuation and recording of results of finan-
cial assets and liabilities

Financial assets and liabilities are initially recog-
nised at fair value which, unless there is eviden-
ce to the contrary, is the transaction price. For 
instruments not measured at fair value through 
profit or loss, the initial fair value is adjusted for 
transaction costs, in the case of financial liabili-
ties, that are directly attributable to the issue or 
arrangement of the financial liability, and for the 
amount of fees and commissions and transac-
tion costs that are directly attributable to the 
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acquisition or arrangement of the financial as-
set. Subsequently, at the end of each reporting 
period, they are measured in accordance with 
the following criteria: 

Valuation of financial assets

Financial assets, except for Loans and Recei-
vables and Equity Instruments whose fair value 
cannot be determined in a sufficiently objecti-
ve manner (as well as financial derivatives that 
have these equity instruments as underlying 
asset and are settled by delivery of these equity 
instruments), if any, are measured at their "fair 
value" at each balance sheet date, without de-
ducting any transaction costs for their sale.

The 'fair value' of a financial instrument on a 
given date is the price that would be received 
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in 
an orderly transaction between knowledgeable, 
willing parties in an arm's length transaction. 
The most objective and common reference for 
the fair value of a financial instrument is the pri-
ce that would be paid for it in an active, transpa-
rent and deep market ('quoted price' or 'market 
price').

When there is no market price for a given fi-
nancial instrument, its fair value is estimated 
on the basis of the price established in recent 
transactions involving similar instruments or, 
failing that, on the basis of valuation models 
sufficiently tested by the financial community, 

taking into account the specific characteristics 
of the instrument to be valued and, in particular, 
the different types of risk associated with the 
instrument. 

Derivatives are recorded in the balance sheet at 
their fair value from the trade date. If their fair 
value is positive, they are recorded as an asset 
and if negative, as a liability. On the trade date, 
it is assumed that, unless there is evidence 
to the contrary, their fair value is equal to the 
transaction price. Changes in the fair value of 
trading derivatives from the trade date are re-
cognised with a balancing entry in the profit 
and loss account. Specifically, the fair value of 
standard exchange-traded financial derivatives 
included in the trading portfolios is assimilated 
to their daily quoted price and if, for exceptional 
reasons, their quoted price cannot be establi-
shed on a given date, methods similar to those 
used to value over-the-counter derivatives are 
applied.

The fair value of OTC derivatives is the sum of 
the future cash flows arising from the instru-
ment, discounted to present value at the me-
asurement date ("present value" or "theoreti-
cal close"), using methods recognised by the 
financial markets, such as "net present value" 
or option pricing models, among others, in the 
valuation process.

Balances of debt securities and loans and ad-
vances under a business model whose objec-

tive is to collect principal and interest flows are 
measured at amortised cost, provided that they 
meet the Solely Payments of Principal and Inte-
rest (SPPI) test, using the effective interest rate 
method. Amortised cost is the acquisition cost 
of a financial asset or liability plus or minus (as 
appropriate) principal repayments and the por-
tion systematically taken to the consolidated 
income statement of the difference between 
the initial cost and the corresponding redemp-
tion value at maturity. In the case of financial 
assets, the amortised cost also includes impair-
ment losses. For loans and advances hedged in 
fair value hedging transactions, changes in their 
fair value related to the risk or risks hedged in 
these hedging transactions are recognised.

The effective interest rate is the discount rate 
that exactly matches the initial value of a finan-
cial instrument to all its estimated cash flows 
from all sources over its remaining life. For fixed 
rate financial instruments, the effective inte-
rest rate coincides with the contractual interest 
rate established at the time of acquisition plus, 
where applicable, fees and transaction costs 
that, by their nature, form part of the financial 
return. For floating rate financial instruments, 
the effective interest rate coincides with the 
prevailing rate of return in all respects until the 
first resetting of the benchmark interest rate to 
take place.

Equity instruments and contracts related to tho-
se instruments must be measured at fair value. 
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However, in certain specific circumstances the 
Company believes that cost is an appropriate 
estimate of fair value. This may be the case if 
recent available information is insufficient to 
measure fair value, or if there is a wide range of 
possible fair value measurements and cost re-
presents the best estimate of fair value within 
that range.

The amounts at which the financial assets are 
recorded represent, in all material respects, the 
Company's maximum exposure to credit risk at 
each reporting date. 

Subsequent valuation of financial liabilities

Financial liabilities are generally measured at 
amortised cost as defined above, except for 
financial liabilities held for trading, financial lia-
bilities at fair value through profit or loss and 
financial liabilities designated as hedged items 
in fair value hedges (or as hedging instruments) 
whose carrying amount is modified by changes 
in their fair value related to the risk or risks he-
dged in those hedging transactions. Changes 
in the credit risk arising from financial liabilities 
designated at fair value through profit or loss 
shall be recognised in accumulated other com-
prehensive income, unless they create or in-
crease an accounting mismatch, in which case 
changes in the fair value of the financial liability 
in all respects shall be recognised in profit or 
loss.

Recording of results

As a general rule, changes in the carrying 
amounts of financial assets and liabilities are 
recognised with a balancing entry in the pro-
fit and loss account; a distinction is made be-
tween those arising from the accrual of interest 
and similar items (which are recognised under 
interest income or interest expense, as appro-
priate) and those arising from other causes. 

The latter are recorded at their net amount un-
der profits or losses on financial assets or 
liabilities.

Fair value adjustments arising from changes in:

- Financial assets at fair value through accumu-
lated other global result are recognised tempo-
rarily, in the case of debt instruments, in accu-
mulated other global result - Items that may be 
reclassified to profit or loss - Financial assets at 
fair value through other global result, while in 
the case of equity instruments they are recog-
nised in accumulated other global result - Items 
that will not be reclassified to profit or loss - 
Changes in fair value of equity instruments me-
asured at fair value through other global result. 
Exchange differences on debt instruments me-
asured at fair value through accumulated other 
global result are recognised in Exchange diffe-
rences, net in the income statement. Exchange 
differences on equity instruments for which 

the option to measure at fair value through ac-
cumulated other global result has been irrevo-
cably elected are recognised in Accumulated 
other global result - Items not to be reclassified 
to profit or loss - Changes in fair value of equi-
ty instruments measured at fair value through 
other global result.

- Items charged or credited to equity Accumu-
lated other comprehensive income - Items that 
may be reclassified to profit or loss - Financial 
assets at fair value through other global result 
and Accumulated other global result - Items 
that may be reclassified to profit or loss - Fo-
reign currency translation remain part of the 
Company's equity until the asset in which they 
arise is impaired or derecognised in the conso-
lidated balance sheet, at which time they are 
written off against the consolidated income 
statement.

Unrealised gains on assets classified as non-cu-
rrent assets held for sale as part of a disposal 
group or discontinued operation are recognised 
with a balancing entry in equity under Accumu-
lated other global result - Items that may be re-
classified to profit or loss - Non-current assets 
and disposal groups that have been classified 
as held for sale.
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f) Transfers of assets and derecognition of fi-
nancial assets and liabilities

The accounting treatment of transfers of finan-
cial assets is conditioned by the extent to which 
and the manner in which the risks and rewards 
associated with the assets being transferred 
are transferred to third parties:

1. If the risks and rewards are substantia-
lly transferred to third parties - in the case of 
unconditional sales, sales under repurchase 
agreements at fair value at the repurchase date, 
sales of financial assets with a purchased call or 
written put option deep out of the money, asset 
securitisations in which the transferor does not 
retain subordinated financing or grant any cre-
dit enhancement to the new holders, and other 
similar cases - the transferred financial asset is 
derecognised, while recognising any rights or 
obligations retained or created as a result of the 
transfer.

2. If substantially all the risks and rewards as-
sociated with the transferred financial asset are 
retained - in the case of sales of financial assets 
under repurchase agreements for a fixed price 
or for the sale price plus interest, securities len-
ding agreements in which the borrower has an 
obligation to return the same or similar assets, 
in the case of asset securitisations in which the 
transferor maintains some type of subordina-
ted financing or grants some type of credit en-
hancement to the new holders that entails as-

suming substantial credit risk, and other similar 
cases - the transferred financial asset is not de-
recognised and continues to be measured on 
the same basis as before the transfer. Instead, 
they are recognised for accounting purposes: 

- An associated financial liability for an amount 
equal to the consideration received, which is 
generally measured subsequently at amortised 
cost.
- Both the income on the transferred (but not 
derecognised) financial asset and the expen-
ses on the new financial liability.

3. Si If substantially all the risks and rewards as-
sociated with the transferred financial asset are 
neither transferred nor retained - such as sales 
of financial assets with a purchased call or wri-
tten put option that are neither deeply in the 
money nor deeply out of the money, securiti-
sations where the transferor assumes a subor-
dinated financing or other credit enhancement 
for a portion of the risk of the transferred asset, 
and other similar cases - a distinction is made 
between:

- If the transferor does not retain control of the 
transferred financial asset: it is derecognised 
and any rights and obligations retained or crea-
ted as a result of the transfer are recognised.
- If the transferor retains control of the transfe-
rred financial asset: it continues to carry it on 
the balance sheet at an amount equal to its ex-
posure to changes in value and recognises a fi-

nancial liability associated with the transferred 
financial asset. The net amount of the trans-
ferred asset and the associated liability is the 
amortised cost of the retained rights and obli-
gations if the transferred asset is measured at 
amortised cost or the fair value of the retained 
rights and obligations if the transferred asset is 
measured at fair value.

Accordingly, financial assets are only derecog-
nised when the rights to the cash flows they 
generate have been extinguished or when the 
risks and rewards associated with them have 
been substantially transferred to third parties. 
Similarly, financial liabilities are only derecog-
nised when the obligations they generate have 
been extinguished or when they are acquired 
by the Group (either with the intention to can-
cel them or to reposition them).

During the financial years 2021 and 2020 the 
Group has not transferred any financial instru-
ments that have been removed from the balan-
ce sheet.

g) Clearing financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are off-
set, i.e., presented on the balance sheet at their 
net amount, only when the entity has both a le-
gally enforceable right to offset the amounts re-
cognised in those instruments and an intention 
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.
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As of 31 December 2021 and 31 December 
2020, there are no financial assets or liabilities 
for material amounts that have been offset in 
the balance sheet at that date.

h)  Impairment of financial assets

Definition:

The Company recognises impairment losses 
on financial assets measured at amortised 
cost, debt instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income, lease 
payments and commitments and guarantees 
not measured at fair value.

An impairment loss for expected credit losses 
is recognised with a charge to the income sta-
tement for the period in which the impairment 
becomes evident. Recoveries of previously re-
cognised impairment losses, if any, are recog-
nised in the income statement for the period 
in which the impairment ceases to exist or is 
reduced.

For credit-impaired financial assets originated 
or purchased, the Company shall recognise 
only cumulative changes in expected credit los-
ses over the life of the asset from initial recogni-
tion as an impairment loss at the reporting date. 
For assets measured at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, the portion of changes 
in fair value due to expected credit losses is re-
flected in the income statement in the period 

in which the change occurs, with the remainder 
of the measurement reflected in other compre-
hensive income.

In general, the expected credit loss is estimated 
as the difference between all contractual cash 
flows to be recovered under the contract and 
all cash flows expected to be received discoun-
ted at the original effective interest rate. In the 
case of purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets, this difference is discounted 
using the effective interest rate adjusted for 
credit quality.

Depending on the classification of the finan-
cial instruments, as mentioned in the following 
sections, expected credit losses may be either 
12-month or lifetime:

- 12-month expected credit losses: are the por-
tion of expected credit losses arising from po-
tential default events, as defined below, that 
are expected to occur within 12 months of the 
reporting date. These losses shall be associated 
with financial assets classified as "normal risk" 
as defined below.

- Expected credit losses over the life of the fi-
nancial instrument: these are the expected cre-
dit losses arising from potential default events 
that are expected to occur over the life of the 
transaction. These losses are associated with 
financial assets classified as "normal risk under 
special surveillance" or "doubtful risk".

For the purpose of estimating the expected life 
of a financial instrument, all contractual terms 
(e.g. prepayments, duration, call options, etc.) 
are taken into account, with the contractual 
period (including extension options) being the 
maximum period to be considered for measu-
ring expected credit losses. In the case of finan-
cial instruments with undefined contractual 
maturity and an available balance component, 
the expected life is estimated using quantitati-
ve analyses to determine the period over which 
the entity is exposed to credit risk, also consi-
dering the effectiveness of management prac-
tices that mitigate such exposure (e.g., ability to 
unilaterally cancel such financial instruments, 
etc.).

The balances corresponding to impaired assets 
are kept on the balance sheet, in their entirety, 
until the recovery of these amounts is conside-
red by the remote Group.

The Group considers recovery to be remote 
when the borrower suffers a notorious and irre-
coverable deterioration in its solvency, when 
the liquidation phase of the insolvency procee-
dings has been declared or when more than 48 
months have passed since its classification as 
doubtful due to default and it has no mortgage 
guarantee. 

When the recovery of a financial asset is consi-
dered remote, it is written off the balance sheet 
together with its provision, without prejudice to 
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any actions that the Group may take to try to 
recover it until its rights have been definitively 
extinguished, whether by expiry of the statute 
of limitations, forgiveness or other causes.

Classification of financial instruments

For the purpose of calculating the impairment 
allowance, and in accordance with its internal 
policies, the Group classifies its financial instru-
ments (financial asset, risk or contingent com-
mitment) measured at amortised cost or at fair 
value through other comprehensive income 
into one of the following categories:

• Normal Risk ("Stage 1"): comprises all instru-
ments that do not meet the requirements to be 
classified in the other categories.

• Normal Risk on Special Surveillance ("Pha-
se 2"): comprises all instruments that, while 
not meeting the criteria for classification as 
non-performing or write-off, exhibit significant 
increases in credit risk since initial recognition.

For the purpose of determining whether a fi-
nancial instrument has increased its credit risk 
since initial recognition and is therefore classi-
fied as Stage 2, the Group uses qualitative cri-
teria and does not use quantitative criteria at 
the reporting date. 

The Group uses various indicators that are alig-
ned with those used by the Group in its normal 
credit risk management (e.g., irregular positions 
of more than 30 days and refinancings). The 
Company has defined these qualitative indi-
cators, for each of its portfolios, on the basis of 
the particularities and standard management 
practices in line with the policies currently in 
place. The use of these qualitative criteria is 
supplemented using experienced expert judge-
ment, subject to appropriate governance where 
necessary.

• Doubtful Risk ("Phase 3"): includes financial 
instruments, whether due or not, in which, wi-
thout meeting the circumstances to classify 
them as written-off risk, there are reasonable 
doubts as to their full repayment (principal and 
interest) by the customer under the contrac-
tually agreed terms. Also considered in Phase 
3 are off-balance sheet exposures whose pay-
ment is probable but whose recovery is doubt-
ful. Within this category, two situations are di-
fferentiated: 

- Doubtful risk due to late payment: financial 
instruments, irrespective of their holder and 
collateral, that are more than 90 days past due 
in terms of principal, interest or contractually 
agreed charges. Also, the amounts of all tran-
sactions of a customer are considered in this 
category when the transactions with overdue 
amounts more than 90 days old are greater than 
20 % of the outstanding amounts receivable. 

These instruments may be reclassified to other 
categories if, as a result of the collection of part 
of the overdue amounts, the reasons for their 
classification in this category disappear and the 
customer has no overdue amounts more than 
90 days old in other transactions.

- Doubtful risk for reasons other than late pay-
ment: this category includes doubtful recovery 
transactions that are not more than 90 days 
past due. 

The Group considers a transaction to be doub-
tful for reasons other than default when an 
event, or several events combined, with a ne-
gative impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of the transaction has occurred. 

These operations may be reclassified to other 
categories if, as a result of a case-by-case re-
view, there is no reasonable doubt as to their 
full repayment under the contractually agreed 
terms and there are no overdue amounts more 
than 90 days old.

•  Write-off risk: comprises all financial assets, 
or the portion thereof, for which, after individual 
analysis, recovery is considered remote due to 
a significant and irrecoverable deterioration in 
their creditworthiness.

In any case, except in the case of transactions 
with collateral covering more than 10% of the 
amount of the transaction, the Company gene-
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rally considers as remote recovery: transactions 
of holders who are in the liquidation phase of 
insolvency proceedings and doubtful transac-
tions due to late payment that have been in this 
category for more than 4 years.

Balances relating to a financial asset are retai-
ned on the balance sheet until they are dee-
med to be "risk written off", either in full or in 
part, and are removed from the balance sheet.
In the case of transactions that have been only 
partially derecognised due to write-offs or be-
cause part of the total amount is considered 
irrecoverable, the remaining amount shall be 
classified in its entirety in the "doubtful assets" 
category, subject to duly justified exceptions.

The classification of a financial asset, or part of 
a financial asset, as "risk written off" does not 
imply the discontinuation of negotiations and 
legal proceedings to recover the amount of the 
asset.

In accordance with the amendments intro-
duced by Bank of Spain Circular 3/2020 of 11 
June, restructured, refinanced or refinancing 
credit transactions do not necessarily have to 
be classified as normal risk under special sur-
veillance when their classification as doubtful 
risk does not apply. In other words, these tran-
sactions may continue to be classified as nor-
mal risk at the date of refinancing or restruc-
turing provided that the institution can justify 
that it has not identified a significant increase 

in credit risk since initial recognition. Likewise, 
such transactions that are in the normal risk 
category under special surveillance may be re-
classified to normal risk provided that the sig-
nificant increase in credit risk has been rever-
sed. However, they must remain identified as 
restructured, refinanced or refinancing until the 
end of the minimum two-year probationary pe-
riod during which the holder must demonstrate 
good payment behaviour.

Calculation of the impairment allowance

The Company has policies, methods and proce-
dures in place to hedge its credit risk, both due 
to the insolvency attributable to counterparties 
and due to its residence in a specific country. 
These policies, methods and procedures are 
applied in the granting, study and documenta-
tion of financial assets, contingent liabilities and 
commitments, as well as in the identification of 
their impairment and in the calculation of the 
amounts necessary to hedge its credit risk.

The asset impairment model in Bank of Spain 
Circular 4/2017 and subsequent amendments 
applies to financial instruments measured at 
amortised cost and at fair value through other 
comprehensive income, lease payments, as 
well as commitments and guarantees not mea-
sured at fair value.

The impairment loss represents the best esti-
mate of the expected credit losses of the finan-

cial instrument at the balance sheet date, both 
individually and collectively:

•  Individually: for the purpose of making esti-
mates of provisions for credit risk due to insol-
vency of a financial instrument, the Company 
makes an individualised estimate of the expec-
ted credit losses of those financial instruments 
that are considered significant and with suffi-
cient information to make such calculation.

The individual estimate of the impairment loss 
on the financial asset is equal to the difference 
between the gross carrying amount of the tran-
saction and the value of the estimated cash 
flows expected to be collected discounted 
using the original effective interest rate of the 
transaction. The estimate of these cash flows 
considers all available information on the finan-
cial asset and the effective collateral associa-
ted with the asset.

•  Collectively: the institution estimates ex-
pected credit losses on a collective basis in 
cases where they are not estimated on an in-
dividual basis. This includes, for example, ex-
posures to individuals, sole proprietors or retail 
banking companies subject to standardised 
management. 

For the collective calculation of expected cre-
dit losses, the Company has robust and reliable 
internal models. For the development of the-
se models, instruments with similar credit risk 
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characteristics indicative of the debtors' ability 
to pay are considered. 

The credit risk characteristics considered in 
grouping instruments include, but are not li-
mited to: type of instrument, age of past due 
amounts and any other factors that are relevant 
to the estimation of future cash flows. 

The Company performs retrospective and fo-
llow-up tests on these estimates to assess the 
reasonableness of the collective calculation.

On the other hand, the methodology requi-
red for the quantification of the expected loss 
on credit events is based on an unbiased and 
probability-weighted consideration of a series 
of scenarios, considering a range of between 
three and five possible future scenarios, de-
pending on the characteristics of each unit, 
that could impact the contractual cash flows, 
always taking into account both the time value 
of money and all available and relevant infor-
mation on past events, current conditions and 
forecasts of the evolution of macroeconomic 
factors that are shown to be relevant to the es-
timation of this amount (e.g: GDP (Gross Do-
mestic Product), house prices, unemployment 
rates, etc. ).

For the estimation of the parameters used in 
the estimation of impairment provisions (EAD 
(Exposure at Default), PD (Probability of De-
fault), LGD (Loss Given Default), the Company 

has based itself on its experience in the deve-
lopment of internal models for the calculation 
of parameters both in the regulatory sphere and 
for management purposes, adapting the deve-
lopment of the impairment provision models 
under Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017 and sub-
sequent amendments.

- Exposure at default: is the amount of risk in-
curred estimated at the time of counterparty 
analysis.

- Probability of default: the estimated probabili-
ty that the counterparty will default on its prin-
cipal and/or interest payment obligations.

- Loss given default: the estimate of the loss gi-
ven default is the estimate of the severity of the 
loss incurred in the event of default.

In any case, portfolio sales are included when 
estimating the flows expected to be recove-
red. It should be noted that due to the recovery 
policy and the experience observed in relation 
to the prices of past sales of assets classified 
as phase 3 and/or write-offs, there is no subs-
tantial divergence between the flows obtained 
from recoveries after performing a recovery 
management of the assets with those obtained 
from the sale of asset portfolios discounting the 
structural expenses and other costs incurred.

The definition of default implemented in the 
Company for the purposes of calculating im-

pairment allowance models is based on the de-
finition of article 178 of EU Regulation 575/2013 
(CRR), which is fully aligned with the require-
ments of Bank of Spain Circular 4/2017, which 
considers that there is a "default" in relation to 
a given customer/contract when at least one of 
the following circumstances exists: that the en-
tity considers that there are reasonable doubts 
about the payment of all of its credit obligations 
or that the customer/contract is in a situation 
of irregularity for more than 90 days with res-
pect to any significant credit obligation.

The Bank of Spain, on the basis of its experien-
ce and the information it has on the Spanish 
banking sector, as well as forecasts on future 
conditions, has estimated coverage percen-
tages, as an alternative solution in its Circular 
4/2017, for the collective estimation of risk co-
verage, for doubtful risk due to non-performing 
loans, as well as for Normal / Normal Special 
Surveillance risk.

The Company currently applies the alternative 
solutions criteria to the "development finance" 
portfolio.

Evaluation of the effectiveness of guarantees

The Entity assesses the effectiveness of all 
associated guarantees by considering the fo-
llowing aspects: 
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•  The time required to execute such 
guarantees. 

•   The Entity's ability to enforce or assert these 
assurances in its favor.

•   Existence of limitations imposed by the local 
regulation of each unit on the foreclosure of co-
llateral. In no case does the company consider 
a guarantee to be effective if its effectiveness 
depends substantially on the solvency of the 
debtor.

According to the above, mortgage collateral on 
immovable property, which is first charge, duly 
constituted and registered, is considered effec-
tive collateral. Immovable property includes:

–  Finished buildings and building elements.

–  Urban land and land for development.

– Other real estate.

The Entity values guarantees according to their 
nature in accordance with points 69 to 85 of 
Annex IX of Circular 4/ 2017 on the basis of the 
following: 

• Mortgage collateral on real estate associated 
with financial instruments, using full individual 
valuations performed by independent valuation 
experts and under generally accepted valuation 
standards in the case of granting, as well as 

whether the thresholds defined in the standard 
will be exceeded. In the case of collateral up-
grades, where the thresholds are not exceeded, 
automated valuation methods are used.

The Entity applies a number of adjustments to 
the value of collateral in order to improve the 
benchmark values: 

• Adjustments according to the entity's histori-
cal sales experience. 

•  Likewise, in order to adjust the value of the 
guarantees, the time value of money is taken 
into account on the basis of the institution's 
historical experience, estimating:

- Period of award/granting 
- Estimated time of sale of the asset.

In addition, the Entity takes into account all 
cash inflows and outflows related to such colla-
teral up to the time of its sale:

•  Potential future income committed to the 
borrower that may be accessed after the asset 
has been foreclosed. 

•   Estimated award/granting costs.

•   Asset maintenance costs, taxes and commu-
nity costs. 

•  Estimated marketing or sales costs.

h)   Recognition of income and expenses

Interest income, interest expense and similar 
items are generally recognised on an accruals 
basis using the effective interest method. Inte-
rest accrued on debtors classified as doubtful is 
credited to income upon collection, which is an 
exception to the general rule.

Fees and commissions paid or received for 
financial services, irrespective of their con-
tractual denomination, are classified in the fo-
llowing categories, which determine their re-
cognition in the profit and loss account:

•  Credit fees: fees that form an integral part of 
the effective yield or cost of a financing opera-
tion. These fees are collected in advance and 
can be of three types:

-Fees and commissions received for the origi-
nation or acquisition of financing transactions 
that are not measured at fair value through pro-
fit or loss. These fees shall be deferred and re-
cognised in the profit and loss account over the 
life of the transaction as an adjustment to the 
effective yield or cost of the transaction under 
the same heading as finance income or costs, 
i.e. 'interest income' and 'interest expense'.

These fees may include fees for activities such 
as assessing the borrower's financial condition, 
evaluating and registering personal guarantees, 
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collateral and other security arrangements, ne-
gotiating the terms of the transaction, prepa-
ring and processing documents and closing the 
transaction.

- Fees paid on the issue of financial liabilities 
measured at amortised cost. They shall be in-
cluded together with the related direct costs 
incurred, which shall not include costs ari-
sing from the right to provide a service, in the 
carrying amount of the financial liability and 
shall be recognised in the income statement 
as an adjustment to the effective cost of the 
transaction.

- Non-credit fees: fees and commissions arising 
from the provision of financial services other 
than financing operations, which can be of two 
types.

- Relating to the performance of a service that 
is provided over time: revenue shall be recog-
nised in the profit and loss account over time, 
measuring progress towards complete fulfil-
ment of the performance obligation, in accor-
dance with Rule 15(15) of Circular 4/2017.

- Related to the provision of a service that is 
performed at a specific point in time: these fees 
accrue at the point in time when the customer 
obtains control over the service, such as in the 
case of securities underwriting fees, currency 
exchange fees, advisory fees or loan syndica-
tion fees where, in the latter case, the institu-

tion does not retain any part of the transaction 
for itself or retains it on the same risk terms as 
the other participants.

Direct related costs are all costs that would not 
have been incurred if the transaction had not 
been concluded.

Personnel costs

Personnel costs include all of the Group’s social 
liabilities and obligations, compulsory or volun-
tary, accrued at each moment, recognising obli-
gations for extraordinary payments, holidays 
and variable remunerations, as well as associa-
ted expenses.

Remunerations at short term: this kind of re-
munerations are valued, without update, by the 
amount payable for services received, genera-
lly registering them as personnel costs for the 
year and including them on an account under 
liabilities of the balance sheet for the differen-
ce between the total accrued expense and the 
amount satisfied at year end.

Severances: according to the legislation in for-
ce, the Entity is compelled to settling severan-
ce payments to employees who are dismissed 
without a justified cause. At year end, the Entity 
does not count with a plan to reduce its person-
nel which would lead to a necessary provision 
for this concept.

i) Compensation of balances 

Debtor or creditor balances originated in tran-
sactions that, contractually or by legal obliga-
tion, have the possibility of compensation and, 
if the intention is to settle these for their net 
amount or for the asset to be realised and the 
liability settled simultaneously, are presented 
in the consolidated balance sheet at their net 
amount.

j) Financial guarantees

Financial guarantees are those contracts under 
which the Group is compelled to pay specific 
amounts on behalf of a third party in the event 
of the latter not doing so, irrespective of their le-
gal nature, such as, among others, a guarantee, 
a financial or technical guarantee and irrevoca-
ble documentary credit issued or confirmed by 
the Group.

Financial guarantees are classified based on 
the credit risk attributable to the customer or 
to the transaction and, if appropriate, conside-
ring the need for provisions. This credit risk is 
determined by applying similar criteria to those 
established for debt instruments measured at 
their amortised cost.

If it was necessary to constitute a provision for fi-
nancial guarantees, commissions to be accrued, 
which are registered in the caption of Accruals 
of Liabilities in the consolidated balance sheet, 
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are reclassified into the corresponding provision.

k) IIncome tax

The income tax expense for the year is calcula-
ted as the sum of the current tax resulting from 
the application of the corresponding tax rate to 
the taxable profit for the year (after deducting 
tax credits allowable for tax purposes) and the 
change in deferred tax assets and liabilities re-
cognised in the Company's income statement.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities include tem-
porary differences which are identified as 
amounts expected to be payable or recovera-
ble in respect of differences between the carr-
ying amounts of assets and liabilities and their 
corresponding tax bases ("tax bases"), as well 
as tax loss carryforwards and tax credit carry-
forwards. These amounts are recognised by 
applying to the corresponding temporary diffe-
rence the tax rate at which they are expected to 
be recovered or settled.

The heading "Tax assets" includes the amount 
of all tax assets, distinguishing between: "cu-
rrent" (amounts to be recovered for taxes in the 
next twelve months) and "deferred" (includes 
the amounts of taxes to be recovered in futu-
re years, including credits for tax deductions or 
allowances pending offset).

Tax liabilities" includes the amount of all tax 
liabilities, except tax provisions, which are 

broken down as follows: "current" (includes the 
amount of income tax payable on taxable profit 
for the year and other taxes in the next twelve 
months); and "deferred" (includes the amount 
of income tax payable in future years).

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all ta-
xable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets, identified as temporary di-
fferences, are only recognised if it is conside-
red probable that the Group will have sufficient 
future taxable profit against which they can be 
utilised.

At the end of each reporting period, the defe-
rred tax assets and liabilities are reviewed to en-
sure that they are still valid, and the appropriate 
adjustments are made in accordance with the 
results of the analyses performed. 

The capitalised tax loss carryforwards amount 
to approximately 80.4 million euros at 31.12.21 
and 98.4 million euros at 31 December 2020). 
As explained in note 31, an impairment of 
6,500 thousand euros has been made in 2021 
in relation to the tax credits capitalised, in an 
exercise of prudence and in accordance with 
the business plan, and the recoverability of the 
amounts currently capitalised is considered hi-
ghly probable with the generation of consolida-
ted taxable income.

l)  Operating leases

On 1 January 2019, IFRS-EU 16 replaced IAS 17 
"Leases". The single lessee accounting model 
requires the recognition of assets and liabilities 
for all lease contracts. The standard provides 
two exceptions to the recognition of lease as-
sets and liabilities, which can be applied in ca-
ses of short-term contracts and those where 
the underlying asset is of low value.

The single lessee accounting model requires 
the recognition of assets and liabilities for all 
lease contracts. The standard provides two ex-
ceptions to the recognition of lease assets and 
liabilities, which can be applied in the case of 
short-term contracts and those where the un-
derlying asset is of low value.

To determine whether a contract is a lease or 
whether it is another type of contract, such as a 
contract for the provision of services, it is analy-
sed whether the following two conditions are 
met: (i) the asset is identified in the contract 
and (ii) the contracting party receiving the as-
set has the right to control its use.

The term of the lease shall be equal to the 
non-cancellable period of a lease, plus the pe-
riods covered by the option to extend the lea-
se, if it is reasonably certain that the lessee will 
exercise that option, and plus the periods cove-
red by the option to terminate the lease, if it is 
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reasonably certain that the lessee will not exer-
cise that option. 

In operating leases, ownership of the leased as-
set and substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership remain with the lessor.
When the Company acts as lessor in operating 
leases, it presents the acquisition cost of the 
leased assets under "Tangible assets".

These assets are depreciated in accordan-
ce with the policies adopted for similar tangi-
ble assets for own use and income from lease 
contracts is recognised in the profit and loss 
account on a straight-line basis under "Other 
operating income".

When the Company acts as lessee and the 
contracts have a term of less than 12 months or 
where the underlying asset is of low value, the 
expenses of these contracts are recorded un-
der "Administrative expenses - Other general 
administrative expenses" in the profit and loss 
account.

When the Company acts as lessee and the 
contracts have a term of more than 12 months 
or where the underlying asset is not of low va-
lue, the Company recognises a lease liability in 
the balance sheet under "Financial liabilities at 
amortised cost - other financial liabilities" and 
a right-of-use asset which are measured as 
follows:



259Annual Report 2021

At agreement’s inception Subsequently

Lease liability

It is valued at the current value of lease payments that are not paid at 
such date, using as discount rate the interest rate, called “additional 
financing rate”, that would have to be paid by the Entity to borrow, with 
similar term and guarantee, the necessary funds to obtain a good of 
a similar value than the right-of-use asset in a similar economic envi-
ronment.

However, in the case where such update is of scarce materiality, the 
entity values the liability, without updating the flows, for the purpose 
of simplifying the estimate.

It is valued at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate method, 
and is remeasured (with the corresponding adjustment in the related 
right-of-use asset) when there is a change in future lease payments in 
case of renegotiation, changes in an index or rate, or in the case of a 
new assessment of the agreement’s options.

Right-of-use asset

It is valued at cost and includes the amount of the lease liability’s initial 
valuation, payments made at inception or before, initial direct costs 
and those for dismantling or rehabilitation expected to be incurred 
when there is an obligation to bear them.

It is linearly amortised and is subject to any impairment loss, where 
applicable, according to the treatment established for the remaining 
tangible and intangible assets.
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m) Property, plant and equipment

Tangible assets for own use correspond to the 
property, plant and equipment that have a con-
tinued use by the Group and property, plant and 
equipment acquired under finance leases. They 
are valued at their acquisition cost less the co-
rresponding accumulated depreciation and, as 
applicable, less any impairment loss determi-
ned by comparing the net carrying amount with 
the corresponding recoverable amount. 

Depreciation is calculated systematically using 
the straight-line method over the years of esti-
mated useful life for the assets on the basis of 
their acquisition cost less their residual value. 

The Group, reviews, at least at every year-end, 
the estimated useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment for own use with a view to detecting 
any significant changes therein. If such changes 
are detected, the useful lives are adjusted by 
correcting the depreciation charge to be recog-
nised in the consolidated income statement in 
future years on the basis of the new estimated 
useful life.

Upkeep and maintenance costs, relating to 
property, plant and equipment for own use, are 
charged to the consolidated income statement 
for the year in which they are incurred.

n) Intangible assets

Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary 
assets without physical substance. Intangible 
assets are considered to be identifiable when 
they are separable from other assets because 
they can be disposed of, rented or held indi-
vidually or which arise as a consequence of a 
contract or other type of legal transaction. An 
intangible asset is recognised when, in addition 
to satisfying the above definition, the Group 
considers that it is probable that future econo-
mic benefits will be generated by this asset and 
its cost can be reliably estimated.

Intangible assets are recognised initially at their 
acquisition of production cost and are measu-
red subsequently at cost less, where applica-
ble, any accumulated depreciation and any im-
pairment loss.

In all cases, the Group recognises for accoun-
ting purposes any loss that might arise in the 
recognised value for these assets arising from 
impairment with the corresponding charge in 
the consolidated income statement. The cri-
teria used to recognise the impairment losses 
on these assets and, where applicable, the re-
versal of impairment losses recognised in prior 
years are similar to those used for tangible as-
sets.

o) Property, plant and equipment - Property in-
vestments

This caption of the accompanying balance 
sheet includes lands, buildings and other cons-
tructions held by the Entity to be exploited un-
der lease, in order to generate capital gains at 
their sale, or for both purposes, instead of for 
own purpose in the production or supply of 
goods or services for administration purposes. 

Property investments are registered at acquisi-
tion price, which includes costs directly alloca-
ble to the transaction and those necessary for 
them to be operational.

Extension or improvement costs which imply 
an increase in these assets’ profitability are in-
corporated as higher value. On the other hand, 
maintenance and repair costs which do not 
improve their use or extend their useful life are 
allocated to the profit and loss account when 
incurred.

Amortisation is calculated on the acquisition 
cost, less their residual value, following the li-
near method on the basis of the estate’s esti-
mated useful life.

The Entity will value, at the date of the financial 
statements, whether there are signs, both inter-
nal and external, that an asset could be impai-
red, such as significant falls of its market value, 
evidence of the element’s obsolescence, and 
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increases in the interest rates that could mate-
rially affect the asset’s recoverable amount. In 
such case, the entity will estimate the asset’s 
recoverable amount and, independently, at 
least on an annual basis. For these purposes, 
the recoverable amount is the highest amount 
of the following: the fair value minus the neces-
sary selling costs, and its value in use.

A property investment will be impaired when 
its carrying amount exceeds its recoverable 
amount, in which case such impairment will be 
recognised in the profit and loss account, redu-
cing the asset’s carrying amount to its recove-
rable amount.

p)   Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are considered to be the Group’s pre-
sent obligations arising from past events that 
are considered to be clearly specified at the ba-
lance sheet date, but which are uncertain as to 
their amount or moment of cancellation, on the 
settlement of which and in order to be cance-
lled the Group expects to incur an outflow of re-
sources embodying economic benefits. These 
obligations can arise for the following reasons:

i)  A legal or contractual provision.

ii) An implicit or tacit obligation arising from a 
valid expectation created by the Group with 
third parties with regard to the assumption of 
certain types of responsibilities. These expec-

tations are created when the Group publicly 
accepts responsibilities, are derived from past 
behaviour or business policies in the public 
domain.

iii) The practically certain evolution of regula-
tions on certain aspects, in particular with draft 
legislation that the Group cannot elude.

Contingent liabilities are the Group’s possible 
obligations arising as a consequence of past 
events, whose existence is conditional on the 
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
future events beyond the Group’s control. Con-
tingent liabilities include the Group’s present 
obligations when it is not probable that an ou-
tflow of resources embodying economic bene-
fits will be required to settle them or for which 
the amount, in extremely rare cases, cannot be 
quantified in a sufficiently reliable manner.

Provisions and contingent liabilities are classi-
fied as probable when it is more plausible that 
they will occur than otherwise, possible when 
it is less plausible that they will occur than 
otherwise and remote when the likelihood is 
extremely rare.

The Group’s consolidated annual accounts in-
clude all the material provisions in respect of 
which it is considered more likely than not that 
the obligation will have to be settled. Contin-
gent liabilities are not recognised in the consoli-
dated annual accounts but are disclosed unless 

it is considered remote that there will be an ou-
tflow of resources embodying economic yields.

Provisions are quantified on the basis of the 
best information available on the consequen-
ces of the events giving rise to them and are 
estimated at each year-end. They are used to 
meet the specific obligations for which they 
were recognised and are fully or partially rever-
sed when said obligations cease to exist or are 
reduced.

q)    Non-current assets held for sale

Non-current assets and disposable groups of 
elements classified as held for sale that corres-
pond to the carrying value of individual items, 
integrated in a disposal group or that are part 
of a business unit held to be disposed of (dis-
continued operations) and which sale is highly 
probable, in such assets’ current conditions, in 
the term of one year, to be counted from the 
date of the annual accounts. Consequently, the 
recovery of the carrying amount value of these 
items, which may be of a financial nature, will 
probably take place through the proceeds ob-
tained on their disposal.

In the case of the property assets granted or 
received as payment of debts, they are initially 
recognised at the lowest amount between: the 
financial asset’s updated carrying value applied 
and the fair value at the moment of granting or 
reception of the asset, minus estimated selling 



262 Annual Report 2021

costs. The financial asset’s applied carrying 
value is updated at granting date, treating the 
granted estate as real guarantee and taking 
into account the corresponding credit risk he-
dges in agreement to its classification prior to 
the delivery. For these purposes, the collateral 
will be valued at its updated fair value (minus 
selling costs) at the granting date. This carrying 
amount will be compared with the previous ca-
rrying amount and the difference will be recog-
nised as a hedge increase.

Additionally, the granted asset’s fair value is ob-
tained through appraisal, assessing the need to 
apply a discount therein, derived from the as-
set’s specific conditions or the market situation 
for these assets, and in any case, deducting se-
lling costs estimated by the entity.

Following the initial recognition, these property 
assets granted or received in payment of debts, 
classified as “Non-current assets and disposa-
ble groups of elements classified as held for 
sale and the liabilities included in such groups” 
are valued at the lowest amount between: their 
updated fair minus estimated selling costs and 
their carrying value, being able to recognise an 
impairment or reversal of impairment for the di-
fference, if applicable.
 
Non-current assets and disposable groups 
of elements classified as held for sale are not 
amortised as long as they remain in this cate-
gory.

Profit and loss generated in the disposal of 
non-current assets and disposable groups of 
elements classified as held for sale and liabili-
ties included in disposable groups of elements 
classified as held for sale, as well as impairment 
losses and, where applicable, their recovery, 
are recognised in the caption “Profits or losses 
originated from non-current assets and dispo-
sable groups of elements classified as held for 
sale not admissible as discontinued activities” 
of the consolidated profit and loss account. The 
remaining income and expenses correspon-
ding to such assets and liabilities are classified 
in items of the consolidated profit and loss ac-
count according to their nature.

Variations of the carrying value of elements in-
cluded in the caption of “Non-current assets 
and disposable groups of elements classified as 
held for sale” are registered with counterpart in 
the caption “Other global accumulated results”. 
Non-current assets and disposable groups of 
elements are classified as held for sale.

r)     Valuation of accounts in foreign currency

At initial recognition, accounts payable and re-
ceivable in foreign currency are translated to 
the functional currency by using the exchange 
rate at recognition date, understood as the ex-
change rate for immediate delivery. After initial 
recognition, the following rules are applied to 
translate balances from foreign to functional 
currency:

(i) Monetary assets and liabilities are translated to 
average exchange rate at the date of annual accounts.

(ii) Non-monetary items valued at historical 
cost are translated to the exchange rate at ac-
quisition date.

(iii) Non-monetary items valued at fair value are 
translated to the exchange rate at the date in 
which fair value is determined.

(iv) Income and expenses are translated by 
applying the exchange rate of the date of tran-
saction. Nevertheless, the period’s average ex-
change rate is used for all transactions carried 
out throughout such period, unless in case of 
significant variations. Depreciations are transla-
ted to the exchange rate applied to the corres-
ponding asset.

Exchange differences in the translation of ac-
counts payable and receivable in foreign cu-
rrency are generally registered on the consoli-
dated income statement.

s) Consolidated statement of cash flows

The consolidated statement of cash flows uses 
certain concepts defined as follows:

(i) Cash flows refer to additions and deletions 
of cash and equivalents, understood as short-
term investments of high liquidity and low risk 
of value alterations.
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(ii) Operating activities, typical within the 
Group, and other activities which shall not be 
qualified as investment or financing activities.

(iii) Investment activities corresponding to the 
acquisition, disposal or use by other means of 
long-term assets and other investments not in-
cluded within cash and equivalents.

(iv) Financing activities which cause changes in 
the size and composition of equity and liabili-
ties included within the operating activities.

t) Consolidated statement of changes in equity

The consolidated statement of changes in equi-
ty presented on these consolidated annual ac-
counts shows the total variations in equity du-
ring the year. This information is, in turn, broken 
down into two statements: consolidated state-
ment of recognised income and expenses and 
consolidated statement of changes in equity. 
The main characteristics of the information 
contained on both parts of the statement are 
explained below:

Consolidated statement of recognised income 
and expenses

This part of the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity presents income and expen-
ses generated by the Group as a consequen-
ce of its activity during the year, distinguishing 
among those registered as results in the con-

solidated income statement for the year and 
other income and expenses directly registered 
on equity, in accordance with the regulation in 
force.

Therefore, this statement presents the 
following:

(i) Results for the year.

(ii) Net amount of income and expenses tran-
sitorily recognised as valuation adjustments
in equity.

(iii) Net amount of income and expenses defi-
nitively recognised in equity.

(iv) Corporate income tax accrued for concepts 
included on captions i) and ii) above.

(v) Total recognised income and expenses, cal-
culated as the sum of the sections above.

Variations of income and expenses recognised 
in equity as valuation adjustments are broken 
down as follows:

i) Profit (loss) for valuation: it includes the 
amount of income, net of expenses originated 
within the year, directly recognised in equity. 
Amounts recognised in the year of this account 
are maintained therein, although, during the 
same year, they are transferred to the income 
statement at initial value of other assets or lia-

bilities, or reclassified into another item.

(ii) Amounts transferred to the income state-
ment: it includes the amount of profit or loss 
previously recognised in equity, even on the 
same year, which are recognised on the inco-
me statement.

(iii) Amount transferred at initial value of hed-
ged items: it includes the amount of profit or 
loss from valuation, previously recognised in 
equity, even in the same year, which are recog-
nised on the initial value of assets or liabilities 
as a consequence of cash flow hedging.
 
(iv) Other reclassifications: it includes the 
amount of transfers during the year among 
items of adjustments from valuation as per cri-
teria established by the regulation in force.

Amounts on these items are presented at their 
gross quantity, showing their corresponding tax 
effect under the caption “Corporate income 
tax” of the statement.

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

This part of the consolidated statement of 
changes in equity shows all changes in equity, 
including those originated in changes in ac-
counting criteria and error corrections. Therefo-
re, this statement shows a reconciliation of the 
accounting value at opening and closing date of 
all items included within equity, grouping mo-
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vements based on their nature, under the fo-
llowing items:

i) Adjustments from changes in accounting cri-
teria and error corrections: it includes changes 
in equity originated as a consequence of the 
retroactive re-expression of balances in the an-
nual accounts originated in changes in accoun-
ting criteria or error corrections.
 
(ii) Income and expenses recognised during the 
year: it includes, in aggregate, the aforementio-
ned total amount of items registered in the sta-
tement of recognised income and expenses.

(iii) Other variations in equity: it includes the 
remaining items registered in equity, such as 
increases or decreases of the allocation fund, 
distribution of results, transactions with trea-
sury stock, payments with capital instruments, 
transfers among items on the equity, and any 
other increase or decrease in the consolidated 
equity.

u)   Own equity instruments

Own equity items are considered to be those 
that meet the following conditions:

• They do not include any type of contractual 
obligation for the issuing entity that involves: 
delivering cash or another financial asset to a 
third party; or exchanging financial assets or 
financial liabilities with a third party on terms 

that are potentially unfavourable to the entity.

•  Whether it can be, or will be, settled in the 
issuer's own equity instruments: when it is a 
non-derivative financial instrument, it does not 
involve an obligation to deliver a variable num-
ber of its own equity instruments; or when it is 
a derivative, it is settled for a fixed amount of 
cash or another financial asset in exchange for 
a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

Business conducted with own equity items, in-
cluding their issue and redemption, are recog-
nised directly with a balancing entry in conso-
lidated equity.

Changes in value of instruments qualifying as 
own equity instruments are not recognised in 
the financial statements; consideration recei-
ved or given in exchange for such instruments 
is added to or deducted directly from consoli-
dated equity and transaction costs are deduc-
ted from equity.

The initial recognition of equity instruments is-
sued to settle a financial liability in whole or in 
part is at fair value, unless the fair value cannot 
be reliably measured. In this case, the differen-
ce between the carrying amount of the finan-
cial liability (or part of it) extinguished and the 
fair value of the equity instruments issued is 
recognised in profit or loss.

v) Hybrid financial instruments

A financial instrument is a contract that gives 
rise to a financial asset in one entity and, simul-
taneously, a financial liability or equity instru-
ment in another entity.
 
An equity instrument is a legal arrangement 
that evidences a residual interest in the as-
sets of the issuing entity after deducting all of 
its liabilities. A financial derivative is a financial 
instrument whose value changes in response 
to changes in an observable market variable 
(such as an interest rate, foreign exchange rate, 
the price of a financial instrument or a market 
index, including credit ratings), whose initial in-
vestment is very small relative to other financial 
instruments with a similar response to changes 
in market conditions and which is generally se-
ttled at a future date.

Hybrid financial instruments are contracts that 
simultaneously include a host contract other 
than a derivative together with a financial de-
rivative, called an embedded derivative, that is 
not individually transferable and that has the 
effect that some of the cash flows of the hy-
brid contract vary in the same way as would the 
embedded derivative in isolation. 

Compound financial instruments are contracts 
that simultaneously give rise to a financial liabi-
lity and an equity instrument for the issuer (e.g. 
convertible bonds that give the holder the right 
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to convert them into equity instruments of the 
issuing entity).  Contingently convertible pre-
ference shares ("CoCos") into ordinary shares 
eligible for own funds purposes as additional 
tier 1 capital, with the possibility of purchase by 
the issuer in certain circumstances, the remu-
neration of which is discretionary, and which 
will be converted into a variable number of 
newly issued ordinary shares in the event that 
the consolidable group, of which the entity is 
the parent, has a capital ratio below a certain 
percentage (trigger event), as both terms are 
defined in the relevant issue prospectuses, are 
accounted for by the Group as compound ins-
truments (see note 23). 
 
The liability component reflects the issuer's 
obligation to deliver a variable number of shares 
and the equity component reflects the issuer's 
discretion to pay the associated coupons. To 
make the initial allocation, the Company es-
timates the fair value of the liability as the 
amount it would have to deliver if the trigger 
event were to occur immediately, so the equity 
component, calculated as the residual amount, 
is zero. 

Due to the aforementioned discretionary natu-
re of coupon payments, coupons are deducted 
directly from the Group's equity.
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12. Customer 
service and money 
laundering
Customer service
Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A., E.F.C.

Order ECO 734/2004, of 11 March, of the Mi-
nistry of Economy, established, among others, 
the obligation for customer care services and 
departments of financial entities to elaborate 
an annual report explaining their activities, in 
the terms contained in article 17 of such Or-
der, establishing the compulsory inclusion of 
a summary of such report in the Notes to the 
Financial Statements of such financial entities. 
Additionally, if there is a figure of Customers’ 
Ombudsman, such legal text establishes these 
same obligations, always for clarification purpo-
ses of activities performed during the year.

During 2021, the total number of complaints/
complaints amounted to 5,339 (4,022 in 
2020). The 5,339 claims are broken down as 
follows:

- 5,339 processed by Customer Services 
(3,778 in 2020).

- 264 processed by the Customer Ombudsman 
(232 in 2020).

- 1,931 processed and inadmissible (812 in 
2020).

The complaints received and admitted for pro-
cessing amounted to 3,408.

The most significant reasons for the total 
number of complaints filed during 2021 are as
follows.

- Operation’s processing expenses.

- Disagreement with the application of the IRPH 
as review reference.

- Delay interests, loan’s early termination and 
commissions, including opening fees.

It should be noted that the above-mentioned 
reasons have been the subject of complaints 
either jointly or separately and, in some cases, 
reiterated by customers.

As of 31 December 2021, 3,364 complaints/
complaints had been resolved, with 44 pending 
resolution (3,694 and 28 complaints respecti-
vely as of 31 December 2020).

It should also be noted that, of the complaints 
received, a total of 37 were submitted to the 
Bank of Spain's Department of Institutions (24 

were submitted in 2020). Also, although they 
do not strictly speaking constitute complaints, 
66 requests for information were submitted 
to the CIRBE service (in 2020 a total of 32 re-
quests for information were submitted to the 
CIRBE service). 

As of 31 December 2021, complaints/claims 
have been resolved as follows:

- Favourable to the customer: 454 (378 in 
2020).

- Unfavourable to the customer: 2,910 (3,316 in 
2020).

-Not accepted: 0.

Of the complaints resolved in favour of the cus-
tomer, in 32 cases (37 in 2020) financial rights 
were recognised for the customer. In addition 
to the complaints handled by the customer 
service department and by the customer om-
budsman (SAC), economic rights have been re-
cognised for customers in other complaints for 
various reasons, handled directly by the Entity, 
which has entailed a cost, in 2021, of 14,573.07 
euros (16,568.22 euros in 2020).

Criteria considered in the resolution of claims 
are mainly based on the following aspects:

- Adaptation and compliance with the applica-
ble regulation in force at all times.
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- Compliance with assumed contractual obli-
gations, by each of the parties’ signature in the 
contract (client and Entity).

- Information provided by the Entity to the 
client, both in the pre-contractual stage and 
throughout the contract’s validity.

- Adaptation to banking best practices.

- Situation posed by the client, in particular 
in cases of vulnerability or risk of exclusion 
caused by the economic crisis or unforeseen
situations.

Thus, when solving claims, not only objecti-
ve facts are considered (such as the applica-
ble standard and best banking practices), but 
also the personal situation communicated by 
the client, trying to reach a solution adapted to 
each client’s specific circumstances.

With regard to claims posed by customers for 
payment difficulty, since the Entity adhered to 
the Best Practice Code, clients are informed 
and responded based on these regulations and 
best banking practices.

Additionally, a basic principle of the SAC is the 
protection of the client’s interest and, in com-
pliance with this principle, agreements have 
been offered and reached with clients to solve 
at their satisfaction pretensions considered on 
their claims. Furthermore, in cases where the 

claim has been escalated to the Entities De-
partment (DCE) of Bank of Spain, specific ac-
tions performed by the SAC have also focused 
on rectifying the entity’s performance, in favour 
of consumers. Accordingly, in 2021, the DCE 
has accepted the Entity’s rectifications in 6 fi-
les, therefore adapting the entity’s performan-
ce to best banking practices.

We note that the Market Conduct and Claims 
Department of Bank of Spain approved the 
new SAC Regulation, which regulates its opera-
tions, duties and functions, and which is made 
available to clients and UCI employees in all 
offices opened to the public, as well as in UCI 
webpage and in the Banking Client Portal of 
Bank of Spain.

Lastly, it should be noted that the Entity has ad-
ditionally received lawsuits from clients, which 
most significant reasons coincide with those 
filed before its customer care department. UCI 
Management considers that provisions alloca-
ted in relation to these procedures are appro-
priate at December 31, 2021.

Money laundering 
Regulatory Compliance and Money Laundering 
Prevention

During 2021, UCI Group has continued perfor-
ming the necessary follow-up on the field of 

Regulation Compliance and Money Laundering 
Prevention, including the application of neces-
sary measures in the estate selling activity, wi-
thin the framework of Law 10/2010 on Money 
Laundering Prevention, all the above in order to 
control its reputational and operative risk.

From the general point of view of the Com-
pliance function, in terms of regulations, ethics, 
good corporate governance and complaints 
management, the necessary adaptations and 
monitoring have continued to be carried out in 
order to maintain the good results in the num-
ber and treatment of complaints, and to esta-
blish internal policies that set ethical criteria 
and mitigate the risk of non-compliance with 
regulations in the performance of the activity. 
These policies are available to employees and 
are set out in the following documents and pro-
cedures: Code of Ethics, Ethics Alert Procedure 
(whistle-blowing), Money Laundering Preven-
tion Manual, Catalogue of operations with risk 
of money laundering in credit institutions and 
real estate activity, Catalogue of good and bad 
practices in financing and real estate activity, 
Criminal Risk Prevention Manual, Customer 
Interest Protection Policy, Anti-corruption Po-
licy and Gifts Policy. During 2021, the "Guide 
to standards of conduct with customers in de-
fault" and the Policy on relations with the au-
thorities and Public Administrations and the 
Conflicts of Interest Policy have been incorpo-
rated. In addition, during 2021, the following tra-
ining activities were carried out in the area of 
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Compliance (Criminal Risk, Prevention of Mo-
ney Laundering, Data Protection, International 
Sanctions and Embargos, Competition Law, 
Anti-Corruption Training, Validation and Moni-
toring of Products, Advertising of Banking Pro-
ducts and Services, and Volcker) and internal 
dissemination of content related to Complian-
ce matters.

In relation to the money laundering prevention 
device, the fundamental working lines have 
been the following:

•  Follow-up of measures intended to improve 
identification and knowledge of the end cus-
tomer, both in financing and in the real estate 
sectors (KYC), in the knowledge of the supplier 
(KYS) and the knowledge of the intermediary 
(KYI). Adaptation and spreading of the KYS pro-
cedure, as well as adequacy and adaptation of 
the outsourcing procedure for essential servi-
ces to the EBA guidelines. Review and adequa-
cy of the Money Laundering Prevention Manual. 

•  Follow-up of an alert management system 
for operations potentially suspected as money 
laundering, on the financing and real estate 
sectors, notwithstanding subsequent detailed 
analysis of each file. 

•  During 2021, a total of 1,564 alerts have been 
analysed in Spain (720 in 2020), of which 
15 were communicated to the OCI and 4 to 

SEPBLAC (5 and 2 respectively in 2020). In 
Greece, 9 alerts have been analysed during 
2021 (14 in 2020), of which none were com-
municated to the local Regulator (none were 
communicated in 2020). In Portugal, 367 alerts 
have been analysed (226 in 2020), of which 
none have been communicated to the local Re-
gulatory Body (1 in 2020).

•  Continuous monitoring. In addition to the 
aforementioned alerts, during 2021 the conti-
nuous monitoring of lending operations in for-
ce in Spain was carried out. A total of 178,542 
customers were monitored and 257 alerts 
from continuous monitoring were analysed.

•  Training of the company's employees and new 
recruits in the prevention of money laundering.

• Review of the money laundering prevention 
system by an External Expert, in accordance 
with the provisions of Law 10/2010.

•  Internal verification of the anti-money 
laundering system by UCI's Internal Audit 
Department.

In relation to the prevention of criminal risk 
for legal persons (Corporate Criminal), during 
2020 the system implemented was reviewed 
and training was given to all staff (in order to 
provide adequate dissemination on this mat-
ter) and the processes defined to prevent this 

risk were monitored, in accordance with the 
provisions of the Criminal Risk Prevention Ma-
nual and the Code of Ethics.



269Annual Report 2021

13. Credit risk
Introduction

As the supreme management body, the Board 
of Directors establishes the Group’s risk poli-
cy and supervises compliance with this. The 
Board of Directors determined the operating 
limits and the delegation of powers for credit 
risks, market risks and structural risks.

One of the pillars on which the activity of a Fi-
nancial Entity is sustained is correct risk mana-
gement. Control over this is the guarantee for 
the survival of our business over the course of 
time. The main objectives in risk management 
are the following:

• Optimise the relation between the assumed 
risk and profitability.

• Adapt capital requirements to risks assumed 
by the Group. For the Group, it is essential to 
establish a capital planning to ensure its long-
term solvency, so as not to commit its business 
model or risk profile.

In the Group, risk management is carried out 
with regard to the origin of the risk. Because of 
the Group’s business, there is a main distinc-
tion among the following:

• Credit Risk (in which the customer credit risks 
are concentrated, over 90% of the total risk)
• Market Risk
• Operating Risk

All of these are handled and mitigated with all 
of the latest techniques currently available.

The Group has drawn up management plans 
in accordance with the needs derived from 
the different types of risk. The understanding 
of risk management has a continuous process 
has led to the management processes for each 
risk, with the measurement tools for their ad-
ministration, appraisal and monitoring, as well 
as to the definition with suitable circuits and 
procedures, which are reflected in manage-
ment manuals or in the Credit or Recollection 
Committees.

Grouped below by headings are the different 
matters that, in the most material manner, dis-
tinguish risk Management and Control within 
the UCI Group.

Credit risk management

Internal organisation

The Board of Directors has delegated to the 
Credit Risk Committee, comprising the Chair-

man and the General Director, the operating 
decisions that, based on their profile, do not 
have their decision delegated to other execu-
tive levels. The Board has established that the 
Credit Risk Committee can decide on transac-
tions for any amount. 

At the executive level within the Risk Direc-
torate, it is the National Authorisation Centre 
(N.A.C.) is the body responsible for the deci-
sions on all files.

In order to provide ourselves with a consoli-
dated, consistent and solid database, UCI has 
opted to centralise the codifying process, the-
reby avoiding the appearance of multiple crite-
ria with regard to the interpretation of data to 
be codified. One of the main consequences of 
this form of organisation is the suitability of the 
databases with regard to the elaboration of our 
scoring model. This process is integrated in the 
N.A.C., which reports directly to the Risk Director.

In order to ensure quality in codifying, the N.A.C. 
is periodically submitted to controls by the Poli-
cies and Methods Department and the Internal 
Audit Department.

Most decisions are taken in a centralised man-
ner in the N.A.C. 

Risk analysts from the N.A.C. decide transac-
tions based on their authorisations. Those ex-
ceeding such authorisations are submitted to 
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the decision by the N.A.C. Committee or to the 
Risk Committee, as appropriate.

The activity carried out by the area is monthly 
reviewed from the point of view of equipment 
productivity, decision quality, assumed risk le-
vels and transformation rates, in order to meet 
the established standards.
In addition to the N.A.C., there are other depart-
ments that outline the organisational plan for 
Risk Management in UCI.

The Policy and Method Department, depen-
dent on the Risk Directorate, is entrusted with 
the responsibility of defining and implementing 
the policies and procedures to be followed in 
putting together a loan, its processing and deci-
sion. Similarly, it is responsible for the training, 
supervision and control for the correct appli-
cation of policies and procedures, both in our 
agencies and in the N.A.C.

The Agents’ Department, integrated under this 
same directorate, is in charge of monitoring, 
controlling and encouraging the administrati-
ve agency network with which we work. They 
are also responsible for the proper application 
of our selection policy from the point of view of 
legal security for transactions.

And, finally, the Valuation Department is responsi-
ble for supervising the activities carried out for us 
by the valuation firms, giving decisive support for 
those transactions that require a technical report.

The quality of the setting-up, analysis and de-
cision processes for loan dossiers, as well as 
those corresponding to the Agency and Valua-
tion Departments have obtained the AENOR 
certification in Spain for compliance with the 
Spanish Standard UNE-EN ISO 9001:2008 
in March 2003, and which is extended throu-
ghout the commercial network. Each year, fo-
llow-up audits are performed. The certification 
is renewed every three years; the last renewal 
is from 2020.

Control over external collaborators

In UCI, risk control is present in all the phases 
for processing a dossier and affects not just 
the internal management units but also in-
cluded those tasks delegated to our external 
collaborators.

This also allows us to have the administration 
agencies network connected by computer with 
our central systems, with vertical integration in 
our management system. 

It should be noted that, for UCI, the adminis-
trative agencies do not merely perform admi-
nistrative procedures, but are also empowered 
by UCI and are responsible for the proper legal 
handling of our transactions, being responsi-
ble for the following processes, among others: 
searching and analysing property register infor-
mation, preparing and carrying out the signing 
process, acting as representatives with powers 

of attorney from our entity, filing deeds in the 
corresponding registries, cancelling charges 
prior to our mortgage appearing in the registry 
so as to guarantee this having first call, settling 
taxes and sending the deeds for filing once all 
the appropriate controls have been carried out 
so as to guarantee the risk levels established .

It is important to point out that the success of 
their task depends to a great extent on the con-
trol processes established in the management 
systems designed by UCI for this activity.

Furthermore, the valuation process is also sub-
ject to control and supervision by our systems 
without this detracting from the valuation com-
panies’ total liberty for determining the value of 
the security.

The interconnection of our respective compu-
ter systems allows us to establish automatic 
quality controls that go beyond the simple re-
quirement for a minimum demanded valuation 
amount. Among other aspects, these controls 
cover re-locatability, the adaptation of the as-
set to demand, community costs, the need for 
alterations, the regime to which is subject, the 
possible presence of third parties with prefe-
rential rights, etc. 

Any anomaly detected requires the dossier to 
be sent to the N.A.C. for a further decision in 
which the risk factors arisen in the valuation are 
considered.
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Scoring model and risk cost

Since its creation, one of UCI’s most constant 
concerns has been to try and create a model for 
the performance of our loan portfolio. In 2015, 
the Entity set up in Spain the eighth version of 
the scoring model constructed in a historical re-
cord of homogeneous events since 1999.

This model, more granular in its scaling than the 
previous ones, makes it possible to discrimina-
te between different categories in customers in 
respect of homogeneous payment behaviour, 
anticipating the probability of default.

Scoring forms an integral part of the selection 
parameters when it comes to selecting a given 
risk.

In order to complete the view of the risk asso-
ciated with our dossiers, we have designed a 
provisional risk cost that allows us to quantify 
the expected loss on a dossier based on their 
score and the percentage of financing with re-
gard to the guarantee’s value.

Such risk cost is included in our pricing model 
so as to be able to manage individually the fi-
nancial conditions to be assigned to the dossier 
based on its risk.

In Portugal, the fifth version of the scoring sys-
tem specific to the retail business in Portugal, 
built on the experience of the actual payment 

behaviour of UCI's customers since its incep-
tion, was implemented in 2020. Portugal repre-
sented 7% of UCI, S.A., E.F.C.'s credit exposures 
at the end of 2008, 10.9% at the end of 2020 
and 11.2% at the end of 2021. 

In order to have forward-looking measures of 
credit risk by UCI, three basic elements are 
available: expected loss, probability of default 
and LGD.

The expected loss in percentage terms relative 
to the risk exposure is formulated as follows:
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Expected loss
%

Probability of 
Default %

Severity
%= x

Additionally, the economic capital, apart from 
depending on the same components as the ex-
pected loss, also depends on other elements, 
such as the confidence level taken as reference 
point, as the correlation or degree of diversifica-
tion in the portfolios.

• Probability of default: Default is understood 
to be a delay in payment of an obligation of 
more than 90 days, a definition that coincides 
with the Basle II document. The horizon for cal-
culating this probability is three years. It should 
be noted that the higher the section, the lower 
the probability of non-payment. The historic re-
cords prepared are used to study how this pro-
bability varies in relation to the points assigned 
in the scoring and other possible relevant axes 
(for example, age of the operation).

•  Severity: This is defined as the anticipated es-
timate of final loan losses in the event of a de-
fault. Its complementary aspect is the recovery 
rate, which can be calculated as the difference 
between 100% and the severity level. In addi-

tion to the effectiveness of the recovery pro-
cess, the elements that affect this are the type 
of product involved and the guarantees linked 
with the transaction (mortgage or credit insu-
rance in the case of UCI). In order to have esti-
mates for severity it is necessary to have histo-
rical and homogenous databases that make it 
possible to analyse the result of the procedures 
for recovery in accordance with different seg-
mentation criteria. On this point, development 
has been completed for the database for the 
historical analysis of the recoveries for UCI in 
Spain in accordance with customers’ scoring 
sections. The information collected dates back 
to 1993 in Spain. In Portugal, the same process 
has been performed with exploitation of data 
generated since 2004.

• Expected losses: during 2020, the expected 
loss estimates have been adjusted according 
to the tranches and scoring, and new informa-
tion from the historical risk databases has been 
made available, where all the information on 
risk exposure is being integrated together with 

its estimates of probability of default and loss 
given default and LGD broken down by portfo-
lio. The expected loss on the portfolio of new 
mortgage loans generated in Spain in 2021 is 10 
bp (8 bp in 2020).

Concentration Risk

The UCI Group continuously monitors the de-
gree of concentration of the various credit risk 
portfolios under the most relevant dimensions: 
geographical areas, economic sectors and cus-
tomer groups. The Board of Directors establi-
shes the risk policies and reviews the exposure 
limits approved for the appropriate manage-
ment of the degree of concentration. 

Given the Group's mortgage activity sector, len-
ding activity is dispersed throughout the Spa-
nish Autonomous Regions and Portuguese re-
gions (through loans formalised by the Branch 
in that country), with the greatest degree of 
concentration in those transactions involving 
developer risk in Spain, where the risk formali-



273Annual Report 2021

sed can amount to more than one million euros, 
a not significant figure in any case. 

The Group is subject to the Bank of Spain's re-
gulations on large exposures, which are those 
exceeding 10% of eligible capital. In accordance 
with the regulations in force, and contained in 
Circular 3/08, no individual exposure, including 
all types of credit risk, must exceed 25% of the 
Group's capital. At 31 December 2021 and 2020, 
there was no exposure above the above limits. 

The policies established for the disposal of fo-
reclosed real estate assets or assets received 
in payment of debts include the marketing of 
the assets through real estate professionals. 
The Group's strategy for each of these non-cu-
rrent assets for sale may include improvement 
or refurbishment works, in collaboration with 
the professionals responsible for their marke-
ting. The aim of the strategies is to optimise the 
timing and price of disposal of these assets, in 
line with the evolution of the real estate market.

The concentration of risks by activity and geo-
graphical area of the Group at 31 December 
2021 is as follows:

CONCENTRATION RISK BY ACTIVITY AND GEOGRAPHICAL AREA (carrying 
values)

TOTAL ACTIVITY
TOTAL 31.12.2021 Spain Rest of European Union America

1. Credit institutions
2. Public Administrations
3. Other financial institutions
4. Non-financial companies and individual employers
       4.1 Real estate construction and development 
       4.2 Construction of civil works
       4.3 Other purposes
                4.3.1 Large companies
                4.3.2 SMEs and individual employers 
5.  Other homes and non-profit institutions serving households  
         5.1 Homes 
         5.2 Consumption 
         5.3 Other purposes

TOTAL

263,386
-
-

7,572
7,572

-
-
-
-

10,360,283
10,360,168

-
115

10,631,241

259,554
-
-

7,572
7,572

-
-
-
-

8,983,742
8,983,628

-
114

9,250,868

3,832
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,376,541
1,376,541

-
-

1,380,373

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-
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CONCENTRATION RISK BY ACTIVITY AND GEOGRAPHICAL AREA 
(carrying values)
TOTAL ACTIVITY TOTAL 31.12.2021 Spain Rest of European Union America

11. Credit institutions
2. Public Administrations
3. Other financial institutions
4. Non-financial companies and individual employers
       4.1 Real estate construction and development 
       4.2 Construction of civil works
       4.3 Other purposes
                4.3.1 Large companies
                4.3.2 SMEs and individual employers 
5.  Other homes and non-profit institutions serving households  
         5.1 Homes 
         5.2 Consumption 
         5.3 Other purposes

TOTAL

314,194
-
-

7,256
7,256

-
-
-
-

10,253,281
10,253,167

-
114

10,574,731

310,362
-
-

7,256
7,256

-
-
-
-

8,876,740
8,876,626

-
114

9,194,358

3,832
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

1,376,541
1,376,541

-
-

1,380,373

-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-
-

-

The concentration of risks by activity and 
geographical area of the Group at 31 December 
2020 was as follows:

Credit risk mitigation

The duties of the Audit Committee and of the 
Internal Audit Department include ensuring 
the appropriate compliance with risk control 
policies, methods and procedures, guarantee-
ing that they are appropriate, effectively imple-
mented and regularly reviewed. 

The Risk policies’ internal audits review the 
client’s payment capacity and the focus on a 
better client profile, analysing whether the gran-
ting of credits adapts to the entity’s internal po-
licies, to guidelines established by the Board of 
Directors, to the compliance with the solvency 
assessment based on the EBA Guidelines (Eu-
ropean Banking Authority), to Circulars of Bank 
of Spain, and to other applicable regulations.

Restructuring/refinancing policy

The UCI Group, within a responsible credit and 
collection policy, has established a corporate 
policy which refers to those operations where 
the customer has presented, or is expected to 
present, difficulties to face his/her payment 
obligations under the contract terms in force 
and, therefore, it could be advisable to tempo-



275Annual Report 2021

rarily modify the operation in force or even to 
formalise a new operation.

This policy is applicable to countries where UCI 
operates and to all customers, adapting to the 
local needs and standards and always subordi-
nated to the compliance with local regulations 
applicable. Its principles include the following:

Solutions proposed to the client must be 
appropriately used, and its use must not dis-
tort the recognition of defaults.

The solution must focused in the recovery of all 
due amounts, recognising as soon as possible 
the amounts which are considered unrecovera-
ble, if any. Delaying the immediate recognition 
of losses would be contrary to management 
good practices.

The restructuring operation will be designed 
from the client’s comprehensive management 
perspective.

If the client has more than one operation with 
UCI, the following aspects must be addressed:

• The client’s risk will be assessed as a whole, 
regardless of the situation of each individual 
loan.

• If possible, all operations will be grouped and 
assigned with the highest level of guarantee 
possible.

• The determination of monthly charges will be 
adjusted to monthly payments of all loans. Also, 
all consolidable income of the family unit will be 
added so as to verify that the affordability rate 
keeps the most appropriate proportion.

• The proposed solution will generally imply the 
cancellation of all available amounts not dispo-
sed of.

An operation can be restructured several ti-
mes (concatenation) .

The succession of restructuring operations, in ge-
neral, will be conditioned to the correct payment 
behaviour in the previous operation or when, 
due to the variation of personal/labour/econo-
mic circumstances, it was sufficiently eviden-
ced that the lack of compliance is due to these 
circumstances, as per the client’s new situation.

The restructuring or refinancing operation must 
not imply an increase of the risk with the client.

• The proposed solution must not imply granting 
additional financing to the client and cannot be 
used to finance other debts or as cross-selling 
instrument.

• In refinancing operations, the increase of the 
necessary amount to face formalisation expen-
ses will be admitted when it is evidenced that it 
will be possible to pay the proposed instalment 
or when new guarantees are contributed.

• The restructuring or refinancing operation 
must always contemplate the maintenance of 
existing guarantees and, where possible, to im-
prove them and/or extend their coverage. New 
guarantees or real guarantees will not only miti-
gate severity, but shall reduce the probability of 
lack of compliance.

Payment condition for ordinary interests.

Instalments established in the restructuring 
operation must comply, in general, at least, with 
the operation’s ordinary interests. Interest’s 
waiting periods must be appropriately justified 
on the basis of the operation’s risk.

Cautions in restructuring and refinancing 
operations.

• When assessing the convenience of the so-
lution’s proposal, it is necessary to ensure that 
this proposal’s results exceed those expected 
to be obtained if the debt was not newly 
negotiated.

• The analysis of guarantees and the possible 
future evolution is an especially relevant ele-
ment when assessing restructuring and refi-
nancing operations.

• Avoid the fact that the solution’s possibility in-
centives defaults.
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• If debt restructuring and refinancing products 
provide more advantageous conditions for the 
client than the ordinary operation, there is a 
true risk for the client to observe an advantage 
in the lack of compliance of obligations. The-
refore, the design of UCI policy and products 
avoid communicating to the client that the lack 
of compliance of obligations is rewarded.

• The application of rigorous and selective cri-
teria is especially relevant in massive and/or 
public actions.

Traceability of operations.

• It is necessary for systems to keep record of 
operations subject to restructuring, so as to 
identify them, such as when the client has had 
difficulties. All data in origin must be conside-
red in case they are subsequently necessary.

• Systems identify those operations which ori-
gin has been a restructuring or refinancing pro-
cess, in order to appropriately distinguish them 
from those originated in an ordinary admission 
process, and to be able to perform a differentia-
ted analysis of both types of operations.

• The Entity keeps record of the relation be-
tween original and new operations, if any, being 
able to determine the debt’s distribution be-
tween the different origin operations.

The restructuring and refinancing operation 
cannot imply an improvement of classification 
as long as there is not a satisfactory experien-
ce with the client.

• Improvements in classification shall be 
applied as long as a minimum relation has been 
held with the client so as to ensure a reasona-
ble knowledge of the new situation.

• This relation must be sufficiently satisfactory 
and enable the verification of an acceptable 
improvement in the client’s payment capacity.

Restructuring and refinancing operations in 
category of normal risk will be held identified 
as such and classified dentro of the category 
Normal Special Surveillance until their extinc-
tion if conditions defined in section 100 of an-
nex IX of Circular 4/2017 are not met.

• That it is concluded that, after an exhaustive 
review of the owner’s equity and financial situa-
tion, that financial difficulties are not expected.

• That a minim two-year term has elapsed from 
the date of formalisation of the refinancing or 
restructuring operation, or, if later, from the date 
of reclassification from the category of doubtful 
risk. 

• That the owner has paid accrued instalments 
of principal and interests from the date at which 
the refinancing or restructuring operation was 

formalised, or, if later, from the date of reclassi-
fication from the category of doubtful. Additio-
nally, the following would be necessary:

- That the owner has satisfied, through regular 
payments, an amount equivalent to all amounts 
(principal and interests) overdue at the date of 
the refinancing or restructuring operation, or 
which were written off as a consequence of 
such operation, or

- That other objective criteria have been veri-
fied, demonstrating the owner’s payment ca-
pacity, being more appropriate based on the 
operations’ characteristics.

Therefore, the existence of contractual clauses 
that delay the reimbursement, such as princi-
pal’s waiting periods, will imply that the opera-
tion remains identified as refinancing, refinan-
ced or restructured operation, until the criteria 
described in this letter are met.

• That the owner does not have any other ope-
ration with amounts due more than thirty days 
at the end of the probationary period.

Therefore, when all requirements above are 
met, the operations will no longer be identified 
in the financial statements as refinancing, refi-
nanced or restructured operations, regardless 
of whether the information on modifications 
made in the operations is duly included in the 
entity’s databases, in application of the princi-
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ple of traceability, and it is declared to the Risks 
Information Centre.

Quantitative information required by 
Circular 6/2012 of Bank of Spain

The credit risk management policies and pro-
cedures applied by the Entity ensure detailed 
monitoring of borrowers, highlighting the need 
to make provisions when there are indications 
of deterioration in their solvency. Accordingly, 
the Entity establishes the required loan loss 
provisions for those transactions in which the 
situation of its borrower so requires prior to for-
malising the restructuring/refinancing transac-
tions, which should be understood to be: 

• Refinancing operation: an operation that is 
used for economic or legal reasons related to 
financial difficulties (current or foreseeable) of 
the holder to cancel one or several operations 
granted, by the institution itself or by other 
entities of its group, to the holder or to one or 
more other companies of its economic group, 
or whereby such operations are brought fully or 
partially up to date with payment, in order to fa-
cilitate the payment of their debt (principal and 
interest) by the holders of the cancelled or refi-
nanced operations because they cannot, or it is 
foreseen that they will not be able to, comply in 
due time and form with their conditions.

• Refinanced operation: an operation that is fully 
or partially brought current as a result of a refi-
nancing operation carried out by the institution.

•Restructured operation: the financial condi-
tions of an operation are modified for economic 
or legal reasons related to the holder's current 
or foreseeable difficulties, in order to facilitate 
the payment of the debt (principal and interest) 
because the holder is unable, or is expected to 
be unable, to comply with these conditions in 
due time and form, even if this modification 
was foreseen in the contract. In any case, ope-
rations in which the conditions are modified to 
lengthen their maturity, vary the amortisation 
schedule to reduce the amount of the instal-
ments in the short term or reduce their fre-
quency, or establish or lengthen the period of 
grace period of principal, interest or both, are 
considered to be restructured, unless it can be 
proven that the conditions are modified for re-
asons other than the financial difficulties of the 
holders and are similar to those that would be 
applied by other institutions in the market for 
similar risks.

If a transaction is classified in a specific risk 
category, refinancing does not improve its risk 
classification. Refinanced transactions are ini-
tially classified according to their characteris-
tics, mainly the borrower's financial difficulties 
and the existence of certain clauses such as 
extended grace periods. As a general rule, the 

Entity classifies refinancings and restructurings 
with normal risk under special surveillance, un-
less they meet the criteria for classification as 
doubtful. The Entity also presumes that a res-
tructuring or refinancing exists in the following 
circumstances:

• Where all or part of the payments on the 
modified transaction have been past due for 
more than 30 days (without being classified as 
doubtful risk) at least once in the three months 
prior to the modification, or would have been 
past due for more than 30 days without such 
modification. 

• Where, simultaneously with the provision of 
additional funding, or at some point in the futu-
re, the holder has made payments of principal 
or interest on another transaction, all or part of 
which payments have been overdue for more 
than 30 days at least once in the three months 
preceding its refinancing. 

• Where the use of implicit restructuring or refi-
nancing clauses is approved with debtors who 
have amounts due for 30 days or who would be 
30 days overdue if such clauses were not exer-
cised.

This typology of operations is specifically iden-
tified in the information system in a way that 
allows for proper accounting classification and 
monitoring. 
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Operations classified in this category may be 
reclassified to normal risk if the reasons for 
their classification as normal risk under special 
surveillance no longer exist.

Their respective hedges as at 31 December 
2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows: 

Número de 

operaciones
Importe bruto

Número de 

operaciones
Importe bruto

Número de 

operaciones
Importe bruto

1 – Entidades de Crédito - - - - - -

2 – Administraciones Públicas - - - - - -

3 – Otras sociedades financieras y empresarios 
individuales (actividad empresarial financiera) - - - - - -

4 – Sociedades no financieras y empresarios 
individuales 
(actividad empresarial no financiera) 5 1.061 - - - -

De las cuales: Financiación a la construcción y 
promoción inmobiliaria (incluido suelo) 5 1.061 - - - -

5 – Resto de hogares 22.933 2.654.508 - - 883 21.609

Total 22.938 2.655.569 - - 883 21.609

2020(*)
TOTAL (Miles de euros)

Garantía hipotecaria 

inmobiliaria plena
Resto de garantías reales Sin garantía real

Deterioro de valor 

acumulado o pérdidas 

acumuladas en el valor 

razonable debidos al 

riesgo de crédito

Importe máximo de la 

garantía real que puede 

considerarse

- -

- -

- -

537 333

537 333

367.895 1.071.895

368.432 1.071.895
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Número de 

operaciones
Importe bruto

Número de 

operaciones
Importe bruto

Número de 

operaciones
Importe bruto

1 – Entidades de Crédito - - - - - -

2 – Administraciones Públicas - - - - - -

3 – Otras sociedades financieras y empresarios 
individuales (actividad empresarial financiera) - - - - - -

4 – Sociedades no financieras y empresarios 
individuales 
(actividad empresarial no financiera) 5 1.061 - - - -

De las cuales: Financiación a la construcción y 
promoción inmobiliaria (incluido suelo) 5 1.061 - - - -

5 – Resto de hogares 16.058 2.013.603 - - 606 15.768

Total 16.063 2.014.664 - - 606 15.768

2020(*)
Del cual: DUDOSOS (Miles de euros)

Garantía hipotecaria 

inmobiliaria plena
Resto de garantías reales Sin garantía real

Deterioro de valor 

acumulado o pérdidas 

acumuladas en el valor 

razonable debidos al 

riesgo de crédito

Importe máximo de la 

garantía real que puede 

considerarse

- -

- -

- -

537 333

537 333

347.256 761.705

347.793 762.038

(*) Nótese que los saldos han sido reexpresados respecto de los formulados en el ejercicio2020 (Véase Nota 2.1)
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The amount of transactions that, subsequent 
to refinancing or restructuring, have been 
classified as doubtful in the financial year 2021 
and in the financial year 2020 is as follows:

SALDOS VIGENTES DE 

REFINANCIACIONES Y 

REESTRUCTURACIONES

31.12.2021

Hogares
De los cuales: préstamos 
garantizados por bienes inmuebles 
residenciales 

Sociedades no financieras
De las cuales: pequeñas y 
medianas empresas

Total

Garantía hipotecaria inmobiliaria plena Resto de garantías reales Sin garantía real
TOTAL

Nº oper. Importe bruto Nº oper. Importe bruto Nº oper. Importe bruto

1.980

1.980

223.548

223.548

-

-

-

-

60

60

1.465

1.465

5

5

1.061

1.061

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

1.985 224.609 - - 60 1.465

Nº oper. Importe bruto

2.040

2.040

225.013

225.013

5

5

1.061

1.061

2.045 226.074

SALDOS VIGENTES DE 

REFINANCIACIONES Y 

REESTRUCTURACIONES

31.12.2021

Hogares
De los cuales: préstamos 
garantizados por bienes inmuebles 
residenciales 

Sociedades no financieras
De las cuales: pequeñas y 
medianas empresas

Total

Garantía hipotecaria inmobiliaria plena Resto de garantías reales Sin garantía real
TOTAL

Nº oper. Importe bruto Nº oper. Importe bruto Nº oper. Importe bruto

4.018

4.018

509.165

509.165

-

-

-

-

156

156

3.207

3.207

2

2

178

178

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4.020 509.343 - - 156 3.207

Nº oper. Importe bruto

4.174

4.174

512.372

512.372

2

2

178

178

4.176 512.550
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Total lending to customers as at 31 December 
2021 and 31 December 2020, broken down by 
counterparty, is as follows:

TOTAL

Del que: 

Garantía 

inmobiliaria 

Del que: Resto 

de garantías 

reales 

LTV<=40%
40%< 

LTV<=60 %

60%< 

LTV<=80%

80%< 

LTV<=100%
LTV>100%

1 Administraciones Públicas - - - - - - - -

2 Otras instituciones financieras - - - - - - - -

3 Sociedades no financieras y empresarios individuales 

3.1 Construcción y promoción inmobiliaria 
3.2 Construcción de obra civil
3.3 Resto de finalidades
  3.3.1 Grandes empresas 
  3.3.2 Pymes y empresarios individuales 

7.572

7.572
-
-
-
-

7.436

7.436
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

287

287
-
-
-
-

2.223

2.223
-
-
-
-

195

195
-
-
-
-

192

192
-
-
-
-

4.539

4.539
-
-
-
-

4 Resto de hogares e ISFLSH

4.1 Viviendas 
4.2 Consumo 
4.3 Otros fines 

10.360.283

10.360.168
-

115

10.207.714

10.207.714
-
-

-

-
-
-

1.802.402

1.802.402
-
-

2.782.330

2.782.330
-
-

2.850.023

2.850.023
-
-

1.819.233

1.819.233
-
-

953.726

953.726
-
-

TOTAL 10.367.855 10.215.150 - 1.802.689 2.784.553 2.850.218 1.819.425 958.265

PRO MEMORIA - - - - - - - -

Operaciones de refinanciación, refinanciadas y 
reestructuradas 2.175.070 2.175.070 - 149.273 379.510 551.103 484.852 610.332

DISTRIBUCIÓN DEL CRÉDITO A LA CLIENTELA POR ACTIVIDAD (Valor en libros) 
A 31.12.2021 Crédito con garantía real. Loan to value
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TOTAL

Del que: 

Garantía 

inmobiliaria 

Del que: Resto 

de garantías 

reales 

LTV<=40%
40%< 

LTV<=60 %

60%< 

LTV<=80%

80%< 

LTV<=100%
LTV>100%

1 Administraciones Públicas - - - - - - - -

2 Otras instituciones financieras - - - - - - - -

3 Sociedades no financieras y empresarios individuales 

3.1 Construcción y promoción inmobiliaria 
3.2 Construcción de obra civil
3.3 Resto de finalidades
  3.3.1 Grandes empresas 
  3.3.2 Pymes y empresarios individuales 

7.255

7.255
-
-
-
-

7.255

7.255
-
-
-
-

-

-
-
-
-
-

344

344
-
-
-
-

2.449

2.449
-
-
-
-

441

441
-
-
-
-

2.974

2.974
-
-
-
-

1.076 

1.076 
-
-
-
-

4 Resto de hogares e ISFLSH

4.1 Viviendas 
4.2 Consumo 
4.3 Otros fines 

10.253.282

10.253.167
-
-

10.167.636

10.167.636
-
-

-

-
-
-

1.456.631

1.456.631
-
-

2.693.891

2.693.891
-
-

2.866.991

2.866.991
-
-

1.979.492

1.979.492
-
-

1.170.630

1.170.630
-
-

TOTAL 10.260.537 10.174.890 - 1.456.975 2.696.340 2.867.402 1.982.467 1.171.706

PRO MEMORIA - - - - - - - -

Operaciones de refinanciación, refinanciadas y 
reestructuradas 2.308.646 2.308.646 - 123.663 356.460 564.794 536.120 727.608

DISTRIBUCIÓN DEL CRÉDITO A LA CLIENTELA POR ACTIVIDAD (Valor en libros) 
A 31.12.2021 Crédito con garantía real. Loan to value
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14. Market risk 
management
In the markets and treasury area, the UCI Group 
manages the market risks that affect managed 
assets or liabilities. The Board of Directors pe-
riodically establishes the delegated limits and 
checks that they are properly applied. Likewi-
se, loss limits and other control measures are 
established. The management of limits is made 
with a broad series of indicators and alert sig-
nals that have as their objective the anticipa-
tion and proper monitoring of interest rate risks 
and of liquidity. 

Assets and Liabilities interest rate gap

The UCI Group analyses financial margin sen-
sitivity to variations in interest rates, which 
are analysed by a Committee meeting twice a 
month for this purpose. This sensitivity is condi-
tioned by time lags in maturity rates and chan-
ges to the interest rates that arise between the 
different balance sheet items, or off-balance 
sheet with securitisation funds, which repre-
sent an imbalance in cash-flow to the entity. 
Investments are managed through hedging to 
maintain these sensitivities within the target 
range set in the Committees. The measures 
used by UCI to control the interest risk are rate 

gap analysis and the financial margin sensitivi-
ties in the managed portfolio. 

Interest rate gap analysis deals with the time 
lags between the reviews of maturity for assets 
and liabilities under management and allows 
concentrations of interest risk in the different 
maturities to be detected.

Financial margin sensitivity measures the im-
pact on results of the interest rate gaps for a gi-
ven period with a displacement of the interest 
rate curve.

The main interest rate sensitive asset item re-
lates to the on-balance sheet customer portfo-
lio, of which 75.93% is at floating rate (79.90% 
on 31 December 2020), 14.81% (11.52% on 31 
December 2020) with a first period at fixed 
rate and then revisions to floating rate, and 
9.26% strictly at fixed rate 9.26% (8.58% on 31 
December 2020).

Within the variable rate loans, 82.81% (82.50% 
as of 31 December 2020) review their rate 
half-yearly and 17.19% (17.50% as of 31 Decem-
ber 2020) annually.

Interest rate risk management has a twofold 
objective: to reduce the impact of interest rate 
fluctuations on net interest income and to pro-
tect the Group's economic value. To this end, it 
uses financial instruments such as asset-bac-
ked securities (Spain) or cash drawdowns with 

its shareholders (Spain, Portugal and Greece) 
and financial derivatives arranged with its sha-
reholders (interest rate swaps or call money 
swaps).

Liquidity Risk 

The management and control of the liquidity 
risk aims to ensure compliance with payment 
commitments under the best possible condi-
tions for the UCI Group in the different coun-
tries in which it has a presence.

The liquidity risk is associated with the Group’s 
capacity for financing acquired commitments 
at reasonable market prices, as well as being 
able to carry out its business plans with sta-
ble sources of finance. The measure used for 
controlling the liquidity risk is the liquidity gap, 
which provides information on the contractual 
cash in-flows and out-flows over the life of the 
loans. 

To mitigate liquidity risk, UCI has had a recurrent 
policy since its inception of tapping the capital 
markets through the securitisation of its credit 
assets. Thus the holders of the securitisation 
bonds placed on the capital markets hedge 
the liquidity of these operations until maturity. 
Since 1994, UCI has issued 28 securitisation 
funds in Spain (26 funds issued at 31 Decem-
ber 2020) for an initial aggregate amount of 
approximately EUR 19,218 million (EUR 18,257 
million at 31 December 2020), mostly placed 
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on the capital markets, including the issues of 
RMBS Prado I to Prado IX and the first issue 
of green bonds in Portugal with RMBS Greem 
Belem 1, all for an amount of EUR 4,418 million 
(3,257 million at 31 December 2020), most-
ly placed on the capital markets. 4,418 million 
(EUR 3,450 million as of 31 December 2020), 
which as of December 2021, represented EUR 
4,581 million (EUR 4,996 million as of 31 De-
cember 2020) or 47.8% of the overall balance 
managed in Spain financed to maturity by the 
capital markets (50.88% in 2020).

In 2008, UCI proceeded with its first self-secu-
ritisation transaction, UCI 18, where UCI subs-
cribed to all the bonds financing the mortgage 
loan portfolio, in particular those with the hi-
ghest AAA rating that were eligible for liquidity 
operations with the ECB. On 18 June 2018, the 
mortgage units were purchased and sold and 
the Fund was subsequently extinguished. 

More recently, on 15 June 2020, 15 September 
2021 and 15 December 2021 respectively, the 
decision was taken to purchase the mortgage 
participations and subsequently to proceed 
with the extinction of the Prado I, Prado II and 
Prado III Funds. 

As a consequence of the need to have two ra-
tings with a minimum grade of at least "A" from 
two different rating agencies in order to qualify 
as eligible assets for ECB liquidity operations, 
most asset-backed securities have lost this 

status. However, the Prado IV (series A), V (se-
ries A), VI (series A), VII (series A), VIII (series 
A) and IX (series A) bonds as well as the series 
A and B bonds of Belem 1 are eligible assets.
For the remaining balance sheet assets, UCI 
manages refinancing with treasury lines with 
its two reference shareholders: BNP Paribas 
and Banco de Santander; UCI branch in Portu-
gal is directly financed by its parent company in 
Spain.

The liquidity gap contemplates the classifica-
tion of the outstanding capital of financial as-
sets and liabilities by maturity terms, taking as 
references the outstanding periods between 
the corresponding date and their contractual 
maturity dates. On December 31, 2021 and 
2020, the liquidity gap is the following:  
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31.12.2021 Up to 1 month
From 1 to 3 

months

From 3 to 12 

months
From 1 to 3 years From 3 to 5 years

More than 5 

years
Total

ASSETS:

Cash, cash balances in central banks and other on-demand 
deposits
  Cash
  Other on-demand deposits

Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans and advances

-
3

263,383

41,595

-
-
-

92,231

-
-
-

455,729

-
-
-

1,555,261

-
-
-

1,663,769

-
-
-

6,861,135

-
3

263,383

10,669,720

Total Assets 304,979 92,231 455,729 1,555,261 1,663,769 6,861,135 10,932,105

LIABILITIES:
 
Deposits of Credit institutions
Debt securities issued
Subordinated liabilities
Other financial liabilities

887,511
9,708
1,220

5

2,455,851
19,416

-
26

3,653,040
74,891

-
26

206,225
399,419
60,000

1,166

87,139
399,419

-
973

30,181
2,257,952

80,000
1,760

7,319,948
3,160,805

141,220
3,956

Total Liabilities 898,444 2,475,293 3,727,957 666,811 487,532 2,369,892 10,625,929

Difference Assets minus Liabilities (593,465) (2,383,062) (3,272,228) 888,450 1,176,238 4,491,243 307,176
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31.12.2020 Up to 1 month
From 1 to 3 

months

From 3 to 12 

months
From 1 to 3 years From 3 to 5 years

More than 5 

years
Total

ASSETS:

Cash, cash balances in central banks and other on-demand 
deposits
  Cash
  Other on-demand deposits

Financial assets at amortised cost
Loans and advances

-
3

314,191 

41,533

-
-
-

92,108

-
-
-

455,178

-
-
-

1,552,807

-
-
-

1,661,316

-
-
-

6,842,245

-
3

314,191

10,645,187

Total Assets 355,727 92,108 455,178 1,552,807 1,661,316 6,842,245 10,959,381

LIABILITIES:

Deposits of Credit institutions
Debt securities issued
Subordinated liabilities
Other financial liabilities

887,511
9,250

266
5

2,455,851
18,499

26

3,653,040
71,354

150

206,225
380,556

99

87,139
380,556

30

41,716
2,311,082

187,000
2,867

7,331,482
3,171,297

187,266
3,177

Total Liabilities 897,032 2,475,293 3,724,544 586,880 467,724 2,542,665 10,693,221

Difference Assets minus Liabilities (541,305) (2,382,268) (3,269,366) 965,927 1,193,592 4,299,580 266,160
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Type Origin

    •     Processes            Operating errors, human errors

• Fraud and activities Events of a criminal nature, unauthorised activities, unau-
thorised    internal activities

• Technology Technical failures in computers, applications or 
communications

• Human Resources Failures in the Human Resources policy, in safety and heal-
th in the workplace, etc.

• Commercial practices Product defects and bad sales practices

• Disasters Events (natural, accidental or deliberate)

• Suppliers Breach of contracted services

15. Other market 
risk: operating risk 
management
UCI follows closely the development of the stan-
dards on this risk as presented in the Basle II 

agreements, approved in June 2004, progres-
sing in its project for identifying, mitigating, ma-
naging and quantifying operating risk. On this 
aspect and within the overall ISO 9001:2000 
quality certification project, the entity has con-
tinued to computerise all risk events and inci-
dents of any type, setting up a database that 
will make it possible in the future to model and 
quantify the level of operating risk present in all 
business and support areas.

The analysis of defaults contained in the losses 
and incidents database has made it possible to 
introduce improvements in controls and proce-
dures with immediate results in the reduction 
of losses derived from operating risk.

The parameterisation of the different types of 
operating risk can be classified in accordance 
with the following matrix
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16. Cash, cash 
balances with 
central banks and 
other demand 
deposits

The composition of the balance of caption 
“Cash, cash balances in central banks and other 
on-demand deposits” is shown below:

The totality of this caption’s amount per ma-
turity of the residual term is considered on de-
mand.

"Other demand deposits" includes accrued in-
terest on deposits of 74 thousand euros as of 31 
December 2021 (31 December 2020: 22 thou-
sand euros).

31.12.21 31.12.20

Cash 3 3

Other on-demand deposits 263,383 314,191

263,386 314,194
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Spain: Score tranches 
distribution by Generation
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Portugal: Score tranches 
distribution by Generation
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Spain: Probability of 
default by scoring tranches. 
Years 2011 - 2021 
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Portugal: Probability of 
default by scoring tranches. 
Years 2011 - 2021 
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Consolidated interest rate 
risk coverage at 31-12-21

 Dec 21  Jun 22  Dec 22   Jun 23   Dec 23  Jun 24   Dec 26   Jun 25  Dec 25  Jun 26   Dec 26   Jun 27  Dec 27  Jun 28   Dec 29  Jun 29  Dec 29 Jun 30 Dec 30 Jun 31   Dec 31 

Sensibility 12m: -2,1%

Assets Liabilities
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Downbreak outstanding 
managed loans balance and 
securitized at  31-12-21
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17. Financial assets 
at amortised cost
The breakdown of the balance of this heading, 
according to the type and status of the 
transactions, is shown below:

31.12.21 31.12.20 (*)

Per modality and credit situation:
Other term loans 
Doubtful assets 

 8,963,556
1,706,164

8,472,940
2,172,247

10,669,720 10,645,187

By sector of activity of the accredited party:
Other resident sectors
Non-residents

8,920,863
1,748,857

8,982,084
1,663,103

10,669,720 10,645,187

By geographical area:
Spain
Rest of the European Union

 9,283,761
1,385,959

9,266,867
1,378,320

10,669,720 10,645,187

By interest rate mode:
Interest-free financing
Financing with interest

-
10,669,720

 -
10,645,187

10,669,720 10,645,187

Value adjustments for impairment on assets
Valuation adjustments accrued interest
Commission valuation adjustments

(362,511)
13,123

47,523

(432,766)
21,794

26,322

10,367,855 10,260,537

(*) Note that the balances have been restated from those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1).
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The carrying amount recorded in the above 
table, excluding the portion of "Other valua-
tion adjustments" for impairment losses and 
valuation adjustments for fees, represents the 
Company's maximum exposure to credit risk in 
relation to the financial instruments included 
therein.

The detail of the balance of loans and advances 
to customers is as follows:

31.12.21 31.12.20 (*)

Resident debtors with real garantee 7,314,979 6,936,484

Non-resident credit with real garantee 1,648,123 1,535,758

Doubtful debtors 1,706,164 2,172,247 

Other term debtors 454 698 

Debtors on demand and others - -

10,669,720 10,645,187

(*) Note that the balances have been restated from those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1).
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31.12.21 31.12.20

On demand 41,594 36,200

From 1 to 3 months 92,231 78,211

From 3 to 6 months 455,730 378,098

From 6 months to 1 year 1,555,261 1,378,292

From 1 year to 5 years 1,663,769 1,448,017

More than 5 years 6,861,135 7,326,369

10,669,720 10,645,187

The balance of the "Resident secured loans" 
and "Non-resident secured loans" accounts re-
presents the unmatured risk of loans granted 
which are secured by mortgages in favour of 
the Company.

The balance of the "other term receivables" ac-
count represents the unmatured risk of loans 
granted that are not secured by mortgages in 
favour of the Group.

The breakdown of Loans and advances to 
customers by residual term as at 31.12.21 and 
31.12.20, in thousands of euros, is as follows:
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The movement in gross exposure by phase of 
impairment of loans and advances from cus-
tomers recognised under "Financial assets at 
amortised cost" under Circular 4/2017 for the 
financial year 2021 and the financial year 2020 
without taking into account valuation adjust-
ments for accrued interest and fees is shown 
below:

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2021 7,806,978 665,962 2,172,247 10,645,187

Movements  
  Trransfers: 
To Stage 2 from Stage 1
To Stage 3 from Stage 1
To Stage 1 from Stage 2
To Stage 3 from Stage 2
To Stage 1 from Stage 3
To Stage 2 from Stage 3
Net change in financial assets  
Failed
Exchange rate differences and other movements

(258,910)
(28,212)
102,868

-
4,795

-
235,670

-
-

258,910
-

(102,868)
(234,049)

-
554,732

(42,320)
-
-

-
28,212

-
234,049

(4,795)
(554,732)
(100,498)

(68,319)
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

92,852
(68,319)

-

Balance at year-end 2021 7,863,189 1,100,367 1,706,164 10,669,720 

Thousands of Euros 
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Balance at the beginning of the financial year 2020 7,721,604 1,011,572 1,873,683 10,606,859

Movements  
  Trransfers: 
To Stage 2 from Stage 1
To Stage 3 from Stage 1
To Stage 1 from Stage 2
To Stage 3 from Stage 2
To Stage 1 from Stage 3
To Stage 2 from Stage 3
Net change in financial assets  
Failed
Exchange rate differences and other movements

(400,693)
(49,319)
200,768

-
3,804

-
330,814

-
-

400,693
-

(200,768)
(544,299)

-
164,164

(165,400)
-
-

-
49,319

-
544,299
(3,804)

(164,164)
(80,985)
(46,103)

-

-
-
-
-
-
-

84,431
(46,103)

-

Balance at year-end 2020(*) 7,806,978 665,962 2,172,247 10,645,187

Thousands of Euros 

(*) Note that the balances have been restated from those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1)..

During 2021 and 2020, the Group has calcula-
ted the corresponding provisions on non-per-
forming loans secured by real estate, conside-
ring the discounted value of the collateral, and 
in accordance with the credit risk model based 
on estimating credit risk by considering the ex-
pected loss. 

In addition, the Company's Directors, in accor-
dance with point four of Transitional Provision 
one of Circular 4/2019, have updated the refe-
rence valuations of all collateral and assets fo-
reclosed or received in payment of debts requi-
ring full individual appraisals, pursuant to Order 
ECO 805/2003 of 27 March, in accordance 

with the provisions of points 78 to 85 and 166 
of Annex 9 of Circular 4/2017.
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Impaired financial assets

The following is a detail, on 31 December 2021 
and 31 December 2020, classified by segment, 

of those assets that have been considered indi-
vidually impaired based on the individual analy-
sis of each one of them (it does not include, 
therefore, the detail of the financial assets im-

paired based on a collective process of assess-
ment of possible losses):

31.12.21 31.12.20

Individuals:
Real Garantee
    Mortgage 
    Values
    Others
No guarantee

1,683,434
-
-

12,616

2,144,921
-
-

17,258

Promoters:
Real Garantees
    Mortgage 10,113

-
10,068

Total 1,706,164 2,172,247

Thousands of Euros 

(*) Note that the balances have been restated from those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1).

Measures adopted credit risk Covid-19 in rela-
tion to clients

The Entity took measures during 2020 to facili-
tate the payment of the customers most affec-
ted by Covid-19 by granting both public mora-

toriums in accordance with Royal Decree-Laws 
8/2020 and 11/2020, and private moratoriums.

The amounts of both public and private (sec-
toral) moratoriums (current and terminated) 
granted by the Company, as well as the number 

of customers of both measures at the end of 
2021 and 2020 are as follows:
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In force 
(millions of Euros)

Completed 
(millions of Euros) Total No. Customers

5 133 429 4,130

31.12.2021
Public Moratoriums

In force 
(millions of Euros)

Completed 
(millions of Euros) Total No. Customers

3 583 597 5,761

31.12.2021
Private Moratoriums

In force 
(millions of Euros)

Completed 
(millions of Euros) Total No. Customers

138 517 655 5,069

31.12.2020
Public Moratoriums

In force 
(millions of Euros)

Completed 
(millions of Euros) Total No. Customers

586 23 609 4,890

31.12.2020
Private Moratoriums

Note 14 provides details of the maturities of the 
items comprising the balances of these hea-
dings in the accompanying balance sheets. The 
rates applicable to interest-bearing assets are 
also detailed in Note 14. The yield generated 
by these assets in 2021 and 2020 is shown in 
Note 33.

Value adjustments for impairment

The changes in the balance of provisions for im-
pairment losses on assets included under "Fi-
nancial Assets at Amortised Cost - Loans and 
Advances - Loans and Advances to Customers" 
are shown below:
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Saldos al 1 de enero de 2021 (*)
Dotaciones con cargo a resultados del ejercicio
Recuperaciones de dotaciones con abono a resultados 

(12.904)
(17.994)

21.729

(21.749)
(58.903)

43.891

(398.195)
(104.272)

117.282

(432.848)
(181.169)
182.902

Dotaciones netas del ejercicio 
De las que:
     Determinadas individualmente
     Determinadas colectivamente

3.735
 
- 

3.735

(15.012)
 
- 

(15.012)

13.010
 
- 

13.010

1.733

- 
1.733

Aplicación 203 868 67.533 68.604 

Saldo al 31 de diciembre de 2021 (8.966) (35.893) (317.652) (362.511) 

Pérdidas por deterioro
(miles de euros)

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Saldos al 1 de enero de 2021 (*)
Dotaciones con cargo a resultados del ejercicio
Recuperaciones de dotaciones con abono a resultados 

(12.904)
(17.994)

21.729

(21.749)
(58.903)

43.891

(398.195)
(104.272)

117.282

(432.848)
(181.169)
182.902

Dotaciones netas del ejercicio 
De las que:
     Determinadas individualmente
     Determinadas colectivamente

3.735
 
- 

3.735

(15.012)
 
- 

(15.012)

13.010
 
- 

13.010

1.733

- 
1.733

Aplicación 203 868 67.533 68.604 

Saldo al 31 de diciembre de 2021 (8.966) (35.893) (317.652) (362.511) 

Pérdidas por deterioro
(miles de euros)

(*) Nótese que los saldos han sido reexpresados respecto de los formulados en el ejercicio 2020 (Véase Nota 2.1).
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The change in the item net write-offs due to 
defaults and other movements is mainly due to 
the sale of the defaulted portfolio that the Com-
pany carried out in 2020 and to the transfer to 
losses of interest and commissions generated 
with maturities of more than 90 days associa-
ted with contracts in default.

The profit and loss account heading "Impair-
ment of assets at amortised cost" for a net re-
versal of 4,404 thousand euros on 31 December 

2021 and a net provision of 94,719 thousand 
euros on 31 December 2020, includes the net 
effect of provisions and recoveries of provisions 
for credit risk amounting to Euros 2. 671 thou-
sand on 31 December 2021 and an allocation of 
EUR 86,631 thousand euros on 31 December 
2020, as well as 2,047 thousand euros corres-
ponding to recoveries of written-off assets on 
31 December 2021 and 1,305 thousand euros 
on 31 December 2020.

The movement in the gross amount of the 
allowance for loan losses and advances to cus-
tomers recorded under the heading financial 
assets at amortised cost under Bank of Spain 
Circular 4/2019 for the financial year 2021 and 
the financial year 2020 is shown below:

Fase 1 Fase 2 Fase 3 Total

Saldo al inicio del ejercicio 2021 12.904 21.749 398.195 432.848

   Traspasos: 
A Stage 2 desde Stage 1
A Stage 3 desde Stage 1
A Stage 1 desde Stage 2
A Stage 3 desde Stage 2
A Stage 1 desde Stage 3
A Stage 2 desde Stage 3
  Variación neta de exposición y cambios en el riesgo 
  de  crédito (*) 
  Fallidos 
  Diferencias de cambio y otros movimientos 

(2.199)
(351)
808

-
8
-

(2.204)

-
-

4.376
-

(2.915)
(9.331)

-
23.361
(1.347)

-
-

-
2.944

-
14.534
(676)

(42.507)
(56.890)

2.052
-

2.177
2.593

(2.107)
5.203
(668)

(19.146)
(60.441)

2.052
-

Saldo al 31 de diciembre de 2021 (8.966) (35.893) (317.652) (362.511) 

Millones de euros



304 Annual Report 2021

Fase 1 Fase 2 Fase 3 Total

Saldo al inicio del ejercicio 2020 10.642 35.167 334.629 380.438

   Traspasos: 
A Stage 2 desde Stage 1
A Stage 3 desde Stage 1
A Stage 1 desde Stage 2
A Stage 3 desde Stage 2
A Stage 1 desde Stage 3
A Stage 2 desde Stage 3
  Variación neta de exposición y cambios en el riesgo 
   de  crédito (*) 
  Fallidos 
  Diferencias de cambio y otros movimientos 

(939)
(369)
2.172

-
25

-
1.373

-
-

5.845
-

(5.657)
(19.821)

-
6.487
(354)

-
-

-
4.515

-
43.294

(350)
(13.354)

28.156

1.305
-

4.906
4.146

(3.485)
23.473

(325)
(6.867)
29.175

1.305
-

Saldo al 31 de diciembre de 2020 12.904 21.667 398.195 432.766 

Millones de euros

During 2021 the Group refinanced or 
renegotiated outstanding customer debt (see 
Note 13).

Financial assets overdue and not impaired

The following is a breakdown of financial as-
sets past due and not considered impaired by 
the entity at 31 December 2021 and 31 De-
cember 2020, classified by class of financial 
instrument:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Per type of counterpart 
Public Administrations 
Other resident sectors
Other non-resident sectors

417
-

417
-

417
-

417
-

Total 417 417

Thousands of Euros
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Credit risk with real estate construction and 
development

At 31 December 2021 and 2020, financing 
for construction and property development 
amounted to 16,043 thousand euros and 
17,483 thousand euros, respectively, of which 
EUR 10,113 thousand euros and 10,590 thou-
sand euros were impaired assets, respectively. 

The amounts above correspond to financing 
granted for construction and real estate pro-
motion. As a consequence, and according to 
instructions from Bank of Spain, the debtor’s 
CNAE has not been taken into account. This 
implies, for example, that if the debtor is: (a) a 
real estate company but dedicates the granted 
financing to other than construction or real es-
tate promotion, it is not included on these 

charts; and (b) a company which main activity 
is not construction or real estate, but the credit 
is used to finance estates aimed to real estate 
promotion, it is included on these charts.

The quantitative information on real estate risk 
on December 31, 2021 is the following, in thou-
sands of euros:

Gross amount
Excess on 

guarantee value
Specific hedges

Credit risk
Defaulter
Subjective doubtful
Normal

12.931
10.113

-
2.818

5.803
5.211

-
592

5.359
5.198

-
161

Memorandum item
Generic coverage fund
Failed

 -
-
-

 -
-
-

 -
-
-31.12.21 31.12.20

Per type of counterpart 
Public Administrations 
Other resident sectors
Other non-resident sectors

417
-

417
-

417
-

417
-

Total 417 417
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Gross amount
Excess on 

guarantee value
Specific hedges

Credit risk
Defaulter
Subjective doubtful
Normal

12,946
10,068

-
2,878

5,330
4,967

-
363

5,691
5,512

-
179

Memorandum item
Generic coverage fund
Failed

 -
-
-

 -
-
-

 -
-
-

The quantitative information on real estate risk 
on December 31, 2020 was the following, in 
thousands of Euros

The chart below details the real estate credit 
risk based on the type of associated guarantees:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Without specific guarantee - -

With mortgage guarantee
Finished buildings-houses
Finishes buildings-others
Buildings under construction-houses
Buildings under construction-other
Urbanised land
Land-rest

12.931 
9.875

-
424

-
2.632

-

12.946
10.064

-
250

-
2.632

-
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Retail mortgage portfolio risk

The quantitative information regarding the retail 
mortgage portfolio on December 31, 2021 and 
2020 is the following:

31.12.21 31.12.20 (*)

Credit to acquire houses
Without mortgage guarantee
Doubtful
With mortgage guarantee
Doubtful

10,656,454
68,227
12,616

10,588,227
1,683,435

10,630,761
73,278
17,258

10,557,484
2,142,846

(*) Note that the balances have been restated from those formulated in 2020 (see Note 2.1).

Ranges of loan to value (LTV) of the retail 
mortgage portfolio at December 31, 2021 are 
the following:

LTV<=40% 40%< LTV<=60 % 60%< LTV<=80% 80%< LTV<=100% LTV>100% TOTAL

Live credits to acquire houses. With mortgage guarantee 1,803,588 2,790,142 2,880,106 1,893,753 1,220,638 10,588,227

Doubtful credits to acquire houses. With mortgage guarantee 72,408 184,505 338,413 363,269 724,839 1,683,435
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Ranges of loan to value (LTV) of the retail 
mortgage portfolio at December 31, 2020 were 
the following:

LTV<=40% 40%< LTV<=60 % 60%< LTV<=80% 80%< LTV<=100% LTV>100% TOTAL

Live credits to acquire houses. With mortgage guarantee 1,455,078 2,690,818 2,892,680 2,060,222 1,458,684 10,557,484

Doubtful credits to acquire houses. With mortgage guarantee 77,991 233,277 427,730 498,147 905,698 2,142,846

Failed assets

As of 31 December 2021, the total amount of 
'non-performing assets' amounts to 591,363 
million euros (31 December 2020: 590,666 
million euros).

Securitisation operations

The securitisation transactions have been ca-
rried out by the subsidiary Unión de Créditos 
Inmobiliarios S.A., E.F.C.

On 31 December there are no assets securiti-
sed before 1 January 2004 that were derecog-
nised as the UCI 9 Fund was cancelled in March 
2021 (101,793 thousand euros on 31 December 
2021).

In March 2021 and December 2021, the step-
up call of the Prado II and Prado III Securitisa-

tion Funds, respectively, was exercised, resul-
ting in their early cancellation.

In September 2021, the UCI 10 clean-up call 
was exercised, resulting in its early cancellation. 
On the other hand, in May 2021, the Prado VIII 
Securitisation Fund was set up for an amount 
of 480 million euro, of which UCI EFC holds all 
the bonds of tranches B and C and part of the 
bonds of tranche A, amounting to a total of 48 
million euro. The Company has also granted the 
fund a subordinated loan of 11 million euros.

In addition, in October 2021, the Prado IX Se-
curitisation Fund was set up for an amount of 
488 million euros, of which UCI EFC holds all 
the tranche B and C bonds and part of the tran-
che A bonds, for a total amount of 63.4 million 
euros. The Company has also granted the fund 
a subordinated loan of 10.5 million euros.

In April 2020, the "Belem 1" Green Securitisa-
tion Fund was set up in the Portuguese branch 
for an amount of 392 million euros, of which 
the Portuguese branch holds all the Tranche C 
bonds amounting to 35.2 million euros. In addi-
tion, the Company acquired part of Tranche B 
for an amount of EUR 25.5 million. 

In addition, in November 2020, the Prado VII 
Securitisation Fund was set up for an amount of 
515 million euros, of which the Company holds 
all the bonds of tranches B and C and a portion 
of the bonds of tranche A, amounting to a total 
of 108.1 million euros. In addition, the Company 
granted a subordinated loan of 11.1 million euros 
to the fund.

On the other hand, in June 2020, the Step-up 
call of the Prado I Securitisation Fund was exer-
cised, resulting in the early cancellation of the 
Fund. 
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2021 2020

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 10 - 78,256

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 11 116,562 133,427

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 12 169,411 195,963

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 14 315,236 368,249

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 15 390,773 444,423

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 16 532,410 604,167

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 17 471,463 526,820

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado II - 373,601

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado III - 312,209

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado IV 278,335 309,933

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado V 300,319 330,699

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado VI 324,453 362,044

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado VII 455,802 508,227

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado VIII 449,951 -

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado IX 480,241 -

Asset Securitisation Fund Belem 1 298,403 349,964

TOTAL 4,583,359 4,897,982

Below is a detail of the balances recorded in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets on 
31 December 2021 and 2020 associated with 
securitisation transactions, where the Group 
has retained substantial risks and rewards:
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18. Non-current 
assets held for sale
This caption contains the tangible assets re-
presented by foreclosed assets in respect of 
unpaid loans that have been claimed through 
legal procedures.

The movement on these assets during 2021 
and 2020 was the following:

31.12.19

First 

application

(*)

Additions Reclassification Write-offs 31.12.20 Additions Reclassification Write-offs 31.12.21

Foreclosed assets

Provisions foreclosed assets

406,098

(96,868)

-

(2,666)

45,792

(20,319)

(79,504)

21,848

(13,531)

995

358,855

(97,010)

65,805

(19,436)

(17,538)

1,614

(93,520)

25,332

313,602

(89,500)

309,230 (2,666) 25,473 (57,656) (12,536) 261,845 46,369 (15,924) (68,188) 224,102

(*) First implementation of Circular 4/2017. See Note 2.

The amount recorded as reclassification relates 
to properties that have been reclassified to in-
vestment property in the balance sheet in 2021 
and 2020 (Note 19).

The sale of the properties in 2021 resulted 
in a net gain on the net book value of 5,981 
thousand euros (3,613 thousand euros gain in 

2020). This amount is recognised under "Gains 
or (-) losses on non-current assets and disposal 
groups classified as held for sale not qualifying 
as discontinued operations" in the accompan-
ying income statement, including the net gain 
on disposals, which includes both the gain on 
disposals and the provisions and recoveries of 
provisions for non-current assets held for sale.

Quantitative information relating to foreclosed 
assets as of 31 December 2021 is as follows:
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Accounting item value Hedging

Property assets originated from financings to real estate construction and 
development companies 

Finished buildings: housing or others
Buildings under construction: housing or others 
Land: urbanised land and others

2,385

1,348
- 

1,037

(1,275)

(656)
- 

(619)

Property assets originated from mortgage financing to families to acquire houses 311,218 (88,226)

Other foreclosed property assets - -

Equity instruments, participations and financings to non-consolidated companies 
holding such assets - -

Accounting item value Hedging

Property assets originated from financings to real estate construction and 
development companies 

Finished buildings: housing or others
Buildings under construction: housing or others 
Land: urbanised land and others

1,353

-
-

1,353

(632)

-
-

(632)

Property assets originated from mortgage financing to families to acquire houses 357,502 (96,378)

Other foreclosed property assets - -

Equity instruments, participations and financings to non-consolidated companies 
holding such assets - -

The quantitative information regarding 
foreclosed assets on December 31, 2020 was 
the following:
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The classification of foreclosed assets, on 
December 31, 2021 and 2020, based on their 
nature and term of permanence in the balance 
sheet, is the following:

2021 Less than 3 years More than 3 years Total 

Finished buildings 104,665 207,901 312,566

Buildings under construction - - -

Land 183 854 1,037

2020 Less than 3 years More than 3 years Total 

Finished buildings 216,520 140,982 357,502

Buildings under construction - - -

Land - 1,353 1,353

Royal Decree 4/2017 has been applied in 
the write-down of the assets remaining on 
the balance sheet, taking into consideration 
the appraisals carried out by independent 
third parties. The valuation methods used in 
the appraisals are those described in Order 
ECO/0805/2003 of 27 March on valuation 
standards for real estate and certain rights for 

certain financial purposes, as revised by Order 
EHA/3011/2007 of 4 October.

The main companies and agencies with which 
the Group worked in Spain in 2021 are as fo-
llows: Gloval Valuation, S.A.U., Tinsa Tasacio-
nes Inmobiliarias, S.A.U., Euroval, S.A., and So-
ciedad de tasación, S.A.

Details of carrying amount and appraised value 
for foreclosed assets and investment property 
held for sale as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 
are as follows:
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Concepto Net book value Appraised Value Net book value Appraised Value

Foreclosed assets 224,102 361,720 261,845 410,458

Total 224,102 361,720 261,845 410,458

31.12.2021 31.12.2020

During the financial years 2021 and 2020, as 
well as in previous years, the Group has carried 
out several transactions involving the sale of 
non-current assets held for sale and disposal 
groups, in which it has financed the amount re-
quired by the buyer to make this acquisition. 

The amount of loans granted by the entity, du-
ring the financial year 2021, for the financing 
of this type of operations amounted to 59,218 
thousand euros (59,100 thousand euros during 
the financial year 2020). 

The outstanding balance of this type of finan-
cing on 31 December 2021 and 2020 amoun-
ted to 703,338 thousand euros and 688,958 
thousand euros, respectively.

The average funded percentage of such tran-
sactions outstanding on 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2020 corresponds to that set by 
the Group in its credit risk policies.
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19. Tangible assets
Property, plant and equipment

The breakdown of this item in the balance 
sheets as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows:

 Cost 31.12.2020 Additions Write-offs 31.12.2021

IT equipment and installations
Furniture, vehicles and other facilities
Buildings
Works in use
Rights of use  

13,691
11,561

414
1,063
5,823

1,544
587

- 
- 

4,819

(4,637)
 -
-
-

(2,135)

10,598
12,148

414
1,063
8,507

32,552 6,950 (6,772) 32,730

Accumulated amortisation

IT equipment and installations
Furniture, vehicles and other facilities
Buildings
Works in use
Rights of use  

(11,578)
(10,225)

(141)
- 

(2,792)
 

(1,993)
(434)

(5)
- 

(2,400)
 

4,584
2
- 
- 

438
 

(8,988)
(10,657)

(146)
- 

(4,754)
 

(24,736) (4,832) 5,024 (24,545)

Net total 7,816 2,118  (1,748) 8,186
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 Cost 31.12.2019 Additions Write-offs 31.12.2020

IT equipment and installations
Furniture, vehicles and other facilities
Buildings
Works in use
Rights of use  

12,165
11,088

414
1,063

1,770
691

- 
- 

9,230

(244)
(218)

- 
- 

(3,407)

13,691
11,561

414
1,063
5,823

24,730 11,691 (3,869) 32,552

Accumulated amortisation

IT equipment and installations
Furniture, vehicles and other facilities
Buildings
Works in use
Rights of use  

(10,860)
(9,774)

(120)
 
- 
 

(962)
(670)

(21)
 

(2,742)
 

244
218

- 
 
- 
 

(11,578)
(10,225)

(141)
 

(2,792)
 

(20,754) (4,445) 462 (24,736)

Net total 3,976 7,246 (3,407) 7,816

The amount of fully depreciated assets totals 
20,135 thousand euros (17,599 thousand euros 
in the year 2020).

A breakdown, according to their nature, of the 
items comprising the balance of this item in the 
balance sheet on 31 December 2021:
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Cost
Accumulated 

amortisation
Net balance

IT equipment and installations
Furniture, vehicles and other facilities
Buildings
Works in use
Rights of use  

13,691
11,561

414
1,063
5,823

(11,578)
(10,225)

(141)
 -

(2,792)

2,113
1,336

273
1,063

3,030

Balances at 31 December 2020 32,552 (24,736) 7,815

IT equipment and installations
Furniture, vehicles and other facilities
Buildings
Works in use
Rights of use  

10,598
12,148

414
1,063
8,507

(8,987)
(10,657)

(146)
 -

(4,754)

1,611
1,491
268

1,063
3,753

Balances at 31 December 2021 32,730 (24,545) 8,186

Thousand of Euros

Circular 4/2019 indicates that financial credit 
institutions must apply the accounting criteria 
defined in Circular 2/2018 for leases. In this re-
gard, the Group has recorded as rights of use 
the impact of the rental of the head office buil-
ding in Madrid where it carries out its activity.

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group has 
no tangible assets, either for own use or under 
construction, for which there are restrictions on 

title or which have been pledged as security for 
the fulfilment of debts.

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group 
has no material asset purchase commitments 
with third parties.

In 2021 and 2020, no amounts have been re-
ceived or are expected to be received from third 
parties for compensation or indemnities for im

pairment or loss of value of property, plant and 
equipment for own use.

The Group has no items of property, plant and 
equipment for own use that are temporarily out 
of service on 31 December 2021 and 2020.

No impairment of property, plant and equip-
ment was recognised or reversed in 2021 and 
2020. 
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Investment property

The breakdown of and movements during 
the year in the accounts included under this 
heading in the accompanying balance sheet 
are as follows:

31.12.19
First 

application (*)
Additions Write-offs 31.12.20 Additions Write-offs 31.12.21

Property investments

Accumulated amortisation of investment property

Impairment adjustments

128,720

(5,006)

(1,658)

-

-

(2,456)

12,536

(1,684)

(3,294)

(11,579)

678

317

129,677

(6,012)

(7,091)

15,924

(1,466)

(1,830)

(9,612)

670

363

135,989

(6,808)

(8,558)

Total 122,056 (2,456)  7,558  (10,584) 116,574 12,628 (8,579) 120,623

(*) First implementation of Circular 4/2019. See Note 2.

The additions in 2021 and 2020 relate to the 
reclassification of items that were recorded un-
der non-current assets held for sale in the ba
lance sheet. These are housing units intended 
for rental operation. 

Details of carrying amount and appraised value 
for foreclosed assets and investment property 
held for sale as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 
are as follows: 

Concept Net book value Valuation Net book value Valuation

Property investments 120,623 178,987 116,574 167,018

Total 120,623 178,987 116,574 167,018

31.12.2021 31.12.2020
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Income from investment property held for lea-
se amounted to 3.2 million recognised under 
"Other operating income" in the income state-
ment (2.7 million euros on 31 December 2020) 
and operating expenses for all related items 
amounted to 5,568 thousand euros (5,997 
thousand on 31 December 2020), of which 
3,264 thousand euros related to depreciation 
and valuation adjustments (4,978 thousand 
euros at 31 December 2020). These operating 
expenses are presented in the accompanying 
income statement according to their nature.

The Group had taken out various insurance po-
licies to cover the risks to which these invest-
ments are subject, and the Company considers 
that the coverage of these policies is sufficient.
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20. Intangible 
assets
The breakdown of this item in the balance 
sheets as of 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows:

 Cost 31.12.2020 Additions Write-offs 31.12.2021

Software 8,222 1,034 - 9,256

8,222 1,034 - 9,256

Accumulated Amortisation

Software (5,854) (625) - (6,479) 

(5,854) (625) - (6,479) 

Net total 2,368 409 - 2,777
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 Cost 31.12.2019 Additions Write-offs 31.12.2020

Software 6,813 1,475 (66) 8,222

- 8,222

Accumulated Amortisation

Software (5,337) (583) 66 (5,854) 

(5,337) (583) 66 (5,854) 

Net total 1,476 892 - 2,368

The amount of fully depreciated assets totals 
4,875 thousand euros and 4,803 thousand 
euros in 2021 and 2020 respectively.
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21. Tax assets 
and liabilities
The detail of these headings in the 
accompanying balance sheets on December 
31, 2021 and 2020 is the following:

Assets  2021 Assets 2020 Liabilities  2021 Liabilities 2020

Current taxes 4,594 6,064 1,418 1,472

Withholding taxes
IRPF
IVA
Others

4,020
574

-
-

5,412
552

-
100

-
229

1,054
135

-
255
977
242

Deferred taxes 88,051 131,759 1,230 -

For leases
For derivatives
For impairment corrections
Tax Credits
Others

1,140
6,004

56,772
24,135

- 

918
31,687

58,603
29,542
11,009 

1,126
-
-
-

104

-
-
-
-
- 

As a result of the current corporate income tax 
regulations applicable to the Group, in 2021 and 
2020 certain differences have arisen between 
the accounting and tax criteria which have 

been recorded in deferred taxes when calcula-
ting and recording the corresponding corporate 
income tax.



322 Annual Report 2021

22. Other assets 
and other liabilities
Details of the balance of "Other Assets" and 
"Other Liabilities" in the accompanying balance 
sheet at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as 
follows:

Asset  2021 Asset  2020 Liabilities 2021 Liabilities 2020

Accruals
Debts with Group companies
Other concepts

4,679
1,474

16,994

4,679
1,474

16,994

20,560

6,939

20,670

19,171

TOTAL 23,147 18,570 27,499 39,841

Other items include, among others, prepay-
ments made by the Group in connection with 
its activities in various fields, such as, for exam-
ple, amounts paid to the management com-
panies for the management of its properties, 
payments made to solicitors in connection with 
litigation with its borrowers, as well as transac-
tions with its suppliers.

Information on payment deferrals made to su-
ppliers - Third additional provision. "Duty to pro-
vide information" of Law 15/2010 of 5 July 2010.

In compliance with the provisions of Law 
31/2014, of 3 December, which amends the 
Capital Companies Act to improve corporate 
governance, modifies the third additional provi-
sion of Law 15/2010, of 5 July, amending Law 
3/2004, of 29 December, which has been de-
veloped by the resolution of 29 January 2016, 
of the Spanish Accounting and Auditing Institu-
te (ICAC), on the information to be included in 
the annual accounts in relation to the average 
period of payment to suppliers in commercial 
transactions, the information relating to de-

ferrals of payment to suppliers in commercial 
transactions is presented. Given the activities 
in which the Entity engages, the information re-
quired on the average payment period corres-
ponds basically to payments for the provision of 
services and sundry supplies.
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Days Days

Average payment period to suppliers.
Ratio of paid operations.
Ratio of operations payable.

15
79.99%
20.01%

15
75.51%

24.49%

Amount 

(thousands of Euros)

Amount 

(thousands of Euros)

Total payments made.
Total outstanding payments.

71,600
17,915

60,851
18,272

2021 2020

Given the activities in which the Group engages, 
the information required on the average pay-
ment period corresponds basically to payments 
for the provision of services and sundry supplies.

The average supplier payment period indicated 
has been obtained considering that the com-
pany has established, in general, the 10th and 
25th of each month as fixed supplier payment 
days.
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23. Financial 
liabilities at 
amortised cost
The detail, in thousands of Euros, on December 
31, 2021 and 2020 is the following:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Deposits of credit institutions
Loans
BNP
Santander
Repos
Subordinated Loans
Accrued interest

7,461,168
6,803,795
3,370,966
3,432,829

513,591
141,107

2,675

7,518,748
3,776,780
3,465,537
3,400,979

500,489
147,222

4,521

Debt securities
Obligations Cocos
Bonds

3,160,805
82,000

3,078,805

3,171,297
82,000

3,089,297

Other financial liabilities 3,956 3,177

Total 10,625,929 10,693,221

The breakdown of financial liabilities at 
amortised cost by residual term as of 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
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31.12.21 31.12.20

Up to 1 month
1 to 3 Months
3 to 12 Months
1 to 3 years
3 to 5 years
More than 5 Years

898,444
2,475,293
3,727,957

666,811
487,532

2,369,892

897,032
2,474,376
3,724,544

586,880
467,724

2,542,665

Total 10,625,929 10,693,211

In 2021, interest rates on outstanding financial 
liabilities ranged from 1.812% to -0.125%.

In 2020, interest rates on outstanding financial 
liabilities ranged from 2.130% to -0.067%.

Subordinated Debt

The heading "Loans and advances to credit ins-
titutions" includes subordinated debt whose 
counterparty is the Parent's shareholders, i.e., 
Banco Santander and BNP Paribas and BNP 
Paribas Personal Finance. Specifically, they are 
included under this heading; 

i) Subordinated debt issued by the UCI 10-17 
securitisation funds with a balance on 31 De-
cember 2021 of 42.2 million (32.1 million at 
31.12.20).

ii) Subordinated debt issued by UCI SA, amoun-
ting to 105 million on 31 December 2021 and 31 
December 2020.

The detail of the loans subscribed and their 
main conditions as of 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2020 is as follows:
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Financial institution Expiry date Interest rate Fees Non-current liabilities Current liabilities

BS
BS
BNPP PF
BNPP Paris
BS
BS
BS
BS
BNPP PF
BNPP PF
BNPP PF
BNPP PF

12/12/2029
09/12/2030
12/12/2029
09/12/2030
05/03/2039
05/12/2039
05/06/2040
05/12/2046
05/03/2039
05/12/2039
05/06/2040
05/12/2046

Euribor + 2,5
Euribor + 2,8
Euribor + 2,5
Euribor + 2,8

Eur3 meses+0,60
Eur3 meses+0,55
Eur3 meses+0,63

Eur3 meses+2
Eur3 meses+0,60
Eur3 meses+0,55
Eur3 meses+0,63

Eur3 meses+2

Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly
Half-yearly

40,000
12,500
40,000
12,500
6,375
5,175
5,802

701
6,375
5,175
5,802

701

Total 141,107

The interest paid on these loans is 2.1 million 
euros on 31 December 2021 and 1.8 million eu-
ros on 31 December 2020.

In December 2020, two new subordinated 
debt issues were made for amounts of 12.5 mi-
llion each and granted by Banco Santander and 
BNP Paribas respectively, with a maturity of 10 
years and benchmarked to Euribor 6M+280bp.
In December 2019, the existing 80 million euros 
subordinated debt granted by Banco Santander 
and SAGIP was cancelled and a new issue was 
made for the same amount and subscribed in 
equal parts by Banco Santander and BNP Pa-
ribas Personal Finance, with a maturity of 10 
years tied to Euribor 6M+250bp.

These loans are subordinated in order to be 
included in the calculation of the UCI Group's 

equity and cannot be repaid or repaid in advan-
ce without prior authorisation from the Bank of 
Spain. These loans have a maturity of 10 years 
and as indicated above, are granted by the sha-
reholders or entities related to them.

Debt securities

A) Convertible bonds

On June 26, 2019, subordinated perpetual con-
tingent bonds (“CoCos”) convertible into sha-
res of UCI S.A. were issued, which were admi-
tted to trading in the Fixed Income Alternative 
Market (“MARF”), for a total amount of 82 mi-
llion Euros. These bonds were issued at par and 
have a unit nominal value of 200,000 Euros. 

They are perpetual securities, although they 

could be converted into newly-issued ordi-
nary shares in UCI, in those cases where there 
was a common equity tier 1 ratio (CET1) be-
low 5.125%, calculated according to Regulation 
(EU) 575/2013 of the European Parliament and 
the Council, of 26 June, on prudential requi-
rements of credit institutions and investment 
entities. The securities’ conversion price will be 
the highest between (i) the fair value, and (ii) 
the nominal value of UCI’s ordinary shares at 
conversion.

Securities are considered Additional Tier 1 
Capital.

Bonds will accrue a non-cumulative remunera-
tion calculated at an annual interest rate, quar-
terly payable, of:
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- Percentage applied on the nominal of Coco 
bonds of 7.5% from the date of reimbursement 
(included) to the fifth anniversary (excluded).

- From the fifth anniversary, and onwards for 
every five years, adding a margin of 788.8 basic 
points to the applicable 5-year mid-swap rate.

Expenses for remuneration of preference sha-
res contingently convertible into ordinary sha-
res amount to 6,100 thousand euros on 31 
December 2021 (31 December 2020: 6,114 
thousand euros). The expense net of its tax im-
pact has been recognised under "Other reser-
ves" in consolidated equity.

B) Asset-backed securities issued by the UCI 
Funds

Below is a detail of the balances recorded in the 
accompanying balance sheets on 31 December 
2021 and 2020 associated with outstanding 
Bonds issued (and not retained by the Group) 
by the various Securitisation Funds in which 
Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios S.A., E.F.C. ac-
ted as Assignor:
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2021 2020

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 10 - 69,268

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 11 83,927 99,919

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 12 92,415 109,390

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 14 122,338 148,731

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 15 162,375 189,629

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 16 303,199 350,283

Asset Securitisation Fund UCI 17 217,886 252,327

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado II - 213,486

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado III - 185,036

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado IV 193,289 225,397

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado V 225,363 256,283

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado VI 248,691 286,612

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado VII 355,732 406,900

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado VIII 404,019 -

Asset Securitisation Fund Prado IX 419,040 -

Asset Securitisation Fund Belem 1 247,487 300,321

TOTAL (*) 3,075,761 3,093,582

(*) Excluding the amount of 3,024 thousand euros on 31 December 2021 (-3,846 thousand euros on 31 December 2020) relating 
to valuation adjustments of these Bonds (accrued interest, issue costs and issue premium).
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This heading also includes an amount of 3,044 
thousand euros on 31 December 2021 (4,285 
thousand euros on 31 December 2020) relating 
to valuation adjustments of these bonds (ac-
crued interest, issue costs and issue premium).

The accrued interest on these bonds issued in 
the market and not retained by the Group is 2.1 
million euros on 31 December 2021 and 3.6 mi-
llion euros on 31 December 2020.
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24. Financial 
assets and 
liabilities held 
for trading
 

The breakdown of financial assets and liabilities 
held for trading, measured at fair value, in the 
accompanying balance sheets on 31 December 
2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Trading derivatives    24,750 29,168 16,437 22,778

24,750 29,168 16,437 22,778

Thousands of Euros 2021 2020

The breakdown by currency, maturity and 
notional amount of the trading derivatives 
captions in the balance sheets as at 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

Per currency:
    in Euros 24,750 29,168 16,437 22,778

24,750 29,168 16,437 22,778

Thousands of Euros 2021 2020
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The breakdown of the balance of trading 
derivatives assets and liabilities as of December 
31, 2021 is as follows:

Other operations on interest rates:
  Trading derivatives   2,566,064

Thousands of Euros Notional
value

2021

Fair value

Assets Liabilities

24,750 29,168

The breakdown of the balance of trading 
derivatives assets and liabilities as of December 
31, 2020 was as follows:

Other operations on interest rates:
  Trading derivatives   696,341

Thousands of Euros Notional
value

2021

Fair value

Assets Liabilities

16,437 22,778
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25. Derivatives- 
Hedge accounting
The amounts recorded under this heading in 
the accompanying balance sheet correspond 
to the fair value of derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in cash flow hedging tran-
sactions. 

Cash flow hedges are used to reduce the varia-
bility of the cash flows (attributable to the in-
terest rate) generated by the hedged items. In 
these hedges, the floating interest rate of the 
hedged liability items is converted to fixed inte-
rest rates using interest rate derivatives.

The following is a breakdown of the notional 
and/or contractual values of the hedging deri-
vatives held by the Entity on 31 December 2021 
and 2020:

Concept 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

By market type
   Unorganised markets 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

Total 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

By product type
    Forward transactions
   Swaps
   Options
   Other products

-
5,366,540

-
-

-
4,971,050

-
-

-
25

-
-

-
25

-
-

-
19,475

-
-

-
106,627

-
-

Total 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

On the counterpart
  Credit institutions - Residents
  Credit institutions - Non-residents
  Rest

2,455,290
2,911,250

2,491,750
2,479,300

25
-

25
-

4,365
15,110

51,565
55,062

Total 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

Notionals Fair value (asset) Fair value (Liabilities)
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Concept 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020

Per remaining term
  Up to 1 year
  More than 1 year and up to 5 years
  More than 5 years

2,211,435
1,462,675
1,692,430

2,762,850
1,125,800

1,082,400

-
-

25

-
-

25

2,311
2,339

14,825

2,145
20,421
84,061

Total 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

By type of covered risk
  Interest rate risk
  Currencies
  Credit

5,366,540
-
-

4,971,050
-
-

25
-
-

25
-
-

19,475
-
-

106,627
-
-

Total 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

By type of elements covered
  Financial assets at amortised cost (loans   
and advances)
  Financial assets at amortised cost (debt 
securities)

5,366,540

-

4,971,050

-

25

-

25

-

19,475

-

106,627

-

Total 5,366,540 4,971,050 25 25 19,475 106,627

The notional amount of the asset and liability 
hedging derivative contracts does not repre-
sent the risk assumed by the Entity as its net 
position is obtained from offsetting and/or 
combining these instruments.

The detail of the impact on the profit and loss 
account for the years 2021 and 2020 is as 
follows:

Notionals Fair value (asset) Fair value (Liabilities)
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Concept Profit Loss Profit Loss

Swaps
Other products

-
-

37,362
-

17,516
-

-
-

Total - 37,362 17,516 -

31.12.2021

Result on hedging instrument Result in hedged instrument

Concepto Profit Loss Profit Loss

Swaps
Other products

-
-

34,059
-

15,873
-

-
-

Total - 34,059 15,873 -

31.12.2020

Result on hedging instrument Result in hedged instrument

The amount recognised in the statement of 
recognised income and expense relates mainly 
to changes in the value of cash flow hedges.
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26. Provisions
The balance of "Other Provisions" under 
"Provisions" is as follows:

2021 2020

Provisions for taxes and other legal contingencies  
Other provisions

5,929
8,485

4,726
5,927

14,414 10,653

Thousands of Euros

This heading includes provisions for legal is-
sues, which have been estimated by applying 
prudent calculation procedures consistent with 
the conditions of uncertainty inherent to the 
obligations they cover.  

The financial sector has been exposed for years 
to multiple legal incidents (by way of example 
and not limitation): massive out-of-court and/
or court claims for "floor clauses" (also exten-
ding to "settlement/negotiation agreements" 
and cancelled loans); mortgage loan arran-
gement fees"; IRPH; and "amounts paid by 
purchasers for the purchase of a home" (Law 
57/68); among other various incidents. The-
refore, the Entity has considered provisioning 
amounts related to some of these cases, ba-

sed on open proceedings amounting to 5,929 
thousand euros in 2021 (4,726 thousand euros 
in 2020). Qualitative information in relation to 
the legal framework of these issues is detailed 
below.

Currently, mortgage expenses represent the 
majority of out-of-court and/or judicial claims 
filed by customers with financial institutions. 
On 16 July 2020, the CJEU published a ruling 
on the constitution and cancellation costs of 
mortgage loans taken out with consumers, ori-
gination fees, limitation period and costs arising 
from proceedings for the nullity of unfair terms, 
in line with the above, determining that, where 
appropriate, it will be the national judges who 
will have to rule, analysing the applicable regu-

lations on a case-by-case basis, on the nullity 
of the clause and the restitution of amounts, if 
applicable.

In addition, the heading "Sundry provisions" in-
cludes various items linked to the recoverability 
of certain transactions that have been covered 
by the law on the regulation of excessive indeb-
tedness of individuals (3869/2010), relating to 
loans originated in the defunct UCI branch in 
Greece.
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27. Fair value of 
financial assets 
and liabilities 
not carried at 
fair value
The Group's financial instruments are mea-
sured at fair value, except for those carried at 
amortised cost. 

Most of the financial liabilities recognised in full 
under "Financial liabilities at amortised cost" in 
the balance sheet on 31 December 2021 and 
2020 are at a floating rate, with the applicable 
interest rate reviewed periodically, and therefo-
re their fair value as a result of changes in mar-
ket interest rates does not differ significantly 
from the amounts at which they are recognised 
in the accompanying balance sheet.

The remaining assets and liabilities are fixed 
rate; of these, a significant portion have a matu-
rity of less than 1 year and, therefore, their mar-
ket value as a result of market interest rate mo-
vements is not significantly different from that 
recorded in the accompanying balance sheet.

Thus, the fair value of the amount of fixed rate, 
forward assets and liabilities with a residual 
maturity of more than one year does not differ 
significantly from that recorded in the accom-
panying balance sheet.

The fair value of the Company's financial ins-
truments on 31 December 2021 and 2020 for 
each class of financial assets and liabilities me-
asured at fair value is presented below, broken 
down by class of financial assets and liabilities 
at the following levels:

• Level 1: The fair value has been determined 
based on quoted prices in active markets, wi-
thout making any changes to the assets.

• Level 2: Fair value has been estimated based 
on quoted prices in organised markets for simi-
lar instruments or by using other valuation te-
chniques in which all significant inputs are ba-
sed on directly or indirectly observable market 
data.

• Level 3: Fair value has been estimated using 
valuation techniques in which some significant 
input is not based on observable market data.
The reasons for differences between the fair 
value and the carrying amount of financial ins-
truments are as follows:

- For instruments issued at a fixed rate, the fair 
value of the instrument varies with changes in 
market interest rates. The longer the residual 

maturity of the instrument, the greater the 
variation.

- For instruments issued at a floating rate, the 
fair value may differ from the carrying amount 
if the spreads to the reference interest rate 
have changed since the instrument was issued. 
If the margins remain constant, the fair value 
matches the book value only on repricing da-
tes. On all other dates, interest rate risk exists 
for flows that are already determined.
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Book value Fair value
2021

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

Financial assets
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
demand deposits
Financial assets held for trading
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily 
measured at fair value through profit or loss
inancial assets at amortised cost - Loans and 
advances
Derivados de cobertura
Non-current assets held for sale

263,386

24,750

10,367,855

25
224,102

263,386

24,750

10,533,931

25
224,102

-

-

-

-
-

3

24,750

-

25
-

263,383

-

10,533,931

-
224,102

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Hedging derivatives

29,168
10,626,929

19,475

29,168
10,617,196

19,475

-
-
-
-

-
29,168

-
19,475

 -
10,617,196

-

Thousands of Euros
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Book value Fair value
2020

LEVEL 1 LEVEL 2 LEVEL 3

Financial assets
Cash, cash balances at central banks and other 
demand deposits
Financial assets held for trading
Non-trading financial assets mandatorily 
measured at fair value through profit or loss
inancial assets at amortised cost - Loans and 
advances
Derivados de cobertura
Non-current assets held for sale

314,194

16,437

10,260,537
25

261,845

314,194

16,437

10,362,048

25
261,845

-

-

-

-
-

3

16,437

-

25
-

314,191

-

10,260,537
-

261,845

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities held for trading
Financial liabilities at amortised cost

22,778
10,693,221

106,627

22,778
10,684,383

106,627

-
-
-
-

-
22.778

-
106,627

 -
10,684,383

-

Thousands of Euros

Financial instruments at fair value and determi-
ned by published prices in active markets (Le-
vel 1) comprise government bonds, corporate 
bonds, exchange-traded derivatives, securiti-
sed assets, equities, short positions and issued 
bonds.

In cases where quotations cannot be observed, 
management makes its best estimate of what 
the market would price using its own internal 
models.

In most cases, these internal models use data 
based on observable market parameters as 

significant inputs (level 2) and sometimes use 
significant unobservable inputs in market data 
(level 3).
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28. Other global 
accumulated 
results
The detail of this caption of the accompanying 
balance sheets on December 31, 2021 and 
2020 is the following:

In thousands of Euros 2021 2020

Available-for-sale financial assets:
  Debt securities
Cash flow hedges    
Other valuation adjustments

-
(14,007)

-

-
(75,443)

-

Total (14,007) (75,443)

The breakdown of this item in the accompanying 
balance sheets on 31 December 2021 and 2020 
is as follows:

In thousands of Euros 2021 2020

Cash flow hedges    (14,007) (75,443)

Total (14,007) (75,443)
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The balance included in cash flow hedges co-
rresponds to the net amount of those changes 
in the value of financial derivatives designated 
as hedging instruments for the portion of the 
hedge that is considered to be an effective he-
dge. The movement during 2021 and 2020 is 
as follows:

In thousands of Euros 2021 2020

Opening balance   
Additions net   
Value variations

(75,443)
-

61,436

(44,130)
-

(31,313)

Total (14,007) (75,443)
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29. Equity
On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the share ca-
pital of the parent company consists of 43,730 
thousand and 37,555 thousand ordinary bearer 
shares with a par value of 2.61 euros each, fully 
subscribed and paid up. All shares have equal 
voting and dividend rights.

The composition of the shareholding as of 31 
December 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

On 22 December 2021, in order to strengthen 
the equity of UCI, S.A., E.F.C. and, in particular, its 
ordinary tier 1 capital at the individual level, the 
sole shareholder, UCI S.A. decided to increase 
the share capital by 6,681,840 euros by issuing 
101,240 new shares with a par value of 66 eu-
ros each, numbered sequentially from 694,728 
to 795,967, inclusive, which were created with 
a total share premium of 53,318,160 euros for 
the new set of newly issued shares. As a result, 
the subscribed capital on 31 December 2021 
was represented by 795,967 shares with a par 

value of 66 euros each, fully subscribed and 
paid up.

On 22 December 2021, in order to strengthen 
the Company's equity and, in particular, its ordi-
nary tier 1 capital at the individual level, the sha-
reholders decided to increase the share capital 
of UCI S.A. by an amount of 16,118,159 euros, 
by issuing 6,175,540 new shares with a par va-
lue of 2.61 euros each, numbered sequentia-
lly from 37,555,001 to 43,730,540 inclusive, 
which were created with a total share premium 
of 43,881,840 euros for all the new shares 
issued.

Legal Reserve

In accordance with the Revised Text of the 
Corporate Enterprises Act, entities that obtain 
profits in a financial year are to transfer 10% 
of the profit for the year to the Legal Reserve. 
Such transfers are to be made until the Legal 
Reserve reaches at least 20% of the paid-up 
share capital. The Legal Reserve may be used 
to increase share capital to the extent that its 
balance is in excess of 10% of the share capital 
once increased. Until it exceeds 20% of share 
capital, the Legal Reserve may only be used to 
compensate losses provided that there are no 
other reserves available that are sufficient to 
cover this purpose

On 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Parent 
Company had set up this reserve at the mini-

mum limit established by the aforementioned 
law.

Determination of own funds

Parent company and consolidated reserves

The Parent Company’s reserves correspond 
to retained results or losses not compensated 
from prior years and the positive difference on 
first consolidation (1989). Reserves in Compa-
nies consolidated under the full consolidation 
method correspond to retained results or los-
ses not compensated from prior years in sub-
sidiaries. 

The variation has been the following:Banco Santander S.A.
BNP Paribas Personal Finance  SA (Francia).
BNP Paribas, S.A. (Francia)

50%
40%
10%



342 Annual Report 2021

Balance

31.12.19

Movement 

year

Implementation 

Circular 

4/2019

Application 

Change in 

accounting 

principle

Balance

31.12.20

Aplicación 

Cambio criterio 

contable

Movement 

year

Balance

31.12.21

Parent Entity

Consolidated companies

130,489
 
306,161

5,978

2,721

-

(52,845)

-

(22,963)

36,467

233,074

-

(4,866)

(5,276)

(24,534)

31,191
 

203,674

Total 336,650 8,699 (52,845) (22,963) 269,541 (4,866) (29,810) 234,865
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30. Balance and 
transactions with 
gruop companies
Balances with Group companies as of 31 
December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Cash, cash balances at central banks and other demand deposits
Santander
BNP Paribas

70,012
6,190

125,606
15,305

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Loans
BNP Paribas España
BNP Paribas Paris
Santander

Repos
BNP Paribas Paris
Santander
Prestamos Subordinados
BNP Paribas Personal Finance
BNP Paribas Paris
Santander

Debt securities issued
BNP Paribas Personal Finance
Santander

3,128,700
242,610

3,432,983

91,011
-

40,000
12,500
52,500

41,000
41,000

3,149,800
316,174

3,402,031

49,303
80,000

40,000
12,500
52,500

41,000
41,000

Financial charges - loans
BNP Paribas-préstamos
Santander- préstamos

8,496
3,561

9,810
8,777

Net financial result-Financial instruments
Swap charges Santander
Swap charges BNP Paribas

10,022
9,824

8,346
9,821
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31. Tax position
The Group has open for tax audit the years 2017 
to 2020, both inclusive, in respect of all the ta-
xes applicable to the Group, with the exception 
of Corporation Tax, which is open for inspection 
as from the year 2016.
  
These tax returns involved cannot be definitive 
until they have been verified by the Administra-
tion or until four years have elapsed since their 
date of filing.

The UCI Group settles Corporation Tax for the 
financial years 2020 and 2019 under the taxa-
tion base, in accordance with the provisions of 
the Ministerial Order of October 3, 1992, not in-
corporating - ComprarCasa, Rede de Serviços 
Imobiliários, SA, UCI HOLDING Ltda, COMPAN-
HIA PROMOTORA UCI and UCI–Mediação of 
Seguros Unipessoal Lda.

The calculation for the tax charge payable is the 
following:

31.12.21 31.12.20 (*)

Accounting results before tax
Results from subsidiaries not incorporated in the tax consolidation 
Consolidated accounting result before tax

51,860
(7,280)

(39,756)

(36,302)
(8,660)

6,953

Accounting profit before tax consolidated group 4,824 -

Permanent differences
Temporary differences
Convertible bonds
Tax base
Compensation of tax bases

3,737
(6,104)
(6,100)
(3,643)

(4,003)
(11,716)
(6,117)

(35,361)

Tax rate
Compensation temporary differences (25%)
Compensation tax losses carried forward (25%)
Others
Payments on account Corporate Income Tax

(1,093)
-
-

(3,965)

(10,608)
-
-

(5,344)

Tax payable - -

(*) The restatement in Note 2.1 has not been considered in the calculation of the tax payable for the previous year 
as it is taken into account with the settlement for the year 2021.



345Annual Report 2021

The calculation for the tax charge payable is the 
following:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Accounting results before tax
Results from subsidiaries not incorporated in the tax consolidation
Consolidated accounting result before tax
Permanent differences

51,860
(7,280)
44,580

3,737

(43,256)
(8,660)
(51,916)

4,003

Total 48,317 (47,913)

Tax expense
Previous years’ tax
Tax expense Branch in Portugal
Impairment of tax credits
Others

14,495
51

1,250
6,500

76

(14,374)
381

1,300
0

(39)

Current tax expense 22,372 (12,732)

On 31 December 2021, the Group has capita-
lised the taxable income generated by the Tax 
Group in 2021 in the amount of 1.1 million euros 
(10.6 million euros in 2020), and these tax cre-
dits are presented under "Deferred tax assets" 
on the asset side of the accompanying conso-
lidated balance sheet. In addition, in 2021, the 
Group has made an impairment loss of 6,500 
thousand euros in relation to the tax credits it 
had capitalised, in an exercise of prudence and 
in accordance with the business plan, and the 
recoverability of the amounts currently capi-

talised is considered highly probable with the 
generation of positive consolidated taxable 
income.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities" mainly inclu-
de deferred tax assets relating to the tax effect 
of the valuation of hedging derivatives amoun-
ting to 6,015 thousand euros on 31 December 
2021 (31,679 thousand euros on 31 December 
2020), as well as those arising from provisions 
for non-deductible credit impairment, which 
are monetizable.

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities, 
excluding the tax effect of the valuation of he-
dging derivatives, on 31 December 2021 and 
2020 and their movement are as follows:
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2020 Altas Bajas Ajustes 2021

Allocation to the provision for impairment of non-deductible monetisable 
receivables
Provision for contingencies
Effects of the adoption of Circular 4/2019
Provision for impairment of non-deductible non monetisable loan
Non-deductible impairment on investment property
Other Assets (IFRS 16)
Other liabilities (IFRS 16)
Tax effect of restatement (Note 2.1)
Tax credits

45,751

-
-

10,774
2,079

911
(903)
11,927

29,542

-

-
-

5,167
440
218

(212)
 -

1,093

-

-
-

(7,463)
- 
- 
- 
-

(6,500)

-

-
-
- 
- 
- 
- 

(11,927)
- 

45,751

-
-

8,478
2,519
1,129

(1,115)
-

24,135

100,080 6,706 (13,963) (11,927) 80,896

Details of deferred tax assets and liabilities, excluding the 
tax effect of the valuation of hedging derivatives, on 31 
December 2019 and 2020 and their movement are as 
follows:

2019 Altas Bajas Ajustes 2020

Allocation to the provision for impairment of non-deductible monetisable 
receivables
Provision for contingencies
Effects of the adoption of Circular 4/2019
Provision for impairment of non-deductible non monetisable loan
Non-deductible impairment on investment property
Other Assets (IFRS 16)
Other liabilities (IFRS 16)
Tax effect of restatement (Note 2.1)

47,967

-
1,904

489
- 
- 
- 

18,869

-

-
8870
1,590

911
(903)

- 
10,673

(2,216)

-
-
 -
 -
 -
- 
-

-

-
-
- 
- 
- 
- 

11,927
- 

45,751

 -
10,774
2,079

911
(903)
11,927

29,542

69,229 21,141 (2,216) 11,927 100,081



347Annual Report 2021

The breakdown of the income tax expense for 
2021 and 2020 is as follows:

2021 2020

Current tax
Deferred tax

15,089
7,232

(9,599)
(3,515)

Tax expense 22,321 (13,114)

Thousands of Euros

Apart from the income tax charged in the profit 
and loss accounts, the Company has charged 
the following amounts to equity in respect of 
the following items:

2021 2020

Net credits (debits) to 
equity: - -

Valuation of cash flow 
hedging derivatives (24,175) 13,419

Thousands of Euros

32. Contingent 
commitments
The detail of this caption on December 31, 2021 
and 2020 is the following: 

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, there are 
no contingent commitments in addition to 
those mentioned in the table above. At both 
dates, third party availability is not subject to 
any restrictions.

31.12.21 31.12.20

Financial assets at amortised cost
Derivatives - hedge accounting,   
interest rate risk
Other assets

171,090

17,516
287

182,137

15,873
17,745

Total 188,893 215,755

33. Income from 
interests
The detail of this caption in the accompanying 
income statement for the financial years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Derivatives - hedge accounting, 
interest rate risk
Other liabilities

13,575

37,366
188

33,326

34,059
8,635

Total 51,129 76,020

31.12.21 31.12.20

Commitments – available by third 
parties 33,267 22,452

For other resident sectors 33,267 22,452

34. Expenses 
from interests
The detail of this caption in the accompanying 
income statement for the financial years ended 
December 31, 2021 and 2020 is as follows:
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35. Expenses from 
interests
The breakdown of the balance of this item 
in the accompanying consolidated income 
statements is as follows:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Wages and salaries
Employee benefits expense

26,040
7,907

25,912
8,267

Total 33,948 34,179

The number of employees of the Group as of 
31 December 2021 and 2020, distributed by 
professional category, is as follows:

31.12.21 31.12.20

Management and Leadership 58 56

Managers and Specialised 
Technicians 121 130

Technical and Administrative 473 493
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The average number of employees of the Group 
by category and gender as of 31 December 2021 
and 2020 was as follows:

Men Women Total Men Women Total

Group III
A
B
C

108
33
33

192
62
45

300
95
78

111
37
35

194
60
56

305
97
91

Group II
A
B
C

13
2

44

8
1

53

21
3

97

14
2

49

8
1

56

22
3

105

Group I
A
B
C

19
24

1

5
5
4

24
29

5

19
24

1

4
5
3

23
29

4

Others - - -

Total 277 375 652 292 387 679

31/12/2021 31/12/2020
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The number of the Group's employees by ca-
tegory and gender as of 31 December 2021 and 
2020 is similar to that presented above, as the-
re are no significant changes compared to the 
number of employees in the previous year.

The average number of employees with a disa-
bility greater than or equal to 33% was 4 (3 men 
and 1 woman) and they are distributed in the 
following categories.

Men Women Total Men Women Total

Group III
A
B
C

1
-
1

1
-
1

2
-

2

-
2
1

-
-
1

-
2
2

Total 2 2 4 3 1 4

31/12/2021 31/12/2020

36. Administration 
costs
The composition of this caption in the 
accompanying consolidated income statement 
is as follows:

31.12.21 31.12.20

On properties, installations and materials
Information technology
Communication
Advertising and Propaganda
Legal and lawyers’ fees
Technical reports
Insurance premiums
Representation costs and trips
Membership fees
Sub-contracted administrative services
Local levies and taxes

5,823
5,367
3,032
3,195
9,091

853
496

1,573
3,158
7,333

5,398

2,767
4,999
3,442
3,955

10,660
739
478

1,368
3,487
8,214
9,161

45,319 49,270



CARTA 

8. UCI Group
Corporate
Organization
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UCI GROUP: Subsidiaries, 
Investees and Branches 2021
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8. 1 Composition of 
the Board of Directors

Composition of the Board of Directors 

UCI, S.A.

Chair: Matías Rodríguez Inciarte.  Chair of Santander Universidades 

Board Member: Remedios Ruiz Maciá. Global Director of Risk Supervision and Consolidation in Banco
Santander; board Member of Banco Santander Totta

Board Member: Patrick Marie Alain Denis Miron de L Espinay. Delegate CEO of BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Board Member: Michel Falvert. Director Large Agreements BNP Paribas Personal Finance   

Secretary of the Board of Directors: Eduardo Isidro Cortina Romero. Legal and Compliance Director

Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios, S.A., 
Establecimiento Financiero de Crédito 

 Chair: Matías Rodríguez Inciarte.  Presidente de Santander Universidades

Board Member: Remedios Ruiz Maciá. Global Director of Risk Supervision and Consolidation in Banco
Santander; board Member of Banco Santander Totta

Board Member: Patrick Marie Alain Denis Miron de L Espinay. Delegate CEO of BNP Paribas Personal Finance

Board Member: Michel Falvert. Director Large Agreements BNP Paribas Personal Finance 

Independent Member: Jean François Georges Marie Deullin. Independent Member of Findomestic Banca

Secretary of the Board of Directors: Eduardo Isidro Cortina Romero. Legal and Compliance Director

Retama Real Estate, S.A.U. Sole Director: Roberto Colomer Blasco: CEO of UCI
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Composition of the Board of Directors 

UCI Servicios para 
Profesionales Inmobiliarios S.A.

Chair: Roberto Colomer Blasco: CEO of UCI

Board Member: José Manuel Fernández Fernández. Deputy CEO Commercial Area of UCI 

Board Member: Philippe Laporte. Deputy CFO, Technology and Clients of UCI 

Board Member: José Antonio Borreguerro Herrera. IT Director of UCI

Board Member: José Gerardo Duelo Ferrer. Chair General Council of COAPIS 

Board Member: Fernando García Erviti. Independent Real Estate Consultant

Board Member and Secretary of the Board of Directors: Eduardo Isidro Cortina Romero. Legal and 
Compliance Director

CCPT - Comprarcasa Rede 
Serviços Imobiliários S.A.

Chair: Roberto Colomer Blasco. CEO of UCI 

Board Member: Pedro Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO of UCI Portugal

Board Member: Luis Mário Saraiva Fonseca Nunes . CEO of Comprarcasa Portugal

Board Member: Luis Carvalho Lima. Chair of the National Management of APEMIP

Board Member: Vasco Morgadinho Reis. Deputy Chair of the National Management of APEMIP (Consultant)

Secretary of the Board of Directors: Magda Andrade. Legal Director of UCI Portugal

UCI Mediaçao de 
Seguros Unipessoal, LDA

Company’s Director: Gregory Hervé Delloye. CFO of UCI Portugal

Company’s Director: Pedro Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO of UCI Portugal

Holding Brasil L.T.D.A.
Company’s Director: Rui Filipe Amaral Lopes. Sales Director 

Company’s Director: Carla José Da Silva Moniz . CFO
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Composition of the Board of Directors 

Companhia 
Promotora UCI, S.A.

Chair: José Antonio Carchedi

Deputy Chair: Roberto Colomer Blasco. CEO of UCI 

Board Member: Luis Felipe Carlomagno Carchedi. CEO Companhia Promotora UCI S.A.

Board Member: Pedro Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO of UCI Portugal

Company’s Director: Carla José Da Silva Moniz. CFO

Company’s Director: Rui Filipe Amaral Lopes. Sales Director 

UCI Greece Credit and Loan 
Receivables Servicing Company

Chair: Pedro Manuel Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO of UCI Portugal

Board Member: Aristidis Arvanitakis. Managing Director 

Independent Member: Dominique Bernard Marie Servajean . Managing Partner of Bedor Excem

Composition of Committees of the Board of Directors UCI Group 

UCI Group Audit and 
Risks Committee

Chair: Michel Falvert . Director Large Agreements BNP Paribas Personal Finance 

Member: Remedios Ruiz Maciá . Global Director of Risk Monitoring and Control in Banco Santander; Board Member of 
Banco Santander Totta 

UCI Group Assessment, 
Suitability and Remunerations Committee

Chair: Matías Rodríguez Inciarte . Chair of Santander Universidades 

Member: Michel Falvert. Director Large Agreements BNP Paribas Personal Finance 
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Composition of Committees of the Board of Directors Unión de Créditos Inmobiliarios, S.A., Establecimiento Financiero de Crédito

Mixed Audit and 
Risk Committee

Chair: Jean François Georges Marie Deullin . Independent Member of Findomestic Banca

Member: Michel Falvert. Director Large Agreements BNP Paribas Personal Finance 

Member: Remedios Ruiz Maciá .  Global Director of Risk Monitoring and Control in Banco Santander; 
Board Member of Banco Santander Totta 

Appointments and 
Remunerations Committee

Chair: Jean François Georges Marie Deullin. Independent Member of Findomestic Banca

Member Matías Rodríguez Inciarte. Chair of Santander Universidades 

Member: Michel Falvert. Director Large Agreements BNP Paribas Personal Finance 

Composition of the Management and Executive Committee

UCI Group
Management Committee 

Roberto Colomer Blasco. CEO of UCI 

José Manuel Fernández Fernández. Deputy CEO Commercial Area of UCI 

Philippe Laporte.  Deputy CFO, Technology and Clients of UCI 

Ángel Aguilar Otero. HR Director 

Ruth Armesto Carballo. Direct Channel Director

Rodrigo Malvar Soto.  Risk Director 

Pedro Megre. CEO of UCI Portugal 

Olivier Rodríguez. General Intervention Director 

UCI Group. 
Executive Committee

Catia Alves. Director of Sustainability and Corporate Responsibility

Anabel del Barco del Barco. Communications Director

José Antonio Borreguero Herrera. IT Director 

Eduardo Isidro Cortina Romero. Legal and Compliance Director

Fernando Delgado Saavedra. Professional Marketing Director
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UCI Portugal 
Executive Committee 

Francisco José Fernández Ariza. Professional Services Director 

Cecilia Franco García. After Sales and Estates’ Management Director

José García Parra. Project Director of the Commercial Organisation of UCI 

Marta Pancorbo García. Simplification Director

Tomás Luis de la Pedrosa Masip. Internal Audit Director

Miguel Ángel Romero Sánchez. Customer Director 

Francisco Javier Villanueva Martínez. Risk Assessment and Quality Director 

UCI Portugal 
Comité Ejecutivo 

Pedro Manuel Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO of UCI Portugal

Gregory Delloye. Risk and Financial Director 

José Portela. Operations Director

Inês Silvestre. Customer Director

Pedro Pereira. Direct Channel and Marketing Director

Carlos Vintem. Sales Director. 

UCI Greece Credit and Loan Receivables 
Servicing Entity, Executive Committee 

Pedro Manuel Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO of UCI Portugal

Aristidis Arvanitakis. CEO UCI Greece

Christos Grammatikopoulos. Administrative and Financial Director

Thanasis Philippou. Director of Operations and Recoveries.                                

Evangelos Delis. Chief Portfolio Officer                                                                                          

Companhia Promotora UCI S.A. 
Executive Committee

José Antonio Carchedi. Chair

Roberto Colomer Blasco. CEO UCI

Luis Felipe Carlomagno Carchedi. CEO Companhia Promotora UCI S.A.

Pedro Megre Monteiro do Amaral. CEO UCI Portugal
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Spain
UCI España Sede
Torre Ejesur
Calle Retama, 3,
7ª 28045 Madrid

Alicante
Av Maisonnave, 19,
4ºa 03003 Alicante

Almería
General Tamayo, 1,
2º 04004 Almería

Barcelona
Av. Josep Tarradellas, 20-30
– Roselló 1-13. Planta
3ª, puertas 7ª y 8ª
08029 Barcelona

Barcelona
Premium Pº de
Gracia, 6, 4º, 1ª
08007 Barcelona

Castellón
Mayor, 94, 4º
12001 Castellón

Córdoba
Pza. de Las Tendillas, 5,
1º 14002 Córdoba

Gijón
Celestino Junquera, 2, Ofic 17
33202 Gijón

Gran Canaria
Venegas, 2, Ofc. 8, 9, 10
35003 Las Palmas de Gran Canaria

Jerez
Marqués de Casa Domeq, 15,
1º A 11403 Jerez

Madrid
Avda. Córdoba, 21, 3º,
1B 28026 Madrid
Príncipe de Vergara, 43 -
3º 28001 Madrid

Málaga
Trinidad Grund, 37,
1º 29001 Málaga

Marbella
Av. Ricardo Soriano, 19, 7º,
C-D 29601 Marbella
Murcia
Plaza de la Fuensanta, 2,
5ºB2
30008 Murcia

Palma de Mallorca
Av. Alejandro Rosseilo,
21, 3º 07002 Palma de
Mallorca

Sabadell
Av. Francesc Maciá, 30, Torre
A, 2º 2ª
08206 Sabadell

Sevilla
Plaza Nueva nº 3 – 3ª
planta 41001 Sevilla

Valencia
Colon, 60, 6º, C-D
46004 Valencia

Vigo
C/Manuel Núñez 2, pl 4 ofic.5
36203 Pontevedra

8. 2 List of UCI 
branch offices
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Zaragoza
Coso, 33, 3º Q
50+B6:C23003
Zaragoza

Portugal
UCI Portugal Sede
Av. Engenheiro Duarte,
Torre 1, 14º 1070 - 101
Lisboa

Algarve
Av. Vilampura XXI,
Edificio Portal, Bloco B,
1º D E E 8125-406
Quearteira

Almada
Almada Business Center.
Rua Marcos de Assunçao 4, 2º,
Sala 2,08
2805-290 Almada

Alverca
Edif. Prestige, E.n. 10, 23, 3º
2615-130 Alverca

Coimbra
Rua Joao de Ruao, 12
Torre Do Arnado. 8º, Sala
A 3000-229 Coimbra

Lisboa
Av. Vilampura XXI,
Edificio Portal, Bloco B,
1º D E E 8125-406
Quearteira

Lisboa Norte
Av. Engenheiro Duarte, Torre
1, 14º Andar- Amoreiras
1070 Lisboa

Madeira
Rua Ivens 3, Edificio Dona
Mécia 1ºg
9000-046 Funchal

Oeiras
Taguspark. Parque de
Ciencia E Da Tecnología.
Nucleo Central 100,2, 
Sala273
2740-122 Oeiras

Porto
Praça Do Bom Sucesso 123-
131, Edif. Península, 3º
Andar, Sala 306
4150-146 Porto

Greece
UCI Grecia
Aggelou Pirri Street, 5,
2nd Floor
11527 Atenas
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RELACIÓN DE OFICINAS 
HIPOTECAS.COM

Spain
Barcelona
Rambla de Cataluña,
20, Entresuelo, 2ª
08007 Barcelona

Madrid
Goya, 9, 1º Izq.
28001 Madrid

Sevilla
Santa María de Gracia, 6, 2º
41002 Sevilla

Valencia
Plaza Los Pinazos, 2, Planta
2ª 46004 Valencia

8. 3 List of hipotecas.com 
branch offices
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8. 4 List of websites
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